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INTRODUCTION 

One hundred years ago Orford Parish was separated by an 
act of the Connecticut legislatui-e from the Town of East Hartford 
and became an independent community with full rights of local 
self-government. That first town llleeting day in] une, 1823, was 
indeed an important political landmark; but it was not the 
beginning of the history of our community. For more than a 
century there bad been settlements within our boundaries and 
for at least 50 years there had been organized community life. 
The Centennial History, therefore, has not been limited in its 
scope to the events of the past century. 

Our history bas been divided into four parts: Part I -The 
Colonial Period - extends from the earliest settlements to the 
organization of Orford Parish in 1772. The chapters included in 
this part describe first of all the natural features of the region at 
the coming of the white men. An account of the native inhabit­
ants follows with particular attention to their life and customs, 
their lands and villages and their relations with the colonists. 
The purchase from Chief Joshua in 1672 of the land now included 
in the Town of Manchester1 the Five-Mile Tract, is an event of 
outstanding importance in the first period. The history of the 
negotiations a.nd copies of the records of the transacti0ns are 
reproduced. 

For more than a half century after its purchase the Five 
Miles was held as common pasture and woodland by its ownel's, 
the inhabitants of Hartford, and was not open to general settle­
ment A few individuals whose names have been preserved in 
the records, were granted farms therein. Others, persons of Jess 
importance, whose names have now been forgott~n, "squatted" 
on the land and successfully resisted attempts at dispossession. 

The year 1731 marks the first general distribution of land in 
the Five Miles. In 1753-54 a second final distribution was made. 
By the aid of the maps reproduced in the t~ the plan of dis­
tri1;mtion can be readily understood and some of the early grants 
cap. be located. 

True to the Puritan tradition the settlers in the Five Miles 
made provision almost immediately for those community ser­
vices which they considered most essential, highways, schools and 
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of what the war meant to Manchester and how its citizens rose 
to meet the great emergency. The book concludes with an 
account of the Centennial celebration. 

The authors wish to acknowledge, with thanks, the help 
received from members o( the Historical Committee and others 
who have supplied data and shown a kindly interest in the book 
at all stages in its progress. Of especial value has been the 
assistance rendered by Mrs. Mary Cone Jenney Moeser, Mrs. 
John M. Williams, Miss Mary Cheney, Judge H. 0. Bowers, 
Messrs. F. A. Verplanck, A. F. Howes, Fred H. WaJJ, F. H. 
Anderson and Frank Cheney, Jr. 

Note 

MA TRIAS SPIESS, 

P ERCY w. BIDWELL. 

In the selection of portraits of citizens of the Town who were 
identified with its history the Committee has felt it necessary 
to limit the choice to portraits of citizens, no longer living. 
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churches. After about 20 years of make-shift arrangements and 
partial control of their own affairs, the settlers were finally incor­
porated in 1772 into an independent local government body 
known as Orford Parish, or Orford Ecclesiastical Society. A 
wealth of historical lore collected by Mr. Spiess in regard to 
early laws, names of places, roads and taverns, will be found in 
Part I. 

Dr. Bidwell's work of compilation begins with Part II, 
The Period of Rural Economy (1772-1820). In a single chapter 
the economic and social life of rural communities such as Orford 
Parish has been outlined. The typical features of the Age of 
Homespun, its isolation and its self-sufficiency, the ingenuity 
and. frugality , of the farmers and their habits of neighborly 
co-operation are shown to be the results of their economic con­
ditions, and particularly of t he lack of a market for farm products. 
Toward the end of this period rural life in Manchester was 
showing signs of stagnation and decadence. 

The Ind'l!Strial Revolution ·in lvfanchester, 1820-1873, is t he 
subject of Part III. After a brief review of the early manu­
facturing enterprise, the story of the development of the paper, 
textile and other industries is taken up with particular attention, 
of course, to the history of si~k manufacturing. The results of 
the growth of manufactures upon agriculture and upon the 
social conditions in the community are discussed in this part. 

The concluding chapters of the book - Part IV - deal with 
the changes which have taken place in Manchester in the last 
half century. Within the memory of many of our older residents 
the community has bee.n transformed by tl1e introduction of new 
methods of transportation and communication, the electric street 
car, the automobile and the telephone. Modern public utilities, 
such as water, gas and electricity have been provided. Along 
with the growth of the town in wealth and prosperity the spirit 
of community service has shown vigorous development. Its 
fruits are splendid schools, playgrounds, recreation centers and a 
wonderful hospital, the memorial to those who gave themselves 
in the World War. 

Manchester's participation in the World War in a multitude 
of varied activities is the subject of one of the final chapters of 
the history. Written largely from first-hand accounts published 
in local newspapers this chapter aims to give a vivid impression 
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THE HISTORY OF MANCHESTER 

CHAPTER I. 

IN PREHISTORIC TIMES 

"Before these fields were shorn and tilled, 
Full i-o t11e· brim our rivers flowed; 
The mefody of waters filled 
The fresh and boundless wood; 
And torrents dashed and rivulets played, 
And fountains spouted in the shade." 

- William Cutten. Bryant. 

The foregoing lines may be taken to describe the appearance 
of the locality, now known as the ToWT1 of Manchester, before 
the beginning of written history. 

\7\Then first mentioned in the historical records the area now 
occupied by our community was known as "the wilderness." 
But can we not penetrate the dimness of the past and open the 
great book of nature and form a true picture of what Manchester 
was before the white man came and centuries before the red man 
roamed the forests? · 

Beginning at "Great-Hill," now known as Laurel Park, we 
may find the place where the Hockanum River has cut and worn 
lts course through the natural dam of a large lake that extended 
to the northeast as far as Buckland; to Center Springs Park 
eastward; and southward to Hartford Road. A still larger lake 
extended from the northeastern part o'f the town northerly to 
Ellington, and there were also several smaller lakes within the 
present boundary lioes of Manchester. These lakes in the 
midst of a dense forest with numerous hills and gullies, became 
the stage upon which we act today - Manchester. 
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An interesting chapter could be written regardjng the prehis­
toric denizens of this localily, the only records of whose existence 
are "footprints on the sands of time." Tracks of huge reptiles, 
monsters of the order dinosauria preserved in sandstone, have 
been found in nearly the entire Connecticut Valley. Giant 
lizards once inhabited this territory, clambered over our hills, 
and roamed along the muddy shores of lakes long since drained 
by nature and left as evidence of their existence skeleton remains 
which have recently been d iscovered. 

Restoration of Anc/1isaf4~s col1wus. Remains found at Buckland quarry. 
Prom "Triassic Life of Connecticut Valley" State Geological 

and Natural History Survey-Bulletin No. 24. 

"By far the most notable bone locaJity in the valley is at 
Manchester, the place of origin of the important type specimens 
of Anchisaurus, coloms, A, solus, and Ammosaimf.S major, all of 
which, described by Professor Marsh, are preserved in the 
Peabody Museum at Yale. From Professor Marsh's notes I 
extract the following: 

"These specimens were found in the quarry of Mr. Charles 0. 
Wolcott about one mile north of Buckland station in a layer 
about two a11d one-half feet in thickness, and, as the quarry was 
then worked, somewhat above the level of the roadway. 

"The first specimen, the Ammosaurus major, was found in 
l 884, and before its value was recognized the rock containing 
the skull and fore quarters was built into the abutments of a 
bridge over Bigelow Brook, Sou lh Manchester. When the 
block containing the hind quarters was taken out, it was saved 
by Mr. Charles H. Owen, of Buckland, by whose aid and that 
of T. A. Bostwick, the specimen was purchased. Subsequent 
earnest effort failed to secure the anterior portion. 
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"The second saurian, Anthisaurus colurus, was found in the 
same layer, twenfy feet sou th, in a large block of sandstone. The 
portion exposed showed the scapula and humerus antl this had 
been the outer surface of the quarry for a long time. 'There was 
no record of when the adjoining block bad been removed. Part 
of the large block was split off at New Haven, and this smaJler 
piece contained the head and part of the neck. The rest of the 
skeleton (except one fore leg, one hind leg, the ends of the iscbia, 
and the tail) was subsequently found in the main block. 

"The third saurian, Anchisaitrus solus, was found at the same 
time as No. 2, in two small blocks whkh were subsequently fitted 
~ogether . It was abou t two feet higher than, and about fifteen 
feet southeast of, the previous specimen. This third specimen is 
nearly en tire. 

"Saurian No. 4.. During a visit to this quarry, September 
24, 1894, three and a half years after the other specimens were 
received a:t New Haven, Professor M arsh found in essentially the 
same layer a large rib, quite perfect, and probably pertaining to 
an animal somewhat larger than any of the above. There is, 
unfortunately, no record of the receipt of this rib at New 
Haven.'' 1 

Scientists believe that these creatures lived thousands of years 
before birds were present and at a time when the rock which 
contained the bones wa.$ red mud. 

However it may interest the average reader more to know 
what was here at the coming of the white man. Benjamin Trum­
buU wrote2 "When the English became first acquainted with 
that tract comprised withjn the settled part of Cotlnecticut, it 
was a vast wilderness . There were no pleasant fields, no gardens, 
no public roads, no cleared plots. Except in places where the 
timber had been destroyed, and its growth prevented by frequent 
fires, the groves were thick and lofty. The Indians so often 
burned U1e country, to take deer and other wild gan1e, t hat in 
many parts of the plain, dry parts of it, there was but little small 
timber. Where lands wei·e thus burned there grew bent grass, 
or some caJ I jt thatch, lwo, three and four feet high, according to 
the strength of the land. This with other combustible matter, 
which the fields and groves produced, when dry, in the spring 
and fall, burned with violence and killed all the small trees. 
The large ones escaped, and generally grew to a not.able height 
and magnitude. lo this manner tbe natives so t hin a.eel the groves, 
that they were able to plant their corn and 0btain a crop ... . 

"It (the land) abounded with the finest oaks of all kinds, 
with chestnuts, walnut and wild cherry trees, with aJl klnds of 

1 Lull, Richard Swann, Triassic Life of the Connecticut Valley (Hartfotd, 1915) 
p. 78. 

•]Hi'.stcry of Connecticut, Vol. I, p. 37. 
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maple, beech, birch, ash and elm. The butternut tree, button­
wood, basswood, poplar and sassafras, were to be found gener­
ally upon all tracts in Connecticut. White, yellow and pitch 
pine, white and red cedar, hemlock and spruce, grew plenteously 
in many places. 

"The country abounded with great variety of wild fruit. 
In the groves were walnuts, chestnuts, butternuts, hazelnuts and 
acorns in great abundance. Wild cherrfos, currants and plums 
were natural productions. In the lowlands, on banks or the 
rivers, the brooks, and gutters, there was a variety and plenty 
of grapes, with an almost endless variety of escuJent and medic­
inal berri~, herbs and roots.'' 

Regarding the wild animals of Connecticut Trumbull wrote:1 

''Here were otters, beaver, the black, gray and red fox, the 
racoon, mink, muskrat, and various other aofornls of the fur kind. 
The wolf, wild cat and other animals, common in New England, 
were equally so in Connecticut. Wolves were numerous i11 all 
parts of New England, when lhe settlements commenced, and 
did great damage to the planters, killing their sheep, calves and 
young cattle. 

"The country afforded an almost incredible plenty of water 
fowJ. In the bogs, creeks, rivers and ponds were wild geese and 
ducks of all kinds, pigeons, sheldrakes, broadbills, teals 0£ various 
sorts and other fowl, which were both wholesome and palatable. 

"In the seas, bogs, riven? and ponds, there was a variety and 
an innumerable multitude of fish. Conilecticu t River iJ1 particular 
was distingujsbed for that plenty and variety which it afforded 
in proper season; especially for those excellent salmon with 
which its waters wete replenished." 

There were also many deer, moose, bears and occasionally a 
panther. As late as 1767 the New London Gazette published an 
account of the killing of a panther al Windsor, Connecticut. 

"The countiy aboutided with beaver. The Dutch purchased 
not less than ten thousand skins annually. Plymouth and 
Massachusetts people sometimes sent in a single ship, for 
England, a thousand pounds sterling worth of otter and beaver 
skins. The extent of lhe Connecticut River, the numerous 
Indians upon it, and the easy communication which they had 
with the la.Ices, and native of Canada, gave ·an extensive opening 
for a trade in furs, skins, corn, hemp and all kinds of commodities 
w-hich the country afforded." ~ 

Berries that grew wild in great variety: "There were straw­
berries, dewberries, wbortleberries, bilberries, blueberries and 
mulberries. Cranberries also grew plenteously in the meadows. 
J uniperberries, barberries and bayberries were found. The 

i H1:Story of C1mnedicut, Vol. I, p. 39. 
2 Trumbull, History of Co1mecN.c1tf, Vol. l , p. 36. 
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earth produced spontaneously ground nuts, artichokes, wild 
leeks, onions, gar11ck, turnips, wild peas, plantin, raddish and 
other escu lent roots and herbs." 

v\7illiam Bradford wrote in the year 1621, "Besides waterfoule 
there was great store of wild Turkies." FJocks of thousands of 
geese Rew over New England in the spring and fall of the year 
and were shot in large numbers by tbe early settlers. Pigeons 
were so plentiful that they obscured the light of the sun. A 
dozen dressed pigeons were sold in Boston for three pence, and 
sometimes for a penny a dozen. 

When the whi_te settlers came to Connecticut the country 
was covered with dense forests. The trees "grew to a notable 
height and magnitude" and as late as 1846 Emerson tells of trees 
in New England that were 250 feet in height and six feet in 
diameter. I t is a pity that no woodland with aboriginal trees 
were preserved so we could more readily form a t rue picture of 
prehistoric New England. Yet, with our eyes strengthened by 
imagination and with the aid of the foregoing reports and 
descriptions, we are able to see dimly wbal the locality was before 
the impact of the white race upon it. 

Here lived the Indian - the native American - and it is 
fitting that a history of the Town of Manchester should i.nclucle 
in its inb·oductory part an account of the aboriginal people 
who have now almost vanished from New England. 



CHAPTER II. 

THE INDIANS 

"But just believe me, onst for all, 
T o them that treat him fair, 
The lnjun mostly alluz wuz 
And is and will be square.'' 

-Jolzn Logan. 

In tbe early days of settlement in Connecticut, as elsewhere 
in New E)lgland, t be white man did not always extend the olive 
branch of peace to the Indian, and hostili ties sometimes were 
the results of quarrels among the rival colonies of white settlers. 
Thus the Pequot war grew out of differences between the Dutch 
and English settlers at Hartford, and quickly drew into the 
struggle, not only the colonists of Connecticut, but the Narra­
gansetts and Mohegans as well, who were only too eager to take 
part in rooting out their tribal foes, the Pequots. 

The Podunks. 
Originally the section now l01own as the Town of Manchester 

was part of the hunting ground of the Indians known as the 
Podullks, They had t·wo per:manent villages, one their winter 
quarters which was in what ·is now 'known to us as East Hartford. 
It was on the north bank of the Hockanum River, east of the 
Center Cemetery and extended eastward along the meadow 
bank. Their summer village was on the north bank of the 
Podunk River, not far from rhe Connecticut River. At each 
village they had a fort, which lhey made by setting l!P large 
trunks of tre:es in the form of a circle with a narrow opening, so 
that but one person could pass through at a time. Each fort 
was built upon a neck of land that extended into the swamp. 
Their territory was bounded on the 11ortb by the land of the 
Agawam tribe at or near the present north boundary of the town 
of East Windsor, and southerly it extended to Poutapaug at the 
mouth of a brook known to us as Pewterpot Brook, where it 
abutted the land of the Wangunks whose headquarters were at 
Portlaud and Wethersfield. On the west, the Podw1k territory 
was bounded by the Connecticut River and extended eastward 
"one day's journey'' to the lands of the Nipmuck and Nehantic 
tribes, 

6 
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A few years before the English settlers arrived, a clan of 
Mobicans from the Hudson River invaded Connecticut and 
practically subdued all the native tribes. The Mahicans were 
the American Vandals. They claimed title to the land by 
conquest and exiled all chiefs in Connecticui: who refused to 

CHIEF NEPTUNE 

pay them tribute. They paced out a hunting ground for them­
selves which they to0k from lands belonging to tbe Nehantics, 
Wangunks, Nipmucks and the Podunks. Their new territory 
was bounded on the west by a line that extended from the 
south-west corner of Musbenupsuck (now Snipsic Pond) and ran 
southerly to Wiashquagwumsuck (Bolton Notch) and continued 
southward to Cedar Swamp. This tribe a few years later was 



8 The History of Manchester 

divided by themselves. The main part of t hem were called 
Pequots and those who went out with Chief Uncas were known 
as Mohegans. 

Podunk Villages. 
When the English settled in Connecticut the Podunk country 

was bounded on the east by the ridge_of hills at Bolton but thefr 
north and south lines were still unchanged. Like all tribes they 
would "Nqussutam," that is, ~s Roger Williams e.'-"Pla.ins, 
"Remove house, which they doe upon these occasions; From 
thick warme vallies, where they winter, they temove a litt le 
nearer to their summer lields, whei:e they plant Corne." They 
would also, says Williams, "Oie and remove on a sudden from one 
part of their field to a fresh place because of the abundance of 
Fleas - which the dust of the house bree<ls. Sometimes they 
remove to a hunting h011se in the end oI the year'e, and forsake 
it not until Snow lie thick and then will travell home, men, 
women and children thorow the snow, t.hirtie, yea fiftie or sixtie 
miles." 1 

This passage explains the finding of sites of Podunk Indian 
villages within the To"\vn of Manchester arrd at other places. 
In the earliest days of settlement we find Chief Arraramet in 
Windsor and later in Podunk. Old Windsor then extended 
across the Connecticut River eastward to the hiJ1s, or in other 
words, through the Podui1k country. The Podunks had a 
summer village on the bank of the Connecticut River near the 
mouth of the Scantic River and had several winter villages 
eastward. 

A sandy knoll, traditionally known as ''Gun's 1-fill," was tJ1e 
site of an Indian fort and village at East Windsor Hill at the 
west end of the land of the Theological Institu te. At this place 
Arraramet, the sachem of the PoduJiks, lived in the early days 
of settlement, In 1840 students of the Institute found 1n the 
knoll a deposit of Indian relics, viz.: fragment$ of large soapstone 
pots, axes, chisels, gouges, arrowheads, and so forth .2 Within 
the present bounds of Manchester they had at least four villages. 
One, which is believed to have been the largest, was 9n land 
owned by the late Mr. James B. Olcutt, and on land now owned 
by M•. Fred Teichert, on Olcutt Street. 

The Podunks bad also a fort, or large hunting house, on laud 
now owned by Mr. Charles Trebbe on West Center Street, which 
adjoins the other lands . Within very recent years a circular 
ridge around a large .oak tree could be seen on the Trebbe farm. 
Whether this was a fort, hunling house, or an Indian dance 
ground, is not known but the facts could easily be determined 

1 Key to the American: Language, p. 56. 
'lSmithsonian institute, Repott, 1881, p. 663. 
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by digging. J f pieces of pottery or bits of charcoal are founci it 
may have been a large wigwam. T he spring i.n the gully furnished 
the tribe witb water. The footpaths on both sides of the ravine 
may not be of great interest to those living. today but they are 
worthy of inspection for they were made by women and cbilclrei1 
who tived here before the while man came, while Cc'llTying water 
to their wigwanis. 

A smaller village was that on Hassun-adchu-auk (stony-bill­
place) now caJlecl Brush Hill, in the southwest part of the town. 
This village was on the trail that led from Wethersfield to 
Mohegan, called i11 the records, "Tlie pa the to Monheag." 
The many stone hoes and other implements found here give 
strength to the tradition that the Indians cultivated the hills 
in preference to the meadows whenever their medicine-men or 
p0w-wows predicted late and early frosts for Lhe ensuing yea.r. 

On this same ridge northward was another village but this 
one can hardly be called a village in the same sense as the other 
two already menlioned.1 

When Joseph Noyes, the father of Ralph, boughL land on 
}lillstowo Road, early in the nineteenth century, the Indian 
village was still there and was inhabited by several families. 
They may have been the remnants of the Podunks who lived 
in a village on the bjJl near "Sparr-mill Swamp11 on land now 
known as the Ralph Cheney past.Lire near Love Lane. According 
to tradition a double murder was commilLed by the chief of this 
village, and since, as Roger Williams tells us, "if death fall i"Q 
amongst them, they (the Indians) presently i·ernove to a fresb 
place," it is probable that this remnant of the once powerful 
Podunks removed from Toby Hill to Hillstown Road. 

Tltc Murder of Cliief Toby's Wife . 

We may begin the story of this Indian band with a c:opy of the 
minules of a town meeting when Manchester was Orford Parish 
and still was part of the Town of East Hartford. 

"At a Town Meeting of the Inhauitants of lhe Town of 
East Hartford Legally warned and Convened on the 19th Day 
of December, 1793. 

''Voted E lisha Pitkin, Esq., be Moderator 0£ the Meeting. 
"Voted that Doct.r George Griswould's account for Visiting 

and D ressing the wounds of an Indian Woman at Mr. Ozias 
Bidwell's he allowed and added to the list of Accounts against 
this town. 

1 The site of a large Indian village on Spencer Streel in East Hartford, 
just across the Manchester line, was discovered by Mr. Spiess jn November, 
1923. He has unearthed mar1y camp fire spots paved with stones and bas 
also found many articles such as a mortar, pestles, war clubs, etc. 

The village site covers five or six acres and must have contained at least 
100 wigwams. 
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"Voted that Mr. Deodat Woodbridge's account for Articles 
for Said woman be allowed and added to the List of Debts a­
gainst this town. 

"Voted Otias Bidwell's account for Services done for Sa.id 
woman be allowed and added to the List oJ Debts against this 
town." 

The records give no details of the account of Mr. Deodat 
Woodbridge, who was selectman and represented Orford Parish 
during that year, or can anything be found regarding the accounts 
of Doctor George Griswold's and Mr. Ozias Bidwell's excepting 
what the minutes of the meeting contain; they were to be 
allowed to the doctor for dressing the wounds of an Indian 
woman a nd to Ozias Bidwell for services. 

It appears, however, that after this meeting had taken place 
there were otbers who had accounts, for on December 25 of the 
same year three bills were presented to the town clerk of which 
the following a re true copies of the original manuscript still on 
file in the town clerk's office in East Hartford. 

"Jonathan Bidwell Act. 
"december the 25 ad 1792 

the account about the ingons 
to going inform the thority 
to going for A doctor 
to under beds 
to two blankets 
to two sheats & t·v.:o toules 
to one shift & one piler 
to three quarts of rem 
to the use of two grat cots 
to keping 2 watchers 11 nights 
to seding the ingon to berey him 
to trobel of my hous & cleaning up 
to tending the squay 11 days 
to keeping the children 2 weeks 
to one sheet to lay her out 
to going for rum 3 times 
to one pitch fork 

£, s d 
0 1 0 
0 1 0 
0 12 0 
0 12 0 
0 12 0 
0 9 0 
0 5 0 
0 6 0 
0 16 0 
0 1 0 
6 0 0 
6 0 0 
1 0 0 
0 6 0 
0 3 0 
0 4 0 

17 
"Eleisha bidwell's acount to going for doctor 

8 0" 

moging 0 
to hors & cart to carey the squay to berey 

her 0 
to going to git the grave dug 0 

3 0 

3 0 
1 6 

PGiles Eason's Account to a cofen 
0 7 6" 
0 10 0 
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Timothy Deming, of East H artford, wbo was five years old 
at the time of the murder, daimed he could dimly recall the 
affair and related the story to Mr. Joseph 0. Goodwin, town 
clerk of East Hartford. According to Mr. Deming there was a 
small band of Podunk Indians living in wigwams on the Hod<­
anum River whose chief, Tobias, was known to everyone as 
"Toby." The chief, like many before him, begged his whjte 
neighbors not to sell rum to his people. There was a law that 
pr9bibited the sale of intoxicating liquors to Indians but despite 
the law, rum was sold to them in many cases. The chief's wife 
and another member of the band managed to buy a jug of rum, 
which they drank on their way home and soon felt the effects 
of the whiteman's firewater. Both orept into Ozias Bidwell's 
barn and were found there by Tobias. Enraged at the sight, 
the d1ief killed the drunken Indian with a pitchfork and mortally 
wounded his wife. Mrs. Charlotte H enry of Hillstown Road , 
who was born about jn the year 1790, claimed that both of these 
Indians were buried in the West Cemetery "near the tool house." 

It appears that this band removed after the murder to the 
woodland 011 Brush Hill Ridge where they lived but a few years. 
The la1~d was soon bought by Joseph Noyes\ who, according 
to ills son, Ralph, never trusted them and soon ordered them off. 
When the sherriff notified them that they must leave the premises 
they had al.ready received _permission to set up their wigwams 
on land west o[ Hillstown Road where they lived a short time. 
They again rerrn:>vecl to land near Minne-Adchu-auk (Minne­
chaug Mt.), south of Manchester (now known as the Addison 
Hale farm), where they lived for several years, then disappeared. 
It can truly be said of this band of Indians that they were the 
last of the Podunks. Here and there an odd Indian man or 
woman could be found still but as .a tribe t hey were seen no more. 
It is a sad chapter in the history of the Podunks, homeless and 
landless wanderers in the country that once belonged e.xclusively 
to them, dispossessed by those whom they had invited to come 
and live with them as neighbors and who had promised them 
protection and assistance. 

Indian Trails Through Manchester. 

There are many other Indian village sites near Manchester, 
and Lhe future mav disclose others within our town Ii.mi ts. 
Leading frnrn one vi°llage to another the Indians had foot-paths. 
or trails which they ct;tlled Ma'yi (pronounced Mah-yee) and the 
gre.at paths or trails that lead from one place to another they 

' Wilen the Incllan band removed to the ridge, the land was owned by 
Mathe\V Cadwell. A parcel of it was sold to Tempy Noyes, February 7, 1799. 
Jo$eph Noyes bought the land with the village, April 12, 1814. 
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called Mishi-maya-gat which is really a corruption of Mishi­
great; mayi-patb; auk-place; et-at or to. The great trails can 
be found and traced by descriptions given in old records, when 
names of hills and brooks are mentioned, etc. They are some­
times mentioned jn deeds and surveys. One. such trail ran 
through the town which Jed from the Indian village 011 the bank 
of the Hockanum River to Mushenupsuck (now Snipsic Lake) 
and still another entered in t be southwest corner of our present 
town boundary and met the great trail at Manchester Green. 

Over one of the great tra.ils 1 we still travel daily. It is now 
known as East Center, Center aud West Center Streets. Begin­
ning at East Hartford Meadows we can trace its cou.rse south of 
what is now called South Meadow Road or Pitkin Street. It 
crossed the Hockanum River a little west of where the bridge 
on Main Street is today and followed tbe bank eastward for 
several hu.ndred rods, then turned southerly to where Silver 
Lane is today. At the Frank Roberts farm .the great trail was 
joined by the Podunk trail whose impression in the ground can 
still be seen today. Th!= latter came across the meadows from 
the Podunk village. A £oot path Led off the Podunk traiJ to 
''The Falls" (Burnside), a favorite Indian fishing place. This 
region was called Uppaquog by the Indians, for here grew flags 
of wruch they made mats. Tbe gteat trail continued along what 
is now callee Spencer Streel to ·west Center Street where the 
Podunks had a winter village. Here, too, is a .field that has been 
pointed out for generations back as "the Indian battle field." 
There are no records to be found regarding a battle here among 
Indians and if such a struggle took place it rntlSt have been before 
the days of settlement by Lhe white man . Near the site of the 
so-called battle field the first settlements were made in Man­
chester. 

Going: eastward the great trail passed the second-best fishing 
place of tbe Po<lunks, lhe falls al Center Spring Parle Here the 
Indians caught the lamprey eels, and, as at Burnside, divided 
and dressed them under au oak tree; the oak tree stood about 
where the Center Church now stauds. 2 From there the trail 
led to Manchester Green and easterly to Wiashquaqwumsuck, 
known to us as Bolton Notch. Beyond Lhe Notch the trail 
forked, ~he one branch leading due east to Coventry, t·o Mansfield 
a nd Woodstock, and the other to Mohegan. 

The trajJ to Musben11psuck (Snipsic Po.ad) began at the 
Podunk village at East Hartford, along whar_ is tiow Tolland 
Turnpike, and led through Buckland, Manchester, Talcottville 

1 Tt is ll)y belief that the trail here described was the path actually fol­
lowed by Hooker and his party on their way to Hartford. See Chapter V. 
(M. Spiess.) 

z Tbe Indl.a.ns called such places where they caught lamprey eels, Ousli­
aukamaug; the eels called cunne-amaug; cunne, long; amaug, fish. 
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and Rockville to the N ipmuck country. After leaving Man­
chester, the t rail hemmed the banks of a large swamp lhat 
e.xtended from Talcottville to Ellington, known among the 
Indians as Weaxskashuck and mentioned in old records as 
"Great Marsh." At Snipsic Pond the boundaries of three 
Indian territories met. On the north and to the east was the 
N ipmuck country, on the west that of the Podunks, and to the 
south the Mohegan country. 

Another trail passing through the town is called in the records 
"Path to Monheag" (Mohegan). It led from the meadows in 
Hockanum eastward to Hassun-adchu-auk (Brush Hill), over 
Hocquaunmehtug (Hackmatack), Sowwanset (Sunset Hill), to 
Manchester Green. There it joined the great trail that led 
through the "Notch" at Bolton, a place which is mentioned in 
John Chandler's survey of the Mohegan country, 1705, as 
"Wiashquagwumsuck, where the Hartford road goes t11rough 
the notch." The Path to Mooheag was the boundary established 
by an order of the General Court August 3, 1666, between ilie 
Podunk territory and land acquired by Chief Uncas, the Mohe~ 
gan. The order reads: "It is agreed that Aramamat shall not 
iinpropriate unto himself any of ye Land yt that is on the south 
of the path that goes from Thomas Edwards to Monheag." 
The path followed the hank of Porter1s Brook, mentioned in the 
order of the Court as "the brook which is called by the Indians 
Cochi-nake, which translated means, the place at the boundary 
line." 

There were no doubt many narrow foot-paths within our 
present town limit'> but how many there were and where they 
were is impossible to ascertain. Tradition is our only guide in 
the search for these paths, and it is not always safe to depend 
upon hearsay. It was well known among the older folks that the 
street we now call Bidwell Street was a foot-path that led from 
the Great T rail to the hill where the "Hocquan-mebtug" (hack­
matack trees) grew, which the Indians used in the construction 
of canoes. The path led southerly through Pastog (south of 
Globe Hollow Pond) to Minne-adchu-auk (Minnechaug Mt.) .1 

Hillst9wn Road was a foot-path leading from the Great Trail 
to the village at Hassun-adchu-auk (Brush Hill) . This path 
which became a cart-path soon after the white settlers. came, 
was always pointed out as the original eastern boundary line of 
the "Three Mile Tract" (East Hartford). But in the year 1670, 
in consideration of losses sustained by the layout of Main Street, 
East Hartford, which was six rods wide and extended through 

1 The path leading from the Podunk bead quarters on the Hockan um River, 
to the Podunk summer village, became King Street and Cotton Road in 
East Hartford. ',!'he latter ran dired north Irom Butnside Avenue, ne;ir 
Tolland Turnpike, to Podunk. It was abandoned and closed as a highway 
in 1860. 
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lands already acquired by settlers, the General Court granted 
"the several plantations, that their bounds shall extend to the 
eashvard twenty rods farther than their three miles formerly 
granted.'' The grant was made previous to the purchase from 
the Indians of the "Five Mile Tract," now Manchester, and for 
the loss of six reds of land the owners were given twenty rods. 
In later years the change of the boundary line caused mncb 
trbuble an<i many quarrels between the inhabitants of Orford 
Parish and of East Hartford. 

Love Lane was opened with the ax of John Gilbert, who built 
and operated a saw mill on the great trail in 1673, to draw timber 
to 1'Sawmi11 Swamp'' on the Hockanum River, but tradition 
has it that it was originally an Indian foot-path leading to an 
old village site which was later called Toby Hill. Here an 
Indian woman and her pale-face husband lived for a short time 
while hiding from what was then called Justice. 

Podurt.k Population. 
Mucn has been said and written regarding the strength of 

the Podunk tribe; some believing they were not numerous, and 
others holding that the tribe was a powerhtl one. 

The sagarnore Wahginacut is believed to have been a Podunk, 
but nothing defullte can be found to prove it. It was he who 
journeyed to Plymouth and Boston to ask the colonists to 11come 
and plant in his country." ln Winthrop's Journal, 1631, we 
read: "Wahginacut a sagamore upon the Quoneht.acut which 
ties west of Naragancet1 came to the governor at Boston, with 
John Sagamore, and Jack Straw, (an Indian who had lived in 
England and had served Sir Walter Raleigh and was now turned 
Indian again) and divers of their sannops, and brought a letter 
to the governor from Mr. Endecoti: to this effect: 'That the said 
Wahginacut was very desirous to have some English men to come 
plant in his country, and offered to find them corn, and give 
them yearly eighty skins of beaver, and that the country was 
very fruitful, etc., and wished that there might be two men sent 
with him to see the country. The governor entertained them 
at dinner, but would send none with him. He discovered after­
wards that the said sagamore was a v-ery treacherous man, and 
at war with the Pekoath (a far greater sagaroore). His country 
is not above five days' journey from us by land.' " 

It is strange thai the name of this saga more translated means 
"welcome to the place,'' and there is a suspicion that Wahginacut 
was an assumed name, chosen for the occasion and that he 
was none other in person than Taotonimoh, who was in later 
years known as 1'the one-eyed chief." 

Time proved that Wahgjnacut and his people were not "very 
treacherous" to the white settlers in Connecticut_ In fact the 
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River Indians were a peaceable people if wr compare tl1em with 
the Pequots, Mohawks, and other tribes. 

An early writer who ''ritnessed an Indian war said: 1'Tbey 
would not kill seven Indians in seven years.'' The Podunks, 
although offended seriously at times by their new neighbors, 
never attacked the settlers, bul lived peacefully until they 
gra<lually disappeared. 

In 'The Indians of Connecticut," DeForest says that the 
Fodunks were few in number, and t.bat they could only furnish 
si..'Cty men in King Philip's War. The Reverend Samuel Wood­
bridge stated, however, that the Podunks bad two hundred 
warriors and TrumbulJl says "two hundred bowmen." Doctbr 
Stiles~ says "the P odunk tribe conta1ned 200-300 men who 
went off with King Philip's men when at war." A tribe that 
could muster two to three hundred fighting men, we may fairly 
assume, mustered altogether about 1,500 men, women and 
children, Il is true, however. that the Indian population de­
creased rapidly. In his letter to the "Commissioners for Trade 
and Plantations" in 1756, Governor Thomas Fitch says: "The 
Indians atnong us are about 930, considerable part whereof 
dwell in English Families and the rest in small Tribes in Various 
parts of the Colony and are generally peaceable and orderly and 
there are uo Tndians bordering on tbe Colo11y." 3 

The statement of Governor Fitch that considerable part of 
them dwelt in English families introduces us to the saddest 
chapter in the history of the native Americans, to pages stained 
with the records of the injustice and cruelties of the white men. 

J'ndians Enslaved by Colonists. 

The hospitality of the Indians towards the white settlers 
was unlimited. When the Pilgrims first arrived, their food 
became scarce. The beef and pork which they had brought with 
them became tainted, "Their butter and cheese corrupted, their 
lish rotten.'' For three years an ituportant part of their food 
was purchased from the Indians. Who has not read of the 
Indian Squanto, who taught the colonists various methods of 
catching tl1e "treasures of the sea.'' Few., however , realize the 
fad that this Indian had been kidnapped, brought to Eng.land 
and sold into s lavery some years previous. 

The Indians gave the Pilgrims corn and taught them how to 
plant, fertilize, liarvest, grii1d an<l cook it in many ways, and we 
read that ' 'in every way it forn}ed a palatable fopd." Hominy, 
suppawn, pone, samp, and succatash could soon be found on every 

l History of Conr!f.cticut, Vol. l, p. 40. 
2 J\fassa{;ht,setts Historical. Society Cvltections, First Series, Vol. X, p. 105. 
s Comiettie?ft Hist(lr'ical Society Collerat1ons, Vol. X VIIJ, p. 211. 
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table of the white settlers. Jonue-cakes (jomney-ca:kes), "fn­
jun" bread, pumpkins or squashes, Indian beans and yo}cltegg 
were enjoyed by rich and poor. 

The first settlers in Connecticut were received and assisted 
in like manner hy the Indians, and we shudder when we read 
the law enacted in the year 1646, which sanctioned the e.xporta­
tion of Indians in exchange for negro slaves. 

There is a letter of Emanuel Downing to his brother-in-law, 
Governor Winthrop, concerning slave labor, in whicb he explains 
"that a just war with the Narragansett Indians mighl be advis­
able, fusl because it is possibly a sin to suffer the savages to 
continue their worship of the devil, and secondly because if the 
Lord shollld deliv~r red-men, women and children into the 
Englishmen 's hands they could be exchanged for 'Moors,' and 
this would be a very 'gainfull pillage' as it is hard to see how the 
whites could thrive until they got slaves enough to do all their 
work. 1

' 1 

Joseph Bull, a saw mill owner at Burnside, had an Indian 
slave, James, who ran away and was caugl1t after 11many months' 
absent.'' For this the Council "considering the forfeitme he 
hath made of his liberty, according Lo proclamation, do see cause 
to oTder that the said Indian shall continue in service with his 
sayd master, for tJ1e term of his whole life." ln his will, dated 
at H artford, Octoher 10, 1732, the Reverend Timothy Wood­
bridge, gave to his wife, Abigail \i\Toodbridge, an Indian slave, 
John Wobbin, and his negro girl named Lydia, to his daughter, 
Sus,annah Treat, in case hiB wife did not want her, provided 
that a "reasonable price for her" be paid by lcis daughter. 

One could continue indefrnitely and show· how lndians were 
enslaverl, by quoting the old records and early newspaper 
advertisements of runaway I ndian slaves. 

The young warriors of the Podunks joined King Philip's War 
against the whites. Many were killed at Turner's Falls (Mass.) 
by the English under Captain John Mason aud but few'., if any, 
escaped out of the Narragansett stronghold which was butned 
by Captain Benjamin Church and his inen. The members of 
the tribe who remained at home were soon landless beggars, 
and iJ any were caught stealing they were liable to be sold into 
slavery. 

Indian Lands. 
In his memoir relating to Connecticut, Roger Wilcott of 

Windsor wrote (July 12, 1759): "They (the early settlers) kept 
the Indians at ·an awful distance, an Englishman would easy 
fight with and beat an Indian that dare dispute for superior-
1 Van Rensselaer, History of the City of New York, Vol. I, p. 192, 
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ity. . . . Posterity will harcUy believe this thing, scarcely 
paralleled -in any place or age upon the globe that a few men 
coming into a wilderness full of barbarous T ndians, rather as 
pilgrims than men of power, without the least pretense of right 
tq the land or leg.al power over their neighbors, should assume to 
tbemselves. this authority and maintain it and do so much good 
within so long a time. 

"When I say posterity will not believe, l suppose the most 
sensible of them (early settJers) did not then believe that granting 
of lands by towns and entering of it in the town-book could make 
a title." 

He further tells us: "The Engush conquest over the Pequots 
struck through the Indians with fear and amazement,'' and 
that the English set up l:ncas, as sachem, for "Uncas was a 
prudent and valiept man an<l innch io the English fa.vor." A 
tittle later we read: "The native right was that of the Indians, 
this was the title of the land, and to make profitable they set up 
Uncas for a sachem and the proprietory of the country; they 
got large grants from him and Owaneco his son for little or 
nothing." 1 

The English were settled in Co1mecticut a few years when 
Araramei:, Chief of l be Poduok5, complained in the year 1637, 
"about Lieutenant Holmes denying the planting of liis old 
grow1d," and the Court ordered "that they (the Indians) should 
plant the old ground they planted last year for this year onJy." 
After that tlte Podunks had to clear off new land for cultivation. 

When the ''Three Mile Tract," now East Hartford, was 
bought of the Podunks, the deed called fat "three long miles of 
land" extending east and west. When Benjamin Franklin 
became Post Master General of the Unitecl States he was author­
ized by an acl of Congress to set up milestones on all post roads, 
and, strange but true, he had a milestone erected close to the 
eastern boundary of the Three Mile Tract. The in$cription on 
it read: "Six Miles to Hartford Court House." The Lhree 
miles bought of the lnclians were indeed " long miles." 

We have already seen that lhe Mohegan sachem, Uncas, 
and bis son, Owaneco, g:ra11ted large tracts of land as Roger 
Wolcott says, "for little or nothing," bul the white settlers did 
not always wait to purchase Inclian lands even at so low a price. 
Soon after the death of Uncaswe find the Mohegans complaining 
to the General Assembly at Hartford that their lands are held 
and used by settlers. One sachem claimed that "the English 
have taken all the Inclian land from them and he himself owns 
none.'' 

1 Comiecticut Historical Society, Vol. ill, pp. 326, 328, 



20 The History of Manchester 

An argument was popular among the early settlers lhat th~ 
Indian's method of making a living was doomed because he owned 
too much land, in fact, needed too much to subsist. The early 
land records, however, show that individual white men owned 
very la:rge trac;ts of land which they tould not cultivate them­
selves but held for speculative purposes. For example: The 
tract now known as East. Hartford was practicaJly owned by 
four men at one lime, Oz.ias Goodwin, J ohn Talcott, William 
Westwood and John Pantry, who owned one parcel of land 
containing 2,832 acres and another parcel containing 951 acres. 
This land abutted on the "Boggy Meadow" on the west (East 
Hartford Meadows) and extended eastward to what is now 
Manchester. As early as 1639, Thomas Hosmer owned 14 
parcels of land containing 876 acres, of which 7W. acres were 
"on the east side of the Great River." 

It seems that there was some truth in what the Podunk chief 
sa-id when the Reverend John Eliot preached the gospel to the 
tribe. After his .sermon Eliot asked the chief if he and bis people 
were now ready Lo accept Christianity as their reTigion. "No," 
said tbe sacJ1em, ;,the Christian}) have taken away all our land 
and uow they wanl to make us a race of slaves." 

We 1iave already seen thal when Main Street in East Hart­
ford was laid out in 1670, the proprietors gave the land for it, 
which was six rods in width, ai1d for which the General Court 
granted them the privilege of extending their east boundaries 
twenty rods into the wilderness. The land thus granted (now 
within the bounds of Manchester) still helonged to the Indians, 
for the "Five Mile Tract" was not purchased until two years 
later and not paid Jor until the year 1682, when the General 
Court admitted that some grants of lands were made "lo par­
ticular persons within the five miles." 

A good example of an Indian land purchase is that of our 
neighboring town of South Windsor. The price paid was: 
"twenty doth coats, fifteen fathoms of wampum, of which there 
be.ing paid in hand eight coats and six fathoms of sewau (wam­
pum), the other twelve coats and six falhoms of sewan tO be 
paid at Lhe coming up of our nexl Pinnace." The land sold was 
the "ground between the two brooks or rivulets,'' the P odunk 
and Scantic Rivers, a distance of five miles in width "and so 
eastward into the country one day's walk." 

Thus we can readily understand why tJ1e native Americans 
have disappeared i11 Connecticut. These sons of the forests and 
children of Nah1re could not exist without their hunting grounds. 
T hey are gone, and, besides small bits of charcoal, that we find 
where Lhey had their camp fires, and fragments of their utensils 
and stone implements, we find but little to aid us in our studies 
of the tribe that onr.e dwelt where stands our homes today. 
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Podunks tit War. 

It is generally conceded, and the records prove that the 
Podunks, like aU other native tribes of Connecticut, we.re. 
pe;:tceable people. The River Indians especially were friendly 
with al1 ne\ghbo.ring u·ibes. There were a confederation pf 
tribes rnther tban so many independent "Sachemauunk,'' or 
as we should say, kingdoms. They had inter-married and 
became a people united in every way. When they s0ld land we 
find that the sachems of several tribes "sign(',d" the deeds. 
showing that they lived harmoniously. 

After tne invasion of their counlry by the Pequots, however, 
there were "wars and rumours of wars." T4e Pequots fought 
with the Podunks shortly before the white settlers arrived in the 
Connecticut Valley, so the tradition runs, but we cannot expect 
to find an account of this battle or batLles. This much we find 
in the records that the River Indians travelled to Plymouth and 
Boston several times to induce the colonjsts to emigrate to 
Conuecticut, and I hat I.he English had heard that these Indians 
"were driven out from thence by the potencie of the Pequods 
which usurped upon them and drove them from thence." Some 
of the neighboring tribes had submitted to the Mohawks and 
had agreed to pay the tribute demanded by "Hiawatha's League 
of Six Nations." The Mohawks came annually to collect the 
tribute and at Glastonbury, a band of Mohawks were stationed 
whose presence terrified the native tribes. But it appears that 
the Podunks refused to pay the tribute but fought the intruders, 
instead, until their chiefs were compelled to flee. When the 
first white settlers came, the records tell us that the exiled chiefs 
were restored to their rightful territories. 

It seems probable that an Indian battle may actually have 
been fought as tradition states, on what is known today as the 
Bunce Pasture Lot on '~est Center Street. The Podunks, as 
we have already seen, had a winter village on land known as 
the Jam1;:s B. Olcutt farm. Situated on the great trail, the only 
thoroughfare runnjng east and west through the Colony, it was 
therefore on the dir.ect trail from the Pequot headquarters. The 
village must have been occupied only in the winter. It was an 
easy place for an attack, the l ndlan forts being miles away. The 
village was on high ground, but the Indians always {led to and 
hid in swamps in cases of extreme emergencies. The Bunce 
Pasture Lot was Low land and near by was no doubt a swamp in 
the primeval forest to which the tribe fled and where they were 
attacked by the Pequots. It may have been on tills spot in . 
Manchester that the Poduuks fought in defence of their homes. 

After the annihilation of the Pe<Juot tribe by Captain Mason 
and his men, the River tribes rejoiced, for th.e clan of "wolves" 
of Hiawatha's LeHgue of Six Nations llad 110 longer power 1n 
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Connecticut. But Uncap, the Mohegan, a Pequot prince who 
failed in the election, following lhe death of Chief Wopigwooit, 
was becoming ambitious. He being born a Pequot was imbued 
with the spirit .of the "wolves," and soon he found himself en­
tangled in troubles of all kinds with Connecticut t-ribes, as he had 
been previously with the Narragansetts. In the year 1656 Uncas 
passetl tJirough whal is now Manchester with a war party on his 
way to fight the Poduuks. He had several quarrels with them 
previously, in rc:gard to alle~~d encro~chments of the Mohegans 
on Podunk territory. On U11s occas1on, however, he eame' not 
to settle boundary lines but rather to instst that the Podunkl5 
must give up Weaseapono, a Podunk. who, so Uncas claimed, 
had murdered a s~1gamore living near Mattabesett. (Middletown). 

The Pod1inks were in their fort on the bank: of the Hockanum 
River when the Mohegans an·ived. \IVhen Uncas saw that the 
Podunks were equally as strong in number as his party, he was 
unwilling to hazard a battle. Nevertheless Uncas succeeded in 
getting the Podunk murderer. The story as related hy Dwight 
i'n his Ti-avels and copied from the Colonial Records of Con-' 
necticut, is as follows: 1 A Mohegan crept across the meadows 
at night, set fire to a wigwam and purposely dropped a Mohawk 
arrow. The Potlunks, upon discovering the Mohawk weapon, 
thought the Mohegans had called upon their ancient enemies 
and qLLickly gave over the culprit. However, tlus did not 
satisfy Uncas. The Court at Hartford attempted to pacify both 
parties but failed. It was left for the two tribes to settle the 
malter amongst themsdves, with the injunction that "they must 
not fight on this (the west) side of the river." 

Uncas and his "Mohegan warriors declared war with the 
Podunks, who sent their families to D eerfield, Massachusetts, 
where they were under the protection of the Pocomtucks. There 
they were soon joined by the men of the Podunk tribe. The 
following year, 1657, Lhe white se-Ulers al Hartford took action 
to assist the Podunks in returning to Connecticut. The Court 
apJ?ointed Mr. AJlyn and John Gilbert to go to Pocomtllck "to 
declare to the Indians the mind of the Commissioners concerning 
them." It was ordered that Uncas be required to permit the 
Podunks "to return to their dwellings and there to abide in peace 
and safety without molestation from him or his and that the 
said lndia11s be encouraged and invited so to do by the Govern­
ment of Conuecticu t." The Pocomluckand Norwootick sachems 
were asked by the Commissioners "to forbear all hostilities against 
Uncas till the next meeting of the Commissi.oners." 

Nine years later, in 1666, Uncas became involved again with 
the Podunks. Both parties agreed to let the white men sett le 
their difficulties and appealed to the General Court. The mal1:er 
was peaceably adjusted and without bloodshed. 
1 Vol 1, pp. 304-305, 
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The Pounnks then lived quietly for a few years after until 
the call to anns came from King Philip. "King Philip's War,"' 
ef course, was not caused over night or by any particllJar reason. 
1t had its hitter roots in the many wrongs committed by the 
white men against th.e natives for many years. When the war­
whoop of Philip ar1d his men was heard reverberating through 
tl1e forests, Lhe Podunks answered by sending their best men, 
of "'vho:m few. if any, ever returned. They had joined Philip in 
bis artempt to save their country by checking the progress of 
the white men. They fought for their homes, their families and 
hunting grounds, aud failed . 

The Indian was not a saim, or a demon; he was just as we 
are- human. That he had his faults as well as we have ours is 
Lrue, and that there was right and wrong on both skies is also 
true, but it must be remembered that whereas all lhe wrongs 
committed bv the lndians were recotded; much of what the 
white men did to them is forgotten. 

1'In the contact of the Indian and the white races an irre­
pressible conflict was bound to develop. Even had the savage 
never received any but kind and just Lreatment from his w11ite 
neighhor, 1t is improbable that he could have readjusted his entire 
life so as to compete with, or to accept, civilization. That test, 
however , was never made. To say that his lands were bought, 
and that, therefore, he was justly treated, is a mockery. To 
have expected sympathy, understanding and justice in the 
situation as it developed in the seventeenth century, is aski1lg 
too much, both of human nature and of the period. Indeed, it 
is questionable whether, in the competition between races of 
higher and lower civiJizations, when the former intrude upon 
the lands of the latter, justice, in its strictest sense, is ever 
possible. One cannot believe that the world would have been 
either better or happier bad the land which today supports a 
hundred million self-goveming people been left to the half 
·million barbarians who barely gained a subsistence from it four 
centuries ago. Man, in t he individual treatment of his fellow, is, 
indeed, bound by the laws of justice and of right; but in the 
larger processes of history we are confronted by problems that 
the ethics of the individual fail to solve. The Indian in rhe 
American forest, and the Polynesian in his sunny isle, share, 
in the moral enigma of their passing, the mystery of the vanished 
races of man and brute, which have gone down in t11e struggle 
for existence in geological or historic ages~ in what, one would 
fain believe, is a universe governed by moral law." t 

1 Adams, The Foutiditig of New England, pp. 24-25. 
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INDIAN NAMES OF PLACES IN AND NEAR 

MANCHESTER 

"Keep evermore lbe Indian name 
So long ago possessed, that tongue 
And time which gave alike are gone, 
Their history never told or sung. 
I would not change, I love the sound 
Associated from infancy, 
With home and iriende and scenes which grew 
Through passing years more dear to me." 

-Ellen S. Mowbray. 

Indian place names as they come down to us are sometimes 
names in the Mohegan, sometimes in the Narragansett, Ne­
hantic, Nipmuck or River Indian dialects. Often the name is 
a mixture or a sort of compromise between two or more dia­
lects. -J. H. Trumbull. 

I-Iockanum (River) - from ltot:quaun; hook-shaped or crooked 
river. 

Wiashgttagwumsuck, Bolton Notch - from wiashqua, high; 
ompsk, rock.; auk, place; the high rock"Y place. 

Minnechaug (Mountain) - from minne, berry; adchu, moun­
tain; auk, place; berry mountain place. 

H ackmatack - from hocquaun - mehtug. Hocquaun, crooke ;d 
mehtug, tree; crooked tree. 

Sagumpsketuck - from Sagompsketauk. Sog, hard; ompsk, 
rock; et, at or near; auk, place; hard rock place. 

Podu1ik - from Pod-unkauk; pod, low; unk or u1igkone, 
beyond or further; auk, place; the low land beyond. 

Nebo (Mount)- from Nip~pau. Nip, water; pau, falls; 
Waterfall. Probably a name originally given to Highland Park 
falls. 

Tancahoosen (lliver), a stream in Vernon -from Wat­
tunkshau-oos' e. W attunkshau denotes a rapid and winding 
stream; oos' e, towar<ls; towards the fast flowing and winding 
stream. 

Skunks Misery (west of Manchester) - from Saukunk­
ommisak-keag. Saukunk, outlet o[ a smaller stream into a larger 
one; ornmissakeag, a fishing place for alewives or similru: fish 
that come up the brooks in the spring. 

Pewterpot Brook (a brook in the sou thwest part of Man­
chester) -from Pq,utopa:ug. Pau, falls; a'upauk, flooded place; 
falls at the flooded place. 

Uppaquoag (sometimes called uppergrog,) referring to the 
meadows now flooded near Laurel Park and the flat land on 
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Silver Lane, East Hartford - from the Indian name signifying 
"the place where flags (cat: tails) grow;" a swamp or marshy 
ground. 

Squash-corner (East Hartford) - from squas-komuk. Squas, 
woman; komuk, bouse; a woman's house. 

Weaxskashitek - the meadows and flat land from Manchester 
to E11ington, called in tl1e ear1y days "Great Marsh." Derived 
from the Mohegan weexcodawasaug; it extenrls to the outlet. 

Pastog, the section below Globe Hollow Pond; - from pas­
ahteg, a ditch or pit. 

Sunset (Hill) - derived from Sowwanset; at or towards the 
south . 

1-Jat.ch-hawk, Hillstown. Derived from Hassun-adchu-auk. 
Hassun, stony; adchu, hill; auk, place. Ifassun-adchu-auk 
denotes a place by a stony hill. 

Cocltinake, a brook with its source in Hillstown. Derived 
from clzacha, boundary; attk, place. This brook was near the 
south boundary of the Podunk territory. 

Wapping- from waapin, rising; to go upward; upland OT 

where the land rises. 
Poke (Hill) near HilliardviHe - an Indian tobacco, ·used by 

the New England Indians; yellow helbane. The name sig­
nifies "that which is smoked." -J. R. Trumbull. 

Wungumbaug, the lake at Coventry. Derived from wongunk, 
bend or crooked; paug, pond; the pond with the bend. 

Sicoag, Hartford-from sucki, dark OT black; auk, place OT 

ground; dark ground. 
Plumtree-gutter. A section in Hillstown - from Pomqui­

guttow. Pomqui, fording place; gu,ttow, log; a Jog over a stream 
or swamp. 

Matianuck (Windsor). A corrupLion of Mattakomuk-m1ik1 

which described a swamp in the west part of the township. 
Matta, bad; komitk, hDuse or home; auk, place; an unhealthy 
place to live. 

Pyq·uiaug (Wethersfield). Derived from Pohquae, open; 
attk, place; cleared land. 

Mattahesset (Middletown). ] . Hammond Trumbull defines 
it as "a resting place." 

Cormecticut is derived from Qunne or Conne, long; tic, tidal 
river; ut or et, by or near; by the Jong river. 

Nameroake (East Windsor). The original name appears to 
have been tbe equi,7alent of Nameaug which denotes a fishing 
place. 

Snipsic (Lake) in Rockville. The name is all that is left of 
Mishenipset, Mishe, big; nips, pool·; et, al. The Mohegai1s 
called it Moshenups and the Olttlet (Hockanum River) they 
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called :Atfoshe-nups-sauk, which translated means big-pool­
ou tlet. The Poduuks called the river l.tfisheni psaug. The 
Nipmucks, NI'shenipsac. 

Kongscilt, a range of hjJJs in Glastonbury. 
Somersic, derived from JVJeshom'a~-ic, now known as Rattle­

snake Mountain, Mabautauantucksuck, Ashanat, Wongunkshoak, 
Nameag, Nyac, Washiack; Pegansic and many other Indian 
place names are found in the old records of the town of Glaston­
bury. 

Woarokieskquas (a section south of Highland Park) is men­
tioned jn the deed of the copper mfoe. The word is derived from 
Warra, beautiful; qitesik, standing upright; quasses, virgin.1 

Willimantic, also written in other dialects, Warramantic, 
Waltamantucli and W ewemantic, denotes a place of beautiful 
scenery; Warra, beauliful; amannant, sight, outlook or scenery~ 
auk, place. 

Skunkamaug (Brook in Andover) is a corruption of saukitnk, 
where two brooks join; amaug, fishing place. 

N()Washe (Windsor). So called by the Indians, according to 
Adrian Block. 

Naubuc (Glastonbury) - from a!upauk, "flooded or over­
flowed" - J. H . TtumbuU. 

Nipmuck, a territory .northeast of the Podunk country­
from nipamaug; a fresh water fishing plaee. 

Skeantocke (Scantic). The name denotes a red place or red 
earth. 

Sc·itico. Probably a corruption of squi, red; tic, river; 
auk, place; the red river place. 

Nipsic, a pond in Glastonbury. From nips, pool; au,k, 
place; the pool place. 

Podunk Burying Places. 
The Podunks had five burying places. The royal cemetery 

was in East Hartford on Main Street where th.e Ellington Road 
branches off, on land now owned by Mi-. Frede1·ick Olmstead. 
When the cellar of Mr. Olmstead's house was being dug, nine 
skeletons of Indians were found. It is claimed that every one 
was over si..'{ feet long and that the teeth were in wonderful 
conilition. Here is the sacred spot where the Podunks buried 
their chiefs and their families. During the e.xcavation, relics 
were found but no observations were made. Barber in bis 
Historical Collections2 gives an interesting account of earlier 
excavations in Podunk cemeteries. 

1 Woarokieskquas (also written Mamaucheeskqua) was the name of a 
Podunk maiden who, with two other women, Wunne-neetunah and Seutau­
brisk, sold land to Richard Burnham, the son of Thomas, in the year 1673. 

2 P. 79. 
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About in tbe year 1680, a strange funeral passed through 
"Manchester." A large band oI Indians, men and women with 
blackened faces passed, carrying a dead child . They came 
from N01'wich to bury the child in the royal cemetery of the 
Podunl<s. E. W. Ellsworth, of East Windsor, quotes John 
Warner Barber regarding this Indian burial, in his report to the 
Sntithsonian Institute o[ Washington, D. C., 1881.1 No informa~ 
tion is given in Ellswoi-t.h's report, or in Barber's account, in 
regard to the identity of these fndians, but by a st udy of the 
o1d Tecords the facts may be neduced . Saugunosk, the daughter 
of Araramet, the last chief of the Podunk tribe, married Aii:awaJJ­
hood, also called Nautahon, who w-as 'known among the white 
settlers as Joshua Sachem. After Joshua's marrjage to Saug­
unosk (dark star), Araramel gave to the ~vedded pair a1J bis 
laud in Podunk which included Manchester. Now Mohegan 
and Nehan:tic Indians had bu1·ying places near their villages 
and none of them woultl have care<l to travel many miles with 
a dead child in order to bury it among the Poduoks. 'There 
seems little doubt therefore that the dead child must have been 
the offspring of Saugunosk, the daughter of Araramet by Chief 
Joshua. The latter sold the "Five Mile Tract," now Manchester, 
to the white settlers io 1.672 .. 

Another buryjng place of the PodunJG was ou the south 
bank of the Podunk River near Main St·Te-et, East Hartford. 
Many graves were opened here until tbe authoi:ity of the town 
forbade f urtber disturbance of the remains. 

The Indian burying place at South Windsor· was near the 
Connecticut River battk and is now partly washed away uy the 
fast flowing current of the river. Here, too, many graves were 
opened by relic lmnters and bones of the Indians buried there 
can be found today among many Indian relic collections. On 
the north bank of the Scantic River near where it flows into the 
Connecticut, is, or rather was, another Podunk burying place, 
One man is known to have opened over forty graves and we 
doubt very much whether the remains .of a single Podunk lies 
there undisturbed. The fifth burying place was at Hockanum, 
west of Main Street near Ensign Street. 

Those of. the Podunk.s whq had outlived the organized tribe 
were laid to rest in Christian cemeteries, among the uegro 
slaves in a corner of the graveyard and usually no records were 
kept regarding their nationality or race. About these unmarked 
graves, Doctor Henry R. Stiles, in his "History of "Windsor/' 
says:2 "In every New Eng1and village church, the darkies have 
a comer in tl1e gallery, and another corner in the vi1lage grave­
yard, where ant-hills and tangled vines and weeds struggle for 
J P. 662. 
2 Vol. I, p. 488 (edition of 1859.) 
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the honor of bedecking their humble and unhonored graves." 
In the Wapping Cemetery lies Molly Mohawk, an Indian 

woman. She died December, 1762, aged 28 years. In the West 
Cemetery there a.re two unmarked graves, in which lie the wife 
of ''Chief Toby" and an Inclian man. - At Windsoi· and South 
Windsor Cemeteries many are buried. Those whose death and 
burial are recorded, with one or a few words, we may rest assured, 
were "servants" - slaves, °',yned by someone who gave them a 
Christian burial. The brief records make it impossible to dis­
tinguish them from the oegroes. 

According to the United States census of 1920, there were 
159 Indians living in Connecticut, but 11one trace their ancestry 
back to the Podunks. A tribe who had the courage to face the 
Mohegans in battle and who were the only tribe in Connecticut 
who refused to surrender to the Mohawks, has entirely disap-
~~. . 

Their chiefs, Wahginacut, Arraramet, Tantonimoh and Altar­
benhoot (also called Netawante and Nattawanute), with their 
brave wa1·riors, their wives and children, have all entered into 
the "Happy Hunting Grnund" many years ago. 

! 



CHAPTER HT. 

THE FIVE MILE TRACT 

Although Manchester has existed as an independent town­
shjp only since 1823, the history of the tract of land enclosed 
in its present boundaries goes back one hundred and fifty years 
beyond that date. The rustory of the town is embodjed in the 
history of Hanford to the yea1· 1783, and in the history of East 
Hartford, from that year to 1823, when Orford Parish was 
incorporated as the Town of Manchester. 

The PurchaSe of the Five Miles. ! 

Our communitv was known as "the wilderness" until the 
year 1672 when Major J ohn Talcott of Hartford bargained with 
Chief Joshua, the thfrd son of Uncas the Mohegan sachem, for 
a certain tract ofland about five miles square. The record of this 
begins as fol\ows: "Whereas, j oshua Sachem, some short time 
before bis dealh, did make a Sale of a Parcel of Land to Major 
Talcott, of Hattford, and the said J oshua. Sachem Deceasing 
before he had made conveyance of rus Will reciteing bis said 
bargain and disposing of the said pay agreed on for the said 
Lands for the use of his children of him the said Joshua, as more 
at length is expressed in the said Will, and the child of the said 
Joshua now needing the purchase for the use of the said child," 
etc. At a town meeting held in December, 1681, the "town by 
their vote agreed to pay to t.he executors or administrators of 
Joshua's wiU, as much money as Major Talcott agreed with 
Joshua for the land within the bounds of the townsrup of Hart­
ford, proportionate to what they receive or lies within the 
township of Hartford, provided those that receive the money 
give sufficient deeds to the Town of Hart ford for the conveying 
of the said land to tl1em and holding it firm to them and their 
heirs and successors forever." 

The tract was deeded to Cyprian Nichols, Sergeant Caleb 
Stanley and John Marsh, selectme11 of the Town of Hartford, 
dated May 13, 1682, by Captain James Fitch of Norwich, and 
Thomas Buckingham of Saybrook, administrators of the estate 
of Sachem Joshua. 

29 
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In tl1e minutes of a town meeting held at Hartford, Decem­
ber 27, 1683, we read ''Tbe deede and sale ffor (five myles in 
Length and all the Bredgth of Har.llord Bounds lfor Laud 
Bought of Joshua Uncas son: or his administrators or agents 
Camp J ames ffitch & Mr. Tho Buckingham: was givne to 
Camp Allyn to Recorde, and also Mt. Allyn was desired to 
Recorde the Town Rate in 82 for a rule to distribut the said 
Traclct of Land by according to each mans payment or purchas 
in sd Rate. " 

The town rate mentioned was brought up iu a town meeting 
December 28, 1682, when "the Towne granted a rate of Eighty 
Three pounds and T enn shillings to defray the Towne Charges 
this present yeare." It was also voted at a meeting ueld Janu­
ary 9, 1682, that "the last. grant of land to this Town of Hartford 
made by the General Court on the east side of the _great River 
shall be diV'ided amongst the Inhabitants of the Towne a<:::cording 
to what they shall pay to the Indian purchass of this land, & 
whereas there are some gra11ts made of some lands by the General 
Court to p.ertkular persons w·itbin the fi.Vf:: miles of land granted 
to the Towne on the east side of the River The Towne doe 
appoynt Major Tallcott, Mr. Nicolls Ens: Standly & Nath 
willett or any Three of them to be a committee to (view those 
grants & other lands & to consider the quantity & quality of it 
those Grants) 1 agree what of rights those grants shall pay to 
the purchase of the aforesayed Tract of land boughL of Joshua's 
Administrators & the rernaynder of the lands is to be divided 
amongst the Inhabitants as aforesayed. Att the same meeting 
the Towne by thayr voate Chose Major Hno Tall colt: Capt 
J no Allyn lVh. Nicolls Engs Stanly and Mr. Wm Gibbon to be 
a Committy to Consider of The Best Moddle of that Ti-akl of 
Land on the East side the great River above mentioned shall 
bee divided and make thay1· Return unto the Town of thayr 
Considerations about the said Land." 

Nothing was done, however, during the next fifty years, as 
far ~ division of land was concerned, although in 1 729 i t was 
"voted tbat two miles next Bolton with highways be laid out at 
ptesent in two divisions." The rest of the land was to remain 
undivided for further consideration, but, as in 1682, nothing 
was done. The vote of 1729 included a highway ten rods wide 
which was ordered to be laid ou l "next Bolton line" and twenty 
rods between two divisions for a highway from Windsor to 
Glastonbury. It was further ord.ered that a parcel of land be 
sold to pay the eKpenses of the layout. 

The First Distribution of La.nd, 17 31. 
The mat.Ler rested for t\vco years longer but in 1731 activity 

began and the first distribution of land took place according to 
I The words ~nclosed in parentheses arc crossed out in the original record. 
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t he town vote of 1729. Four distribuLions followed and the. 
last of the "teer of lots," as they were called , was laid out and 
surveyed by William Wells in the year 1753. Of this a11 old map 
still exists, a copy of which is reproduced below. 

William Wells gave an account of his work as foU\ows : "These 
may certiJie all whom i t may concern that I the Subscriber did 
i.n Feby 1753, on the desire of Mess SamU Wells, Camp. Ausmore 
(Hosmer) Josiah Olcott & John Haynes Lord, Gentn appointed 
by the proprietors of Hart[ord to measure the whole o{ the 
commons & grants La yd our in sd Commons on the East side 
of tbe Great River in said H artford between the Three mile 
lots so called & the fourth teer of lots in the live miles so called , 
we began at a Ditch in the Dividing Line between H artford and 
Glasson bury at the East End oft.be Three mile Lqts & Run and 
measured East five hundred and seventy fou r ro.ds to Thomas 
Keeney1s house at the so1tth west end of the fourth Teer of Lots. 
T hen we run north 1 degree East four miles & a half to a white 
oak staddJe marks in the dividing line between Hartford and 
\.Vindsor. Then we run west folll· hundred and ten Rods in 
Windsor Line to the East end of lhe th ree mile Lotts. Then we 
run south 6 degrees & 20 m. west on the line of <:Utches on the 
east encl of three mile lotts to the first mentioned bounds and 
have measllred the grants & put the mens names and number of 
acre~ in sald grants as I have Sayd in this plan. So the whole 
of the Commons & Grants Contained 4428 acres of Land. The 
grants cootai11 1305 acres & 100 rods, which subtracted out there 
remains 3122 acres & 60 rods of Land to be divided. 

' 'Wm. Wells 
"surveyor." 

The Use of the Convmons. 

The use of the Commons was regulared by town vote.! 
To some extent pine trees were reserved for the making of 
t.urpentine a nd on April 26, 1709, all persons were prohibi ted 
from "boxing" any trees, or drawing any turpentine except from 
those trees already designated. The Lownspeople had the 
privilege of cutting fLrewoocl on the Commons, but on December 
5, 1702, each householder was restricted to cut and carry away 
on<> tree in each week until M arch 1. White oak and chestnut 
trees were not to be "i:ouched." Notwithstanding the abundance 
of t!mh(tf, its com;umplion was closely watched. On January 8, 
1748, complaint wa:-; made tbat there had been much waste and 
destruction. For a number of years birch, alder, witch-hazel, 
boxwood ;:ind hard beam were the only kinds allowed to be felled. 

J ared Inert_ soil, "agent fo r ye Colony of Connecticut,'' wrote 

1 See Appendix A, pp. 325-329. 
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(June 2, 1760) to John Pownall in regard to "the better preserva­
tion of ye Kings Pine Timber." 11This same genera1 Tract of 
Pine Woods Extends from the Said Eastern parts of New Eng­
land, \Vestward as far as & even beyond the Upper part of the 
River Connecticut." The eastern part of New Englan.d is 
explained in his letter to be Portsmou th, New Hampshire. 
What a beautiful forest it must have been and what a pity that 
our forefathers did not interest themselves more in its preser­
vation. 

After realizing the extent of this forest , we do not wonder 
at the minutes of a "General Meeting," January 10, 1639: 
" It is ordrd that the Townsmen have liberty to Improve men 
for the killing of woolfs either by Hunting or shoting or other­
wise and to be paid at A pubtige eharge." And again at a 
meeting September 17, 1640, "It is ordered yt Learance wood­
ward shall spend his Time abowgt killing of wolfes & for his 
Incoragment he shall have 4 s 6 d a weecke for his bord in casse 
he kill not a wolfe or a deare in ye weeke: but ifI he kill a wolfe 
or a deare he is To pay for his bord himself & iff he kill a deare 
we are to have it for 2d a pound. This order is made for amonth 
after he begines.'' Besides the wolf, the fox was hunted and 
bounties paid for the killing of them. As late as tbe year 1819 
the Town of East Hartford voted to pay a bounty of fifty tents 
for every fox killed within the town limits. 

Among the commodities produced in early days we find 
mentioned in 1680, tar, deal boards and pipe staves besides 
pork, beef, wool, hemp, flax and cider. 

Gold and silver coin was scarce, for the colonists and traders 
bad little which they could exchange for the precious metals. 
Indian wampum was used as currency as late as 1652 or later, 
for in that year the town (Hartford) loaned "to Jeremy Adams 
Twenty pounds to bee pd in Current wampome at or before the 
15th of November, 1652.'' The previous year, it is recorded, 
the town collected debts "in wompom." 

The first pound for cattle and swine on the East Side was 
ordered June 9, 1646, as follows: "Att a meting off the holl 
body it was ordted that thear shall be liberty ffor a pownd or 
powndes to be BuJJt on the East side of the great river and that 
thear shall be the ssame Liberty to recover damag by Catell 
or swine in Corne or grase acording t o the orderes rnad :ff or 
that side that thear is ffor t11e south if anie be ffownd to have 
Trespased." 

The school master's salary was indeed a meager one, for on 
January 18, 1661, it was "Voted that for ye the encorgnt (en­
couragement) of mr Pipkine to teach sco9le this yeare insuing, 
to pay hime eight pounds, by ye towne rate and ech scoller yt 
comes to scoole are eythe.r to send a loode of wood wth in a 
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month after mlcallmuss (Michaelmas) or else yt is concluded 
they shall pay Three shillings for ye pcuering ye wood.' ' 

The minister of the gospel fared better, for we see that on 
Februa_ry 3, 1668, ''the Towne By there Vote chose Robt Sanford 
& Andrew Benton, to be Colectors for the gathering of the 
ministers rate this year ensueing. The same Towne meeting the 
Towne granted to mr whiting & mr Haynes seventy pownds 
apeice for there worke in the ministry. The same Towne meet­
ing the Towne desired the Deacons to Collect & gather what is 
due to mr whiting & mr Haynes of the rates granted them 
formerly of those particuler persons whoe are behind hand In 
their proportions of those rates formerl}' granted." 

1'here were poor to be taken care of. Mrs. Kelly and her 
child were assisted by the town. On February 17, 1664, ' 'The 
towne by ther Voat apoynted the Townsmen in being: tQ 
vues. (use) ther best descretion in providing and disposing of 
goody kely and hur Child either to put out the Child and provid 
for he.t or provid for them together as they shall see caus a­
cording to ther best descretion." The town, however, did not 
provide for her very long for in the following year, at a town 
meeting J1eld September 1, it was "Voted: that the Towne will 
give tenn pounds to David Phillips of Milford provided tbat he 
remove from Hartford w th Bethia Kelly his wife at that time 
web The Townsmen shall appoint him.' ' 

An early divorce is recorded in 1677 when Mary Murraine, 
tlle wife of Patrick Murraine, petitioned 11 that she might be 
released from her conjugal tye to him.'' The Court released her 
accordingly "with liberty to dispose herselfe in marriage, as God 
shall grant her oppertunety.'' 

The early settlers did not enjoy the benefi.t: of a free press for 
in 1668 the Court ordered, "Whereas by a fortner order, Oct. 1, 
1657, bereticall bookes, viz; such bookes or manuscripts as 
contain the error~ of Quakers, Ranters, Adamites or such like 
Notorious Heretiques, should not be kept under penalty expressed 
in the sayd law . . . all such bookes as afoarsaid be utterly 
supprest." 

Permanent SeLtlements in the Five Mile Tract. 

In the year 1669, we find in the Connecticut Cqlonial Re(ords 
(Vol. II, page 123) the following: "This Court grants Corpll 
John Gilbert the sume of Two Hundred Acres of land, whereof 
twenty Acres may be meadow, provided that he doe not take it 
up to the prejudil;:e of any former grant or plantation." From 
this act of the General Court may be dated the dawn of civiliza­
tion within tl:ie limits of the Town of Manchester. 

In 1673, James Steele and Nathaniel Willet were appointed 
to lay out the land and during the same year John Gilbert huilt 
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a sawmill at "Hop Brook," now known as the Sixth School 
D'strict, where Manchester was first settled. Gilbert's sawmill, 
however, was not the first within the present limits of the town 
for on March 19, 1672, the General Court granted to John Allen, 
100 aeres of land "near his sawmill" and which was further 
described as "A neck of land abutting on Saw Mill River (now 
Hockanum) towards the south ancl towards the east, . . . 
containing 80 acres and 20 acres on the Saw Mill River on the 
south and on a brook running into Sparr Mill Swamp towards 
the west." The words, "near his sawmill," denote that a mill 
was already there in that year. This mill and land was in 
wbat is now called Hilliardville and the brook mentioned is 
known as Bigelow Brook. There were no doubt huts or shacks 
erected for the men that worked in this mill and for the timber­
men and teamsters. However, no permanent settlement was 
made here. 

At Hop Brook, however, we find that ·Gilbert had settled , 
for in 1689 we read that "The Town also by theire voate granted 
Corp'll John Gilbert Liberty to selt a J oyners or Cooper shop 
in the Highway next to Mr. John allcotts Homlott provide Coll. 
Allen Lil.It. wadsworth Seirgy John marsh and Mr John olcott 
do aprov off the place and quantity off Land to sett sd Building 
uppon provde the Land be not above 18 £oote in Length & 16 
foote in Bredgth." The words, "next to Mr. John allcotts 
HomJott" seem to inclicate that the latter was living here in 
that year. 

About this time, or to be exact, on October 5, 1694, the early 
settlers at Hop Brook joined their neighbors in "East Hartford" 
in petitioning the authority at Hartford for a minister. Those 
living on the east side of the "Great River" were obliged to 
attend church at Hartford and complained "because of the 
trouble and Danger th.ey are Exposed too by Coming over 
(the river) to the publike worship" etc. The Ecclesiastical 
Society Records in East Hartford date from 1699, but there 
is proof that the Society on the east side was established five 
years earlier. 

On February 17, 1708, Joseph Gilbert, the son of John, sold 
to Thomas 01cutt, Jr., 100 acres at Hop Brook; Joseph and 
his brother Thomas being admicistrators of their father's 
estate. On November 13, 1713, Thomas Olcutt, Jr. 1 noted iu hi? 
account book: "My honored Father Thomas Olcutt, came to 
live with me at Hop Brook." 

The First Tavern. 
At a town meeting held December 15, 1713, it was "Voted 

that Lt. Thomas Olcott Shall have Liberty to keep a house of 
publick Entertainment for Tra\rellers;" and at the same meeting 
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it was further HVoted that Capt. Rogers Pitkin and Mr. William 
Pitkin be Impowered in behalf of the Town to lease any part of 
the Lands Lying in the five Miles of Land purchased of Major 
Fitch and Mr. Tbon.1as Buckingham To Some of their Neighbors 
who Shall desire it for Such Time as they Shall think may not 
be a disarlvantage to the Town." 

That Thomas Olcutt was successful as a proprietor of the 
first tavern within the 1imits of Manchester is evident, for we 
find bis son Samuel, who succeeded him as tavern keeper, still 
"entertaining" at the tavern. In his journal, Joseph Joslin, 
Jr., of South Killingly, a teamster in the Continental service, 
under the date of June S, 1778, wrote: "About Sun Rise I 
Set out and came to 11artford and Crossed the ferry 7 Clock 
and then we Came to Landlord Alku tts and got Some break.fast 
I see Wm Moury Came through Bolton Coventry we See Doct 
Morrisson Murfee that could not help him Self on his horse or 
off he Came with l!S to Land Lord Rust got some Drink and 
then we Came to Simeon fo1·bes and Staid all knight fared vvell." 

The Squ<1tters and The:ir Rights. 

As for the committee that was appointed in the previously 
mentioned town~ vote to lease any part o( the lands in the "Five 
fyliles" t<:> some of their neighbors, 1t appears that many of 
"their neighbors" came to live and stay. Some leased the land 
in accordance with the vote passed at the town meeting, but 
many others came as squatters, settled, and claimed the land. 

The following pledge, copied from the original, tells the story: 
"Whereas of a Grant of the General assembly, October the 10th, 
1672, there was a tract of Land of 5 miles added to the east 
bounds of the town of Hartford whlcb lie th east and west from 
the end bf the 3 mile Lots on the east Side of the Great River 
to Bolton, ·ancl north and South from Windsor to Glassonbury 
and Since that the Native Purchase of sd tract of Land was 
paid by the Inhabitants of Sci town and a deed taken in the name 
and for the use of the town and sundry Sums of money within 
a few years past disbursted by the town for the depending and 
Settling tbe bounds thereof and whereas Sundry of our neighbors 
who Call themselves Proprietors of the Sd 5 miles have had 
Several meeings (meetings) of late and agreed to come to a 
division of the Greater Part of Sd Land among themselves, 
thereby Conuerting it to another use then wa~ designed as we 
Su pose, We the Subscribers Inhabitants of Sd town looking upon 
Pretentious here in not to be: just and that Sd tract of Land 
Should be and remain for the use of the town as it now lies and 
to defend it against Sd Proprietors do oblige Our Selves to pay 
UP<:>n demand the some of money fixed to our names or our 
equal Part to try the case in the law if need be and jmpower 
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Capt Thomas Saymore Mr. Zechariah Dickeson Sart Richard 
Burnham junr, as our Committee to ConsuJt and jmprove some 
attorney or attorneys as they shall see cause and to hinder Sd 
Proprietors in laying out and Possessing the whole or any Part 
thereof by demolJshing any monuments, fences &c which they 
Shall erect thereon hereby oblidgeing our Selves to justify Sd 
Committee or major Part of lhetu in their legal Proceedings on 
the account. 

"March the 24th 1731. 

Let samull makons - Joseph Simonds Obadiah Wood 
Ridrn.rd Burnham J onathan Pratt Jacob Williams 
Richard Gillman William Worron GabroU Williams 
Ridrnrd Olmsted John H<J,ssatine Gabriel \lVillianis Juner 
Thomas Spencer jaer Danll Williams Willm Williams iuner 
Jonathan cole Disbrow Spencer Timothy Easton 
Samll Easton John makons William forbs 
J ohn Bidwell iuner Benjamin Cheney Joseph Roberts 
Joseph Bidwell TimothyWilliarns Samuel Smith 

Thomas trill." 
At a meeting held March 3, 1693, it was "voted that the 

towne should paye to Thomas ofcot for the way throw his land 
one the oth~r side of the grate River." AlJ footpaths or cart­
pa:ths were included in original grants. There <U"e many cases 
like the foregoing where the town was forced to purchase the 
land for a highway. The records show that a road or cartpath 
was on this rand, but the land was private property until the 
town bought and paid for it . 

At a town meeting held December 28, 1699, "The towne by 
their Vote do impower Mr. Nath. Stanley, Camp Stanley and 
Mr Willm Pitkin, to procure a new Charter for the towne that 
shall Include the whole bounds of the towne.'' The new charter 
included the Five Miles within the boundaries of the Town of 
Hartford. 
The War on the ''Black Birds." 

Under date oI December 21 1 1692, we find recorded "due to 
the town ffrom them that did not Kill Black Birds - 005 - 06 -
00. J anr 2d 1692 When all the Bi rds that were Killed were 
payed lfor. " And again on December 16, 1707, it was ''Voted 
that Eve:ry Rate able person in this Town Shall be obliged In 
the Moneths of March, April and May To Kill one dozen of 
blackbirds or Else pay one Shilling to the Towus Use and any 
person that shall Kill more than their dozen In the Said Time 
shall be allowed one pany pr. head for as many as they Shall 
Kill and t hat the Selectmen take care that this Voate be per­
formed." The early settlers must have been troubled consider­
ably by these birds and by their fust cousins, the crows. From 
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time to time action was taken to reduce their numbers and as 
late as the year 1808 it was "Voted to pay 4 cents for every 
full-grown crow, killed within the limits of the town.'' 

The bounty was not reteLved unless the crow was full-gr.own. 
We w0nder why_ they were 1enient with the younger rascals, as 
they were called by the older farmers. It seems strange if we 
realize the fact that the curse has actually been taken off the 
crow, for according to reports of the United States Agricultural 
Department, the crow js more useful than harmful. It seems 
the crow family increased despite the bounty paid for lheir 
scalps, for the price was increased to six cents per head in 1809. 

Schools. 
lu the year 1718, that section of the Town of 1-lartford now 

forming the Towns of East Hartford and Manchester was divided 
into two sch00J districts, called the North and the South districts. 
The North district extended from the south boundary line of 
the Town of Windsor, on the north, to the Hockanum River on 
the south, and from the Connecticut River on the west, to the 
end of the "lots" on the east. The South district extended 
from the Hockanum River on the north, to the north boundary 
line of the Town of Glastonbury, on the south. The east and the 
west lines were the same as those of the Nortl1 district. The 
distance in these districts from east to west was about twelve 
miles.1 

At a town meeting held in 1745 it was voted "That those 
persons living in the Five Miles of Land in this Society have 
their Ratable List of School Moi1ey amongst themselves by 
direction of the School Committee." This vote established the 
first school of any kind within the present-town limits. 

At Hop Brook village, school was held for about six years in 
a room rented for the purpose. At a Society meeting held on the 
third Monday in November, 1751, it was voted to al1ow a school 
house to be built "t0 accommodate Lieut.. Olcutt, Ensign Olcott, 
the Simond's and those that live near them; and that a school 
be kept on Jamb Stone Plain (Buckland); one near Ezekial 
Webster's (Manchester Green); one between Sajt. Saml. Gains 
and Alexander Keeney (Keney Street School) and one near 
D9ctor Clarks (now the Ninth District), always provided that 
the School houses be built without any cost to this Society." 
In those early days a master was engaged during the winter for 
six months and "a Dame" for five months during the summer. 
Jt can be seen by this vote of the Society that the original 
school districts, which included the whole of the Five Miles, 
were divided into five districts. 

l The Hockanum River, running southwest Crom whal is now Talcottville. 
shorte.ned the north district by several r:pjles and a "compromise line' ' was 
established through the "Center" of the town. 
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T11e Hop Brook School is now in the sixth district. This was 
the first school built within the town limits. The frame and 
lumber for the school house bad been prepared by the Olcutts, 
Simonds and Ma1·sh 's several years before permission was given 
to erect a school. On Thanksgiving Day, 1751, the frame was 
erected and the clap boards put on. Captain Daniel Marsh 
drove on horseback the day after and invited the people of 
Buckland and Manchester Green to go and see the school house 
that grew up over night. There was much opposition in East 
Hartford against building the school ; also the people in the 
Five Miles opposed the building of a school at Hop Brook. All 
wanted a school near their own homes. Capt. Marsh swore 
tbat the Hop Brobk School would remain. This school house 
stood across tbe road just opposite the present school building. 
All that is left of the original school is the old well. One of the 
last masters who taught in the old building was M r. John Spencer 
of Spencer Street. 

Several schools were necessary on account bf the large 
families of children. The records of birt hs in the fo11owjng 
families show that they did not believe in race suicide or in 
birth control. 

Number of 
Parents Children 

McKee, Nathaniel and Prudence 12 
Cheney, Timothy and RlJOda (Skinner) 7 
Okott, (Rev.) Allen and Cynthia (Hooker) 6 
Cadwell, Mathew and Mary (Nansant) 10 
BQnce, Charles and Sarah (Bidwell) 6 
Rust, Noah and Ann.e 7 
Hills, Silas and Anna (House) 10 
Marsh, Daniel and Anna (Mortison) 7 
Peck, Elijah and Mary (White) 8 
Keeny, Joht1 and Phebe (Sweatland) 12 
Hollister, Josiah and Absenath (Swetland) 7 
Brown, Benjamin and Sarah (Keeny) 9 
Keeny, David and J erusha (Morley) 10 
Early Laws. 

Dates of 
Births 

1750-1780 
1787-1801 
1793-
1761-1779 
1790-1800 
1788-1801 
1763-1785 
1752-1765 
1778-1795 
1762-1790 
17'88-1801 
1764-1784 
l782-1.S02 

A large part of the Mosaic law was enacted into statute in 
the early days df the Connecticut colony, as well as in Plymouth 
and in the Massachusetts Bay colony, Capital punishment was 
providing for fourteen offences including blasphemy, witchcraft, 
conspiracy and rebellion and continued disobedience to parents. 
The frequent use of the whipping post and the branding iron is 
apparent frnm the early recoi:ds. Whippings were administered 
for drunkenness, for stealing and for disrespectful and dis­
orderly conduct. Sometimes lawbreakers were branded with 
hot irons; others had their ears cut off. 
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There were laws against wearing gold and silver lace and 
gold and silver buttons, silk ribbons and scarfs or other super­
iluou.s trim.mi.ngs, if worn by a person known not to be rich. 
The respective towns were required to "assess such persons so 
offending, in the list of estates, at one huodred and fifty pound 
estate and they to pay their rates accordfogly to that proportion 
as such men use to pay to whom such apparell is allowed as 
suitable to their rank." The early laws were enacted by "the 
pri11cipal planters and gentlemen of quality" who believed in a 
stern government for the lower classes. According to the law 
no one of the lower class could dress like those of the rich class; 
if he did be was assessed as if he were rich. 

The Sabbath was kept holy and to enforce the observance of 
-j]e day tbe Genera] Court ordered "that noe seJ:vill worke shall 
be done on the Sabbotli viz: such as are not workes of piety, 
charaty or necessity and no propbane discourse or talke, rude 
or un.reverent behaviourse shall be used on the holy day, upon 
penalty of ten shillings fine for every transgression hereof." 
It was proclaimed that "l:be propbanation of the Sabbath is 
that as pulls downe the judgments of God upon the place or 
people that suffer the same'' and it was further ordered ''that 
H any person shall prophane the SabboLh by unnecessary travel} 
or playing thereon in time of publique worsbipe, or after, or 
shall keep out of the meeting house dureing the publique worship 
unnecessarily, there being tonvenient room in the house, he 
shall pay five shjllings. for every such offence or sii in the stocks 
one bower." 

At a Hartford town meeting held Febrnary 15, 1659, ''The 
towne by there Vote gave power to ye Sentinel! o( ye Guard to 
command boyes and men Into ye meefo1g house that stand 
wthout ye <lore$ in time of exercise and If they shall refuse to 
com in at there Comand they shal1 yn forwth acquaint ye 
seargant of ye guard therwth or the Constable, wboe shall 
comand ym in." In the "good old days" church membership 
was essential to good social standing jn the community, and the 
stocks, pillory or whippiog post were instrumentally responsible 
for large church attendance. 

Among the fourteen capital offenses, the second which was 
based upon the commaiJd of Moses, "Thou shalt not suffer a 
witch to live," brought upon America stains that wiU never be 
blotted out of its history's pages. Later writers have tried to 
wash out these red stains but the records bave come down to us 
and are too gruesome to be repeated at any great length. 

Katherine Harrison had been indicted, tried by jury at the 
May Court of Assistants, and found guill-y of witchcraft. She 
was sentenced to death but the Special Court reconsidered her 
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case, dismissed her from imprisonment, . . . "she paying her 
just fees" and agreeing to remove from town. 1 

Nathaniel Greensmith and Rebecca, his wife, were hanged 
at Hartford, Connecticut, January 25, 1663, for witchcraft,i 
and five ye'ars later the General Court "impowered Mr. Samuel 
Willys, Captain Tallcott and the secretary to make a deed of 
sale to Andrew Benton, of Nathaniel Greensmitb's house and 
land which was seized for charge expended on said Greensmith 
and sold to G. Benton. 3'' 

The witchcraft delusion had spread all over New England 
and not a few innocent men and women paid the death pe.nalty 
before the legislab..tre of Massachusetts appointed a day for 
general fast and supplication, "that Goel would pardon all the 
erro.rs of His senraots and people in a late tragedy raised among 
us by Satan and his instruments." By this time, however, 
"Good wife Bassett" had been hanged at Stratford, Connecticut, 
for witchcraft 1n 1665, and likewise ''Good wife Knapp" at 
Fairfield, Connecticut. 

Abigail Betts, "a school dame," in 1662 was found guilty of 
blasphemy and sentenced to be hanged at Hartford. Thomas 
Burnham, one of the foremost of the early settlers on the east 
side of the "Greal River," defended her and protested against 
the execution, but she was forced to climb a ladder with the 
noose around her neck. For defending her he was disfranchised 
for the term of six years. 
Early Highways and Roads. 

In 1638 the first highway in the colony was ordered con­
structed "for cart and horse" with bridges over brooks and 
swa.mps. It led (rom Hartford to Windsor. The first highway 
ordered to be laid out on the east side of the Connecticut River 
was what is now known as Village Street, East H artford . Ori­
ginally it was an Indian footpath that led from Sicaog (Hartford) 
to Podunk Village. Meadow Hill Road (now Prospect Street, 
East Hartford) was the first highway on the upland. 

The first highway through the present Town of Manchester 
is now lmown a$ Silver Lane, Spencer Street, West Center1 Center 
and East Center Streets. Originally it was an Indian trail of 
wluch we shall learn more in later pages. 

This footpath crossed the land granted to John Gilbert in 
1669 by the General Court and which was later bought by the 
Olcutts and Simonds. The grant included the footpath which 
soon became a cartpath used by all the early settlet·s but since 
the road was private property legislative action was necessary 
and we find that "at a town meeting of the inhabitance of this 
1 Col. Records of Connectic;#t, Vol. II, p. 132. 
2 Narratives of lite. Witchcraft, p. 20. 
s Col, Records of Ci:mnectiwt, Vol. 11, p. 91. 
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town march the 3rd 1693 it was voted that the towne should 
pa.ye Thomas Olcot for the way throw his land on the other 
side of the grate River." The highway thus established was 
known as the Hartford Road and is so called in t11e records. 
John Chandler mentions it in his survey of the Mohegan country 
in 1705, when he describes the west boundary as running south 
"to Wiashquagwlimsuck where the Hartford road runs through 
the Notch :" 

It was Jaid out as a highway in tbe year 1679 and in 1728 it 
was ordered by the General Court, to be a highway four rods 
wide to the end of the "Three Mile Lots;'' now East H artford. 
Jn 1731, deeds were obtained from the proprietors who claimed 
ownership of the land within the limits of tbe Three Mile Tract." 

Tbere are numerous records concerning this road; one dated 
December 27, 1678, shows that alterations were made at different 
parts, and another in the year 1731 shows that the residents in 
the "Five MiJes" bought land on Silver Lane at the "Blow Hole" 
to improve Lhe course of Lhe road. It appears that the road 
lines were re-established in 1784, and alterations made again 
in 1798. 

Another road equally as ancient is the Tolland Turnpike. 
This, too, was originally an Indian trail leading from the Podunk 
winter village, in East Hartford, soutli of Burnside Avenue. 
The trail led northeasterly to Mishenipset (Snipsic Lake) to the 
Nipmuck country and was soon turned into a cartpath. The 
road was included by the committee appo~nted December 31, 
1678, wbkh was ''inpowered to take a survey of and lay out 
some highways on the east side of the great River,'' etc. Little 
or not11ing was done to improve the road until at a town meeting 
held December 19, 1721, when tbe selectmen were empowered 
to lay out two highways "that may be suitable to accommodate 
those who li-ve there for pa.Ssage into the undivided lands. 

A branch leading from this road, "from Gillman's east" to 
meet a road from Bolton line was officially laid out in 1774, but 
had been used as a highway for many years previous. This is 
nnw North Main Street and Woodbridge Street. 

Love Lan~ was first used as a road between John Gilbert's 
and John Allen's sawmills and is one of Manchester's oldest roads. 

Burnside Avenue was laid out in 1725 as far as the "Fulling 
Mills" at Burnside and the following year e.'<tended eastward 
to Bolton. It must not be understood by this that the road i;an 
directly east to l3olton for tb.e Middle Turnpike was laid oat 
later. The old r.oad ran to Lov~ Lane, then to Olcutt's Lane, 
joining there the "great road" or Hartford Road, a nd so to Bolton. 
It was known by several names, viz. : Bidwell's L~ne, Bigelow 
Lao~ Poverty Lane, Maiden Lane, Powdermill Road and 
Woodland Street. 
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At a town meeting held December 8, 1796, lt was "Voted 
t11al EJjsha Pitkin Esq. be Apnt. for this Town to appose Capt. 
Alexander McLean in his Petition to t.he County Court in Novem­
ber La,st for a New Highway to be laid Out in this town." Mr. 
Pitkin wt,ts not successful, however, in oppos:ng the layout for in 
the following year the Middle Turnpike was built by the Boston 
and Hartford Tumpike Company. 

T t Reems that there was no bridge acroSR the Hockanum River 
until 1803, for the first mention of a bridge here .is in the minutes 
of a town meeting held on Apri1 ll, of the sarne year, which reads 
as foliows: "VoteJ that the Selectmen be directed to build a 
Bridge across Hockanum River on the Road passing Alexander 
McLeans aJJd tJ1at it be done by them on the most reasonable 
terms to include the Offer made by Mr. McLean." Nothing 
appears as to what the offer was which Alexander McLean mad~, 
btit nevertheless it shows that he was anxious to have a bridge 
on Lbis road. 

Olcutt Street, though one of the oldest roads in Manchester, 
was not a pubJic highway in the year 1791, for at a town meeting 
held April 11 of that year, it was voted to appoint a committee 
"to oppose the Petition of Capt. Timothy Cheney and others 
at the County Court" concerning "a certain Road or highway, 
Petitioned for by Capt. Timothy Cheney and Others in the live 
Miles so Called To Begin near the Potash of Nathaniel Olcott 
& Extend Eastward to Bollon.'' 

We wonder whether land was scarce at this time for at several 
town meetings it was voted to appoint a committee "to make a 
mensuration of the locrouchments made on the highways" and 
"to remove all fences and other nuisances." Such an order was 
·given when Olcutt SlTeet was laid out by the General Assembly 
in 1804, by a town vote. Jonathan Roberts, Aaron Olmsted 
and George Griswold were appointed a committee to enforce 
the order. 

Turnpi"kes. 

The incorporation of Turnpike Companies, in 1795 and later, 
put one public highway back into private ownership but they 
added another road to the list of roads v..;thin the present town 
limits. The Tolland Road was controlled by one company and 
the Middle Turnpike added by anotber.1 

I At the October session of the General Assembly, 1801, the Hartford and 
Tolland Turnpike was incorporated and the road was to be improved "from 
White's monument to the Connecticut River." Many have since searched 
for this monument, among them Probate Judge Olin Wood, but it has never 
been found. In his will, dated at Hartford, Nov. 7, 1747, John White says: 
"I give all my lands in Middletown and all my lands in the Five Miles on the 
east side of the Connecticut River, in Hartford, to my daughter, Elizabeth 
Benton, and to my daughter, Ann Rust, to be equally divided between them." 
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Toll gates were erected every-where along these turnpikes but 
not in East Barlfor<l, for the inhabitants of that town so biUerly 
opposed all toll gates that none were ever set up there. Within 
the presenl town lirpits of Manchester there were two toll gates. 
One was at Love Lane switch on the Middl~ Turnpike and an­
other was at MeekviHe, west of Buckland, on the Tolland Turn­
pike. Shunpikes, so-called, were well known by all who were 
opposed to paying toll a t the gates and it is said that mru1y 
teamsters w,ould drive oµt of their way for miles rather than pay 
the t ei ll. After the construction of the turnpikes, stage coaches 
from fi artford to Bosto n r an through Manche$ter. 

I n the accounts of the original distribution of land in the 
Five M iles we read of highways thirty rods wide, but these were 
never \aid out as was originally planned. It was intended, by 
those who <livided the land, to lay out three highways running 
north and south, one to Lhe east, one to the we$t and one through 
the center of the tract, but only one of these was laid out and 
that one (Main Street) was never staked out thirty rods wide 
despite the original plan. ln 1729 a highway ten rods >vide was 
ordered "a.ext Boton line" and a space of twenty rods between 
adjoining divisions was reserved for a highway from Windsor 
to Glastonbury. But nothing further was done. 

Hillstown Road is one of the oldest highways in town . It 
was generally recognized as the original east boundary of the 
Three Mile Tract before the year 1670. In that year proprietors 
o[ that tract were permitted to ~xtend their lots twenty rods to 
the east in compensation for the six rods they had given when 
Main Street (East Hartford) was laid out. 

At a town meeting iu l811 it was voted "On the petition of 
Joseph Pitkin and others· that the Selectmen be authorized to 
open a highway from the south line of East Windsor to the old 
travelled road leading from Bu,ckla:nd to Deodat Woodbridge1s, 
in such place as they shall deem e.xpedient to cross the H ockaaum 
River near Pitkin's factory provided no expense is 
made to the town for such highway . and the sum of 
fifty dollars is granted towards building a bridge on such road 
over the river . . . whid1 money aow granted is to be 
paid whenever said bridge is completed." This road is now 
called Oakland Street. 

Another old higl1way is Keeney Street. Thomas Keeney 
lived here in 1753 near Brush Hill Road, which was an htdian 
path. J tis probable that it was intended at the original distribu­
tion of land that this road should be the west road of the three 
that were to be laid out. Parke1· Street was laid out as the road 
"between the two divisions," twenty rods wide. 

Bidwell Street was an Indian path; it is probable t.hat Hac.k­
matack Street was its continuation. 

II 
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At a town meeting held April 10, 1809, i t was voted "That 
the selectmen furnish materials for building a bridge near Mr. 
Bunce's paper mill in this town. This bridge was on what is 
now known as Hartford Road which led to "Paper Hill" and 
eastward to the Cheney grist and sawmill. 

Inscription on Fire Place in Watkins' House South Main Street. 



CHAPTER IV. 

THE ORGANJZATION OF ORFORD PARISH 

Preachiti-g the Gospel in the Five Miles. 

In the early days of settlement and up to tbe time of the 
American Revolution, the communities in New England were 
dlvided into exclesiasti.cal sodeties. The Church was maintained 
by taxes assessed upon all the inhabitants whether church mem­
bers or not. It was recognized as the rn11ng power ;tnd was en­
trusted into a number of local government functions. 

The separation of Church and State settled all controversies 
and differences in opinion in governmental affairs when the 
colonies declared themselves £ree and independent in 1776. 
Five ecclesiastical societies were established before 1776, at and 
around Hartford, of wJ1ich all but one evem:ually became sepa­
rate towns. The First Society was organized in Cambridge, 
Massachusetts, and removed to Hartford with the early settlers 
in the year 1636. The Second Society (often called Hartford 
South Society) was established in 1669, and is still a part of the 
city of Hartford. A Third Society was organized in East Hart­
ford in 1694 and a Fourth Society at West Hartford. The 
Fifth, called Orford Parish, later became the Town of Manchester. 

The earliest settlers in the Five Miles were obliged to attend 
church at Hartford until the Third Society was organized at 
East Hartford in 1694. During this time they petitioned the 
General Assembly for the privilege of maintaining a winter 
parish. As early as the year 1748, the inhabitants petitioned the 
General Assembly for a ''three months winter privilege." Occa­
sionally a minister came and preached at Hop Brook. When 
the weather permitted, it is said, he preached under an elm tree 
on Spencer Street east o_f tbe cemetery, near the house of Cap­
tain Daniel Marsh; 

At the October session, 1758, it was "Resolved by this Assem­
bly that the Inhabitants Living within the limits mentioned in 
said memor:ial shall have the Privilege of a wintet Parish for the 
Term of five montb.s Viz: in the months of December, January, 
February, March and April annually during the Pleasure of this 
assembly- to be computed & reckoned from the first day of 
December Last and the said Privilege is hereby granted to them 

47 
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accordingly and they exempted in that Proportion from mai.n­
truning' & supporting ministerial Charge in the Several SocieLies 
to which they belong." Ministers' salaries were to be paid "ill 
wheat at 5 shillings per bushel; l rn:l.ian Corn at 2 Shillings 6 
Pence per bushel; Rye at 3 Shillings per bushel, all good and 
Merchantable.'' I t was so voted at a Society meeting held at 
East I-ia11:ford, January 17, 1704. (Records of Ye Ecclestiastical 
Societv Ye East Side of Ye Great River in Ye Town of Harlford 
16~9-i783.) 

The five months' winter parish privilege continued until the 
proprietors again petitioned the General Assembly for the privi­
lege of a seven months' winter parish 1763, when it was again 
"Resolved by this assembly that the memorialists and all living 
within the limits of said Five Miles have liberty and Liberty is 
here.by Granted to them to procure preaching of the Gospel 
amongst Lhemselves Seven Months in the year Annually with 
power and privilege to Tax themselves for Paying money for 
the support of the preaching of the Gospel for the town aforesaid 
in the same Manner and to that End to Choose all Officers as 
other Societys in said Colony a re by Law Enabled and shall be 
Ex.imped from the payment of any taxes for Supporting the 
Ministry in Said Last Society provided they procure Sucb preach­
ing Said Seven Months.'' 

Passed in Lbe Lower House, 
May, 1763. 

The names of those Lhat signed petition follow: 

Josiah Olcott J onathan Mygatt Samuel Evens 
Andrew MacKee Elijah Peck Simmeon Woodruff 
John Thacker William Buckland Elijah Easton 
Natha. Olcott Timothy Cheney Moses Evens 
Thomas Trill Mathew Cadwell Jabez (?) Dart 
Joseph Simonds Samuel Simond Ashbel Webster 
Benjamin Dammam, Jr. Malaca Corning Alexander Knee 
Benjamin Simonds Benja. Cheney (Keeney?) 
William Simonds Richard Pitkin John Clark 
Stephen Cone Peter Buckland Daniel Case 
Nathaniel Bordman Benjamin Deaman Timothy Stedman 
Nathaniel Dewey John Bill John Cadwell 
Joseph McKee Hezakiah Sanford Beniman Brown 
Noah Rust Simon Gains Wm. Corning 

Petitions for a Separate Society. 
The seven months winter privjlege was enjoyed for four 

years when the inhabitants of Five Miles again petitioned the 
General Assembly, and this time they asked for a separate 
society. During t he summer months church was attended ill 
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East Hartiord, and while some traveled on horseback, uthers 
walked. Women and girls often walked barefooted to save their 
"Sunday shoes." Only when nearing the church would they 
put on their shoes. 

During the May session, 1767, Shaboel Conant of Mansfield, 
John Chester of Wethersfield (Jater at East Hartford) and 
Zebulon West of Tolland were appointed as a committee "to 
repare to Sd East Society of Hartford . . . and make a 
re.f.Jort of what they Shall find with their Opinion thereon to the 
Assembly to be holden in Oct. next." At the next Se$sion of the 
General Assembly (September, 1767) the committee reported 
"that a society will probably be needed in the future but think 
inhabitants are not yet able to support one. '' In the meantime 
the inhabitants living west of the Five Miles in East Hartford 
were not asleep, for at a Society meeting held on April 301 1767, 
it was ''voted that John Pitkin and Jonathar) Hills Esqrs. be 
agents for this Society to appear at the General Assembly to be 
held in Hartford on the Second Thursday of May i1ext and 
remonstrate against the petition of the inhabitants to represent 
said Society of the five miles, to be made into a Society by them­
selves or that the limits of said Society shall not extendfarther 
than the line of Ditches which separate the three mile lots from 
the five mile lots so-called. '' 

The proprietors of the Five Mi1es again petitioned for a 
separate society three years later. Tb.is petition or memorial 
as it was called, was signed by the following residents and was 
dated March 15, 1770. 

Jc>siah Olcott Martin Woodruff Natha. Olcutt 
Timothy Cheney Elizar Webster William Simonds 
Richard Pitkin .Alexander Keney Benjamin Simonds 
Robert McKee Elijah Keeny J oseph Benton 
John Sparks !\.toss Evens Daniel Hills 
Joseph Keney David Keeny Jeremiah Hurlburt 
Mathias Man Simon Gains David Buckland 
William Densmore Silas Cheney J oseph Case 
Richard Keeney, Jr. Benjamin Cheney Israel Swetland 
Simon Keeney Benja Cheney Jonathan Webster 
Richard Keeney Benjamin Daman Samuel Simonds 
Elijah Peck Thomas Keney Ebenezer Briant, Jr. 
Elijah Peck, Jr. Benjamin Daman, Jr. Sani.uel Briant 
Joseph Simonds Daniel Swetland J ohn Keeney 
Jedidiah Darling John McKee William Buckland 
Asel Woodruff Noah Bartlet Timothy Stedman 
Daniel Bn,ier Alxr Keeney Thomas Trilt 
Mat11er Cadwell Theoder Keeney Stephen BidweU 
Joseph McKee Ashbel Webster Samuel Eavens 
David Daman Gideon abl James Wallas 
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(worn) Corning 
Stephen Cone 
Ephairn Webster 

Oliver Risley 
Amasa Thacker 
Samuel Benymin 

Levi Thacker 
Elisha Buckland 
Jonathan Clark 
Jonathan Mygott 

Again the petitioners were defeated. They allowed two 
years to pass, then petitioned again (April 17, 1772) with the 
following signatures appearing on their petition: 
Josiah Olcutt Joseph Renton John Mcl<;ee 
Solomon Gilman Stephen Olmsted, Jr. Silas Cheeney 
Timothy Cheney Peter Buckland David Keeney 
Richard Keeney Richard Keeney, Jr. Samuel Simonds 
Joseph Swetland Simon Keeney Timothy Stedman 
Richard Pitkin Alexander Keeney Benjamin Man, Jr. 
Robert MKee Thomas TriJl David Daman 
Malachu Corning Peter Hurlburt Elish. BucJdand 
Benjaman Man Wm Buckland David Case 
Daniel Swetland Stephen Bidwell Nath] Olcutt 
TsreaJ Swetland Daniel Chandler Benja. Cheney 
Ase Woodruff Daniel Bruer William Simonds 
Martin Woodruff Jabez Dart, Jr. Benj. Brown 
John Keeney Alex. Keney Noah BarUet 
Thomas Keeney Elijah Peck Elish Olcutt 
Joseph Keeney, Jr. Thim. Stedman Samuel Olcutt 
Thomas Jassall (?) Nathan Stedman Ebenezer Briant, Jr. 
Jeremiah Hurlburt Benjamin Simond Timothy Briant 
Timothy Wood Joseph MKee TheQdore Keeney 
Daniel Hills Joseph S1mond Epherem Webster 
David Buckland Jonathan Mygott Mathew Cadwell 
H enry Treet, Jr. Benjamin Daman Josiah Loomis 
Thomas Slate Joseph Stedman Aaron Right 
Josepl1 Case Jedidiah Darling James Gilbert, Jr. 

John Cadwell 
The Petition Granted. 

During the May · session, 1772, the General Assembly ap· 
pointed a committee which was ordered "to view the circum­
stances of the Memorialists and consider whether it be Nesasery 
there Should be a Society made and constituted on the East part 
of Do, third Society including five Miles and in case they think 
a sociecy ought to be made there and in that Case to draw & 
affix on a line across the Do. Society to be the ~7estern boundary 
of Do. New proposed Society and to make report . . . to 
the next General Assembly.' ' The members of this committee 
were Daniel Sherman of Woodbury, William Hillhouse of New 
London and Samuel Seldon of Lyme. The report of the com­
mittee dated June 3, 1772, says: "We beg Leave to Report to 
y's Honours, That we have Viewed the Circumstances of Sd 
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Society & heard all Parties representing a Divission and ort the 
whole Are of Opinion that tis Necessary to make and Constitute 
a new Ecclesiastical Society on the Easterly Part of Said 3rd 
Society an<l the Western boundary of sd New Sodety oug11t to 
be a Line drawn par:alel to the western Line of the Town of 
Bolton & five Mjles & an half distant from S. Town, bounded 
Southerly on Glastonbury Northerly on East Windsor & Partly 
on Bolton.'' 

During the same (May) ses§lion it was ''Resolved hy this 
Assembly that the Inhabitants of Do 3d Society of Hartford 
living ~ast of a li11e drawn across Do 3d Society five Mil~s and 
a half from Do Town of Bolton and parallel with the west line 
of Do Town (their families and Estates) bounding Northerly 
on East Winds.or Southerly on Glastonbury, Easterly 011 Bolton 
and Westerly on a line drawn as affore Do be and they are here­
by made and Constituted a Distinct Ecclesiastical ?ociety by 
the name of Orford and they are hereby Invested with a,11 power, 
privileges and Immunities which the Ecclesiastical Societies arc 
Invested within the Colony by law.11 

The First Meeting House - Contest Over the Site. 

The proprietors at Hop Brook, living in the western part of 
Five Miles, were eagerly selecting a location for the new meeting 
house that would be in their favor. They selected the hill at 
Pine and Arch Streets but this locality was not satisfactory to 
those who lived in the eastern part, who petitioned, asking for 
a committee to be appointed to con.sider the matter. This 
petition, signed by Timothy Chen.ey, Richard Pitkin and Ward 
Woodbridge complained that the site selected for the new 
meeting house was ''a sirle hi l.l on the highway in a most TncoJl­
venient Place very ,disgusting to the principle part of Do In~ 
habitants, most in favor of the western Breth ten." 

A committee was appointed in ] tine, 177 3, which recom­
mended that the new meeting house should be built "in the 
center of the highway running from Glastonbury to East WiRdsor 
and near center of society." 

At the first society meeting in Orford which was held on 
October 11, 1773, Mr. Joseph Swetland was chosen moderator. 
It was "voted to build a meeting House over the Stake U1at was 
Set by the Committee that was appointed by the assembly in 
May 1773.'' 

It seems that "the western brethren" put up a good fight to 
have the meeting house erected on the site they had first selected, 
for again a new committee was appointed in October, 1773. 
This committee, however, reported in favor of the place recom~ 
mended by the previous committee and the site was established 
during the following May, 1774, when it was "Resolved by the 
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Assembly that the place wberon to build Do House shall be 
near the middle of the first Thirty rod highway in sd Society 
westwardly of the old meeting house where s<l Committee have 
Sett & affixed a Stake which shaJI be included within the Cells 
{sills?) of sd House." 

It is evident thal the name "Orford'' was a second choice 
for the writer of the original manuscript had written first a 
much longer name and then had partly erased it and partly 
marked over it and finally the name "Orford" was written. 
The name Charlotte was used and is mentioned in the early • 
ecclesiastical records. Old papers were found on which appear 
+J1e name of Charlotteville. 

The name Orford was made up from the last syllables of the 
names Windsor and Hartford . 

Boundaries. 

When Orford Parish was established, according to the order 
of the General Assembly, it was bounded "northerly on East 
Wl11dso1·, Southerly on Glastonbury, Easterly on Bolton and 
westerly on a line drawn parralel to the western line of the town 
of Bolton and five miles and one half distant from said town." 
This was well said, but where were the boundary lines? 

Let us begin with the oldest establjshed line at Glastonbttry. 
On March 30, 1708, a committee of six men, Samuel Smith, 
J ohn Hubbard and Ephraim Goodrich, representing the town 
of Glastonbury, and William Pitkin, Richard Lord, Cyprian 
Nicols, for the town of Hartford, was appointed to establish this 
line with CaJeb Stanley, surveyor. The committee in its report 
mentions "a straight line from a stone in the land formerly M. E . 
Wyllys, near Pewterpot Brook's mouth to a pine stub at about 
three miles• distant eastward by the compass." It 
goes on describing this line by ditches, heaps of stones, little 
pond, cedar swamp, etc., and finally ends its bewildering and 
discouraging description with "this makes the eight miles." At 
a town meeting held on December 19, 1710, it. was voted "that 
the return of the settlement of the dividing line between the 
towns of Hartford and Glassenbury be put on record." 

The pine stub (or stump) "about three miles distant east­
ward" was supposed to be at the southwest comer of the Five 
Miles, but where was this stump sixty-four years later when 
Orford Parish was searching for its south boundary. A glance 
at the map today discloses the fact that the line does not run 
straight or "due east by the Compass.'' I ts northeasterly course 
has been explained by tl1e variation of tJ1e compass since the 
survey, but if such variations actually occur, t.hen the North 
P9le in comparatively a few centuries will be in ''a straight line 
n 1nning due east by the compass." However, Orford Parish 
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had to meet the Glastonbury line on the soulh and t11e dividing 
line was established somewhere. 

On the nortn the new parish was bounded on the.East- Wind­
sor line, now South Windsor. Although Caleb Stanley, COLLiltry 
surveyor of Hartford, bad been employed to ascertain the bounds 
of East Winds01· in 1702 and again in 1716, including in his 
survey "l\ilmtntain lands within sight of Hartford," yet we find 
no definite line established . 

As ea rly as April 3, 1675, at a town (Hartford) meeting it was 
voted "that restitution be made to those who sustained loss by 
the alteration of the Windsor (now South Windsor) boundary," 
which was altered by order of the General Court. 

On February 11, 1683, it was voted that the towT1 (Hartford) 
appoint "nu· wiJliam pitkin senyr To Lay out a parsell of Land 
to Tho Burnam & wi\liam williams \vhich a comyty chosen by 
the Town in 1675 dede apointe as a restytution for what Land 
tbay Lost taken of by the winsor Line by or<ler of the General 
cort," and again in 1688, Tho.mas Burnham was to receive a 
parcel of land and "to make a full agreement with him in refer­
ence" to h1s claini "and to grant what Land they see to be Just, 
out of the live myels adition to the town Lounds on that side to 
take his claim if they Apprehend it necessary fo r the town so to 
do." 1 Jn 1711 another committee was appointed but failed to 
satisfy the proprietors of Windsor, as did all previous committees. 

~When the General Assembly "appointed Joseph Talcott, 
Esq. and Mr. Thomas Kimberly in 1716 to survey a tract of 
land lying between the towns of Windsor and Tolland, and north 
of the claim of Joshua's legates'' the question was, where was 
Chief Joshua's Fjve Mile Tract? The fact is that the sachem 
did not exactly know himself. To him it was located nort11 of 
Minnecbaug Mountain, south of Waapin, east of Hassunad~ 
chuauk (Brush Hill) and west of WiashquagwUmsuck (Bollon 
Notch) . He knew lit.tie or nothing of lines drawn by the white 
settlers in this vicinity and in fact, left the matter entirely jn the 
hands of the white men, who were obliged to find Lhe tracts. 

l A tract of 300 ac.res designated on the map of .the Second Division of 
lots (see _page 31) as "Burnham & Williams Lot" was deeded to the heirs of 
Thomas Bum ham and to the heirs of William Williams in lieu of what "Windsor 
line had cut off their upland Jots." In old deeds this t111ct is referred to as 
"Burnham's Equivalent. ' ' The following facts regarding Burnham and his 
land have been supplied l.Jy .T udge H . 0. Bowers. 

Thomas Burnham was tile original settler from whom all or most of the 
people named Burnham living in East Hartford, South Windsor and Man­
chester were descended. He- was a real scrapper. His name appears in the 
Records of practically every session of the Colonial Legislature, with some 
sort of a complaint, petition or motion of that kind. He was eternally in a 
quarrel with someb-Ody. He _settled in the north parl of what is now East 
Hartford, cJosc w the \Vindsor line, and cleared a lot 0£ land there, in what 
snow known ac Podunk. After he bad cleared this land and gol it in tillable 
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The east or Bolt0n line was o~iginally a line drawn from 
Moshennupsuck (Snipsic) southerly to Wiashquagwumsuck 
(Bolton Notch), to Cedar Swamp at Chattam, and thjs line was 
recognized by surveyors as early as 1661. However, here as 
elsewhere, it was for the proprietors of the several townships 
to establish a permanent line which was done when the town 
of Bolton was incorporated in 1720, A committee had been 
appointed at a town meeting held at East H artford on Septem­
ber 16, 1716 "Voted that Messrrs J osiah Hollister & Benjamin 
Lyman be a Committee for and in behalf of this Town to meet 
with such Gentlemen as may be appointed by the town of Bolton 
to trace out and establish the boundary line between the two 
Townes." 

From this east lio.e, Orford Parish was to extend five and one 
half miles westward and meel the east boundary of East Hart­
ford. Here we come to a problem that occupied many minds for 
over a half century. ln Mainwaring's ''Digest of the Early 
·Connecticut Probate Records," we read: 1 "The following deed 
(of the Five Miles) was a conveyance of land which is now in­
cluded in lhe Town of Manchester. I t being all the land in 
t.haL town except about .Y2 mile in width taken off the east side 
of the original 3 miles. This ~ mile given over to Manchester 
seems to have been an unjust act of the General Assembly of 
Connecticut.'' 

Mr. Mainwaring refers to the present west boundary of Man­
chester which was established by the General Assembly after 
the incorporation of the town, by a line drawn from South 
Windsor to Glastonbury and about one half mile westward of 
an older line of ditches that were dug about the year 1716. 

We have already seen that the three mile tract (E ast Hartford) 
was bought from the Indians as being three full miles in width 
extending east and west, and that, in tjme1 the United States 
Post Office Department measured tbe distance from Hartford 
easL\vard and erected a milestone near the "line of ditches" 

conditio11 the line between Windsor and Hartlord which had long been in 
dispute, was fixed by the ColoniaJ Legislature. The liue as finally Jetermill.ed 
left a goodly portion of Burnham's land on the Windsor side of the line. 
That practically legislated him out of his title lo the land inasmuch as all of 
his l:tolclings were confined to Hartford. Naturally Thomas threw a fit. In 
order to compemsate him for the land tltat he lost, the Legislature made him 
a grant of three hundred acres ia what is now tbe e.weme nunbwest corner 
of Manchester and i r b-eld the riame of Bumham's Equ:i."alent for many years. 
It was wilderness land and apparently so remained for a long time. Only 
witltln a comparatively few years has a large part of it been cleared and tilled. 
The title js very diJficuJt to trace back because the Burnbams were prolific 
and th.is land was clivided and ag-ain a nd ag<iin among the heirs. Some of it 
is still owned by 'Burn.ham descendants. 

t Mainwarning's Digest of the Early ConnecHcut P robate RecO?ds, p. 68. 
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which marked the supposed boundary of the three mile tract 
·on the east and the inscription on it read : "Six Miles to Hart­
ford Court House." 

The land was bought "from the Bog Wall " in the East 
Hartford meadows "extending eastward three full miles.'' The 
land between the "Bog ·wall" and the Connecticut River was 
claimed but never bought. This was brought up and discussed 
at length in the controversy of the dividing line bebveen the 
two towns by the inhabitants of the Five Miles in l 712 when the 
town voted "that Wm. Whjting, Ens: John Marsh and Mr. 
Nath: Stanley be a Committee to Setle the Line, from Windsor1 

boun<ls to Wethersfield~ bounds between the propriety Lotts and 
the Common On the East Side of the great River." 

Previously, in deeds, land was described as ''bounded on 
the east by the wilderness" or "m.nning into the country on the 
east/' or "to the end of the three mile lots:' Where was the 
end of the three mile lots? We have seen that the proprietors 
of East Hartford, as it is now called, were permitted by the 
General Court "to extend their bounds on the east twenty r,ods" 
for the six rods they had given when Main Street wa$ laid out. 
No one knew exactly where the east boundary was of these lots 
that were supposed to be three miles long, but which were in 
rea1ity six miles in length. 

At a town meeting heJd March 3, 1714, Captain Nicolls, 
Captain Aaron Cook, Mr. Thomas Hosmer, Mr. Nathaniel 
Standley were chosen a committee " to Run the Line Between 
the three mile Lotts and the five mile purchase on the East 
side the Great River in, hartford or any two of Lhem And To take 
with them a surveyer att the Town Charge to see the work done 
Effectually," and at another town meeting held December 20, 
1715, it was voted "that the Com~mittee appointed March 3d 
Last past to Settle the bounds between the three Mile Lotts 
and the fiv·e Mile of Land on the East Side the great River are 
hereby Ordered and lmpowered to Run a Straight Line from. 
Windsor to Glassenbury bounds between the sd: three Mile 
Lotts and the Said five Mjle of Land.'' Five miles were measured 
eastward and the east boundary became the so-called Bolton 
line. However, the General Assembly had resolved in May, 
1772, that Orford Society should extend from the B olton line 
westward five and one half miles. Tbece being only five miles 
between the boundaries on the east and on the west, the matter 
was discussed for over fifty years before any action was taken 
by Orford Parish to obtain tbe half mile granted by the GeneraJ 
Assembly. Readiness to end a tiresome quarrel moved the resi­
dents of East Hartford to vote, in a town meeting held April 5, 

1 South Windsor originally was part of Windsor. 
2 Glastonbury originally was part of Wethersfield. 
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1824, "that Messr Martin Stanley, Martin Hills & Solomon 
Olmsted be appointed a Committee to enquire of some com­
petent Judges Whether there be any probability of Success in 
preparing a petition to the Legislature to alter the line between 
this Town and Manchester and if so Said Committee be Author~ 
ized to draw a petition & take the necessary Steps to ensure its 
Success." 

The Methodists on Spencer Street. 

Since the Methodists were independent and not memhers 
of the state church, it is difficult to obtain the desired informa­
tion regarding them in the early days of their preachin'g in this 
vicinity. In the East Hartford Land Records (Vol. V,.page 413), 
we find Thomas Spencer's deed of a church on a parcel of land, 
which he sold to the church corporatiou in 1800. The church, 
however, was built in 1794 or shortly before. It has been claimed 
by the older fofks living io this section that this church was 
completed before the Orford Parish church. 

The American Revolution delayed 'the construction of the 
Center Church, which was not completed till May 20, 1794, 
but it must not be forgotten that an ol<ler meeting house had 
been provided previously, in which were held the winter services. 
The privilege of holding such services was obtained in 1758. 
Thomas Spencer and others had been preaching occasionally 
on Spencer Street before 1785. During that year he procured 
the Reverend George Roberts, a Methodist circuit preacher, 
for preaching the gospel as propounded by John Wesley. 

An elm tree which stood until very recently just east of the 
West Cemetery was known as the "gospel elm," for under it, 
it is claimed, tbe gospel of Christ was first preached within the 
present limits of Manchester. The tradition seems doul;>tful, 
but if services were actually held there it must have been in the 
early days of settlement at Hop Brook, when occasionally a 
preacher came from Hartford. 

The first congregation of Methodists consisted of six members, 
two men and four women, who met regularly in Thomas Spencer's 
house before the church was built. The church stood on the 
north side of Spencer Street, just west of the head of Hillstown 
Road on land now owned by Mr. Emil Seelert. Mr. Louis 
Schmidt, who formerly owned the property, often turned up 
old bricks when plowing over the sacred spot where the church 
stood. The parsonage stood a little fart,ber west, near the ceme­
tery. A hollow or "dip" in the ground could be seen where the 
church and the parsonage stood, up to a few years ~go. In 1822, 
a new church was built by the Methodists at the corner of Center 
and Main Streets and was occupied by them until l 85.3. 
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Joseph Olcutt Good, win, formerly town clerk of East Hartford, 
had among his collection of historical papers a description of 
Thomas Spencer. lt was said of him that "he was a noisy 
illitera te person and preached and prayed with a course unction." 
Re once prayed that the "Lion of the Tribe of Judah might be 
slain/' and at another time, when at a camp meeting and was 
"put aside from preaching'' 11e mounted a stump in the out­
skirts of the camp and cried: " Fire! Fire! Fire!" un61 a crowd 
had gatJ:iered. When asked where the :fire was, he answered: 
"Why, my soul js all 011 fire!" and began preaching. Once, while 
eating at a table he remarked that he felt as sure of Heaven as 
be did of eating the piece of meat then on his fork. Whereupon 
the morsel fell from his fork and a dog gobbled it down. 

Charlotte Henry, a negro woman who lived on Hillstown 
Road and died there, 1n, 1904, at the age of about 115 years, 
claimed she attended the Spencer Street Church for many years. 
It was used as a barn until about the year 1830 and was then 
destroyed by fire. 

Orford Parish. 
The followjng is the petition of the Reverend Benajah Phelps, 

the first pastor at Orford. He had been pastor in Cornwallis, 
Nova Scotia, but because of his political beliefs he was obliged 
to leave during the American Revolution, suffering the loss of 
most of his property. Si.nee settlement at Orford he had not 
been able to make his house comfortable. He asks for relief. 
"Whereupon your Mernorialist Prays your Honor to take his 
Pitiable Case into Consideration and Grant him such Relief out 
of the Confiscat ed Estates or otherwise as your honor shall see 
Cause a Charitable Compensation for his losses aforesaid. Or 
in some way Grant bim such Relief as your honor in your Good­
ness shall Choose. and in Duty bound Shai-I Ever Pray. Dated 
at Hartford the 26th Day of May 1784." (Signed) Bena. Phelps. 

Mr. Phelps petitioned the General AssemLJy again in Oct0ber 
of the same year. He states that he was born in Hebron, Conn., 
and that he was miruster a t Cornwallis, N. S., during the Ameri­
can Revolution and that he came over to the United States, 
leaving about six hundred pounds' worth of property and his 
family ju Nova Scotia. He died in 1793. 

Orford Parish a Part of East Hartford. 

Orford Parish was within the limits of the town of Hartford 
unt il the year 1783, when East Hartford was incorporated as a 
separate township which included Orford Parish. At a town 
meeting held on April 12, 1813 it was voted "that the next 
annual meeting be held at the Meeting House in Orford Society." 
The first town meeting held at Orfor<l Parish was on November 
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18, 1813, in the meeting house. Doctor George Griswold was 
moderator. "Nathan Merrow, Charles Bunce and Benjamin 
Lyman were selectmen for the town, for the ensueing year." It 
was voted after stormy debates " that the selectmen for the time 
being, hereafter cause the annual & Special Town Meeting to be 
holden in the first & Second Society alternately at the respective 
Meeting Houses of Said Societies.'' The records show that the 
town paid Orford Parish one thousand dollars for the permanent 
use of the basement for town a nd electors' meetings. The man­
ner of voting in the town meetings was by a rising vote upon all 
quest ions. 
· At a town meeting held on Monday, November 21, 1819, it 
was "Voted That this town do relinquish to the Parrish of 
Orford . their right to that part of the Highway Jyfog 
near the meeting House contai.njng about three acres 
as Smveyed by the Selectmen Feb. 1819." 

At a town meeting held on Api·il 13, 1820, it was voted wrhat 
Mess. Jam es Pitkin & Daniel W. Griswold be and they are hereby 
appointed Agents for and in b<.-'..half of this town to oppose t he 
petition of tne Hartford Bridge Company, for raising the toll 
or fa re of said Bridge, now depending before the General Assem­
bly." 

A gitation for Incorporation as Separate Town. 

John Olds may rightfully be called "The Father of Man~ 
chester," for he was the leader in the movement to incorporate 
a separate town. At a town rneeting held April 9, 1812, Doctor 
George Griswold, Moderator, "the request of J ohn OJds and 
others in behalf of the inhabitants of t11e Societv of Orford . . . 
that the town unite with them in Petitioning tlie General Assem­
bly to incorporate said Society as a To"''tl, etc. was Read and 
considered. ·whereupon the· previous question was Laken . . . 
whether the Town would do anything upon the St1bject matter 
before them, and passed in the Negative." The motion was 
lost because the voters, in what is now East Hartford, were 
solidly opposed to the incorporation of a new town, and out­
numbered those living in Orford. Though uefeated, the voters 
of Orford were not cast down in their attempt to separate from 
East H artlord and in establishing a municipality of their own. 

It was d uring the May session in the year 1823, tha t the 
General Assembly resolved "that the parrisb of Orford, be, and 
t11e same is hereby incorporated in a distinct and separate towu 
by the name of M anchester," and that "the first town meeting 
in said new town shall he holden at the meeting house in the 
parish of Orford, on the sixteenth day of June next." 

On November 17, 1823, at an East Hartford town meet ing it 
was "Voted that Giles Olmsted be & he is hereby appointerl au 
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Agent in behalf of this town to aid and assist the Selectmen to 
adjust the Town Accounts & divide the Town with the town of 
Manchester." The last orders of the town of East Hartford 
concerning Orford Parish were given at a town meeting held on 
March 24, 1823, when it was voted that the selectmen view 
the bridge near Mr. Bunce's mill, and at the following meeting 
held on April 7, of the same year, "the report of the committee 
relative to the support of the Bridge near Bunce's mills'' was 
accepted and it was further ordered that the~aid bridge be here­
after maintained by the town. In 18-23, a tax of one cent on the 
dollar on the list of the same year was laid for repairing public 
highways. Eight cents an hour was allowed for every man who 
worked on the roads and sixteen cents an hour for every man 
with team. Three years later wages were raised to ten cents for 
a man and twenty cents for a man and team. 

Charles Bunce 



CHAPTER V. 

COLONIAL LIFE IN ORFORD PARISH 

Taverns. 

The first tavern within the present limits of Manchester, was 
at Hop Brook of which Lieutenant Thomas Olcutt, Jr. was the 
proprietor in 1713. John Olcutt, the second "Landlord" suc­
ceeded bjs father as proprietor of the inn. John Rust's tavern 
at the time of the American Revolution was located on the road 
to Bolton Notch east of Manchester Green. It is probable that 
the site of this tavern is now included within the township of 
Bolton. 

Another "house of public entertainment" was the Buckland 
Tavern located on tile Tolland Turnpike at Buckland Street. 
Among the distinguished guests who stayed here was no less a 
person than GeneraJ George Washington, who in March, 1781, 
passed through the town while on his way to Newport, R. I., 
to hold a conference with the French commander, Count Rocham­
beau. Tradil-ion says that he traveled from Hartford by Silver 
Lane, to Spencer Street where he stopped at the Marsh place, 
later known as the Griswold farm and aJso at Olcutt's tavern. 
From here he went to Buckland, then eastward to Manchester 
Green where he was entertained at the Woodbridge Tavern. 
The Woodbridge Tavern was then owned by Deodat Wood­
bridge and later by Dudley Woodbridge, bjs son. Count Rocham. 
beau and the Marquis de Lafayette, with their French soldiers 
passed through the town on their way to East Hattford where 
they were quartered for a long time. They were entertained at 
the Buckland Tavern. 1 

During the American Revolution, a man from Virginia 
arrived at Manchester Green and later mysteriously disappeared. 
His horse was found astray in the woods, and children picking 
berries found bis body in the bushes. They told a Mr. Corning 
"a maker of spinning wheels" who was looking for timber, and 
he reported the matter to the authorities. Afte:r investigation 

1 Lafayette stopped at the Buckland Tavern again wbile visiting America 
in 1824. 
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they found the dead man's sword Llllder the porch of th<'.' Wood­
bridge Tavern. Captain Hills, t he proprietor of the Woodbridge 
Tavern at the time, was suspected of murder. Court records 
show that one Kelsey was sued by Eilis for defamation, for 
reporting his connection with the crime. Hil1s barely escaped 
convicting hims-elf. The lawyers at the trial were S. Williams 
and Isaac Perk.ins. It was later shown that the murdered man 
was a paymaster in the service of the American Army and that 
be had a large amount of money in his possession~ 

A "house of public entertainment,'' in the true sense, was the 
so-called Elisha Hills house on Spencer Street which dates from 
Revolutionary days. The entire upper floor was a dance hall 
with a platform at one end where sat the fiddlers. Dances and 
social gatherings were held here until as late as 1880. Mr. 
August Seelert had bought the property shortly after the Civil 
War, but up to the time he sold the farm, in 1909, the old fash­
ioned dance hall was undisturbed. 

In the taverns were celebrated many festive occasions. In 
the11;1 all matters of importance were discussed. They were tbe 
scene of political conferences. They were news centers, to which 
the stage coaches brOLLght Lidings from the outer world. Gossip 
and a ll mati:ers pertaining to the co1runon interest, national and 
local, were taken up there and "th1•ashed out." The Olcutt 
T avern was an important place in by-go.n.e days. For many 
years people who b·aveled from eastern points came there and 
were accommodated . The colonists drove their cattle over this 
road lo the markets, and families traveling to new homes in the 
West, found Land lord Olcurt ever ready to receive and serve 
them. There, as at B1,1ckla:nd, the stage coach driver unhar­
nessed his tired horses and hitched up a fresh pair or two. 

Industries. 
Industrial activities began very early along the Hockanurn 

River. Steam driver1 machinety was yet u.nkriown and lhe "old 
mill wheel'' was the only contrivance by which power c;ould be 
obtained. The Hockanum River and its· tributaries were soon 
utilized ir1 furnishing power for various industries. The first 
sawmill erected on wbat was then called the crooked river, 
and later Sawmill River, was built by William Goodwin., "at 
the falls," nqw called Burnside. The earliest record of this mill 
.is fotmd in the year 1654, when William Goodwin received from 
the General Cou1·t "liberty to cut timber near his mill.'' lt is 
evident that he had built the mill previous to this year. The 
exact location of that mm was where the "lower mills" are now 
at Burnside. Ten years J;:i.ter, John Crow built a grist mill on 
the upper (east) end of the sawmill. In 1669, John Bidwell and 
Joseph Bu.11 built a sawmill on "Saw Mill River," also at Burn­
side. In 1690, Josiah OJcu Lt sold to Mr. Pitkin the upper mill 
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site at Burnside. The boundary on the west was "a white oak 
tree near the fulling mills of Pitkins." 1 

The sawmill built by John Allyn at Hilliardville in 1672 or 
before, and the sawmill of John 9ilbert, at Hop Brook, buill in 
1673, we have already mentioned in a previous chapter as being 
the first with.in the present limits of th.e Town of Manchester. 

In 1747 Colonel Joseph Pitkin was granted the sole privilege 
of slitting iron in the colony for the term of fourteen years. 
Soon after, however, the English government prohibited the 
manufacture of iron in the colonies by an act" of Parliament, 
''To encourage the Importation of Pig and Bar Iron from His 
Majesty's Colonies in America and to prevent the Erection of 
any Mill or other Engine for Slitting or Rolling of Iron or any 
PJateing Forge to work with a Tilt Hammer or any Furnace 
for making Steel in any of the said Colonies." 2 The enforce­
ment of this act silenced the mach.i.nery in the mill which stood 
at Woodland where now the paper mill is today. During the 
American Revolution guns were manufactured here and in 
smaller mills tha:t stood west of the "Forge," powder was made, 
to supply the American army. Snuff, too, was manufactured 
here between the years 1775 and 1784. William Pitkin obtained 
from Lhe Legislature in 1784, the sole privilege of making snuff 
in the state for the term of fourteen years. In later years the 
Pitkins began the manufacture of powder again at this place 
and under several ownerships tJle mill continued for many years. 

Ebeneza.r Watson and Austin Ledyard were the owners of 
one of the first paper mills in Connecticut, which was located at 
Union Village, now Manchester. It was Luilt before 1775 and 
was destroyed by fire in 1778. The loss was estimated at fi\'e 
thousand pounds and the widows of these men asked for public 
assistance to rebuild the mill. In their petition they state that 
this mill had supplied the press in Hartford with eight thousand 
papers weekly and that a great part of the writing paper manu­
factured here was used in the state and large quantities were 
sent to the Continental Army. The news of Lexington was 
printed on paper made in this mill. 2 Permission was given the 
petitioners to hold a lottery to raise 61teen hundred pounds. 

The paper mills at Burnside were built in 1780 and have been 
operated almost continuously ever since. The "Upper Mill," 
known as U1e Walker mill was built in 1784 and is also still in 
operation. 

In 1784 the Butler mills were built at Manch~ster, and about 
this time the Bunce's commenced the manufacture of paper at 

1 The aboriginal oak that stood in the middle of the road near the bridge 
at Burnside until 1901. 
J Robbins, in Trumbull, Hartford County. 
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Hop Brook on the site where John Gilbert's sawmill stood over 
a century before and where an oil mill had been in operation 
for som1:1 years past. 

In 1783, William Pitkin, Elisha Pitkin and Samuel Bishop 
were granted the sole privilege of making glass in this state for 
the term of twenty-five years.1 The glass works were at Man­
chester Green, where the picturesque ruins still are admired by 
all who pass that way. In appearance they resemble the ruins 
of an old English Abbey; hence the name "Pitkin Abbey" which 
is often heard today. It is a monument that commemorates 
''The good old days.'' 

The first successful cotton mill in the state was located at 
HilLiardVJlle. It was built by Samuel Pltlcin & Co., in 1794. 
Tbe firm later manufactured velvet, corduroy and fustian . 
Fustian was a popular cloth. It was a cotton stuff with a swelled 
or puffed surface. 

Besides these mills there were other manufactures in the 
vicinity. The first cast iron plows made in Connecticut were 
manufactured by Benjamin Lyman at his shop at "The Green." 
He also made the first. lightweight pleasure carriages used in the 
comrollnity. Previously heavy ox carts were used by some 
and pillions by those who owned a horse. Tall wooden clocks 
with wooden whee1s now called "grandfather's clocks" were 
manufactured by Timothy Cheney. His shop was in the ravilJe 
at Center Springs Park, and the old dam can still be seen. It 
was in this shop, 1 ohn Fitch, one of the inventors of the steam­
boat worked as an apprentice. There were several blind and 
sash shops in various parts of the town and at Lhe ''South End" 
on Hop Brook was the grist mm of Benjamin Cheney. 

A copper mine at Highland Park had been in operatio:n pre­
vious to the year 1762. Governor Thomas Fitch, in his letter 
to the Commissioners for Trade and Plantations, dated Septem­
ber 7, of the same year writes: "Some copper mines have been 
in diverse parts of the colony opened, but after considerable 
e.'Cpense and labor, proving unprofitable. became wholly neg­
lected." 2 There was another copper mine al Bolton, owned by 
the Reverend Timothy Woodbridge, which he n'ft!ntions irt his 
will. The copper mloe at Highland Park and lands adjacent 
were reserved in the origi11a1 clistribution of land and held as 
state property for many years. 

In those by-gone days, every house was a factory. The 
housewife worked at her spinning wheel and the hand looms 
were operated in private homes. CamUes, soap, wool and linen 
cloth were produced in the homes of our grandfathers. The 
itinerant tailors called annuaJly, traveling from village to village 
1 Act of 8, J anuary, 1783. 

2 Connecticut Historical Society. Colle.ctions, Vol. XIV, p. 211. 
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tJ make the clothes necessary for the ensuing year. The shoe­
makers ca1led likewis.e to make the shoes and boots. T he village 
blacksmith was the maker of carts and wagons, plows and har­
rows and all other agricultural implements. He also produced 
aJJ the hardware from nails and hinges to door latches and 
k'Ilockers. 

Local Names. 

Academy Hill - northeast corner of Main and East Center 
Street. 

Boggy Stow - a marsh on Tolland Turnpike in Oakland. 
Brush Hill - in the southwest part of the town. Called 

Hassunadchu-auk hy the Indians. 
Bull's Grant - near Hillstown; a line of ditches west of 

Hillstown Road. 
Buckland Green - corner of Middle Tum pike and Adams 

St reet. Here the stage coach and horses were changed . 
Bigelow Brook - runs through center of town from Man-

chester Green to Hockanum River at Hilliardville. 
Commonfields - in southwest part of town. 
Commons - an earlv name of the tract now Manchester. 
Cheneyville - Soutli Manchester. 
Case's Pond - on Bidwell Street. 
Cooper Hill - on Hartford Road. 
Cocky Hill - Union Street and Tolland Turnpike. 
Easton's Orchard -so-called in deeds - on top oJ hill at 

Laurel Park. 
Four Acre Lot - between Cooper, Cedar, Pleasant and 

Cooper Hill Streets. 
Floss or Flo's Lot - on Middle Turnpike between Main and 

Adzms Street. 
Folly Brook - at Keeney Street to Bidwell Street. 
Frog Hollow - on Center Street west of Pine Street. 
Forge Lot - west of the town line, at Woodland. 
Globe Hollo..,v - P ond, South Main Street. 
Green Pond - west of Manchester town Li.ne on Sp·encer 

Street. 
Great Hill ~ Laurel Park. 
Great Mar.gh - from northwest corner of town to Ellington. 
Eills t.own - originally called Tebtown and later the Britain 

District. . 
hockanum River - formerly called Crooked Riyer, Sm\>mill 

River and Solomon's River. The latter name because of Solomon 
Williams owning much land near it. Called Moshenupsuck or 
Misbcnipsaug by the Indians. The name Hockanum was appUed 
to the mouth of the river and land near bv. 

Hilliard's Pond - at Hilliardville. -
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Hop Brook-south branch of Hockanum River. 
Hop Brook Village- now the Sixth School District. 
Jambstone Plain- also called Johnstone Plain, Buckland. 
J ambstone Hill - on Bl1ckland Street. 
Kiln Plain - in Hillstown, mentioned in old deeds. 
Little Pond - south of I-Iillstown, mentioned in boundary 

line survey. 
Lookout Mountain - at Highland Park. 
McLean Hill - east of Laurel Park. 
Mount Nebo - Spring Street. 
Meekville - in northwest part of town. 
Neck, The- w~t of Hillstown Road. 
Nigger Hill- on road to Bolton Notch. 
Old Meeting House Lot- on Spencer Street near Hillstown 

Road. 
Parker Village-originally called Slapgut which without 

doubt is a corruption of an Indian name. 
Paper Hill- Hru·tford Road, west of Bridge Street. 
Pine Swamp Lot - so-called in old deeds; on land now 

owned by Clarence Wickham near Laurel Park. 
Plum Tree Gutter - at Hillstown; mentioned in old deeds. 
Piper's Brook - now Porter's Brook, rising at Brush Hill. 
Pine Gutter - in northwest par t of town and westward on 

Tolland Turnpike. 
Porter's Brook - s.ee Piper's Brook. 
Porter Reservoir - between Porter and Finley Street. 
P oke Hill -near HilliardviJle ; mentioned in original dis-

tribution of land. 
Powder Mill Hill-near Woodland. 
Sparr MiU Swamp - near Hilliardville. 
Spar Mill Lot - near Adams Street and Woodland Street. 
Spencer Hill- Spencer Street. 
Sunset Hill - west of South Main Street. 
Saulters Pond - Parker Village. 
Staddle Hill - now Wick.ham's Hill opposite Laurel Park. 
Twin Hills- west of Adams Street on Center Street. 
Tollgate Place-on Center Street near Hockanum River. 
Tar Brook- originally called Hop Brook. 
Toby Hill - a steep hill on the Hockanum River near 

Hilliardville, now known as the R. 0. Cheney pasture. 
Taylorville, Taylortown - south of Globe Hollow Pond. 
Three Mile Tract Ditch - one of the original ditches dug 

shortly after the settlement of Hartford. From Hillstown 
Road west to Connecticut River. 

Union Pond - near Union Street. 
Union Village - at Union Street. 
Waverly M111s Pond - Buckland. 
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WoofUand Mill Pond- east of Laurel Park. 
Webster's Marsh - south of Manchester Green; mentioned 

in old deeds. 

Tax List of Orford Parish, 1785: 

''A TREW LIST OF ALL THE POLLS, FACULTI ES 
AND OTHER RATEABLE ESTATE GIVEN TN BY 
THE I NHABITENTS OF THE TOWN OF EAST 
IL..t\.RTFORD FOR ORFORD PARISH, 

"Aug. 20th, 1785. 
"NATHAN STEDMAN LISTER. 

£ s. d. 
"Allen An<lrew·s 18 
Aden Andrews 18 
David Ames 18 
Oliver Burnham 26 
Daniel D. BTyan t 11 
Zebulon Bidwell 41 13 6 
Stephen BidwelJ .67 7 6 
Joseph Benton 45 9 6 
Stephen Bidwell 37 2 -
Timothy Bryant 47 16 -
Ebenezer Bryant, Jr. 31 15 6 
Ozias Bidwell 20 
Lent. Elisha Buckland 68 10 -
Ens. P eter Buckland 45 17 -
Cpt. Ozias Bissell 46 
Lent. Tim. Brai:naJ·d 31 
Benjamin Brown 56 10 -
Russel BisseJJ 53 6 6 
Ozias Bissell, Jr. 41 14 -
Leveret Bissell 28 
Daniel Brewer 27 - -
Aaron Buckland 49 4 -
Samuel Benjamin 37 18 -
David Burnham 29 11 -
George Buck 28 9 -
Heirs Noaha Cook 2 
Benjamin Cheney 27 13 6 
Joseph Case 53 14 -
Capt. Tim. Cheney 100 16 -
Stephen Cone 111 13 -
Malicha Coming r8 
Daniel Chandler 64 2 6 
Abijah Cbendler 23 - -

£ s. d. 
Mathew Cadwell 52 5 -
Si.las Cheney 23 4 -
Allen Corning 12 
Ebenezer Carver 9 5 -
John Cadwell 81 9 -
Capt. Simeon Drake 12 19 -
Nathaoie1 Dewey, Jr. 24 16 -
Thomas Dewey 31 18 -
David Damon 30 l 0 -
Levi Dart 25 3 -
Joseph Dart 36 1 -
William Densmore 9 
Jon a than Densmore 3 l 2 -
William Dart 69 7 -
Nathaniel Dewey 32 1 7 6 
Jedidiah Darling 21 
R oswell Elmer 3 
Jusbin Easton 18 
Moses Evens 18 
Benjamin S. Evens 9 
D aniel Elmer 25 
Timothy Elmer 3 
Samuel Evens, Jr. 29 5 6 
Dav·id Etrens 33 ;~ -
Samuel Evens 8 9 -
Rosswell Fox 18 
Noah Foot 12 8 -
Augustus Fitch 4 
D oct.Sarn.FJagg & Ca. 45 
Jeremiah Fergttson 33 16 -
Joshua Flint, Jr. 28 7 6 
Samuel Fox 1 
J ohn Flint 20 8 -
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• £ s. cl. £ $. d. 
Timothy Case 62 4 - Hosea Fox 4 18 -
David Case -18 10 6 Solomon Gilman, Jr . 30 to -
Uriah Case 18 - - Luthar Gjlman 21 
Stephen Couch 20 9 - Doctor Geo. GriswoJd 48 3 6 
Jobn Couch 22 13 6 Moses Gleason 23 
I-Icirs O.zias Goodwin - 12 - David Landfire .)4 4-
Georg,e Griswold 26 J osiah Loomis 23 7 6 
Ebenezer Gilbert 48 4 6 Joseph Lyman 67 9-
Calvin G ilbert 38 6 - David Loveland 19 10 -
Benony House s 6 - Est.-JnthJ1 . Mygott 35 S -
Barz ilah Hudson&Co. 28 7 6 Abitha.r Man 20 17 6 
John House 6 8 - John McAndy 3 - -
Samuel Rouse 2 7 - Nathaniel McKee 62 - -
Heirs Henry Howard 5 Allen McKee 20 - -
Capt. Stephen Hills 92 Joseph McKee 46 13 -
Joshua Hills 9 Elijah McKee 42 14 6 
Elezar Huba.rd 29 11 6 Robert McKee, Jr. 15 18 -
Silas Hills 42 <5 - John McKee 44 2 6 
Amos Hills 38 J8 - Ezekiel Morley 32 ~ -
Ptr.Hurlu i·(Tiurlburt?) 35 4 - Allen Ma rsh 21 
J er:emiah Hurlbut 30 6 - Cpt. Daniel Marsh 151 15 -
Jonathan House 7 10 - Appleton McK ee 21 
Josiah Holister :)7 3 6 Nathru1iel McKee, Jr. 32 14 6 
Russel Hills .H 4- Andrew Millard 26 
Fraray H ale 4 4 - Anderson Minor 6 8 -
Isaac Hale 9 10 - Robert McKee 68 5 -
John Holister 32 7 - Asbel Newton, Jr. 48 
:-.ratJ1an Hills 20 17 - Ashe] Newton 7 11 -
Rubin Hills 21 8 - Wdo. Jane Olmsted 4 1 -
Loui Hills 22 s - Samuel Oku H 14 
Isaac Hale, Jr. 29 15 - Capt. J osia11 Olcutt 58 11 6 
George Keeney 18 5 - Leut. Nath. Olcutt 114 19 -
John Keeney 34 12 6 Daniel Peek 23 15 -
Joseph Keeney .)1 6 - Richard Pitkin Esq. 111 4-
David K enney 24 4- Daniel Pratt 11. 14 6 
D avid Keeney 27 ~ - Stephen Pratt 5 7 -
Isaac Keeney . 36 4 6 Samuel Peek 18 - -
Ens. Thomas Keeney 115 2 - Elijah Peek 46 12 -
Benjamin Keeney 47 6 - William Pitkin, Esq. 44 5 -
Elizar Keeney 69 13 - Estate Joshua Pitkin 15 15 -
Ric.bard Ke-ency 45 14 6 Richard Pitkin 44 9-
Rube1l Keeney 24 9 - James Porter 53 10 -
Symon l~eeney SS Ruben Risley 4 11 -
Alexander Keeney 10 15 6 Samuel Risley 18 
Elijah Keeney 3 11 6 Silvester Rider 32 2 -
James Keeney 18 Timothy Robart ts 
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Thodore Keeney 
Abner Landfire 
David Little 
Hart Lefnngwell 
Benjah Loomis 
John Lucus 
Nathan Stedman 
Ashbel Seymore 
Israel Symonds 
Thomas Spencer 
Joseph Symonds, Jr. 
Samuel Symonds, Jr. 
John Sparks 
John Symonds 
Wdo. Eliz. Symonds 
Daniel Swetland 
Benjamin Smith 
I thamar Smith 
Joseph Sessions 
Silas Spencer, Jr. 
Ashna Symonds 
Elias Skinner 
Daniel Skinner, Jr. 
Jonathan Skinner, Jr. 
Enas Stebbins 
Elish Tucker 

£ s. d. 
18 
20 
6 12 -
1 10 -
2 

26 6 -
39 6 -
23 - -
20 17 6 
68 7 -
18 
23 4 -
19 
35 19 -

9 
61 

1 14 -
23 - -
5 16 6 

20 3 -
12 13 -
34 11 6 

2 8 -
19 8 -
53 10 -

1 13 -

£ s. d. 
Sam. Risley, Glstnby. 12 12 -
Wdo. Hannah Smith 2 6 -
Silas Spencer 21 3 -
Thomas Slate 45 10 -
Timothy Stedman 47 17 6 
Joseph Stedman 20 15 -
Elizar Talcott, Esq. 5 10 -
Henry Treet 43 11 6 
David Vibbert 21 
Jam.~ Vibbert 27 1 6 
Elezar Webster 22 
George Wyllys, Esq. 1 4 -
Heirs John White 1 
Samuel Wadsworth 2 
Joseph Wadsworth 3 2 -
Aaron Wright 18 
Ephriam Webster 46 4 6 
Gurdin Woodruff 25 16 6 
John Willis 41 10 -
WiJliaro Wilson :1 
Samuel Webster 20 
Timothy Wood 2 
Abijab Webster 18 
William Wallas 57 9 -
Daniel Wadsworth 1 4 -

"Sum Total 
"Faculties 

£ 5972-Q-6 
201 

"6173-Q-6 
"Nathan Stedman} 
Stephen Treet - Listers for the Town of East Hartford." 
Ashbel Pitkin: 

Under , "faculties" were listed all trades and professions, etc. 
There was a tax on tin plates, among other things, which in 
the year 1786, amounted to £107, including 70 ounces of silver 
plates. Silver watches in the same year were taxed to the amount 
of £12; brass clocks, £2; and wooden clocks, d28. There was 
also a tax on "Smokes," sometimes written "Smoaks.'' by which 
was meant open fireplaces. 

OU Flo's Lot. 

Located somewhere within the town limits of Manchester 
are two hundred acres of land (probably on Middle Turnpike 
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between Main and Adams Streets) which were "set off for the 
support of old Flo," a female negro slave owned by Elisha 0 . 
Pitkin Ulltil his death August l, 1819. 

Flor.a was born in the year 1752 and lived to be so old that 
Doctor P. Edward Pitkin, who also lived to a great age, forgot 
or neglected to support her. On October 30, 1830, Samuel 
Pitkin, P. Edward Pitkin and Joseph Pitkin1 executors of the 
Elisha P. Pitlcin estate were summoned to answer to Lemuel 
White and other inhabitants of the town for the support of this 
aged negro woman who had received assistance from the town. 

The Jaw obliged the Pitkins to care for old Flo during her 
lifetime, . and it was agreed that the income of the two hundred 
acres of land be used to cover the expenses of her board, clothes 
and so forth. She spent her last years "at Warren's house" near 
Silver Lane. The records show that old Flo had five children 
that were born in slavery and ovn1ed by the Pitkins., and that 
Elisha P. Pitkin owned another female slave named "Gin," who 
had a <laugh ter named Dinah. 

I t may be adde<l here that according to the Census of 1790 
there were thirty-one negro slaves in the town of East Hartfor<l 
which at that time included Manchester, and that slavery was 
not entirely abolished in Connecticut until the year 1848. 

Small· Pox and Inoculation. 
Doctor George Griswold seems to have been one of the 

leading citizens in Orford Parish, and one of lhe Erst physicians 
mentioned in the records. In 17S1 a Doctor Clark is mentioned . 
At an East Hartford town meeting held ApriJ 9, 1792, it was 
voted "Upon the Request of Doct. George Griswold for Liberty 
to set up and Carry on inoculation in the Parrish of Orford in 
Such place as Shall be Approved of by the Civil Authority and 
Select Men, Under the Same Rule and Regulations as the Hos­
pital Carried on by Messr. Doctor Flagg and Hall in this town 
under the Directions of sd Authority & Select Men, and for the 
Same term of time as Granted to said Flagg and HalJ.'' SmaU 
pox. raged throughout the state for many years. In 1783, Doctor 
Flagg and Doctor HalJ petitioned "for Liberty to Set up In­
oculation for Small Pox,'' but tJieir petition was denied. They 
received the privilege,1 however, jn the year 1791, ·~o Set up 
and carry on Inoculation in a hospital for the term of [our years, 
provided that the doctors shall allow 'the Tc~wn the Benefit 
of Said Hospital Gratis for the poor of the Town that may have 
Taken the Small Pox the Natural Way.' 11 

The inhabitants of East Hartford were suspicious of this 
new discovery known as ''Inoculation, " as is shown by their 
action in a town meeting held on September 17, 1792, when it 
was "put to Vote Wether Doctor Samuel Flagg and Timothy 



• 

70 The History of Manchester 

Hall,1' also Doctor George Griswold "shall be allowed to pro­
ceed to Inoculate any more with the Small Pox in this town." 
The meeting voted in the negative. 

ln the minutes of a previous town meeting we read: ''Whereas 
Jooalhan Stanley, Elisha Pitki111 Jr., SiJal1 Norton, Jonathan 
Benjamin, Thomas Case, Santll. Hurlburt, Stephen Abhy, Jr., 
J ames Benjamin, bei11g Desirous of Obtaining Liberty of this 
Safe and Easy Method Discovered and pointed out by Divine 
Providence for Carrying their Families through that Dreadful! 
Disease the Small Pox, by lnocuJation," etc., i t was voted that 
they should have the liberty according to their request to in­
oculate their families. In the following meeting the matter was 
reconsidered whether these men be allowed to have their families 
inoculated, and the meeting voted in the negative. The ''safe 
and easy method discovered ·and poinled out by Divine Provi­
dence for carrying their families through that dreadful disease, 
tbe small pox, by inoculation" was now "Set a Side" as a danger­
ous nlethod, for many who were inoculated died soon after with 
the disease. During the pestilence there were two hospitals, 
one on "Pock H ouse HjJl" at the foot of Cow Lane (now Latimer 
Streel), on the bank of the Hockanum River at East Hartford , 
and the other at Highland Park witllin the limits of Orford 
Parjsh. 

'1The Olde Connecticitt Path." 

In a previous chapter we have seen that the Connecticut 
Path may have crossed tJ1rougb the center of ;vhat is now Man­
chester. In this case Bol ton Notch must have been the ''pass" 
through which came all those who, previous · to the year 1648, 
s~ttled at Hartford, Windsor and Wethersfield, excepting only 
those who came by ships up the river. 

When the "Notch" was reached, after traveling tlu·ough t.he 
wilderness from Plymouth, Boston, Dorchester and Newtown, 
the emigrants were within sight of the "Great River" and who 
cau doubt that all strained their eyes (like Moses) to get a 
glimpse of tbe "promised land_" This trail, if our history is 
correct, was the only path leading to Connecticnt, known 1·0 
the colonists during the first thirteen years of their settlement. 
Many writers have held that early settlers like Thomas Hooker 
and his party ''travelled westward through what is now Massa­
chusetts, to the Chicopee River, then turned south and followed 
r.he east bank of the Connecticut River to Saukiaug, now Hart­
ford." But the Hooker party arrived at Ha·rtford in 1636 and 
twelve years later, John Winthrop wrote in his Journal f

1This 
year (1648) a new way was round out to Connecticut by Nasho­
way, which avoided much of the hilly way." This path, later 
railed the "Bay Path," led entirely through Massachusetls. 
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lts route is prqctically tbesame as that of the Boston and Albany 
Railroad. It branched off the Connecticut Path at Wayland 
and led to Worcester, then to Brookfield, Belchertown and 
points westward.1 

For the benefit of the doubting Thomases, let us take them 
on an imaginary trip from Boston to Hartford previous to the 
time when "a new way was [ound to Connecticut" in the year 
164$. We leave Boston and travel through Cambridge, Ash­
land, Hopkinton, Grafton and then to Woodstock, Connecticut. 
So far we all agree as to the route taken by the Hooker party. 
The chronicles, (brief as tb.ey are) tell us that the party had 
only their compass to guide lhem besides what local informa­
tion they had received. We are now at Woodstock, Connecticut, 
where several Indjan paths intersect and our destination is 
Hart ford, which is forty miles distant. SJ1all we now turn back 
to lhe northwest and travel forty miles to the Chicopee River 
and from there travel south "on Lhe east bank of the Connecticut 
River" for another thirty-five miles, with tJ1e compass before 
us and a path leading direct to Ashford, Mansfield, Coventry, 
Bolton, Manchester and Hartford? The "Olde Connecticul 
Path" was known by the Hooker party, for others had tfaveled 
over it before and in fact, it was the only path over which the 
early colonists traveled unli l the "new way was found" in the 
year 1648. 

Bolt.on Notch the Final Resting Place of Mt:antonomah. 

In bis "History of Connecticut" 2 Benjamin Trumbull tells 
us tha1: Miantonomah was brought to the Great Plain of Norwich, 
the place wJ1ere he was captured by U11cas and his men and 
there executed. Charles Frederick Chapin, in his report to the 
Society of Colonial Wars, March 17, 1896, says: ''For rnany 
years the· dramatic completeness of this story was sustained by 
the belief that the final act took place on tbe scene of Miantono­
mah 's defeat and capture, the Great Plains of Norwich. Up to 
recent times a pile of stones there marked the supposed spot, 
and Narragansett Indians going by would contribute to the pile 
and cry out in lamentation. But it is now ge11erally conceded 
that Miantonomab was killed near Windsor, the boundary of 
Uncas' dominion, almost as soon as the line \Vas crossed, and 
that the resting place of the Narragansett is not known.'' Speak­
ing o( Miantonomah's monument Chapin con~tinues: "It is 

1 A description of various paths from Boston to the Connecticut River 
will be found in Adams' Founc/ling of New England, p. 20, and note. This 
author shares tbe traditional view that Hooker's pl;l.rty came co Hartford by 
way of Springfield. 
; Vol. l, p. 135. 
a 'Papers mid Addresses, Vol. 1, p. 35. 
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called the Sachem's monument, and the place marks the scene 
of his capture, not of his death.'' 

Reference to the sources of our information on this point 
would seem to show that both Trumbull and Chapin are in error. 
Jo)1n Winthrop, in his Journal , 1643, wrote: "The court or· 
dered . . . that Miantonomah should be delivered to him 
(U ncas) again and he should put him to death s.o soon as be came 
within his own jurisdiction, and that two English should go 
along with him to see the execution. According to 
th.is agreement the comrcissioners at their return to Connecticut, 
sent for Onkus, and acquainted him U1erewith, who readily under­
took the e.,'!:ecution, and taking Miantonomah along with him, 
in the way between Hartford and Windsor (where Onkus bath 
some men dwell), Onkus' brother, following after Miantonomah, 
clave his head with an hatchet, some Eng]jsh being present." 

This narrative might readily give the impression that Mian­
tonomah was executed near Wrndsor, if we picture Windsor as 
it is today instead of considering the ancient survey of tbal town 
in the time of Uncas and Miantonomah. Ancient Windsor as is 
well known extended "east of the Great River." The south 
boundary "on ye east side" was Podunk River where the Podunks 
had a village. This village was as \i\Tinthrop de.scribes "in the 
way between Hartford and ·winclsor where Onkus hath some men 
dwell." 

There was but one through ' 1w·ay" or trail running east and 
west in the Colony at that time, the path known amohg the 
Indians as the M1shimmayagat, (great trail); over which tlle 
early settlers traveled as well. This was probably the trail 
known throughout the early colonies (J.S the "Olde Connecticut 
Path," leading from Hartford, through East Hartford, eastward 
tbrough Manchester and Bolton NQtch where .it branched off 
into two dir-ections: one towards the east, the other towards 
Willimantic which was known as the Mohegan Trail. Since 
Uncas went by land he traveled over tb1s trail on bis way home­
ward with Miantonomah, his prisoner, and Winthrop knew 
"the way.'' 

The Court had ordered Uncas to 11put Miantot10mah to 
death so soon as he came within his own jurisdiction" and the 
records inform us that both the white settlers and Mohegans, 
feared the Narragansetts would seek vengeance for the loss of 
their chief. Uncas knew that the Narragansett warriors out­
numbered his men by several hundred and that 11e had gained 
a victory in his fight against them by wit and strategy and not 
by force. Would he then risk the loss of his prisoner and most­
hated enemy by taking him to Sachem's Plain near Norwich, pr 
would he disobey the order of the Court "to put Mian tonomah 
to death so soon as he ca'.!Ile wit bi_n his own jurisdiction" while 



The History of Manchester 73 

two Englishmen, who were sent by the Court to see that the 
sentence was duly executed were with him? 

Assuming that "Miantonomah was killed near Windsor, the 
bow1dary of Uncas' dominion, almost as soon as the line was 
crossed," as Chapin states. \iVould Uncas travel north when the 
trail homeward led to the east? Was Windsor the boundary of 
Uncas' dominion? According to Chandler's Survey of the 
Mohegan Country, 1705, the west line commenced "at Moshenup· 
suck (tl1e south end of Snipsic Pond) and ran to Wiashquagwuma 
suck, wh.ere the Hartford Road goes through the Notch in the 
mountain, southerly to Cedar Swamp." ln other words, Bolton 
mountains were the natural bounds and landmarks of the Mohe­
gan country on the west, and the Indian name "Wiashquagwum­
suck" means "high roCky place," signifying that the Mohegan 
line was at Bolton Notch over which the Old Connecticut Path 
led and which was joined by a smaller path at Manchester Green 
known in ·the records as "the path to Monheag'' (Mohegan). 

The belief that Miantonomah was killed ''near Windsor" can 
hardJy be substantiated since Wmdsor was within the jurisdic­
tion of the white settlers and extended to Kettle Brook on the 
north. Uncas could harcily have taken his pdsoner past the 
north boundary of Windsor, because there the Mohegan wa& 
outside his jurisdiction and dominion, and many miles away 
from the path that led eastward to his count.Ty. The great trail 
over which everyone traveled at Lhat time was the otily direct 
path to the Mohegan country, and Bolton Notch was the nearest 
poin t. After crossing thjs place, Uncas "came ·within his juri.s­
diction" and ''so soon as he came" to his country "the Jina! act 
and the dramatic completeness of this story took place." It 
seems, thereforet very probable that the last resting place of 
the noble Narragansett chieftain is at Bolton Notch. 

Cemeteries. 
In th.e "Five Miles" two smaJJ gTave yards were laid out by 

the earliest settlers, one at Hop Brook, the other at the "Center," 
(East Cemetery). Tradition says that only hired men and 
women were buried in the \Nest Cemetery for many years in 
unmark.ed graves and it appears that these cemeteries were on 
private property. Many of the earliest settlers are buried .at 
East Hartford and Hartford, and we find in the Hop Brook 
(West) cemetery the grave stone of "Rebecca. Beckwith widow 
of Jonah of Lyme died July 11th 1743, age 70 years" and several 
other grave stones are still standing that bear witness to the fact 
that this cemetery existed many years before it became public 
property. ~~ 

At a town meeting held April 9, 1778, it was "Voted that 
Capt. Daniel Marsh he Intitled to Receive Six Dollars from 
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this Town Treasurer provided he Mak~s a Deed of forty Rods 
of Ground Adjoining the Burying yard Near his Dwelling house 
'for the purpose of Burying Ground Sd. Addition to be Six Rods 
in Width at the Highway & to Extend So far North that Width 
as the Sd Burying Extend." This new addition was added on the 
west side of the yard. Eleven years later it was again enlarged. 
this time on the north side. 

At a town meeti_ng held April 10, 1789, it was "Voted that Mr. 
Samuel Kennedy be Desired to make Inquiry how and on v\lbat 
Terms the Burying Yard Near the Dwelli:tg house of Thomas 
Spencer may be Enlarged and Make Report to thjs Town at 
some future Town Meeti11g. 

The first cemetery "on the east side of the Great River" was 
laid out in January, 1710 (1711 new style) when one acre of 
land was deeded to the town of Hartford by J oho Pantry for a 
buryjng ground. 

The oldest grave stone is that of Obadiah Wood, w110 died 
in tbe year 1712. This cemetery is now known as the Ce.nter 
Cemetery in East Hartford. 

Much time has been spent in searching the early records 
regardir1g the East Cemetery, but nothing could be found. 
The oldest stones show, however, that interments were made 
here as early as 1751. 

The Buckland Cemetery Lecame public property December 2, 
1811 when the following vote was passed at a town meeting. 
"Voted . . . That the Acd. of Aaron Buckland relating 
to the Burying Grounds near his House be referred to the Select­
men who are authorized to adjust the same and to take a deed 
of the Land etc. As they may judge proper." The oldest stone 
here dates back to year 1777. At another town meeting held 
December 8, 1816 it was "Voted That the Selectmen 
be djrected to cause alJ Burying Lots in this town to be suitably 
fenced (so far as may be proper to be done by the town.) and that 
they ren t out said lots to pasture Sheep & Calves only in the 
most advantageous manner for the benefit of the Town." 

Again, al a town meeling held December (no date) 1818, it 
was "Voted . . . That the Selectmen see the Burying 
yards are suitably fenced, also to view the yard at A. Buck:lands 
& purchase land for it if they see it necessary." 

Here in the Buckland Cemetery lies John Olds "The Father 
of Manchester" who was the leader.in the movement to incor­
porate a separate town by the name of Mancnester, on April 9, 
1812. 
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CHAPTER VI. 

FARM AND VILLAGE LIFE 

In the half century between the organization of Orford Parish 
and its incorporation as the Towu of Manchester, there occurred 
political changes, full of significance for the country, which were 
also not without effect on the developrnent of our community. 
The colonies declared themselves independent, earned that inde­
pendence in a protracted struggle, The Revolutionary War, and 
finally after six years of practical .anarchy succeeded in establish­
ing a national government. In this period of stress the men of 
Orford Parish acquitted themselves well. The enlistment of a 
company of twenty-five men and boys from a community of not 
over one hundred voters1 was a good showing. 

The names follow: 
Timothy Cheney, Capt. 
Richard Pitkin, Lieut. 
Ozias Bissell, Lieut. 
Simon Gaines, Serjeant 
Elisha Buckland, Serjeant 
Joseph McKee, Serjeant 
Samuel Evans, Junr. 
Matthew Cadwell 
Nathaniel Dewey 
Josiah Olcott, Junr. 
Alexander Keeney, Junr. 
Abiathar Evans 
O.zias Bidwell 

James Bellows 
David Buckland 
Ephraim Webster 
I oseph St12dman 
Theodore Keeney 
Robert McKee 
Solomon Gilman, Jtmr. 
Josiah Loomis 
Samuel Bryant 
Jedediah Darling, Junr. 
Timothy Bryant 
David Goodrich 

We have no record of the later enlistments nor of the terms of 
service. After a careful search Miss Alice B. Cheney compiled 
the following list, duplicating some of the names given above, 
which shows the names of Revolutionary Soldiers buried in 
Manchester cemeteries: 

Captain Ozias Bissell 
Captain Timothy Cheney 

Private Joshua Flmt 
Private White Griswold 

1 Jn 1773, the list of voters numbered ninety-four. See Cheney, Orfo-rd 
Paris/1. in Connecticut Daughters of the American Revolutio~ Chapter Sketchss, 
p. 469. 
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Old Glass Works 

Bottles made in Old Glass Works 
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Captain Richard Pitkin 
Lieutenant Simon Gains 
Lieutenant Nathaniel Olcott 
Sergeant Elisha Buck.land 
Sergeant Elihu Geer 
Sergeant Joseph McKee 
Ensign Russell Bissell 
Privatee Ebnezer Brvant 
PrivateGeorge Buckiand 
Private Moses Evans 

Private Josiah Hollister 
Priva1'e Ashe! Keeney 
Private Ricba.rcl Keeney 
Private AHen Marsh 
Private Robert McKee; 
Pl'ivate Andrus Millard 
Priv~teNehemiah Risley 
Private A$hna Symonds 
Private William Wilson 

By manufacturing powder for the Continental armies the 
settlers of Orford Parish who stayed at home did their part in the 
struggle for independence. The Pitkins owned and operated a 
number of powder mills an<l suppl ied the p9wder to the new State 
Government on long credit. Captain T imothy Cheney was 
detailed home from active service in the field in order to superin­
tend the manufacture of powder sieves. 

Ejfer.L~ of the Revolittion on Lif~ in Orjord Parish 
The absence for several years of some of its most active men 

undoubtedly tended to check the growth and prosperity of 
Orford Parish. Some of tbetn never cam it back; some of those 
who came back had been re!idered unfit, either physically or 
Il1entally, to resume in full measure peace-time occupations. 

The Revolutionary vVar, however, brought some compensat­
i11g advantages. Our community did not suffer from invasion. 
Owing to the weakness of the Continental Congress and the 
unwillingness of lhe State Governments to impose taX:es, the 
burden of i·axation was not heavy. The floods of paper money 
issued to finance the war proved for a while stimulating to 
business in rural communities where money had been notoriously 
scarce. The chief advantage which the war brought to Orford 
Parish, however, was the encouragement which it gave to the 
establishment of a variety of manufactures. Unti1 1775, lhe 
colonies had heen dependent on England for manufactured goods, 
but when trade wiLh Europe was cut off a number of small fac­
tories wer~ established at home to supply our armjes with clothfog 
and nnwitions and to satisfy the essential w~nts of the civilian 
population. 

Beginnings of M:anufacturing . 

ln Orford Parish as in all niral conunun.it:ies in Southern New 
£11glantl there were, before 1775, a few village im.lustries such as 
saw mills, grist inills and blacksmilhs' shops for the satii;facl'ion 
of the local market. The only industrial enterprise which was 
proch~1cing goods for outside consumption was Watsem and 
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Ledyard's paper mill, one of the first in the co1onies. 1 ·within the 
next twenty-five years a half-dozen or more factories producing a 
variety of goods for a wide market had been established within 
our boundries. In the age before the steam ei;igine had been 
adopted for industrial use, water power was an important factor 
in determining the location of manufactures. The Hockanum 
River and its tributaries, Bigelow Brook and Hop Brook, travers­
ing respectively the northern, central and southern parts of the 
town, offered numerous excellent mill sites. In addition the 
community benefi.tted by its nearness to Hartford. It is probable 
that a considerable part of the capital which financed our early 
factories was originally acquired by Hartford merchants in th~ 
West India trade. The pi-oducts of the early factories were 
probably taken to Hartford for t ransportation do-..vn the river to 
markets in the coast towns or in the South. 

A final factor of importance in determining the location and 
success of I!lanufacturin~ in any community is the inventive 
ingenuity and business skill of its "inhabitants. Among the 
farmers of Orford Parish there were probably a fair share of the 
Yankee geniuses whose versatility had been developed by the 
strugg1e for a living on their self-sufficient farms. The unusual 
business skill of one of the ear.Iiest families, that of Timothy 
Cheney, is a heritage in which we all have shared. 

The earliest manufactures in Orford Parish were paper, 
glass, gunpowder and woolen and cotton goods. We have already 
mentioned the paper mill of Watson and Ledyatd. A second 
paper mill, the property of Richard T. Jones, was erected in 1780, 
on the site now well known to older residents as that of the 
Peter Adams paper mill. At this site Jones utilized the water 
power for a number of industrial purposes; for grinding grain, 
and gun powder, for crushing fliuseed a:nd for drawing wire. A 
third paper mill on the Hockanum was that of Butler and Hudson, 
erected in 1784. Paper mi.lls were first set up on Hop Brook 
about the year 1800 by Charles Bunce, who, with his six sons, 
carried ·on an extensive business for over sixty years in the 
western part of the town. 

The manufacture of woolen cloth OIJ hand looms was under­
taken by Aaron Buckland in 1780, on the site now occupied by 
the mills of the E. E. Hilliard Company. In this mill, blankets 
were woven for our soldiers in the War of 1.812. 

A monopoly of the manufacture of glass in the State of Con­
necticut for twenty-five years was granted in 1783 to William and 
Elisha Pitkin and Samuel Bishop. The patent of monopoly was 
in lieu of compensation for powder supplied during the Revolu­
tion. The principal product of the factory was bottles. On 
acc~mnt of high freights these were more expensive than other 

I On the Hockanum River, below Union Village1 near the site of Chen~y 
Brothers hydro-electric pow<>.r station. See p. '!lbove. 
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forms of glass. Bottles were in great.demand for the exportation 
of cider to the West Indies. The sand which was one of the chief 
raw materials was brought at great expense from New Jersey, 
being transported up the Connecticut River in barges, and from 
Hartford to Manchester Green by ox-cart. When exposed to 
competition of other factories at tl1e expiration of its twenty-five 
year monopoly the Pitkin factory proved unprofi table but opera­
tions were continued for a number of years thereafter. 1 The 
ruins of this factory are still standing on the Pitkin farm at the 
corner of Porter and Parker Streets. 

One of the first successful cotton mills in New England was 
huilt on the Hockanum nea.r the present site of Union Village, 
in 1794. Samuel Pitkin was the principal owner of this mjlJ, but 
the machinery was designed and operated by John vVarburton, 
an Englishman. The tradition runs that Warburton, in defiance 
of the English laws, smuggled important designs out of Lhe 
country which wete of great importance to the success of the new 
enterprise. The products of the roj ll were velvets, corduroys and 
fustians. 2 

A few years later a second cotton mill was built by Richard 
Pitkin on Bigelow Brook at what is now Manchester Green. 
Further northwest on anolher stream was the site of the powder 
mill, built in 1808, by John Mather, who was tbe proprietor of a 
small glass factory, also. He employed altogether twelve men 
in the two enterprises, and yet, so small was the scale of mam.1-
facturing operations in those days that be was regarded as a man 
of great importance, or as we would say now, a captain of indus­
try. The powder was ground in hand mortars at the rate of 
fifty pounds a day. About once a month the product was trans­
ported by carts or wagons overland and sold in Boston. 

The early manufacturing enterprises established between 
1775 and 1810 were premature and see01 to have had but tittle 
relation to the later industrial development of the community. 
The first factories would seem nowadays insignificant little 
shops and Lhey enjoyed b1.1t a short and precarious existence. 
Probably most of them ceased operations during the corrurrercial 
depression which came at the ,end of the War of 1812. Before 
1810 or 1820, therefore, manufacturing could have had practically 
no influence on the economic or the social life of Orford Parish. 

Social andEconomic Stagnation. 

At Lhe beginning of the Nineteenth Century the economic 
life of our community was based on agriculture, an industry 
which was then in a static condition. The process of pioneering 
1 See Barber, Histor·ical Cotlectio11s of Comiedic1tt (18J6) p. 98. 
2 Ma11chester Heratd, July 15, 1920. 
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was futisbed. Practically al\ the land which then was com;idered 
avai1ab1e had been brought under cultivation and the Parish, to 
use a phrase o[ the times, was "f uHy settled." TJ1ere was a 
single village, including perhaps twelve or fifteen houses, built 
rather close togetl1e.i-, al Manchester Green, in wl1idJ centered the 
business and social life of the cornmu11ity. Here was the tavern, 
kept by Deodat Woodbridge, rhe country store, and the post 
office, established in 1808, the first wi rhln the present limits of 
Manchester. 

Lying on the Boston and Hartford Turnpike, opened in 1794 
the growth of the village was largely dependent on the stage 
coach route which was opened soon after. The tavern was a 
stopping place for many travellers oC importance including 
soldiers, judges, slatesmeu, and even Washington, himself. One 
of the older residents of tbe I.own, Mrs. Mary Cone Jenney 
Moeser, ot Manchester Green , has furnished the followjng vivid 
descriplic:m of the atri val of the stage coaeh in the old days: 

"My mother was about twelve years old wl1en her father moved frocn the 
Rich pface, where near.ly all of his rwelve children were born. ~o the tavern, 
which remained her home until her marriage to my father, Mr. Ralph Cone, 
in 1840. It was always a delight to me to have her tell me of the wonderful 
doings of tbe tavern. Of t he rnsh and exciteme:nt as the time drew near for 
the arriv<il of the stage. Everything must be in readiness. A Cresh log .rolled 
upon the blaiing open fire in each rooru, spotless caps and aprons donned by 
the serving maids, the last tou~:hes given the loaded tables, bits of dust flicked 
off here a1.1d there, glasses set out in the bar room, a last look at the flip-dog, 
to see if it is hot for the flip, the mi~ng of wonderfu1 concoctions for .tbe hasty 
drinker, and a general stir, inside and out, all over the Green. 

''At the sound of the bugle persons might be seen 11oming from every house, 
belated Ones running np t11e street, loud voices and directions issuing from the 
barn, where twenty-four horses were kept, ruen trooping from the sto.re, while 
a .CL1ri.ous group gathered on the outs.kirts, 1·eady for their sly jokes and com­
ments on the occupants of thi: four- in -hand and curnb':rsome stas-e. as they 
sil'ung themselves down from its top, or crawled fro m its <leplhs, to stretch 
themselves after their er.amped position during the teu mile ride from their 
last stopping place. 

"Soon the tired horses are taken out, to be rubbed down aud made C.01u· 
fortable, fres h ones take their places for thei,r hard climb over the hHls; the 
ca 11 fo.r the start is made, passengers hurry out aud store themselves inside and 
op top of the stage, the goodbyes are said, the driver Rings bis last joke LO the 
one or two characters of the Green standing near, and gets a witly response in 
return, and with a crack of the whip, blowing of ho1·ns and sho11ting of young­
sters, aw·cty they go, up over tbe hill anci a1·c out of sight, while the men r~tura 
to the barn, to the tavern, a11<l lo the store for t heir mail, and to talk over the 
news just hrougbt them by thjs, nearly the only medium from the outside world 
a nd to exchange t-hl~Ories of the pass1,mgcrs whn have continued their journey. 
T11si(le the tavern, those who take the journey by easy stages, are resting quietly 
before the fires, in anticipation of the delicious viands waiting for them, and the 
comfortable rest later on, when the afternoon stage shall have come and gone 
(for there was a s~age going in each directioo every day) and pos:;;ibly a merry 
d1tnce in the evening." 

A description of the lcind of life found in Orford Parish at this 
period form!> an interesting contrast to present conditions. Its 
outstanding characteristics wei·e its isola tion. its self-sufficiency 
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and its homogeneity. Hartford, with a population of 6,000, was 
only nine miles distant, but t:bose nine miles of country road, 
even when dignified by the name of turnpike, made communica­
tion and transportation more difficult and more expensive than 
fifty miles today. The lack of a market for farm products was 
the condition which determined many other characteristics of the 
life of the community. The lack of induslrial life in the com­
munity meant that there was no group of consumers of agricul­
tural commodities who were not also producers. 

Farming and Farm Life. 

Agriculture was the chief occupation of the village people, as 
well as of those on tJ1e outlying farms. There were, indeed, in the 
community representatives of our modern business and pro­
fessional pass, the blacksmith and the wheelwright, the miller, the 
inn keeper, the country trader, the doctor, the lawyer, and the 
minister. ButaJI of these occupations, with the possible exception 
of the las1', were usuc;tlly combined with farming. The doctor and 
the lawyer, as well as the m.iller and the smith, lived on farms 
which they cultivated when free from profesRional du.ties, and 
from which they drew a substantial part of their living. 

On the typical farm of oue hundted fifty acres, fifty acres were 
in woodland, another fifty acres in pasture1 and the remainder 
divided between mowing land and cultivated fields. The land 
under tillage rarely exceeded ten or twelve acres. Indian corn 
was the staple grain, providing food for man and beast. With rye 
il made the "Rye and lnjun" bread which was found on every 
farmer's table. Oats and barley and buckwheat were regularly 
sown in small amounts. Wheat proved <>o unsuccessful that its 
cultivation had been abandoned throughout almost all of New 
England. Farm labor was scarce and hence but few farmers 
cultivated root crops or pa.id much attention to kitchen gardens. 
Potatoes were raised in small amounts chiefly for cattle food. 
Little fruit was grown except apples, which were in great demand 
for cider making. Fla.x was a crop requiring intensive cultivation 
and hence not well adapted to the prevailing extensive system, 
yet some flax was necessary for the production of homespun lin~n. 
A small patch was found on every farm . 

A scientific rotation of crops was unknown , and grain alter­
nated with grass and fallow in much the same way, as under the 
three-field system of the Middle Ages. But little care was given 
to maintain soil fertilily by manures. Under these conditions 
the yield of the various crops was miserably small. The farmer's 
live stock consisted of ten or fifteen head of cattle includiug young 
animals, a yoke of oxen, one or two horses, a flock of ten or twelve 
sheep, and about as many swine as cows. Lack of adequate 
shelter, under-nourishment and lack of attention to breedjng had 
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caused, since their original importation from Europe, a degenera­
tion in all kinds of faFm animals. 

The farms of the early Nineteenth Century were in a great 
degree self-sufficient and the farm communities were largely 
independent of the outside world. Beyond small quantit ies of 
cheese, salt pork and homespun yarn, the farme.rs were able to· 
sell practically nothing. Hence they were unable to buy, and 

DOROTHY P1TKIN 
Landlady of Pitkin Tavern near Manchester Green, 

\Vere forced to produce on the farm a great variety of goods now 
made in shops and factories. Not only food supplies such a_s 
bread, butter and cheese, salt beef and pork, were " homemade" 
but also clothing, shoes, furniture, household and bed linen, soap, 
candles, brooms, farm implements and a great variety of wooden 
household utensils. 
Virtues and Dejects of the Age of Homespim. 

A great deal bas been written and said in rather indiscriminate 



S6 The History of Manchester 

praise of the virtues and beau ties of the good old times, or the 
Age of Homespun. Its virtues were indeed important. No child 
could grow up in the self-sufficient household without being 
thoroughly trained in habils of frugality and economy. "They 
knew tbo exactly what everything cost, even small things, not to 
husband them carefully." L In inculcating habits of self-reliance 
and ability to bear responsibility, the self-sufficient household 
ach ieved educative results which modern schools with their more 
formal training find difficult to approximate. In the community 
life the frequent occasi-0ns for neighborly co-operation gave rise 
to an admirable spirit of mutual helpfulness. In the lack of such 
specialized professions as trained nurses and funeral directors, 
their work was performed voltuitarily by neighbors. In addition, 
the farmers as a community combined their efforts in many of the 
more extraordinary tasks such as i11 clearing land, raising build­
ings and at harvest time. Such services were rarely if ever, -paid 
for io money or in goods. It was turn and turn about; the person 
or family receiving the service stood ready lo make repayment by 
rendering a similar service whenever occasion should arise. 

One should beware, however, of the tendency to look at the 
past through rose-colored spectacles, as do some modern pessi­
mists, and to believe that everything was better in the olden time. 
In the first place it should be recognized that the conditions of 
daily life were hard, in some cases almost unbearably so. Farm 
work in lhe fields and in the farm house was for most a dull and 
uninspiring round of monotonous toil. With their clumsy imple­
ments and ineffective household appliances the farm family 
worked hard for a rather poor living. Their houses, warmed only 
by fireplaces in the winter, and at i1ight lighted only by candles, 
were cold, drafty and e11tirely lacking in modern sanitary arrange­
ments. Their food, although usually abundant, was coarse and 
unvaried. Heavy brown bread, bean porridge and salt pork 
were the staple articles of diet. Fruits and vegetables, except 
apples and pumpkins, were but rarely found on farmer's tables. 
Tea and cofiee were corning into rather general use, but cider 
remained the common beverage of all the inhabitants, rich and 
poor, yoLLng and old. 

The desire to in t roduce variety i11to their fare and to relieve, 
at leqst t.emporarily, the dreary monotony of village life e,'tplains 
the liberal constunption o'f cider, and stronger liquors, and the 
prevalence of intemperance among all classes in the community. 
Every important occasion in home and in church life, every rural 
festivity was utilized as an opportunity for generous indulgence 
in intox-icants. Neither the haying nor the hog-killing could be 
managed without liberal potations of ublack strap" and "stone 
wa11.'' Husking bees, ho\tse ra ising-s, train.ing days, christenings, 

1 Bushnell, Wnrk and Play. p . ~05. 
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weddings, burials and even ordinations were often disgraced by 
the drunkenness of the participants. 

In general the moral tone of mral communities at this time 
was low. A general spirit of lawlessness was noticeable after 
The Revolutionary War, as after all wars. Petty crimes, such as 
thefts, assaults· and minor disturbances were of frequent occur­
rence. The influence of the Church was decadent. Practically 
all the inhabitants of Orford Parish were nominally at least, 
members of a single religious body - the Congregational Church. 
But between 1790 and 181 S this body was in an enfeebled condi­
tion. I t had no settled pastors between 1793 and 1800, nor 
again in the years 1808-1814. The authority of the church in 
matters of doctrine was declining, and in spite of an inquisitorial 
censorship of t he private life of its members, it was unable to 
prevent frequent lapses from the code of morals. 
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CHAPTER VIL 

PROGRESS IN MANUFACTURING, 1820-1870 
A new period in the history of our community may be con­

veniently dated, without attributing causal importance tQ the 
event, fro111 its incorporation as a township in 1823. Within 
the next fifty years we were transformed from a quiet farming 
hamlet to a tbriviog industrial center. The rail.road had re­
placed the stagecoach, breaking down our isolation and oLtr 

economic seli-suHiciency. Household industries had been given 
up and farmers and artisans alike had discarded homespun for 
"st.ore clothes." Homogeneity had given place to diversity. 
Farming was no longer the sole occupation. The enlarged 
community offered many and varied ways of earning a living, 
thus affording opportunities for the employment 0f diverse 
talents. 

While neighboring rural communities were decreasing, our 
population, which in 1823 had been about 1,400 had grown to 
over 4,200 in 1870. Its composition, too, had altered. At the 
date of our incorporation the inhabitants of Manchester were 
almost exclusively native born; and of native parents. Io 1870 
the admixture. of o!-her racial elements was already notice.able. 
We were no longer of a single religious faith. The cburc:b at the 
Center still flourished but in adrution four other denominations 
bad organized and had built churches. 

The explanation of the revolutionary changes in the social 
and economic life of Manchester in tl1e first half-century after 
incorporation is to be found in the growtb of manufactures and 
in the introduction of railroad transportation. After the collapse 
of the premature industries of Revolutionary days there seems 
to have been little manufacturing activity until the decade 1830-
1840. At about that time we know that many of the okler 
properties, which had probably been idle for some lime, changed 
bands. Butler's paper miU in Union Village was bought by a 
group of local rnen and started on a new career o( prosperity. 
The cotton mills in the same village which had been revived and 
enlarged in 1819 by David Watkinson and his brothers, and 
incorporated as the Union Manufachuing Company, were doing 
a busi.rtess of rather exceptional proportions for those days. In 
the company's four mills, one hundred seventy-nine persons were 
employed; ·fifty-nine men, one hundred seventeen women and 
three children of under twelve years of age. The mills, which 
contained 3,500 spindles and ninety looms, bad a capital value of 
$140,000. Their yearly oulput was 600,000 yards of cloth be-
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sides 30,000 pounds of yarn.1 Elisha E. Hilliard in 1824 began 
his career in woolen manufacturiug at the Buckland inilt. 

Paper mills were established in 1832 by Henry Hudson at 
Oakland and by Peter Rogers at the comer ofHartfordRoad and 
Prospect Street. The powder mills of John Mather changed hands 
and were rebuilt in 1830. A partial census of manufactures taken 
in 1832 showed that there were then three woolen factories 1n 
Manchester, two of which produced satinet and the third flaru1el. 
Tlte small scale of thei r operations is shown bythefollowingfacts. 
T heir combined capital was $21,500 and the value of their com­
bined output was $32,800. The largest mill employed only eight­
een hands; four men, twelve women and two ch ild ren. Altogether 
they gave employment to thirty-five persons. 

}lfawuJactur-es in l\!Ianchester, 1845. 
A fairly complete view of the progress in manufactw-ing which 

had been made in Manchester up to 1845 is obtainable from the 
statistics compiled by the assessors in that yeai-. 2 Altogetlier 
there were employed in shops and factories 400 persons out of 
the town's population of about 2,000. The total capital invested 
amounted to $250,000 ancl the annual product was valued at 
$400,000. Of the twenty-five or thirty industrial establishments, 
only sih'teen produced goods on a scale large enough to deserve 
the name of factories. Of these, seven were paper mills; five, 
woolen mills, two, cotton mills and two silk mills. The principal 
facts concerning these establishments are presented in the 
following table: 

TABLE I 
MANUFACTURES IN MANCHESTER, 1845 

No. of Factories 
Capital Invested 
Quantity of 

Product 

Value of Product 
Persons Employed 

Men 
Women 
Women 

Paper Cottons ·woolens Silk 
7 2 5 2 

$106,00() $112,300 . . . . . . . . $15,000 
61,000 ' 966,000 ·· - · . . . . 13,300 

reams yds.cloth lbs. sewing 
95 tons 195,000 silk 
coarse lbs.yarn 
paper 
700 gross 
press 
paper 
$175,000 
133 

$85,000 
134 
58 
76 
76 

$104,850 $85,000 
69 
12 
57 
57 

1 U.S. 22 Cong. 1st. Sess. Ex. Doc. 308, Documen/J. Relative to Mamtfact­
ures in the U.S. Vol, I. 
2 Connecticut, Statistics of Tndustty, 1845. 
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In addition to lhe factories, there were a dozen or more 
shops conducted often by a single proprietor with the aid of his 
family or a few neighbors. fn them was produced a wide variety 
of. commodities, principally for locaJ consumption. Among the 
wares thus produced were ploughs, tacks and brads, musical 
instruments, leathei· goods, coaches and wagons, tinware, cigars, 
building stone, blacking, essences, shaving soap and ink. 

The smaller enterprises were not without interest and sig­
nificance in the history of the ~own . The manufacture of pk>ughs 
conducted by Benjamin Lyman at the Green was characterized 
in an exceptional degree by inventiveness, or Yankee ingenuity. 
The cast-iron moldboard for ploughs bad been invented by 
Charles Newbold of New J ersey in 1797 and later improved by a 
number of designers, principally by Jethro Wood of Scipio, N. Y. 
Lyman, therefore, did not originate the idea of using iron ploughs. 
He was successfu l, however, in designing moldboards, which he 
patterned in wood and bad cast in a foundry at Hartford. Lyman 
also designed and manufactured at the Green, cast-iron hubs for 
carts a nd wagons to replace tbe wooden hubs used since tim_e 
iIDJnemorial. 

Cone and Wadsworth in their shop under the big oak trees at 
the corner of East Center and Pit.kin Streets for many years 
made carriages of enviable reputation. 

The Begin'l'ting of the Silk Industry. 

1t was during the decade of 1830-1840, also, that the industry 
was first begun which has been chiefly responsible for the town's 
growth and prosperity, - the manufacture of silk. Attempts 
had been ma,de ju Connecticut to raise cocoons, and to wind silk 
from them as early as 17 32, and projects had been encouraged by 
bounties offered by Lhe colonial legis lature. Mansfield, a rowq­
ship to lhe east of l\ilancbester, was Lbe earliest center of silk 
winding in tbe country, producing 200 pounds of silk in 1788. 
In 1810 altempts were made to utilize water power in tbe winding 
of sewing silk bat success was not attained until after 1820 Jn 
1825 it was reported that three-fourths of the families in the 
Town of Windham we.re engaged in raising cocoons, and in reeling 
and winding silk. The work was done chiefly by women in their 
own homes, using the common foot power spinu.ing wheels. The 
"sewings," as their product was called , 'vas marketed principally 
by barter at the count.Ty stores. 

The beginning of silk winding as a factory industry in the 
United States elates from 1830-183.5 when mills began operation 
i11 Hartford and in Northampton . In Soutb Manchester the silk 
industry began with attempts to produc(! raw silk by several of the 
sous of George Cheney,grandsons of Timothy Cheney,! he original 
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settler in Manchester. It was about the year 1835 that they estab­
lished in this community a nursery for the propagation of mul· 
berry trees, which were essential to supply food for silk worms 
Practically all of the silk mills of that day combined with their 
manufacturing operations the production of rawsilk from cocoons. 
In 110 other way, so they believed, could they obtain reliable 
supplies of raw material. Consequently they established co­
cooneries and planted large tracts with mulberry trees. 

The llfultiwulis Speculation-. 
lt was in connection with the propagation and marketing of a 

particular variety of these trees, the morus rriulticauVis, that a 
most unusual and disastrous wave of speculation spread over the 
eastern states. Farmers, everywhere along the Atlantic Coast, 
encouraged by extravagant articles in newspapers, farm journals, 
and even in government publications, became convinced that 
they could make large pro.fits by µlantlng a few acres with mul­
belTy trees and then selLing them to silk growers. Some df the 
newly organized companie.c; gave up manufacturing for a time and 
invested all their capital in mulberry orchards. There were not 
nearly enough trees to supply the demand, and prices rose to 
extravagant.,heigbts. In 1834 .mulberry trees sold at the nurs· 
eries for about $4 a hundred, in 1835 for $10, and at the begin­
ning of l 836 for $30. In November, 1836, three of the Cheney 
Brothers, Ward, Frank and Rush, leased for $400 a year a tract 
of 117 acres at Burlington, New Jersey, and established there a 
nursery and a cocoonery. Wit.bin less than a year the sales from 
the Burlington nursery had amounted to. about $14,000. 

Early in 1839 the multicaulis fever reached its climax. In 
Januat·y of that year trees sold at from on.e t-0 two dollars each; in 
so~e cases sales were made at $300 and $500 a l1undred. All of 
this speculation had been going on in spite of the panic of 1837, 
but during 1839, the hard times which bad already affected other 
fields, spread to the nurserymen and the silk culture. At almost 
the same instant came the realization that the morus muJtiaaulis 
was not hardy enough to he raised without difficulty in the North, 
and that even if that J1andicap could be overcome, American 
labor was too expensive for profitable use in the tedious band 
operations required for the successful culture of silkworms. 

By 1840 the crash was complete. The silk growers had 
wasted their money. The nurserymen were left with great 
quantities of the trees on hand, trees whkh had cost them heavily 
and we.re now worth next to nothing. Imp--orters could not even 
pay the freight on their shipments from abroad. The trees were 
sold for such bumble uses as pea brush , or unceremon iously up­
rooted artd burt1ed. Practically everyone in the business bore his 
share of the loss. 
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In 1844 a fatal blight affected almost all of the mulberry trees 
in the countJ"Y. T his caused the loss of all the multitudes of 
sillnvorms, and practic.atly drove the growers out of business. 
Even at Mansfield, Connecticut, where silk culture had been 
inost prosperous, the industry was finally abandoned. Many of 
the new silk winding mills which had put thefr capital into trees 
were ruined, and it looked as if the silk industry in the United 
States had achieved a complete failure. 

The HopBrook Mill. 

It was in 18381 while the rnultiaaulis speculation was at its 
height that tl1e Cheney brothers began the manufacture of sewing 
silk on Hop Brook in Manchester. On January second of that 
year, Ralph, Ward, Rush and Frank Cheney, with Edward 
Arnold, organized the Mount Nebo Silk Manufacturing Company 
with a capital stock of $50,000. A small factory, thirty-two by 
forty-five feet, two stories high, was built below the site of Tim­
othy Cheney's grist mlll and saw mill on Hop Brook, directly in 
the rear of the building which now houses the main offices of 
Cheney Brothers. The timber for the mill was hewn out at fou r 
cents a foot, and the contract price for the joiners' work was $262. 
The frame was put in position on March 31, 1838, all the able­
bodied men of the neighborhood lending their aid at the "raising." 
The new mill was not an impressive edifice. One of tbe earl iest 
operatives described it as "a barn built on the edge of the brook 
in the huckleberry pasture." Waterpower was supplied by the 
tail race of the grist an<l saw mills. A little undershot wheel 
turned busily when it had water, that is, when the mms above 
were in operation. But when the upper gates were closed, silk 
manufacturing was suspended. 

lo 1839 the multicaulis speculation seems to have diverted 
the attention, and probably much of the capital, too, of the 
Cheney Brothei-s, from their new manufacturing enterprise, but 
after the collapse of tbe nursery business they returned to South 
Manchester. In 1841 the Mount Nebo mill, which had been idle 
fot a number of months was reopened. There followed a period 
of ten or fifteen years of hard work and of ceaseless experimenta­
tion when the fate of the business often hung in the balance. 
T he new venture was a family enterprise from the beginning, and 
its eventual success was owing in no small degree to the loyal 
co-operation of the family group. An old diary shows, for ex­
am pie, how Frank Cheney and his brother Rush lived together 
and had things in common. In one of the early years their share 
of the prnfits aroountetl to $600. Of this swn, one-half was s.et 
aside for their living e-~euses and the remainder was reinvested 
in the business. Altogether there wern eight brothers in the 
family and of these all but the eldest, George Wells, were at on_e 
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time or another interested in the silk mill and devoted their tal­
ents, each in b.is own way, toward making it a success. The 
mechanical genius of Frank Cheney and the business acumen of 
his brother Ward, seem to have been largely responsible for the 
survival of the business through its first difficult years. At 
critical limes, also, two of the brothers, John and Seth, who were 
artists, came to the rescue with funds frorn their earnings. 

An Early Payroll. 

The earliest payroll information in possession of the company 
is an extract from a timf' book used in 1843, which contains the 
wages of Cheney Brolhers' employees in December of that year. 
This record contains the following list of eighteen names together 
with t he wages received by each employee. 

Per Per 
Month Week 

Geo. W . Cheney $16.00 Horace Wetherell $1.92 
John S. Cheney 12.00 Wells Wetherel l 1.92 
Charles Rogers 14. 36 Marv Sin1ons 2 . 50 
Wm. Brockbank 22. 36 Sarah Simons 2 . 7 S 
Dwight Searl 18. 00 House 2. 25 
Ralph Bailey 20 . 36 M. Keeney 2. 50 
H enry Gardner 14. 36 H. Forbes 2. 50 
Rockwell Keeney 16.36 S. Brumby 2. 75 

Clemson 14.36 Geo. W. Ault 2.25 
Trus shows that wages in 1843 ra nged from $1.92 to $$.16 pe1· 

\\:eek. The weekly working schedule was based on a twelve hour 
day. beg·inning at six o'clock in tlle morning and ending at seven 
o'clock i.n the evening, with one hour at noon allowed for lunch, 
or sevellt.y-two hours per week. Tlie average earnings of male 
employees was $.0466 per hour and $3.35 per week; of female 
employees, $.0353 per hour and $2.54 per week. 

The mill ' 1hands" of those days, as the names on the list indi­
cate, were mostly sons and daugbters of the farmers of the neigh­
borhood, but they includeJ also an occasional vrllage artisan or 
mechanic. Workers and proprietors were both of native Yankee 
sto<.:k, weH acquainted whb each othet if not actually related by 
blood or by marriage. While the business was in its infancy, the 
members of the firm often worked side by side with their em­
ployees. It is related of Frank Cheney that he did not shirk his 
turn at standing guard over the mill property at night, and that 
when repairs were needed on the water wheel it was he who went 
clown into the pit to attend to the job. Under such conditions 
it is obvious that " labor pxoblen1s'' as we know thein could not 
have existed. 

The httrry and rush of the modem factory seem to have been 
pleasantly abs~nt. Ar Thanksgiving, a much more important 
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holiday in those days than Christmas, the mill was regularly 
closed for three full days in order that the employees who came 
from neighboring towns might go home to visit their families. 
In the mill many of the operations were performed by baod. In 
skeining the sil.lr a number of girls were employed in tlre same 
room. Finding their task monotonous, they brought in books and 
engaged a reader, thus combining work with pleasure. And it is 
recorded that as a result the girls did more work and better work. 
Later the books thus used were collected into a circulating Jibrary 
which formed the nucleus of the South Manchester Public Li­
brary. Tbe bringing together of even so small a group in daily 

Timothy Cheney House, East Cent.et Streei; 

contact stimulated social life in the cornnnmity, and the mill itself, 
ofte11 afforded a gathering place after hours. Oue of the work 
rooms was occasionally used for dances. The machines were 
taken up an<l moved aside to provide floor space- The work 
benches -provided a resting place for the children while their 
parents enjoyed themselves. 

Se·wing sjlk was the only product of the Mt. Nebo mill for the 
flrst ten or fifteen years of its existence. During these year~. how­
ever, important; improvements were made in manufacturing 
methods. One .of the earliest improvements was the Rixford 
R oller which utilized a friction drive in doubling and twisting the 
fibre. In 1847 Frank Cheney patented a machine somewhat like 
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the cotton spinning "mule" which combined the operations of 
doubling, twisting and winding. A demand was created for a new 
type of sewing silk, by the invention and increasing popularity 
of the sewing machine between 1840 and 1850. 

Mach.ine sewing den1anded a stronger and more even thread 
than had been used in hand sewing. Hence, a product .known as 
"machine tw1st" was devised, and its manufacture was begun by 
Cheney Brothers about lSSO. 

Cheney Brothers in 1855. 

In 1855 after years of experimentation the Cheney Brothers 
made a practical success qf spinning wa.<>te silk. Herelofore all 
the raw silk used in American factories was that which had been 
reeled by an expensive hand process from perfect, i. e., unpierced 
cocoons. The attempts which had been made, both in this 
country and in Europe, to utiUze the large quantities of pierced 
cocoons and also masses of silk fibre which had become too 
tangled to be reeled, had proven unsuccessful. By the adaptation 
of machinery from cotton and woolen mills, and by the use of 
special machines invented by them or imported from Europe, the 
Cheneys were able economically to card and spin into yarn the 
silk waste, thereby jntroducing a new development in the Ameri­
can industry. 

A period of rapid expansion now began. The company was 
incorporated as The Cheney Br<:>thers Silk Manufacturing Com­
pany and its capital was increased to $1,000,000. The Man­
chester p lant was enlarged and milJs were built in Hartford, also, 
where a larger .labor force was available. Papers which were 
recently found in the cornerstone of the old office building, erected 
in 1857, show that the buildings were still of wood . The ma­
chinery was driven by water power, although steam for dyeing 
was supplied by two locomot.ive boilers. 

The weaving of silk ribbons and of dress goods at the Cheney 
mills was first begun during the Civil War, largely as a result of 
the high protective duties which were then placed on impo1·ted 
siJJ<s. In the years immediately following the close o( the war, 
the expansion of the firm was exceptionally rapid. In 1871 four 
new factory units, known as "the spinning mills,'' were built on 
Elm Street. The number of employees increased from 135 in 1860 
to 551 in 1870. Out of a total population of 4,223 about lifteen 
p er cent. we.re employed in 1870 in the silk mills. 

The events of the years 1850-1870 had made the silk mills the 
leading industrial enterprise in the town but progress was not 
lacking in olher and older btanche;; of manufacture. 
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PROGRESS IN OTHER BRANCHES OF MANUFACTURE 

The Coming of the Railroad. 
The opening of the Hartford, Provideue>e and Fishkill Rail­

road in 1850 gave Manchester its first railroad connection with 
the outside world. 

A group of Manchester: men had had very early the vision of a 
railroad through Manchester . In 1833 john Mather, Royal S. 
White, Samuel Kellogg, Solomon Porter and Henry Hudson bad 
incorporated the Manchester Railway Company. Their charter 
gave the right to construct, equip1 and operate a railroad between 
Hartford and Bolton Notch. Not being able to secme capital to 
construct the road, the iacorporators revived the chart.er from 
time to time until it was taken over in 1849 by the HaHford, 
Providence and Fishk."111 Railroad. This company beg<,ln at once 
the construction of the road. 

The cheapening of transportation charges was responsible for 
a marked acceleration in the growth of mant1factures. It stinrn­
lated t he life of the whole community but particuJady the village, 
then known as North Manchester. ln 1850 the Pacific Manu­
faeturing Company built a stockinet tu ill at the site later occupied 
by the Lydall & Foulds Paper Mill. A year later a second mill 
was erected IJy the saiue company at Manchester· Greeh. A new 
cotton mill was put into operatfon by the Union Manufacturing 
Company in 1854 . 

.Paper making, one of the town's earliest industries, showed 
vigorous growth after 1840. Henry Rogers, who succeeded to the 
control of his father's paper factory in 1.841, erected a new mill 
in 1849. a second in 1852, and a third in 1860. 

Below the Roge,rs' mill on Hop Brook, there were a seriei; of 
paper mills owned and operated by various. members of the 
Burtce family. About the year 1800 Charles Bunce, Sr., having 
learned the business of paper making ju mills at New Haven and 
at Hartford, came to Manchester and was employed at the.Butler 
Mill on Hockanum River. The elder Bunce had six sons, Charles 
Jr., George, Heman, Lewis, ·walter and Edwin, who became bis 
associates, and later his successors in paper ma)cing. In the year 
1849 two papennills and a woolen mill were operated by members 
of the Bunce family on Hop Brook in the western part of to\vn. 
These 'mills were swept away by the disastrous flood of 1869 and 
were never rebuilt. 

The Flood of 1869. 
The historic freshet of October 9, 1869, acquired a very con.: 

siderabJe local notoriety, and for a long time people in Manchester 
referred to events as taking place before or after ''the flood," 
just as people in certain parts of Ireland have been known to date 
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events by the ''day of the big wind.'' The paper mills and textile 
mms in Manchester in those days depended for this motive power, 
principally upon falling water, and so in the valley of each of 
several brooks and rivers there was a chain of mill ponds. On 
October 9, 1869, after an unusually severe rain storm, the ponds 
at the heads of the valleys were suddenly filled to overflowing 
and their dams gave way. The volume of water thus released 
tore its way down the water cou rses, leaving wreckage in its wake. 

A. Wells Case A. Willard Case 

On Hop Brook and its tributaries a lone, eighteen mill dams 'vere 
washed away, one after the other, in a single afternoon. That 
night found the town with all of its ponds empty and all of its 
bridges gone. Most of the bridges were of flimsy construction 
consisting simply of log emplacements connected by stringers 
across which loose planks were thrown. H ence their replacement 
did not impose a serious financial burden on the community. 
But for the manufacturers the flood was more disastrous. Most of 
them faced the s ituation bravely and began repairs at once. The 
Bunce paper mills lying below a large dam (now Bridge Street) 
felt the whole force of the deluge and were completely wrecked. 

1 t was in one of the Bunce mills, that owned by Walter and 
Edwin Bunce, t hat three brothers, C. Frat1k Case, A. Wells Case 
and A. Willard Case, founders of the present firm of CaseBrotJJers, 
lac., learned the trade of paper making. After less than two 
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years of apprenticeship A. Willard Case, then twenty-one years 
of age, with his brother Frederick, ltlred an old mill on the Hock­
anum River near the present site of St. James' Cemetery and 
began paper making. His original capital was $135. 

The first venture of the Case Brothers in the southeastern 
part of town, now known as .Highland Park, was made in 1862, 
when a mill was set up for washing cotton waste. Later paper 
mills were built there and album boards, binder boards and card 
middles were manufactured. One of the Case brothers, Henry 
F., who had learned the machinists trade, displayed unusual 
inventive ability. He and C. Frank Case set up a shop in 1869 
at Highland Park for the manufacture of paper machinery.1 

1 The later history of the Case B.rothers Mills -will be found in Chapter X 



CHAPTER VIII. 

THE EFFECT OF THE GROWTH OF MANUFACTURES 

ON ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL LIFE 

The development of manufactures in Manchester in the first 
fifty years of our municipal history, although it had not attained 
large proportions, had brought about significant changes in the 
social and economic life of the communi ty. Around ead1 factory 
there grew up a village of workingmen's houses, at the Green, at 
Buckland, at Union Village, at Oakland, at lhe Bunce mills on 
Hartford Road, at the Cheney mills in South Manchester and 
finally at the Case Brothers' mills at Highland Par\-:. The factory 
people were consumers and not producers of farm products and 
for the first time the farmers had .a market at home for their grain, 
meat, milk and butter, fruit and vegetables. The effects which 
the home market produced were not 1·evolutionary. Rural folk 
are always conservative. It. is harder for them to get out of the 
rut of the good old ways and consequently changes in farming art=: 
always slower than in other industries. But gradually a new 
spirit was evident an:10ng the farmers . They began to take an 
interest in the newly formed agricultural societies. They over­
came their prejudices against new innovations and adopted the 
cast-iron ploughs in place of their clumsy, ineffective, wooden 
implements. 

CHANGES IN AGRICULTURE AND IN FARM LIFE 
With the increasing demand for foodstuffs, the farmers began 

to raise larger crops and to keep more Jive stock. But they soon 
found that they couldn't compete with the newer farms to tl1e 
westward, in New York State and in Ohio, in wheat, 1n wool and 
in beef and pork. After a long a nd trying period of discourage­
ment and doubt, new lines of farming were adopted, chiefly the 
product.i011 of market milk and of garden truck, in which the 
nearness to markets gave them a decisive advantage. 

Meanwhile a most important change had taken place in the 
rural households. Now that the fatmer for the first time bad 
ready money, he was able to buy in the stores such things as 
clothes, house furnishings and farm tools, which previously he 
had made for himself. An official report from Connecticut in 1830 
stated tbat indivklual and household manufactures were so far 
al>andoned as to be comparatively negligible. · 

106 
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The farm wome.ll gladly gave up their homespun industries 
and many of those w110 were unmarried went to work in the fac­
tories. The graceful spinning wheels and clumsy hand looms were 
relegated to the attics of the farmhouses, there to accwnulate dust 
and cobwebs until rescued and restored to posts of honor by the 
antique collectors of our own generalion. 

The transfer of the textile fodustries from lhe farmhouses to 
factories had a significance which can scarcely be exaggerated. 
Rev. Horace BushneU, of Hartford, who probably had observed 
the changes in progress in our community, said in 1851: "This 
transition from mother and <laughter power to water and steam 
power is a great one, greater by far than many have as yet begun 
to conceive, one that is to carry with it a complete revolution in 
domestic life and social manners." When we contrast the varied 
and complex life of our community today with the simplicity of 
earlier times we can appreciate how true was this prophecy. 

Growth of Population. 
The growth of population in Manchester in the first half­

century after its incorporation is attributable directly t o the 
growth of manufacturing. As a rural community dependent 
entfrely upon agriculture, Orford Parish bad probably attained 
in 1820 its max:imum growth . H ad no other industries been estab­
fisheci, the population of Manchester, following the trend of 
neighboring rural communities, instead of growing would soon 
have shown a tendency to decline. 

Tb.e result of the establishment of manl,lfactures in Manchester 
is shown in the following table: 

TABLE If 
GROWTH OF POPULATION I N MANCHESTER 

1820-i 870 
Census Year Number of Per Cent. of 

InhabitanUl Increase 
1820 1400 
1830 1576 12 .4 
1840 1695 7.6 
1850 2546 50 . 0 
1860 3294 29.4 
1870 4223 28.0 

The surprising gain in numbers from 1840 to 1850 was owjng 
only in part to the demand for labor in the mills and snops. A 
part of the increase resulted from the annexation of a tract of land 
containing about two square miles from the Town of East 
Windsor. 

Immigration also accounteci for a part of the increase. Be­
tween 1845 an<l 1860 the first wav·es of the great movement of 
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OLD CENTER CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 
Manchester Center 

Later used as as a Town Hall. Built in 1826. Sold to Town in 1889. 
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peoples from northern and western Europe reached Manchester. 
The I rish came first, and tl1en the English, the Germans and the 
Swedes. According to the Census of 1870 there were at that date 
in our community 1,202 persons of foreign birth , or about thirty 
per cent. of the total population. Owing to religious as well as 
racial differences, the presence of the new elements in the cotn­
munity which had been so long homogeneous gave rise to a new 
set of social problems. Between the Irish and lhe Yankee fanners 
there was at first much misunderstanding and not a little hostility. 

Manchester Center showing Center Congregnlional and 
Methodist Churches. Date .LS55. 

This M. E. Church (in foregtott.ud) was built 1822-1836 

Churches in Manchester, 1820·1870 -Tha First Society. 

The growing prosperity of tile town and the increasing com­
plexity of its social life was reflected in the growt h of the older 
church societies, the erection of new church e<ljfices and in the 
establishment of new religious bodies. The First Society, now 
known as the Center Congregali0nal Church, had passed through 
a trying period during tl1e years 1790-1815. There had been a 
su_cce~sion of short pastorates, and for a number of years the 
society had been without a settled minister. The recovery from 
this bad condit ion was brdught about during the pastorate of 
Rev. Elisha B. Cook (1814-1823) who by t11e force of his per­
sonality brought about a reorganizat ion of the parish and infused 
into its life a new spirit. 

ln 1826, dul'ing the pastorate of Rev. Enoch Burt, Mr. Cook's 
successor, a new church building was erected. fn tl1is building 
the society worshipped for fifty-t11ree years. Deprived of its 
lofty steeple and with j ts exterior painted brown instead of white, 
this building, now &tanding several hundred (eet west of its 
original location. is u til.ized :as our Town Hall. 
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Between 1824 and 1870 the Center Church had four pastors; 
Rev. Enoch Burt, 1824-1828; Rev. B. F. Northrop, 1829-1850; 
Rev. Frederick T. Perkins, 1851-1856; Rev. S. B. Forbes, 1857-
1859; and Rev. L. M. Dorman, 1860-1870. The membership 
varied greatly from time to time, but on the whole showed healthy 
growth. In 1824 there were one hundred ninety-eight members 
enrolled; in 1847 the high point for the half-century was reached 
whb a total membersbjp of three hundred twenty-four. The 
formation of the Second Congregational Church at the North 
End in 1851 caused a loss of sixty-seven members; in 1871 the 
membership was given as two hun<l1•ed thirty-five, but this in­
cluded not less than fifty absent members whose residence in 
some cases it was impossible to trace. 1 

Second Congregational Church. 

The discussion of the formation of a separate church society 
at the North Village began as. ctarly as 1840. Deacon Wilbur Hill, 
jn an address delivered wany years later2 tlescribed the hardships 
experienced by re&':idents of outlying sections of the town in at­
tending the Sunday services at the Center. He said! "The 
churchgoing people formed a long Line of vehicles, going to and 
coming from Church. From Buckland . . . from Oak­
land, and from the East (what is now Lydallville) came teams 
well loaded with people who attended the two Churches at the 
Center. There was also a large number whose only means of 
transportation was by measuring the distance on foot, a walk oi 
two or two and a half miles in boiling sun or biting cold, with a 
sermon in the morning, Sunday School at intermission, and 
anot11er sermon in the afternoon. . . Our trips to the 
Center, usually made in cowhide boots and heavy dothing, 
summer and winter the same, were a condition not to be ertdured 
in these days." 

In October, 1850, an ecclesiastical society of nineteen members 
was organized in the North Village, a building committee was 
appointed, subscriptions were raised, and a mee·ting house 60 x 40 
feet was erected at a cost of $3,100.00. In January, 1851, at a 
council composed of pastors and delegates from Congregational 
Churches at Wethersfield, East Hartford, Bolton and Vernon, 
the Second Congregational Church in Manchester was formally 
organized with ninety-two members, sixty-seven of whom were 
formerly members of the First Society. On the same day the new 
cburcl1 building was dedicated. About six months later the first 
pastor~ Rev. George E . Hill, (1851-1853) was orda1ned and in­
stalled. ffis salary was $600 a year. Within the next twenty 

1 The !aets in this par<1graph are taken from the His1'/ricaJ Addresses of 
Rev. S. W. Robbins and Deacon R. R. Dimock, 1879. 
2 Address at dedication of Second Congregational Church, 190{). 
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Old Methodist Episcopal Church. So. Manchellter 

North Methodist Episcopal Church. Ma,ncheste.r 
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years the church had five pastors: Rev. Frallcis F. Williams, 
1853-1856; Rev. Hiram Day, 1857-1859; Rev. W. E. Bassett, 
1861-1863; Rev. Henry Loomis, 1864-1867; Rev. E. A. Adams. 
1868-1872. 

The Methodist' Churches. 

Methodism in Manchester had its beginnings as early as 1790 
with the organization of a dmrch of six members at the home of 
Thomas Spencer of Spencer Street. Meetings were held at Mr. 
Spencer's home until the erection of a church building in 1794. 

Of the hist01·y of the Methodists in Orford Parish in the first 
two decades of the Nineteenth Century but little is known. By 
the adherents of the 'established' Congregational Church, the 
Methodists \Vere regarded as unorthodox and as radicals. The 
members of the new sect undoubtedly suffered much from the 
prejudice and bigotry of those days. The Records of the First 
Parish (Congregational) contain a nwnber of references to the 
defection of its members to the Methodists. The language used 
seems to indicate that the departing brethren were regarded as 
apostate, and that they were abandoned to their- misguided ways. L 

Among the members of the new church, however, there were a 
number of steadfast, patient souls who regularly travelled long 
distances over wretched roads to attend the Sunday services on 
Spencer Street. 

By 1820 the Methodists seem to have made a definite place 
for themselves in the community. Under the pastorate of Rev. 
Ebenezer Blake, in 182l, about one hundred persons were ad­
mitted to their membership, and in the following year the corner­
stone was laid of a new meeting house, known as the East Metho­
dist Meeting House. It was situated a few hundred feet east of 
the Congregational Churd1 at the Center. The frame of t he 
church was boarded over and rude furniture was installed, so as 
to make it available for use, but the building was not completed 
and dedicated un ti! 1.836, or fourteen years after the laying of the 
cornerstone. 

Innovations introduced at this time were box stoves and 
whale oil lamps. A choir was organized which was accompanied 
by violins played by Henry E. Rogers and Oliver P . Wilkes, and a 
bass viol played by John Wyllys. 

The relations of the Methodists with the older denomination , 
the Congregationa lists, improved steadily as each grew older and 
stronger. In place of the early prejudices there arose between 
them a spirit of harmony. confidence and co-operation. A pioneer 
in the movement toward a better understanding was Rev. E. B. 

l See particulrly the cases of Brother Jabez Keney and Sister, Josiah 
Hollister, pp, 59 and 62 of the manuscript oopy of the Pari.sb Records now in 
the possession of M iss Mary Cheney. 
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Cook whose spirit was remarkably unsectarian. A son of his 
wrote: 11I remember standing on the tinibers of the Methodist 
Church just about to be erected only a few rods from his own, and 
that he held my hand within his while offering a fervent prayer 
for the success of the enterprise." ~ 

"For many years the two houses of worship stood side by side 
on this pleasant elevation, thus affording facility for the exercise 
of the spirit of comity and co-operation; a convenience, likewise, 
for those hearers who are speciaJly fond of variety, consulting their 
own preference if not always that of their minister in theit place 
of worship - a class that might be called the pendulum dass, save 
that they have not the pendulum's regularity in Lheir v ibra­
tions." 2 

The Temperance a?Uf, Anti-Slav.ery Nioi1ements. 

In the two great reform movements which swept through 
New England between 1830 and 1860, temperance reform and 
the anti-slavery movement, the Congregational an<l Methodist 
ChLtrd1es showed active leadership. Rev. Mr. Cook was a 
pioneer in the temperance movement "He began his minislTy 
at t.he time when deacons and other friends visiting the parsonage 
011 Sabbath-noon were refreshed C.rom generous decanters; when 
for the pastor to take his morning dram and give the children the 
sugar at. the bottom was not an unusual t hing; when the enter­
taimnent of ministerial gatherings was not complete without the 
provision of strong drink, with the inevitable liability to the ern­
banassment arising, in some cases, from over indulgence. IL is 
related that on one occasion at a ministers' meeting in Hartford, 
Mr. Cook, with some others, became so impressed with the ev-il 
tendency of the drinking practice that then and there they came 
together and pledged themselves to each other to abandon entirely 
the use of ardent spirits. This was, doubtless, the first decided 
movement on tl1e side of totaJ abstinence in Hartford and vicinity. 
The inlerest of this church in this cause is seen from Lhe r.ecord of 
a meeting· held September 26, 1833, at which it was voted: 
11That hereafter no person shall be admitted to tlie communion 
of this church, either upon confession or by letter, who does not 
recognize the prindple of total abstinence from spir:ituoi.1s liquors, 
and practice accordingly." s 

Anti-slavery meetings were frequently held at Lhe Methodist 
Church and slavery was the topic of many sermons. fo 1843 an 
abolition convention was held in the church and was addressed by 
Frederick. Douglass and other noted speakers. Abolitionists 

1 Quoted in Robbins' Historical Address, p. 24. 
2 Ibid p. 42 
a Robb.ins, Historical Address p . 38. 
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were not particularly popular in Manchester in those days and 
several of the Methodist pastors fell into disfavor with members 
of their congregation because of their st:raightfowrard denuncia­
tion of slavery. 

In 1851 a group of seventy-seven members of the Methodist 
body withdrew, following the example of the CongregationaJists, 
to form a M ethodist Church at the North Village. A few years 
later, 1n 1854, the Methodist Meeting House at the Center was 
abandoned and a new church building was erected at the ct>rner 
of Main Street and Hartford Road. The site, now one of the 
most vaJ.uable in the town, was purchased from Cbauncy B. 
Knox fo r $425. T he cost of the building was $9, 741. A bell 
weighing 1,600 pouJlds which had been purchased by popular 
subscription was unfortunately cracked while ringing the call 
for the dedicatory services. 

Baptists.1 

A congregation of the Baptist denomination worshipped in 
Manchester for a period of approximately fifteen years, from 
1826 and 1842. It is described in the records of the Conneeticut 
Baptist. Convention, organized 1823, as the Manchester-Vernon 
Church. The house of worship was at Highland Park and oc­
cupied part of the triangle formed by Charter Oak Street and the 
continuation of P orter Street, and the narrow passway starling 
ne.ar the top of the old town house hill. 

Irae.nus Brown was one of the foremost of the attendants, and 
probably one of the founders. He was deacon of the chllrch 
throughout the period of which there is record. With Rev. 
Isaac Dwinnell, accredited in the state register as pastor here in 
1826 he was delegate to the convention in 1827 when, with four 
other churches, itwa.5 admitted to membership in the convention. 

Financial help was asked but the convention "found them­
selves unable to do so." Home missionary aid from time to 
time, amounting to not over $25 in any one. year, was given by 
conventions and a historian of the Baptist ChurC'.h. in Connecticut 
records that help to the amount of "$302 was given in 1834 and 
thereafter the church was marked disbanded," 

The statement however, disagrees with original convention 
reports, which, in the first statistics printed in 1830 disclose that 
the membership of the "Manchester-Vernon Church" was 123, 
two memJJers having died during the year and lwo being ex­
cluded. The ratio o:f membership to population for the church 
in general in the state that year was one to thirty-two, and on 
such a basis the church here had a strength more than double 
according to prevailing ratio. 

l This account has been taken from the Hartford Coarant, September 30, 1923 
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In 1835 tbe membership had dwindled to seventy-six, to 
seventy in 1840, and in the last report presenled in 1842, the 
number was given as sixty-three. 

Rev. Silas Wright Robbins wrote that the church at Highland 
Park was torn down, part being used for a dwelling and part for 
the constTuction of a new church in Buckland,J 

Error in judgment in the location of the chmch probably 
accounts f01· the fact that tbe seed once healthfuJJy planted did 
not continue to flourish. 

St. 1vl ary' s Protestant EpiscofJal Church. 

Episcopal se.rvices were first held at Manchester, the north 
end, in 1839 and continued unt il 1842 under lhe direction of Rev. 
Mr- Burgess, afterwards bishop of Maine and also by Rev. Mr. 
Totten. In 1844, Rev. Wm. C. Corbyn was chosen rector of St. 
Mary's and services were held at Manchester Green in the old 
brick school, but in 1846 Cheney Brothers built a little church 
opposite the Center Church. This building was atle.11gth moved 
to North Mapchester and for a pedod after the resigJ1ation of the 
Rev. Mr. Corbyn, services lapsed, but were resumed in 1851 b:y 
Professor Jackson of Trinity College until 1855, when Rev. Enoch 
Huntington, a retired clergyman, resumed the work. The old 
church at North Manchester had been sold, but t he title was 
again acquired. Services were intermittent and at length the 
church closed again. 

St. Bridget's Ranum CathoUc Church. 

The Roman Catholic form of worship was first brought to 
Manchester by arrivals from the South bf Ireland. The building 
of the rnilroad from Hartford to Providence and tbe increasing 
demand for labor in the factories had caused the addition of a 
considerable number of Irish families to our population before 
1850. The earliest services were held in the houses of some of the 
pioneer Catholics, J ohn Kennedy, James Dllffy and Mrs. Patrick 
Gill. The at titude of some of the native stock toward the new­
comers and their church was characterized by a degree of intol­
erance which we, in these more liberal days find difficult to under­
stand. It is related for example of John Kennedy, that he was 
summarily warned out of his dwelling by his landlord, a Mr. 
Stone, because he bad permitted mass to be celebrated Lhere. 
But a swift vengeance overtook the uncharitable Jandlord, for 
when the eihployer of both, the proprietor of the Union MiU, a 
Mr. Buell, heard the story he discharged Stone and put Kennedy 
in his place. 

I Building was moved 1'0 Buckland and is now a. dweUing on west side of 
Adams Street. 
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I n. the early fifties Rev. Father J ames Smythe of Hartford 
visited Manchester at regular inlervals and conducted services 
there in privaLc houses. Later in 1854, Rev. Peter Egan, the 
first resident pastor at Rockvi!Je, assumed charge of the Missjon 
of ~an.chester. 

The site for the first Roman Catholic Church 1n Manchester 
was a half-acre on North School Street which was purchased from 
Erastus Weaver in 1855. A conclition of the sale was that a f.ence 
must be erected an<l maintained for aU time between the church 
property and the residence of Mr. Weaver. The building of the 
church began in 1858 when Father Tully was in charge of the 
mission. Ou October 18 of lhat year, the day when the frame 
building was raised, Cheney Brothers clos'C<l their mills in 
order that none of their Catholic employees might be kept away 
from the ceremony. 
I The church at Manchester remai ned a mission of the Rock­
ville church until 1869 wben the first resident pastor, Rev. J amcs 
F. Campbell wms appointed . 

Schools and &lucafion, 1772-1870. 

When Orford Society was or­
ganized it divided into six school 
districts, numbered and named 
as follows : First, or Middle; 
Second ,or West; Thi rd, or Sou th­
wcsl· ; Fourth, or South; Fifth, 
or East; and Sixth, or North. 
No map is available to show the 
boundary lines of these djstricts 
bu l their names indicate in 
general their location. The map 
of Manchester prepared in 1849 
by Eli Bisssell and published by 
Cheney Brothers shows eight 
school districts. The Middle 
District had disappeared, hav­
ing been divided pre.'iumably a­
mong several of th<> other dis­
tricts. The West and South 
Districts had been subdivided to 

Eli Bi"sell rnake the Northwest aod the 
Southeast Districts, and the Oak­

land District had been formed from the territory annexed from 
South Windsor in 1842. In 1859 the lines of the school districts 
were relaid, making nine instead of eight, and the boundaries then 
established now remain substantia lly unchanged. 
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School houses were erected in the Bunte District and tbe 
Sou tbwest District (Keeney Street) soon after 1 7S1. In the 

· four remaining original disuicts, buildings were provid11<l prnb­
ably before 1800. 

Tl1e growth of the communhy in the years 1.820-1870 made 
necessary among other things, an enlargement of school facilities. 
Manchester Green was the earliest center of village life i11 the 
first half of the Nineteenth Century, i.he most prosperous and 
populous section of the town. We are not surprised to learn, 
therefore, that the best schooU1ouse io town, in fact the first im­
provement over the original one-room frame structures, was 
erected in 1816 at the Green. The new building was of brick, nvo 
stories in height, ~ontaining two rooms on the first floor with a 
public hall on the second floor. The upper floor served as a con­
venient meeting place for various social gatherings. T t was tbe 
first lodge room of 
Manchester Lodge of 
Masons. Thjs was per­
ha1)s the first instance 
of the use in Man­
chester of a school 
building for commu­
nity purposes. The 
original contract dat­
ed February 29, 1816, 
called for a building 
oi only one story, but 
a later agreement 
signed a week after­
ward enlarged the 
plans. Pirst Manch~ster Green Scliool. Prow an 

old Sampler. 

Description o~Schoolhottse of 181 tf. 

Tbe quaint documents1 reprinted below give to anyone fa­
miliar with building construction a rather vivid picture of the 
kind of school building in which the.grandparents of the children 
of today studie9 lhe three R's. 

''Agreemeot made Between Chauncey Bryant, ort the first 
part, and Benjamin Lyman, Calvin Cheney and lsrael Carrier, 
appointed by the Inhabitants of the East District in the 2d 
School Pesttict iu East Hartford, a committee to control and 
build a school house in sd Destrlet agreeable ta the vote of sd 
Destrict, the above mentioned House to be ntade of brick, the 
walls to be the length of a brick thick, the length of sd House to 
be thirty two feet & the breadth twenty two feet, the foundation 

I Now in the possession of Mr. Aaron Cook of Mancbesler Green. 
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to be Dug 18 inches into the Eartb and Carried up twelve inches 
above the Surfis of the Earth, with good Common stone laid .in 
the best and most substantial manner, at least two feet at the 
b<;>ttoro and upon sd above mentioned waU to be a tear of hewed 
stone laid in lime mortar and then a brick wall to be carried up 
Eight feet before the plate & roof is put on, the Ends to be of 
brick, the roof to be acording to the Draft ofsdcommittee Except 
tbeir is to be two feet added in width. their is to be twelve 
windows, 4 in front & 4 1n rear wjth two, vtindows in Each End 
sd \vindows contain 24 lights Each with a door in front acordiog 
to the plan before mentioned with two other Doors acording to 
sd plan, the thrash hold to the Door to be of stone & tbe stools to 
the windows to be of stone well worked and good stone Lhe floors 
to be acording to the plan of the Committee unles other ways 
agreed. the J Llt and Cornish to be acording to the plan of tbe 
committee. the inside of sd hous to be as follows. the £loor to be 
oak split in the hart and lined. the stuff to be thounougbly 
seasoned and laid in the best manner to be Divided into two 
rooms. the East one to be twelve feet East and west and fifteen 
the other way. to be a space or Entry way in front of the small 
room with two Doors well made and hung in the best manner, 
the partition to be made of pla nk matched to geather iu the best 
manner. the Cross (setts) to be supported wjtb 3 pillars under 
Each - and the west room to be finished of wjth a riting bench 
or table round the room made substantial to the wall, of a wed th, 
say the slant 20 inches and six inches the back part to be level, 
t;\e walls to be plastered, overhead t:o be lathed and plastered, 
the benches to be of plank at least one & half inch thick of sutible 
wed.th for convenience to be one seting bench round the room for 
the riters and in this and the other room to be two tear of scting 
benches with backs, to be one fireplace in Each end of the house 
w ith large harths of Drakes stone or the Ballon grind stone 
quarry, at least the harths to be two feet a nd a half from t.he 
front of the jams. to be a floor laid ove.heacl of one thickness of 
boards, the work all to be Done in a workmanlike maimer of tl1.e 
best of materials acording to agreement to the Excepance of the 
Di~trict by !.heir committee for which the sd Chauncey Bryan t 
shall .Receive three Hundred and forty Dollars to.geat-11er with 
the old School H ouse now standing in sd Destrict the considera­
tion for which the sd Chauncey Bryant agrees to build sd school 
House and have il corn pleated by the first of October next.. to the 
turning of tJ1e Key and the committee agree on their part that 
the Destrict or propi-ietors shall pay the sum of three Hundred 
and forty Dollars by ~ml before the sd House is finished, provided 
that it is Done acordin~ to agreement. 
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"in witness whereof 
February 1816. 

we have set out hands this Day af 

''East Hartford 
"February 29th 1816. 

* * 

"Chauncey Bryant. 
Benjamin Lyman ) 
Calvin Cheney . 
I srael Carrier -

* * * 
"East Hartford, March 61 1816_ 

Committee 

''This agreement Between Chauncey Briant on the fil:'st part 
and Benjamin Lyman and Calvin Cheney and Israel Carrier, a 
comhee to Contract and Build a house for the Proprietors of the 
Publick hall, so called, to be erected in the East Destrict in the 
East Society in East Hartford to be added upon the school hotLSe 
which lhe Destrict bas Contracted with sd Bryant to Build. sd 
Bryant agrees lo add a story of Brick. Lhe waU to Be Seven feet 
high, sd Bryant agrees to finish sd House the out side com­
pleat. and aJso to fum:isb Eight stone window caps for the Lower 
Story and one stone Door Cap. the window stools at the Ends and 
Cront to be stone, the Cornish in front and at the end to Be a 
Medilion Cornisb to be a Cording to t11e Vote of the Proprietors. 
the windows to be twenty Lights Each, to be twelve windows. sd 
Bryant agrees to finish the out side Compleat and to Lay the 
floor which is to be White or Yellow pine Plained and Case the 
windows and also to make the frame to the arch acording to the 
plan drawn by the Comitee and also to Build a fireplace at the 
West end of house~ Lay a Hearth, the work to be done in a 
workmanJike maner to the acceptance of the Cornitee for which 
sd Bryant is lo receive two hundred D ollars Provided he do the 
work acording to agreement and finish it By the first of October 
next. sd above mentioned Comitee agree sd proprietors shall or 
their Clerk Pay to sd Chauncey Bryant two Hundred Dollars 
for the above mentioned Contract, P rovided that he finish it . 

"Partkular reference to be had to the vote and Draft. 
"Israel Carrier } Comitee. 
Benjamin Lyman 

* * * * * 
New school buildings were provided in every district in town 

indicating not only ihat enlarged faciJities were neede.d but that 
the taxpayers were able and willing to appropriate money for 
educational purposes. 

T he increasing importance of the North Village resulting from 
manufacturing growth we have seen already reflected in the 
building of three churche$ in tJ1at sect.ion between 1850 and 1860. 
At this time also the "North Eod" erected new school buildings 
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which were probably at that time the largest and best equipped 
in the town. At least three school houses had been erected in 
different locations in this district at various dates before 1860. 
The first was situated where Main Street crosses the rai lroad 
tracks, the second and third nea t· the corner oi North M ain and 
North School Streets. The third building of two rooms is 
referred to in the earliest record of the Eighth District now ex­
tant, that of a meeting in Ocroher, 1853. At a meeting September 
1 .~. 1860 it was voted to add a wing on the north side of the school 
house. Three rooms were then available and three teachers were 
employed. 

The Ninth School Dis[rict, now the most populous in the 
town, was the last to be organized. It was formed in 1859 out of 
portions of several other districts. At that rime most of the 
children attended school in the old Academy building at the 
Center, later known a" t.hc Masonic Hall. Others were housed 
in a small building on Center Street. The building in 1871 of a 
rour-room school on Main Street bet-ween School and Wells 
Streets was the first step in the location of the present edU<:alional 
center of the town. 

East Academy, Parker St. 

The East Academy. 

Privat,e or Select 
Schools. 

There being no 
public high schools 
io the early days, the 
boys and girls who 
wished to pursue the 
"higher branches," i. 
e . . the subjects be­
yond the grammar 
grades, hncl to de­
pend upon privtlte or 
"select"schools. pay­
ing tuition charges 
for their instruction. 

Between 1850 and 1860 there were two select schools it\ 
Manchester known as the Center Academy and the East Acad­
emy.1 The existence of two such institutions situated within a 
mile of each other, the one just east of the Center Church, and 
the other near the site of the Old Glass Works is indicative of the 
divided state of society in the town. 

l A vote of the town meeting of 1847 granted permission to construct the 
Center Academy in the highway at the Center. 
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Each academy had its own group of promoters and supporters, 
and no common plan of co-operation could be worked out. The 
promoters oi the Manchester lligh School, or the East Academy, 
included some of the most prosperous and influential citizens of 
the town. Most of them Lived at Manchester Green. In 1846 
they organized the Manchester Academic Association pledging 
conditionally the sum of $2,000 for the founding of a select 
school. 

The original subscribers were: 

Salmon Lyman 
Holt and Chapman 
John Rathbone 
Mary Menone 
Marvin Cone 
Horace Pitkin 
George G. Griswold 
M. & R. Cone 
We11s Woodbridge 
Benjamin Lyman 
Ch. Pitkin 
N. W. Spencer 
M. Keeney and Sons 
Nathaniel Hubbard 
John Wyllys 

E. A .Bliss 
Aaron Cook 
Deodatus Woodbridge 
Columbus Parker 
Hart Porter 
Ralph Wyllys 
Experienee Stearns 
Francis Woodbridge 
Williams & Brother 
Edward G1·iswold 
Wm. Scott 
C. A. Woodbridge 
H. & M. Landfear 
Wm. C. Williams 

The following prospectus issued in 1856 presents the aims of 
the school and its methods: 

"Thislrrstitut'ion, located in the pleasant Town of Manchester, 
nine miles east from Hartford, Conn., via B~rtford, Providence 
and Fishkill Railroad, is open for pupils of both sexes. The plan 
of its proprietors, contemplates an ample corps of Teachers, a 
wide range of studies and a thorough and systematic course of 
mental and moral discipline. 

"i\rraugements have heen tnade for the formation of a Normal 
Class of those designing to teach dudng ·the winter, commencing 
on the last Wech1esday in August, annually. 

"The year is divided into four sessions of eleven weeks each. 
"Young Ladies applying for admission to the school, or for 

board, will please add1·ess the Preceptress. Young Gents, tbe 
Principal at Manchester. 

NORMAN W. SPENCER, Principal. 
Miss ELECTA H. BUCKLAND, Preceptress." 

Instruction at the East Academy was discontinued during 
the Civil War. The building stood vacant for a numb.er of years 
and was then torn down and the material used for a dwelling 
house. 
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Depot. Square in 1877. 

First Manchester Post Office. 



CHAPTER IX. 

MANCHESTER'S SERVICE IN THE CIVIL WAR 

The records of Manchester's service in the Civil War afford 
notable examples of patriotic self-sacrifice on the part of indi­
vidual soldiers and also show prornpt and effective action by tbe 
community Ln the face of a national emergency. Out of a total 
voting population of 658 Manchester sent 268 men to the war, 1 

241 volunteers and 27 drafted men. Forty-eight lost their lives 
in the struggle, seven of whom were killed in action, the remainder 
dying Erom wounds and disease. Seventeen were captured an~d 
confined in Confederate prisons. 

The record is not wi thout its dark spots. Out of the Man­
chester quota, thirty-three are entered on the list of the Adju­
tant General's office as deserters.1 More tJ1an one-haJf of the 
renegades were drafted men . 

Manchester men distinguished themselves by notable exploits, 
seven attaining the rank of conunissioned officers. Joh11 Otis 
left Manchester in 1861 as first lieutenant of Comp.auy B, (10th 
Regiment, Connecticut Volunteers) which he had asSisted in 
recruiting. His bravery and ability won him quick promotion. 
'When wounded at Newbern, North Carolina, he was captain. 
In 1863 he was raised to a colonelcy and two years later in recog­
nition of his services in the battles around Richmond he was made 
brigadier general by brevit. 

Frank Vil. Cheney was lieutenant-colonel of the Sixteenth 
Volunteer Infantry which was organized in the fall of 1862. Al­
most immediately upon the arrival of the regiment in the South 
it went int0 action at Antietam. Colonel Cheney who was in 
command of the regiment received a wound in the right arm 
which unfitted hi:rn for farther service. It was during the same 
engagement that Captain F. M. Barber received fatal wounds. 
His body was brought to Manchester at the town's expense .and 
was buried with miJitarJ' honors. 

The Civil War on the Union Side differed greatly from the 
Vlorld War in the methods of raising troops. Reliance was 

1 Not includin!S' forty-sb:: non-residents wbo, att~acted by the town's 
bounties, enlisted froro Manchester. 

2 The names of the deserters have not been included in the list gi-ven on 
pp. 
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placed almost entirely upon volunteering. The draft was not 
resorted to until relatively late in the struggle and eveo thert it 
was no t universal in its application, but was used only in 1hose 
communities which had not filled up their assigned quotas of 
volunteers. The State and town governments vied with each 
other in their liberal expenditures for bounties, premiums, etc., 
to stimulate volunteering in order to avoid the stigma, for so 
it was considered, of conscription. The Manchester Town records 
during the war years are concerned principally with votes of 
money to stimulate volunteering and to provide for solcliers.' 
families. 

On April 15, 1861, Preside,nt Lincoln issued a call for 75,000 
volunteers for three months' service. The response tliroughout 
the North was immediate and enthusiastic. Young men in every 
community hastened tu offer themselves in numbers far in excess 
of the a,ssignecl quotas. The Connecticut ciuota was one regiment. 
Within two weeks, three regiments were ready . In Manchester a 
town meeting was held, April 30, to appropriate funds for fitting 
out volunteers and to aid their fami lies. The meeting voted to 
guarantee all unmarried volu nteers $12 a month in addition to 
their pay, and $18 a month to married men. An appropriation of 
$700 was made for the purchase of revolvers, blankets, shirts, 
and other equipment. 

The war wasn't over in three months, however. In July 1861, 
Congress auLhorized 500,000 volunleers aod a year later the 
President issued a call for 300,000 more soldiers. In response tu 
this call a special town meeting in Manchester appointed a com­
mittee to take charge of raising a company of volu n teers for 
three years' service. Payments of $6 a month were autboruzed 
to wives of volunteers with $2 a mont11 additional for all children 
under fourteen years. Each volunteer was offered a bounty of 
$25. As a result of the activities of the town's committee, Com­
pany H , Sixteen1l1 Volunteer Infantry, was organized, which in­
cluded forty-five residents of Manchester. 

In October of the same year the organization of a company of 
nine months' volunteers was undertaken, and the town meeting 
voted $200 each to the first fourteen men pJ·esenting themselves. 

In the summer of 1863 it became apparent that sufficient 
forces couldn't be raised fo1· the Union irmies by voluntary en­
listments and very reluctantly the President made use of the 
powers granted by Congress and put in force a policy of con­
scription not as a substitute for, but a supplement tovo1unteering 
With stated exceptions all able-bodied male citizens between the 
ages of twenty and thirty-five (the upper limit was fo.rty-five 
years for unmarried men) were declared liable to military duty. 
Enrollment lists were prepared from which a draft might be 
ordered at the President's discretion. Conscription was not 
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therefore nation wide, as in our day, but was applied locally 
when necessary to fill up quotas which could not be filled by 
volunteer enlistments. 

In another feature there was an astonishing difference between 
the Civil War drafts and thr)se of tb.e World War. In those days 
a clrafted man could escape service, either by furnishing a sub­
s.tih1te or by paying $300 for bis "commutation" to the govern­
ment . The commutation money was spent in bounties to stimu­
late volunteering. On the face of it this seemed rank injusticer 
since the rich man could buy hiln,self free while the poorer mem­
bers of tbe communit.y would be forced to go to the front. The 
town governments, however, made every effort to alleviate this 
injustice by appropriating money to provide substitutes or pay 
the commutation of drated men. Thus a Manchester Town 
meeting of 1863 voted to p ay not to exceed $300 each to its 
drafted men "who may be actµally needy and require pecuniary 
assistance for themselves or lheir families." The attitude of the 
community toward the draft is indicated in the call for the meet­
ing which refers to "those who have been so unfortunate as to 
have been drafted." 

The procuring of substitutes seems to have been a fairly easy 
matter so that it is probable that none of the twent-y-seven men 
drafted in Manchester actually served, except by proxy, and the 
proxies generally didn't serve very Jong. For the lavish payments 
of pounties and premiums for volunteers and the purchase of 
substitutes gave rise to a class of professional "bounty-jumpers," 
as they were called. They were a promiscuous lot of renegades 
who joined the ranks only to get tb.e money offered and promptly 
deserted at the first opportunity. Out of Manchester's 26& 
soldiers, thirty-three or one in eighL a1•e rncorded as deserters. 
Of these eighteen or over one-half were substitutes for drafted 
men. 1 The record for t11e draft in the state shows of a total of 
1,303 called, 913 were exempted. Of the 309 accepted for duty 
in the field, 184 never reported at camp and eight-y-one deserted 
after arriving at camp. 2 

The d[uk disgrace of the deserters throws into even sharper 
relief tlce noble action of those who marched, and fought, and 
endured the tortures of wounds and disease in their devotion to 
the cause of Union and freedom. Their names are found in the 
following roster. Stars are prefixed to the names of those who 
died in the service. 

Albiston, John B.3 

Allen, Heruy B.a 
Allshaw, Thomas 

Bidwell, Warren W. 
Bingham, John F.a 
Bjngham, Orsemusll 

I 1'rumbuJJ, History of Hartford County, Connecticut, 1103. 
2 Crofut and Morris, Military and Civil H ·istory of Connecticu.t, 204 et seQ. 
a Not a •esi<lent of Manchester. 
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Annis, Henry B. 
Annis, William 
A very, Alfred 1 

A very, Charles 
Bagain, Thomas 

*Barber, Frederick M. 
Barrett, George G. 
Barrows, Dwigb t 1 

Barrows, Henry W. 
Battersby, J. C. 
Belknap, LeRoy W. 
Berry, William 
Bidwell, Delos S.. 

*Bidwell, Salmon H. 
Buckland, Ralph1 

Buell, George F. 
Bugbee, George H .1 

Burke, Michael 
Burke, William 
Burnham, Edward1 

Burnham, George 
Burns, John 
Burton, J ohn 

*Callaghan, Thomas 
Campbell, Otho H . 
Carter, Johnson 
Chadwick, George C. 

*Chadwick, William H . 
Chapin, Loan A. 
Chapman, Freel T . 

*Chapman, J arnes B. 
Chapman, Maro S. 
Cheney, Frank W. 
Cheney, George W.1 

Chism, Charles D.1 

Cole, Alvint 
Cole, Hiram S. 
Coleman, Emulous 
Conner, Dennis 

*Conner, Thomas 
Cook, Aaron 
Cooley, Frederic P.1 

*Couch, J ohn H. 
Covell, William C. 1 

Cowan, Frank 
Crane, Curtis L, 1 

J Not a resident of Manchester. 

Bingham, Wells A. 1 

*Bishop, H obert D. 
BJjsh, Hiram 
Bowen, Charles F. 
Bragg, F rank 1 

Bragg, John1 

Bragg, Syrifl 
Bronson, J ames H . 

*Brookman, George 
*Brookman, J ames H. 
Brown, Edwin H . 
Brown, W'illiam E .1 

Brown, Wilbam W. 1 

Bryan, John ~ 
Fagan, J ohn 
Farrell , Thomas 
Fielding, J ohn W .t 
Foley, Patrick 
Forbes, Horace H. 
Fox, Bruce E. 
Fox, Cbades W. 
Fox, Michael 
Fuller, Alfred R. 
Gates, Herbert lVJ.l 
Gates, Wa ldo J. 
Geer, Thomas 
Gigger, Josiah 
Gleason, Andrew J. 
Gleason, Henry B. 
Golden, Charles H . 
Granville, Edward S. C. 
Gray, D ennison 

*Gray, Henry T . 
Grey, Samuel W. 
Green, Charles I. 
Greges, Conrad 
Griswold, Dennis K. 
Hale, Allen S.1 
Hannah, Thomas 
Hatch, Charles A. 

"'Haverty, Danjel 
*Hayden, Henry1 

Hill, Henry C. 
Hodge, Chaui1cey 
Hodge, Evander 

*Hodge, N elson1 
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Crippen, Georget 
Cullumns, George1 

Cullumns, William N . 
*Curley, Johnl 
*Cushman, Orrin J. 
*Davrix, Patrick1 

Deming, Charles F. 
Derby, William 1 

Dow, Johnson S. 
Durand, Adolph 
Dutton , Charles H. 

*Dynes, George 
Eben, Frederick 

*Eynstrom, Charles 
Keeney, Almon N . 

*Keeney, Amandor C. 
Keeney, Charles W. 
Ke<:ney, George M . 

*Keeney, James R. 
Keeney, Maranthon H. 
Keeney, Valette 

*Keith, Bela M . 
Keith, George D. 

*Keith, J ames M. 
Kennedy, John 
Kies, Harris L. 1 

King, James P. 
King, John 

*King, Samuel W. 
King, Winfield 

*Knox, George F. 
Lathrop, Edwin H. 
Lay, Amos 
Lee, George E. 
Lo.omis, Chauncey S. 
Loomis, Chester H. 
Loveland, David A. 

*Lyman, Levi F. 
McCann 1 J ames 
McCormack, Thomas 
McGee, William J. 
McGrath, James 
McGuire, Addison 
McKee, Charles H . 
McLean, William S. 
McManus, Henry1 

l Not a resident of Manchester. 

Hollister, Bridgman J . 
Hollister, Henry H. 
Holmes, Norman L. 1 

Horsley, John 
House, Henry D. 

*Hubbard, Rufus N. 
Hudson, Philip W. 
Hughes, William 

*Ingersoll, Clarence L. 
Ingram, Edward T. 
Irish, Joseph 
Isham, John W .1 

J ohnson, H ugh 
*J ohnson, Peter 
J ohnson, Rulus 
Keeney, Albert W. 
O'Brien, Patrickt 

*O'Conner, Patrick 
Olcott, James H. 1 

On-, James 
Otis, John L. 
Parsons, Joseph 
Perkins, Alvin 

*Perkins, David B. 
P eny, James M. 
Pickering, William 
Porter, J ohn T. 1 

Porter, William W. 1 

*Post, Ezekiel L. 
Potter, Henry 
Prelle, Lewis1 • 

Price, J ames M . 
Putnam, George 
Quinn, Isaac M. 
Rich, Geor.ge F. 

*Risley, Charles W.L 
Risley, Elisha 1 

Risley, George R. 
Risely, Russell A. 
Robertson, Henry W. 

*Robinson, Charles 
R obinson, William H .1 

Roe, George 0. 
Rose, Daniel 
Ross, Dav id 
Roth, Joseph M. 
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McNall, George Rummell , Andrew J.1 

McNary, William Russell, William C. 
McNary, William G. Safford, Pascal R. 

*Mahoney, Dennis · *Sal ter, Wat$on C. 
*Marble, George Saunders, Gilbert 
Marble, William S. Schildge, George 
Massey, Wil1iam1 Schofield, Thomas 
Millard, Frederick *Shaw, John W. 
Miller, Frank Shepard, Theron 
Muller, Joshua Sbenuan, Robert 
Monarch, John Skinner, Charles BJ 
Morris, George Slate, Arthur F. 

*Munsell, Frederick Slate, William H . 
Murphy, Patrick *Smith, John 
Norton, Gilbert B. Smi th, Richard H. 
Norton , William L. Spencer, Andrew M. 
Stone, Frank Spencer, George M. 
Stoughton, Sanford 1 *Stan brook, T homas 
Strong, Edgar E. West, William H. 
Strong, Harrison A. Wetherell, Joseph A. 
Sullivan, Charles C. Wetmore, Samuel1 

Sullivan, Eugene Wheeler, Anson J. 
Sullivan, John Wheeler, Edgar C. 
Sullivan, John *Wheeler, Lucius 

*Swe'etlqpd, Julius White, Henry T. 
Sweetland, Ransom White, Thomas 

*Ta1Gott, Lucius *Whitney, William 
Taylor, Frederick Wilder, Elihu 
Taylor, Lester M. Williams, Elijah 
Taylor,. Nathaniel Williams, William A. 
Thompson, Elisha A. Vlilliamson, Fred B. 
Touhy, James *Wilsey, JuJius C. 
Tufts, William H. Wilson, John W.1 

Vail, Henry W .1 Wi!'lchester, Frank M. 
*Walbridge, Geo:c:ge B. Winchester, Jr., John 
Waldo, Frederick Wood, Loyd A.1 
Warburton, John B. Woodbridge, Edward A. 
Warner, Dwight D. 1 *Wright, Francis H. 
Welton, Frederick J. Wright, George 

A contribution from Manchester towards the armi ng of the 
Civil War was the Spencer repeating rifle. The inventor, Chri$to­
pher Miner Spencer, was a native of Manchester, being the son 
bf Ogden Spencer, a wool dealer. In 1849 at the age of sixteen, 
the boy went to work in Cheney Brothers' mill. He had then 
completed an apprenticeship as a machinist in the shop of Samuel 
Loomis and had also studied at Wilbraham Academy. Between 
1 Not a resident of Ma nchester. 
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1849 and 1856 the young machinist worked in a number of shops 
in New England and New York. In 1856 he became Superin~ 
tendent of Cheney Brothers' machine shop and it was at about 
this time that his repeating rifle was invented. A patent was 
secured in March, 1860. Soon after the outbreak of the war the 
manufacture of the rifles was begun in Boston by the Spencer 
R epeating Rifle Company, a concern which was largely financed 
by Cheney Brothers. The arm having been tested and proved 
successful in actual warfare, contracts were secured for quantilies 
up to the capacity of the plant. By the end of the war, about 
200,000 of the new rifles had been delivered to the government. 

There is a tradition that President Lincoln himself took an 
interest in Spencer's rifles and that he tested one of them on the 
grounds behind the White House. 

Spencer's fame as a mechanical genius does not depend alone 
on the repeating rifle. During the early years of his service with 
Cheney Brothers he inven ted a silk spooling machine which later 
proved of great importance in the manufacture of cotton and 
linen thread. He was interested in steam engines and Ju ring the 
war he built a steam automobile in which he drove to a.od from 
his work. The automatic screw machine, Spencer's greatest 
invention, was manufactured in Hartford by Billings and Spencer 
and other firms. Mr. Spencer was actively interested in many 
developments in the field of machinery and mechanics until tbe 
very end of bis life. He died in 1922 at Hartford, in his eigbty-
nintb year. ' 

Christopher W. Spencer 



Part IV 

The Development of a Modern Comn1unity 





CHAPTER X 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Progress in Silk lVlan'l,lfUcti"ring. 

Every one of the five brothers, Charles, RaJph, Ward, Rush 
and Frank Cheney, who were the original active members of the 
fum of Cheney Brothers, is now dead. But the business has been 
carried on continuously by their descendants. For seventy years 
it has been controlled and coodttcted by a single family, to whom 
must be given the credit, not only for the foundation, but for 
much of t11e later development of the silk industry iJ1 America. 
Since they began, in 1838, many otber silk nrnnufactories have 
been established in America. Bul these have started in later 
years, most of them full ~ fledged, profiting by the experience of 
Cheney Brothers, the pioneers, and of foreign factories. Further­
more, those who later entered the business confined themselves 
to one branch of it, sttcb as spinning, weaving or dyeing, or to one 
class of silk products, thread, ribbons, dress goods or velvets. 

Today Cheney Brothers produce every variety of silk thread 
and fabric demanded by the market and conduct every process of 
manufacture, from the raw silk to the finished product, on their 
own premises. This is done by no other firm in America, or in the 
entire world. 

It is remarkable that one family has been able for so long a 
period to continue the ownership of such a rapi<lly growing busi­
ness without the introduction of new blood into the firm. While 
Cheney Brothers have from time to time availed themselves of 
the best talent available in this and foreign countries in the 
development of new lines in their industry, they have retained 
the corporate ownership and administration io the hands of their 
own family. This bas been possible through the number and 
character of the offspring of the original brothers. Large families 
have been the rule, and the young men of these several families 
have generally remained at home to bear their share of the in­
creasing burdens of the mam1gement. As a result: no less than 
fifteen male members of the Cheney family are now daily em­
ployed as the heads of the different departmenls. The majority 
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SECOND GENERATION OF CfIENEY BROTHERS 

John S. Cheney 
J a1'1es W. Cheney 
George W. Cheney 

Knight D. Cheney 

F~ank W. Cheney 
Charles S. Cheney 

Harry G. Cheney 
Richard O. Cheney 
William H. Cl1eney 
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are graduates of colleges or tedmical schools and have served an 
apprenticeship in the actual work of the mills. 

In an eadier chapter we have traced the growth of Cheney 
Brothers' business from that small beginning iu 1838 until 1870. 
lo 1871, the group of mills known as the spinning mills was 
erected and the firm began to manufacture on a large scale spun 
silks ftom pierced cocoons for their own use and for sale to other 
manufacturers. In the eighties a group of weaving miUs was 
erected and the assortment of woven fabrics "vas greatly enlarged. 
Then followed the great block of velvet mills for the manufacture 
of a line of goods which in 1880 the firm bad just begun to produce. 
In 1907 and 1908 another tine block of milJs was built to take the 
place of the Hartford mills and to be known as the Ribbon Mills. 

During the last twenty years the older buildings have been 
almost entirely rebuilt , modernized and enlarged. Extensive 
additions have been made to the dyeing department, including 
a large two-story concrete dyehouse. The firm's factory buildings 
and storehouses now include over twenty-four acres of floor space. 
The number of persons on the payroll has increased to 4,400. 
The firm pays taxes in Manchester on a valuation of nearly 
$15,000,000. 

The increase in the number of employees at successive census 
periods is shown in the following table: 

TABLE III 

EMPLOYEES OF CHENEY BROTHERS 

Date Number of Increase Increase 
Employees Number Per Cent. 

1838 30 
1848 86 56 186.6 
1860 13.5 "49 57.0 
1870 551 416 308.2 
1880 1,165 614 111.4 
1890 1, 786 621 53.3 
1900 2,675 889 49.8 
1910 3 , 965 1,290 48.2 
1920 4,670 705 17.8 

1923 4,414 256* 
*Decrease. 

The establishment of this great industry in Manchester was 
not due to the natural advantages of t.he place, to its shjpping 
facilities, nor to its superior opportunities for securing employees 
- considerations which often determ.ine the location of large 
manufacturing plants. Because Timothy Cheney, in the early 
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Cheney Brothers Miltio 1876 

Cheney Brothers Old Office 
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days of rhe republic, built a dam and a grist mill on Bop Brook, 
his grandsons thought it advisable to utilize this small water 
privilege for their first silk mill. The water power was soon out­
grown and was succeeded by a steam power plant. As the enter­
prise expanded and its power requiremen ts became larger and 
more varied the firm was forced to levy upon the resources the 
town afforded. To the fullest development of these resources it 
has de\7oted large capital, and skill and ingenuity comparable tc> 
that employed in its manufacturing operations. It J1as bujlt 
large reservoirs and has bought and closed many smaller manu­
facturing plants in order that it might obtain the water needed for 
manufacturing and domestic purposes. It built and equipped 
and for many years h;;is operated a steam railroad, two miles long, 
connecting with the main line between New York and Bm1ton. 
lt has bought hundr~ds of acres of land, some of which it has used 
for the privale residences of members of the fu-m, some of which 
it has sold to employees at a low price that they might build their 
own homes, and mu.ch of' which it still holds to protect the water­
sheds of its reservoirs. 

Although the firm has encouraged its operatives to build 
homes of their own, it has, nevertheless, been obligtd to erect 
hundreds of dwellings to be occupied by employees. I l has built 
and macadamized the roads in the vicinity of its plant and has 
bordered them with fine sidewalks. 1 t has erected school bujld­
ings, with capacity for 1, 700 pupils and a boarding house for 100 
teachers. It has established gas and electric ligb t plants for the 
use of the community and has supplemented .its water supply 
with a complete sewer system. 

All its work in the developm~t o( the physical features of the 
place bas been on the most generous scale. The land surrounding 
the mills and the Cheney residences for a radius of half a mi1e is 
laid out and maintained as a park in which the best ideas in land­
scape gardening and forestry are e:;'{emplified. I ts large reservoirs 
are models of substantial construction. Its railroad yard 1s as 
neat and orderly as a boulevard. The e1foct of Cheney Brothers' 
~xample is seen in the private dwellings of the place. Most of 
them are of a much better grade than those usuaJly found in 
manufacturing communities and many are surrounded oy well­
kept ap.d prettily decorated lawns. 

In addil.ion to problems of a physical nature there was tbe 
help problem to be solved. To perform the many operations of 
manufacturing the beautiful fabrics produced in later years, to 
say noLhing of the outside construction work, many skilled arti­
s~s were necessary. In 18.60 the entire population of Manchester 
was less than the number of persons now employed by Cheney 
Brothers alone. At that time most of the residents were native 
fanners. Manv of the women took work from the silk mills to 
their homes and so helped out the husband's earnings. But the 
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expansion of the business soon.outstripped the loc~l labor supply 
and its growth would have been seriously impeded had it not been 
for the tide of immigration of the years 1860-1880. Since then 
the growing demands of the firm have been mainly supplied by 
foreign born help. Jrjsh, Swedes, Germans, Frenchtnen, Italians 
and Russians may now be found in large numbers on the payroll. 
The Irish were the first to come and many of them have risen to 
places of responsibility. The Germans brought the scientific 
skill for which their native land is ootedi the French brought 
their taste for color and design, and the firm owes much of its 
recent progress to the skill and ability of its assistants from the 
Old World. 

The representation. of various nationalities as show11 by the 
most recent factory census was as follows; Americans, 1,879; 
Irish, 759; English, 718; Scotch,S7; Italians,418; Austrians, 
193; Swedes, 174; Germans, 137; Poles, 132; Russians, 81; 
Lithuanians, 71; French, 60; Swiss, 27. 

For the rank and file of the employees the firm has done every­
thing in its power to make them good citizens and good workmen. 
It has given thern good wages and steady employment and so 
encouraged them to remain here and develop their skill. The 
upward trend in averag'e weekly wages notwith$tanding the re­
duction of one-third in the weekly working period is shownin the 
following table: 

TABLE IV 
AVERAGE WAGES PAID BY CHENEY BROTHERS 

TO ALL EMPLOYEES 
1843-1923 

Weekly Aver;age Average 
Year Working Earnings Earn.in gs 

Period Per Hour Per Week 
1843 72 bo11rs $.0428 $3.08 
1848 72 " .072 5.18 
] 856 72 " .078 5.62 
1860 72 " 081 5.80 
1863 60 " . 107 6.42 
1870 60 " .149 8.94 
1880 60 " . 132 7.92 
1890 60 II .151 9.06 
1900 60 " .156 9 .36 
1910 60 " .179 10. 74 
1914 SS " .204 11.22 
1920 48 " **. 608 **21.15 
1923 (July) 48 II .608 29.18 

"""(Note - The peak ot hourly earnings was reached in the last quarter of 1920, 
but owing to the plant being operated on 34.S honrs per week, full time 
weekly earnings were not obtained by the employees.) 
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Cheney Brothers has provided a large public library for the 
free use of all and has paid close attention to the education 0£ 
children. They have built and maintained a hall for the free use 
of employees and the public in their amusements. The health and 
comfort of the employees has been fostered by the provision of 
the finest miJls in the world, well heated, Lighted and ventilated, 
by free baths, and by sanitary provisions throughout the entire 
communi ly. As a result there is not a better-dressed, bettei-­
housed or more intelligent set of operatives in any textile mill in 
America. 

A lis t of the presidents and directors of the company since its 
incorporation is given below; 

PRESIDENTS 
Ward Cheney 
Rush Cheney 
Frank Cheney 

1855-1876 
1876-1882 
1882-1893 

Frank W. Cheney 1893-1894 
Knight D. Cheney 1894-1907 
Frank Cheney, Jr. 1907-

DIRECTORS 

Ward Cheney 1855-1876 
Charles Cheney 1855-1874 
Rush Cheney 1855-1882 
Frank Cheney 1855-1893 
Frank W. Cheney 1855-1909 
Ralph Cheney 1861-1893 
John Cheney 1865-1885 
Knight 0. Cheney 1886-1907 
Arthur Cheney 1876-1878 
Harry G. Cheney 1882-1918 
James W. Cheney 1883-1912 

John S. Cheney 1885-1910 
Richard O. Cheney 189'3-1912 
Frank Cheney, Jr. 1893-
K D. Cheney, Jr. 1907-1909 
Charles Cheney 1909-
Robert Cheney 1910-
Clifford D. Cheney 1910-
Horace B. Cheney 1912-
William C. Cheney 1912-
Philip Cheney 1918-

Indust rial insurance for the employees in the Cheney mills is 
provided by the Benefit Association established in 1910. A fund 
has been created by weeldy assessments deducted from wages of 
the members to w)lich the Company adds a contribution equal 
to twenty-five per cent. of the total. Out of the fund is paid 
accident and health insurance, old age pensions and death bene­
fits. Membership in the association is not compulsory. At. 
present there are about 3,300 members, or seventy-five per cent. 
of the total number of employees. 

An employment bureau was installed in 1908 in order to en­
sure a better adaptation of workers to their jobs and to prevent 
excessive labor turnover. I ts effectiveness and the exceptional 
conditions of employment in the Cheney factories have produced 
an unusual stability in the labor force. A recent canvass of 4,130 
employees showed that 2,607, or over sixty per cent .. had been on 
the payroll for Eve years or longer. The following table shows in 
full tbe distribution of the employees by tenns of service. 
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TABLEV 

EMPLOYEES OF CHENEY BROTHERS 
GROUPED ACCORDING TO LENGTH OF EMPLOYMENT 

Length of 
Employment Males Females Total 
0-5 years 804 719 1,523 
5-10 " 641 354 995 

10-15 (( 423 180 603 
15-20 " 249 93 342 
20-25 " 169 69 238 
25-30 " 102 45 147 
30-35 Ii 98 41 139 
35-40 " 63 16 79 
40-45 " 34 4 38 
45-50 " 17 3 20 
50-55 " 8 8 

2,608 1,522 4,132 

The Rogers Paper Manufacturing Company. 

Henry E . R9gers 

The manufacture of paper, 
one of the town's earliest indus­
tries, still continues a thriving 
business. The oldest loc.al firm 
in this branch of manufacturing 
is that founded by Peter Rogers 
in 1832. Under the ownership 
of Henry E. Rogers, son of the 
founder, mills were operated on 
Hartford Road and on Charter 
Oak Street. In 189.3,Mr. Rogers 
discovered a process for bleach­
ing printed paper, which greatly 
added to the material available 
for paper stock. In 1901 the firm 
was incorporated as The Rogers 
Paper Manufacturing Company. 
Additions to the plant were con­
slructed in 1900 and in 1916. 
The mills manufacture press 
board and specialties. 

The Case Brothers at Highland Park. 

In an earlier chapter we have told of the early experiences of 
the Case Brothers as p(lper makers. About 1870 they were 
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operating mills at HighJand Park which produced album boards, 
binder boards and card middles. They had also a machine shop 
in which they designed and manufactured paper-mill machinery. 
In 1875 their mill, a three-story structure1 was burned, but the 
machinery was not badly damaged and by hard work the plant 
'"as again put in operation within forty days. Tn 1881 aud again 
in 1890 important additions were made, brick substituted for 
Wood as a building material. 1n 1915 another disastrous fire 
occurred, causing a loss estima led at over $100,000. T he mills 
were oi1ce more rebuilt and activities were soon resumed. 

Case Brothers; Incorporated, now employ <tt th.eir mill a t 
J-lighland Park about 100 men. Their output, consisting chiefly 
of press papers, is now twelve tons per day. In addition to the 
mill at Highland Park, the Case family has interests in the mills 
of the A. Williard Case Company at Manchester, of The Case 
Manufacturing Company at Unionville, and of Case and Mar­
shall in Burnside. 

Jn 1903 A. Wells Case, one of the original Case Brothers, 
began the construction of a park on the mountain at H ighJand 
Park. The project has been completed by his son, Lawrence 
Case, and is now open to t he public under suitable restrictions. 
By preserving the natural beauty of this tract and making it 
accessible to the townspeople, lhe Cases have performed a notable 
public service. 

TheLydall and Foulds Mills. 

T he Lydall and Foulds families have been interested in manu­
facturing in Manchester s.ince 1869. In that year Henry Lydall, 
who had a needle factory in New Britain, came to Manchester 
an.cl, began the manufacture of knitting machine needles and wire 
specialties. Associated with h.im was his nephew) Willjam Foulds, 
who had been engaged in the same business in England. Ar one 
time their output was 50,000 needles daily and forty persons were 
employed. Mr. Foulds has now withdrawn from the partuership. 
The plant has been removed from Lydallville to North Main 
Street. 

William Foulds, Senior, is now the active head of three paper 
manufacturing companies, T he Lydall & Foulds Paper Company, 
(1899); The William Foulds Company, (1902); and T he Colonial 
Board Company, (1913). Associated with him are, William 
Foulds, Jr., E. A. Lyda1J, Arthur J. Straw and Boston capitalists. 
T he three mills are in Parker Village, where about fifty years ago 
a mill was operated by Salter & Strong. T he products manu­
factured are paperbox board, leather board and binder board. 
The total number of employees in the three mflls when in [ull 
operation is 175. The combined daily capacity (twenty-four 
hours) is forty-one tons. 
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The Oakland Paper Company. 

The manufacture of paper which had been e.stablisbed by 
Henry Hudson at Oakland in 1832 was continued at his death by 
his son, Melancthon and grandsons William and Philljp. Under 
their management the business was not successful. In 1864 
Cheney Brothers took an interest in the factory which was re­
otgani2ed as the Hudson-Cheney Paper Company. The work 
at that time utilized but little machinery, so that the tbfrty-eight 
employees produced but little more than a ton of finished paper 
every twenty-four hours. The present working force of E\ixty-five 

Oakland Paper Mill, Oakland 

persons has a daily output of over six ·tons. For a number 6f 
years the Hudson & Cheney Paper Company, made all the P ost 
card paper for the U.S. Government. 

In 1879 Cheney Brothers took over the entire business .and 
conducted it for a few months under their own firm name. But 
December 311 1879 the mill was bought by Mr. Hurlbut, a paper 
maker from Lee, Massachusetts. Hel"enamedtbe.mlll and traded 
under the title of The Hurlbut Manufacturing Company. The 
mill underwent another change in ownership and name, when in 
1881, N. T. Pulsifer, purchased it and called it The Oakland 
Paper Company. 
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In 1899, the Oakland Paper Company became one of the 
charter mills.of the American Writing Paper Company, organized 
during that year. Robert Campbell, of Lee, Mass., became man­
ager, and Harry Good.hind, of the same place, was made super­
intendent, in which C'apacity he acted until 1914. The latter took 
the place of J. D. Henderson, who had been superintendent since 
1881. At present Morris Housen and Andrew T. Barnett, both 
of Holyoke, Mass., hold the respective positions of Manager and 
Superintendent. 

The Oakland mill has developed considerably during the many 
years of its history, and improvements have steadily kept pace 
witb paper making progress. It has a large modem brick building 
aml exceptionaJly good water power. The purity of the water for 
paper-making purposes is especially notable. Following the 
tendency of most of the s1J].aller miJls situaled in country districts, 
the Oakland rrull has confined itself to high-grade specialized 
products. From its earliest days the mill has manufactured the 
fl.nest class of papers, including bank-note paper. 

The E. E. Hi'ZUard Company. 

The Hilliard woolen goods factory at Hilliardville has a record 
of continuous operation in a single line of production since 1794, 
and probably before 1790, which no doubt axceeds that of any 
other woolen manufacturing- plant in t he country. Founded by 
Aaron Buckland, it was later acquired by Sidney Pitkin. Ju 1824 
Elisha E. Hilliard (1806-1881) went to work there as an appren­
tice. Eight years later, he became a partner ,yjth Mr. Pitkin, 
afterwards acquiring the entire interest. About 1840 Ralph G. 
Spencer was admitted to the partnership under the firm name. of 
Hilliard & Spencer and they manufactured goods for the govern­
ment during the Civil Wat. ln 1871, Mr. Hilliard bought out 
Mr. Spencer's in terest and Elisha C. Hilliard, a son, (1852-1916), 
was admilted. The company incorporated in. 1893 as The E. E. 
Hilliard Company with E. C. Hilliard as pres ident. Upon his 
death several years ago the direction of the business was assumed 
by £. E. Hilliat·d, the grandson of the founder of the business. 

For a nttmber of years besides operating the Hilliardville 
plant, the concern conducted a mill on Charter Oak Street in 
South Man c11ester. This was finally acquired by Cheney BrotJ1-
ers. The mill or1ginally depended entirely upon water fot its 
source of ppwer, being located on the Hockanum River and Bige­
low Brook, bul at length steam was utilized to ensure a steady 
flow 0f power. 

In 19011.he company acquired additional water power by the 
purchase of the property of the old Peter Adams Paper cotnpa11y, 
situated on the same stream nearer Buckland. The waters of the 
Hockanum are there e.mpounded in a large pond and at the dam 
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E. E. llilliard Co., Woolen Mill, Buckland 

E. E. Hilliard Elisha C. Hilliard 
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an electric generating plant was installed and the power thus 
developed is. conducted to the Hilliard mills, ensuring an auxiliary 
force of 400 horsepower. 

The.Hilliard property includes a large acreage stretching from 
Adams Street in BilliardviUe to the east along Hilliard St_reet and 
Middle Turnpike to the tracks oi the South Manchester railroad. 
Much of this is wooded and borders several ponds, which add a 
picturesque quality to the landscape. vVest of the mills the land 
rises sharply and much of it is clothed with fir, so that the plant 
lies in ,a sheltered nook in a locality beautified by nature as well 
as ma.i1. 

In the ,v:inter of 1909 heavy rains caused a flood, which swept 
away several dams and bridges in the neighborhood of the mills 
as well as damaging tbe lower rooms of the factory. The Hilliard 
Company rebuilt the dam east of Adams Street and the town re~ 
placed the bridges which had been swept away. 

T he company today employs over 200 hands and manu­
factures men's and women's wear, woolens and overcoatings. 

The Glastonbury Knitting Company. 

The original knitting mill at Manchester Green was built by 
the Pacific Company 1n 1851, occupying the site of a cotton mjll 
erected by Richard Pitkin in the late years of the Eighteenth 
Century. Lucius Parker was the manager of the Pacific Company 
and Wells Woodbridge and other local residents were stock­
holders. After a few years the company failed and was· reorgan­
ized with Squire Aaron Cook as one of the principal owners. 
T he mi!J was destroyed by fire in 1861, but it was rebuilt and the 
company was again reorganized with Chauncey and Milton 
Keeney, also a local cap.italist, in control. A few yea(S later Mr. 
Keeney sold out to Addison L . CJark who, al though a resident of 
the Green1 was then President of the Glastonbury Knitting Com­
pany with mills at Glastonbury, Conn. In 1890 the ownership 
of the mill at Manchester Green was transferred t o the Glaston­
bury Company. Since 1896 H ewitt Coburn, Jr., h~ been presi­
dent of the company. Walter S. Coburn, vice-president. of the 
company, has resided at the Gl'een since 1909. 

The products of the mill at the Green are confined to men's 
flat-knit, spring-needle, woolen uoderwear1 of whlch ab6ut 
2501000 garments are made each year. 

The knitting mill has been for many years the sole manu­
facturing enterprise at the Green and the m-a:instay of the com­
munity. Among its 100 employees are at least six who have been 
on the payroll for more than thirty years. They are J. J. Buckley. 
superintendent; J ohn Young, T. J . Young, Frank Paxson, Julia 
Gleeson and Nel lie Sheddan. Since 1902 the m ill of-fice has been 
in charge of Lillian C. Young. 
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The Orford Soap Company. 

T he mosL widely knoVl-'11 of Ma nchester's products, with Lhe 
exception of the Cheney silks, is Bon Ami, the cleanser manu­
factured by the Orford Soap Company. The founder of the 
business was the late J. T. Robertson, who invented and began 
the manufacture of a "mineral soap" in Glastonbury in 1885. 
In order to obtain additionaJ capital Mr. Robertson formed the 
J. T. Robertson Company ancl moved to Manchester in 1891. 
He made his products, which included shaving and toilet soaps, 
in an old grist mill owned by W. H. Childs near the corner of 
Oakland and North Main Streets. Only three or four helpers 
were employed. 

John T. Robertson 

T he expansion of the busi­
ness in the past thirty years has 
been largely the result of an ag­
gressive advertising campaign. 
In 1893 William H. Childs, a 
resident of the north end who 
had becoine interested in the 
new product, undertook to mar­
ket it, fonn ing for the purpose 
a partnership with W. H. H. 
Childs of New York. The J. T . 
Robertson Company gave to 
Childs &Childs, the selling agen­
cy, a five-year option to pur­
chase the mam1facturing rights. 
The policy of consistent adver­
tising having pi:ove<l $Uccessfu1, 
the option was taken ~up and t.he 
Bon Ami Company was. organ­
ized as the distributing agency 
and holding company, and the 
Oiford Soap Company was.form­

ed as the manufacturing concern. 
Io 1899 the original factory on Oakland Street was destroyed 

by fire, and shortly t hereaiter the business was transferred to the 
factory on H illiard Street formerly occupied. by the Mather Com­
pany. In 1903 the entire Mather plant was occupied and since 
that time several additions to the plant have been constructed. 
I ts present assessed value is $622,000. There are now 150 persons 
employed. 

T he Bon Ami Company, a holding corporation and the mar­
keliug agency, is capitalized at $3,500,000. I t operates factories 
in t he United States and in Canada. Eversly Childs of New York 
is the president of the Orfor:d Soap Company, and William H. 
Childs, formerly a resident of Manchester, is vice-president. It 
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is largely owing to the latter's vision of the possibilities oi the 
product and his courage in carrying on the advertising campaign 
that the business became a success. William Vv. Robertson ha$ 
been factory superintendent since the death of his father, the 
late J. T. Robertson, in 1922. 

The Carlyle Jolmson lvlachine Company. 

The transfer in 1909 of the business of The Carlyle J ohnson 
Machine Company from H artford to Manchester marks a new 
departure in our industrial hisfory. Practically all of our factories 
before this time had been either financed or managed, or both, by 
residents of the town . The Carlyle J ohnson Company, which 
began business in Hartford in 1902, selected Manchester as its 
permanent home because of good transportation facilities com· 
bined with cheap rentals. 

The principal product of the company is a small, compact, 
light-powered friction clutch, which was originally designed and 
patented by Moses Carlyle Johnson in 1884. Other products are 
marine reverse gears and gasoline marine engines. Since moving 
to Manchester the employees of the company have increased from 
twenty-five to forty. The value of the plant is now estimated al 
$150,000 and the annual product is valued at $125,000. 

The capital stock is beld chiefly by Messrs. Stambaugh and 
S teese of Youngstown, Ohio, who financed the inventor, Mr. 
Johnson, in his origjuaJ venture in Hartford, and by Scott I-I . 
Simon, the treasurer and general manager of the company, who 
is also a naLive of Youngstown. 

In a r~cent issue of The American Machilnist was printed 
the following description of the factory. 

"The shops o[ the Carlyle Johnson Madtine Co. present an 
excellent example of the modern self-contained machinery-build· 
ing plant whicl:~, isolated lo a certain extent from a base of sup­
plies, must become to a considerable degree indt::pendent of it. 
Located in a growing town about ten miles distant from the cap~ 
tal city of Connecticut but corme.cted therewith by three lines of 
electric railway, the plant possesses practically all the advantages 
of urban location without restriction of space, lack of natural 
light, etc., usually associateci with the city shop, and what is of 
even gr·eater importance, it enjoys more freedom from labor dis­
turbances and a lower rate of labor turnover than is usually the 
fortune of the latter. 

"As might be expected, the main factory is light, clean and 
well ventilated. There is plenty of space for handling the work, 
and the machinery is so placed that the operations go forward in 
regular sequence with a minimum of rehandling. On the lower 
floor adjacent to the castings storage is a battery of Cleveland 
automatics supplemented by Jones & Lamson flat turrets, upon 
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which m<;>st of the round parts of the pr.oduct ii;; machined by 
means o[ special tools which are the product of the company's 
designing and tool departments.'' 

The Gammons- IIolman Company. 

The newest addition to the Ust of Manchester's industries is 
The Gammons-Holman Company, organized in 1920 for the 
manufacture of machine tools. In June, 1919, William B. Gam­
mons Of Mand1ester designed an improved taper-pin reamer, and 
began its manufacture. About a year Laler Charles W. Holman 
and Judge Herb~t 0. Bowers associated themselves with Mr. 
Gammons in a corporation. Their factory is housed in one of the 
buildings on Adams Street formerly occupied by the Peter Adams 
Paper Company. I t is the site which was occupied by one of the 
first paper mills in town. 

The operations of the company have proved unusually success­
ful. The taper-pin rea.uier, because of the saving which it effects 
in the cost of reaming, has been adopted by nearly all of the large 
machine shops in the United States and is also exporte.d to foreign 
countrie.<>. In addition the company makes Gammons Helical 
End Mills and Gammons Helical Chucking ReartLers, as well as 
many sp.ecial reamers to customers' specifications. The latest 
addition to their line of products is the Parob Expansion Hand 
Reamer. This reamer was designed primarily for reaming holes 
for wrist pins i.n automobile engine pistons, but is applicable also 
to 1nany other uses where accuracy is essential. Although they 
have but recently commenced the manufacture of these reamers, 
several of the largest automobile manufacturers are now ttsing 
them. The capital of the company is $29,000. It now employs 
fi.[teen persons and the value of its annual product is $75,000. 

Present Condition of Manufacturing 'in M-anche.ste.r. 

The following table shows the assessed valuation and number 
of employees of the principal manufacturing estab)jshments of 
Manchester: 

TA,BLE VI 

MANUFACTURING· INDUSTRIES IN MANCHESTER, 1923 

Name of FiJ111 Product 

Cheney Brothers Silk 
The Rogers Paper Mfg. C-0., Paper 
Case Brothers, lnc. Paper 
The A. Willard Case Co. Paper 
TheLydall & Fouldi; Paper Co. Paper 
the Wm. Foulds Pa per Co. Paper 
The Colorual Board Co. Paper 

Assessed 
Value o( 

P lant 
$15,119,947 

71,525 
233,082 

61,850 
43,600} 
+.i ,575 
44.,900 

No. of 
Employ­

ees 
4,400 

100 

175 
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The Oakland Paper Co. Paper 
The E. E. Hilliard Co. Woole.n Goods 
The Glastonbury Knitting Co. Knit Underwear 
The Orford Soap Co. Bon Ami 
Lydall & Foulds Knitting Needles 

(Friction Clutches 
TheCarlyle Johnson Machine~Reverse Gears 

l
Marine Engines 
Taper Pin 

The Gammons-Holman Co. Reamers and 

The Norton Electrical 
Instrument Co. 

Other T ools 

Electrica.1 Instruments 

376,450 
78,425 

622,356 
5,000 

148,866 

12,000 

Agricultural Enterprises. C. R . Bitrr & Company. 

153 

65 
200 
100 
150 

25 

40 

15 

There are t\vo branches of agriculture which have been 
recently developed on a commercial scale in Manchester, the 
growing of trees and shrubs in nurseries, and the growing of 
tobacco. The home office of C. R. Burr & Co., Inc., the largest 
nurserymen in New England, is on Oakland Street in Manchester, 
and one of their four nurseries is on land immediately adjoining. 
Others are in Durham, Ellington and South Windsor. The com­
pany has also a nursery in France. The Burr products are sold in 
almost every state in the Union. 

The Burr nursery in Manchester occupies 300 acres. It now 
gives employment to 150 persons. 

C. E. Wilson & Co. 

C. E. Wilson, of C. E. Wilson & Co., has been a rt:!sident of 
Manchester since 1909, coming here to become superintendent 
of the C. R. Bun nurseries. He remained with that company 
until 1916 when he decided to enter business for himself. He had 
but four acres of grou.nd when he started, but now has over 
seventy-five acres under cultivation and is employing .fifteen to 
fifty men, women and boys, as the season demands. Today the 
company is growing more barberry thunbergii hedging than any 
other firm in the world, furnishing one-year seedlings to most of 
the large nurserymen throughout the United States and Canada. 
A large percentage of all barberry hedges originate with the 
Wilson Company. In addition to this the company is also a large 
grower of seedlings, fruit, ornamental and evergreen plants. Prac­
tically all mechanical work is now done by tractors and special 
machinery. 

The company is also fortunate in its shipping facilities. In 
1921 a modern storage plant was built west of the Manchester 
railroad station and north of the tracks of the "New Haven" road 
with ~spur track running to the loading platform, and already 
there are plans under way to build another plant next year. 
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During the past summer a landscape department was added to 
the business, 'which operates not alone in this section, but through­
out New England. In the fall of 1922 and the spring of 1923 this 
company sold 4,000,000 barberry plants. They now have over 
S,000,000 plants growing at the nursery. The company also 
grows many other varieties of nursery stock. 

Tobacco Growing in Manchester. 

The acreage in tobacco in Manchester has grown from less 
than fifty acres in 1823 to nearly 1,000 acres in 1923. The atmual 
product is now about 300,000 pounds. Of the 4,500 acres of farm 
land within the town limits, almost one-fourth is devoted to 
tobacco. Shade-grown tobacco made its appearance about 
twenty years ago. At present about 500 acres are grown under 
shade, principally in the vicinity of Buckland. The largest 
plantations in that section are owned by Hackett Brothers and 
by The Connecticut Sumatra Tobacco Company. Hundreds of 
persons are employed in the tobacco fields and in the packing 
houses. The workers are of course particularly numerous at 
harvest time. Tobacco land has become so valuable in the Buck­
land section that woodland has b'een uprooted by explosives, and 
areas which have long been considered as waste are now being 
brought under cultivation. 

One of the most successful tobacco growers in Hillstown is 
Arthur Manning, whose experience covers more than forty years. 
In 1913 he organized the firm of Manning & Kahn, Inc., in which 
are associated Gustave Kahn of Hartford and Robert V. Treat 
of South Manchester, This company has plantations near Laurel 
Park, in Wapping, and elsewhere in the Connecticut Valley. In 
1923 it raised 120 acres of shade-grown tobacco and 275 acres of 
broadJeaf. 



CHAPTER XI. 

BANKS, STORES, NEWSPAPERS AND 

PUBLIC UTILITI ES 

The Buikling and Loan Association. 

The oldest banking institution in Manchester is the Building 
and Loan Association, organized in 1891.1 In its thirty-two 
years of existence it has been devoted to the task of helping 
Manchester people own their own homes. From $11,000 at the 
close of the first year of business, its assets have now grown to 
over $1,300,000, invested almost entirely in real estate loans. 
The Association has always paid six per cent. compounded semi­
annually, to all maturing shareholders. I t has never lost a dollar 
on any loan. The directors include some of the best known citi­
zens of the town. Frank Cheney, Jr., has acted as president since 
1892, and Charles E. House has been secretary for more than 
twenty years. 

The Manchester Trust Company. 

·The Manchester Trust Company now occupies such an essen­
tial position in the business life of the town that it is hard to 
understand how people until 1905 could have managed to get 
along without it. Manchester stores and factories in earlier days 
depended on Hartford banks for capital financing and for short­
time loans and were subject to many inconveniences, such as the 
transfer of cash to and from the city on trains and trolley cars. 

The charter of the trust company dates from 1895, showing 
that the project for a local bank was under consideration for at 

·least ten years before its organization was actually accomplished. 
The original incorporators were Walter B. Cheney, Clarence G. 
Watkins, Sanford M. Benton, Richard O. Cheney, Nathan T. 
Pulsifer, Charles H. Rose, Maro S. Chapman, Clinton W. Cowles, 
Austin H. Skinner, Julian N. Parker, Addjson L. Clark, Charles 
E. House, William C. Cheney and Jasper A. Fitch. The capital 

l A predecessor bearing the same title was organized in 1~53 with Moses 
Scott as secretary and tre<;l.surer. In 1861 it was re-organized as the Man­
chester Savings Bank. Deposits never exceeded $15,000. The bank went out 
of existence in 1871. 
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stock was fixed at .$100,000, of which fifty per cent. was to be paid 
in. In 1899 the list of incorporators was revised and in 1901 the 
life of the charter was extended. 

Refusing, in 1904, the offer of outside capital ists to "promote" 
a bank in Manchester, the holders of the charter decided to wait 
until sufficient local capital was available. It required a great 
deal of argument to persuade business men and investors that 
Manchester needed a bank, but the waiting policy proved wise, 
for the loyalty and pride of its stockholders have proven a valu­
able asset to the institution. At last, in February, 1905, the 
necessary $50,000 having been subscribed, the bank opened for 
business in a corner of Watkins Brothers' furniture store. Clar­
ence G. Watkins was the first president and the original directors 
were, Fred T. Blish, William C. Cheney, William E. Hibbard, 
John T. Robertson, Clarence G. Watkins, Herbert 0. Bowers, 
Charles E. House, Justis W. Hale and Frank G. Vibberts. Mr. 
Vibberts was employed as treasurer but was succeeded a year later 
by R. LaMotte Russell, who served until 1915, when he was 
elected president. Robert V. Treat, now a member of the board 
of directors, was employed in the bank from 1905 until 1919 as 
clerk, assistant treasurer, and finally as treasurer. Harold C. 
Alvord, who now holds the position of treasurer, entered the 
bank's employ in 1907 and served his apprenticeship in all its 
departments. In 1906 the bank moved to more permanent 
quarters in the Bowers Block. The rapidly expanding business 

· of the bank soon showed the need of more spacious quarters. 
After the armistice the directors purchased a site upon which they 
constructed a building which in architecture and equipment is 
second to none in New England. The new building was occupied 
in March, 1921. 

The first bank statement, dated August 25, 1905, showed 
assets of $179,357. In less than twenty years the assets have in­
creased to over $2,500,000. The capital and surplus now amount 
to over $300,000. Since 1908. the bank has regularly paid semi­
annual dividends to its shareholders. The checking accounts 
now number more than 3,000. In handling the payroll needs of 
Manchester's stores and factories, the trust compauy puts into 
circulation over $200,000 each week. 

The Savings Bank of Manchester. 

Manchester's only mutual savings bank, The Savings Bank 
of Manchester, also incorporated in 1905, is housed in The Man­
chester Tmst Company's building. This bank is a sound institu­
tion, which has shown steady growth from its organization, and 
today has assets totalling nearly $5,000,000. As is indicated by 
its name, this.bank is operated solely for the best interests of its 
10,600 depositors and has accumulated a large surplus for their 
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protection. With nearly $2,000,000 invested in first mortgages 
on real estate in Manchester, the bank has at all times shpwn its 
willingness to assist in the development of homes privately owned, 
until today Manchester is unique in having an unusually large 
percentage of its citizens their own landlords. From the fust the 
bank has received the well deserved support of Manchester's 
business men and citizens and has numbered among its directors 
those who have the welfare of the earner and saver at heart. 
Frank Cheney, Jr., has served as president since its incorporation, 
and R. LaMotte Russell is its treasurer. 

The Home Bank and Trust Company. 

A second bank, The Home Bank and Trust Company, was 
organized in 1920 with a capital of $50,000.00. Its assets, as 
shown by the most recent statement dated June 30, 1924, are 
$565,871.66. 

The Home Bank had for its first president, H. A. Allen, 
formerly vice-president o{ the City Bank and Trust Company. 
He was succeeded in 1922 by John Spillane of Manchester. The 
director(; are Alexander Arnott, Arthur Cook, Albert T. Dewey, 
Edwin S. Goodwin, Carl E . Johnson, Geo. W. Kuhney, Luigi 
Pola, Thomas J. Rogers, Lewis H. Sipe, John Spillane, John F. 
Sul.livan, Geo. W. Strant, Geo. H. Waddell, and Thos. H. Weldon. 

lirfercantile Enterprises. Watkins Brothers. 

Among Manchester's many attractive shops and stores there 
are two or three deserving of special mention because they 1llus­
trate so well the progressive spirit which has characterized its 
business men in the last half-century. In 1874 two brothers, 
Clarence G. and F. Ernest 'Watkins, set up in business as under­
takers at South Manchester. A few years later they branched 
out and bought the stock of [urniture carried by William H. 
Cheney in his general store. In 1890 they built a large wooden 
structure at Main and School Streets to house their steadily grow­
ing business. 

Watkins Brothers made a bold venture into the field of musical 
instruments in 1905 by buying out a Hartford firm, later merging 
with it two other music stores in that city. Some years later a 
branch store was opened at Bristol, Connecticut. The rapid 
expansion of the business of the firm led to the construction, in 
1920, of a modern, brick, fireproof store building, 71 by 225 feet, 
on Main Street in Manchester. Their sales are widely distribu tecl 
over the state. In a recent nation-·wide poll of travelling men and 
retail furniture stores, Watkins Brothers was selected by ninety 
per cent. of all voting as the finest retail furniture store in any 
town of less than 20,000 population in the United States. 
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Clarence G. vVatkins, the senior member of the firm, who died 
in 1915, was one of the best known and most respected of Man­
chester's business men. H e was for a number of years first 
selectman, served as representative in the General Assembly, was 
the first presiden t of the Chamber of Commerce and the 
first president of the Manchester Trust Company. F. Ernest 
Watkins, the partner of Clarence G. Watkins, has been likewise 
interested in town affairs. He was a prime mover in the estab­
lishment of the South Manchester fire department and was its 
secretary for twenty-five years. He has represented Manchester 
in the legislature, and for two terms was a county commissioner. 
He was one of the original corpora tors and directors of the Savings 
Bank of Manchester. 

Clarence G. Watkins Justus W. Hale 

The J. W. Hale Company. 

The J. W. H ale Company is the successor of a dry goods store 
originally opened in 1875 by Justus W. Hale. In 1897, Mr. 
Hale joined with Charles E. House in the construction of a mod­
ern business block, the Oak Hall Building. After the destruction 
of th is building by the fire of 1909, temporary quarters were 
utilized for a year until the completion of the present House and 
Hale building. In 1910 the business was incorporated and Frank 
H. Anderson, who for a number of years had been employed by 
Mr. Hale, was admitted to an interest in the concern. Upon the 
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retirement of Mr. Hale in 1914, Mr. Anderson became the con­
trolling manager. As a result of his progressive spirit and business 
acumen the J. W. Hale Compa!ly now has a department store 
thoroughly up-to-date in organization and equipment and in the 
variety of its stock. 

A Self-Service Grocery opened in 1920 and is perhaps, the 
most unique of the twenty-seven departments into which the 
store is divided. In the same year Mr. Anderson organized the 
Mutual Heating Company which supplies from a central plant 
heat to a number of adjacent stores. The J. W. Hale Company 
is now capitalized at $150,000. It occupies 25,900 feet of floor 
space and employs regularly about 100 persons. Ia 1923 over 
500,000 individual sales were made. 

C. E . House & Son, Inc. 

The r'etail store which can boast the longest continuous history 
is that of C. E. House & Son, Inc. Founded in 1853 by Edwin M. 
House, .the business originally included a retail grocery as well as 
merchant tailoring. From 1853 until his death in 1885 the 
founder of the business conducted a tailor shop. Charles E . 
House inherited the shop and soon expanded it by the inclusion 
of ready made clothing, men's furnishings, and shoes. In 1909 
Herbert B. House was admitted to partnership and four years 
later the firm was incorporated. At that time Frank G. Balkner 
and Thomas A. Brennan, employees of several years service, were 
taken in as stockholders. 

Charles E . House is associated \vith many ofthe town's insti­
tutions. 

In 189"3 he represented the town in the legislature. For 
thirty-five years he has been clerk and treasurer of the First 
Congregational Church. He is president of the J. W. Hale Com. 
pay, secretary of the Manchester Builcling & Loan Association, 
and a director of the Manchester Trust Company. 

N e'!»Spapers - The Evening Herald. 

Manchester's first newspaper was the Manchester Weekly 
News Times, published by Nathaniel Kingsbury of North Coven­
try about 1870. Its life was brief and it was not until 1881 that 
a newspaper that lived was first published. That was the lv.fa.'fi­
chester Herald. Elwood S. Ela, publisher of the Heral,d, got his 
first taste of newspaper work on the Hartford Courant. The first 
issue of the Manchester Herald came from the press on December 
15, 1S81, and despite two damaging fires that wiped out its plant, 
the Herald has never missed an issue. 

The. paper began as a partnership, Mr. Ela and Thomas S. 
Pratt of Rockville being those financially concerned. Mr. Ela 
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did the reportorial and editorial work in town and the paper was 
printed in Rockville. After fou r years Mr. Ela bought out Mr. 
Pratt's interest. The forms were made up in Manchester and 
then sent to Hartford to be put through the presses. This was 
inconvenient and uneconomical and Mr. Ela secured a press and 

Edwin M. House Elwood S. Ela 

other necessary equipment and a plant was set up at North Man­
chester. Fire cleaned out this plant in 1889 but another was 
temporarily organized. In 1893 a substanlial plant on Hilliard 
Street was built. 

As the town grew the Herald kept apace. It was the first 
semi-weekly newspaper established in Connecticut and was a 
four-page paper, representing practically a cut in two of the 
eight-page weekly. I t was only a short time until the semi-weekly 
became an eight-page paper. The example sel by the Hera/,d as 
a semi-weekly was adopted by other papers throughout the state. 

The Herald entered the daily field October 1, 1914, and now 
has a declared circulation of 4,168. The fire in 1922, totally 
destroying the plant on Hilliard Street, while handicapping pub­
lication for the time, did not prevent issues appearing regularly. 
The plant of the Hartford Courant was put at the Herald's dis­
posal. The present planl equipment of the IleraU is among the 
finest to be found in any city or town of the same population in 
lhe country. 
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Later, other members were admitted to the corporation, 
namely, Thomas Ferguson, E. Hugh Crosby, C. D ennison Tal­
cott, Carrol W. Hutchison and Leon A. Thorpe. Mr. Ela was 
president and treasurer until his death in August, 1924. Mr. 
Ferguson is secretary and plant superintendent and Mr. Crosby, 
advertising manager. 

Tlie 'Manchester News. 

The Manchester News, the successor of the South Manchester 
News, established by William J. Flood in 1893, until April, 1922, 
was issued as an eight-page weekly, and from then until May, 
1923, as a semi-weekly. At the latter date it was converted into a 
daily and its title was changed. In 1922 under the management 
of Joseph W. Flood, son of the founder, the News moved to new 
quarters on Cottage Street. As a daily, the News was not suc. 
cessful and publication was suspended in July, 1924. 

Public Utilities. 

The provision of the public utilities in Manchester, water, gas, 
electricity, sewage disposal, telephone service and rapid trans· 
portation are important inciden ts in the development since 1870 
of a modern community. 

The Sou th Manchester Railroad 1 Company, chartered in 1866, 
was the town's first public service corporation. It is an unique 
concern, being the only line in the United States owned by a single 
family. It is also one of the shortest toads in the country, its 
total main track being only 1.94 miles. The incorporators were 
Charles, John, Ralph, Ward, Rush, and Frank Cheney. Two 
miles of single track were laid ju 1869 and trains were put into 
operation in the summer of that year. The cost of the road with 
its equipment, as reported to the State railroad commission in 
1871, was $67,000. 

Since the original purpose of the road was the transportation 
of freight exclusively, construction was of the cheapest sort. 
Light rails were used of Belgian iron. Ten years later, in 1879, 
the entire track was relaid with steel rails under the superintend· 
ence of Richard 0. Cheney. 

' 'The construction of the r-0ad was an event of great local 
interest. It consumed more time than would be needed for such 
a job today. The cut where the Park Street bridge crosses the 
track was excavated by hand shovelers and the ea1·th was carted 
north and was used on the fill acrqss Bigelow Brook. Both the 
cut and the fill, or culvert, as the latter was called, were for some 

i The following account is taken mainly from the ManchesU:r Herald of 
Match 2, 1906. 
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time objects of local interest. Mr. Frank Cheney superintended 
part if not all of the work anq was particular to have it ornamental 
as well as useful. The men who worked on the construction were 
mostly rugged, active Irishmen who earned good money and spent 
it in the land of their adoption. The Italian and Polish laborers 
were unknown at that period. 

Primitlive Railroading. 
11When completed the road was leased to the Hartford, 

Providence & Fishkill Railroad Company which then con trolled 
the main line, a single track running from \Vaterbury to Provi­
dence. A word about this line, which was afterward incorporated 
by the New England railroad, may be of interest. The passenger 
cars were about the s.ize of our cross town car N('). 50. Some· of 
them were painted yellow and a few dark russet brown. It wais 
considered qi,1ite a treat by the youngsters to ride in one of the 
brown cars. The freight cars had a capacity of ten lons each and 
were not permitted to carry more. Ten or fifte~ of these cars 
made up what was considered a long train. Air brakes, P"1-tent 
couplers and buffers were unknown. The freight cars were 
veritable man killers and many a brakeman lost an arm or was 
crushed to death 'between the 'deadwoods' or bumpers. 

"The locomotives were wood burners about the size of No. 3 
on the South Manchester road and of about two-thirds of its 
pulling capacity. An engine of twenty or thirty tons was con­
sidered something big. Freight engines had only four drivers, 
and moguls were unknown. The smokestacks on the engiues were 
narrow at the bottom and flared out at the top like the letter V. 
These were known as 'lily pad stacks.' Back of the stack.rose a 
bell mouthed funnel for the eseape of steam, next came the beU, 
then the sand box, then another fw111el and then the steam dome 
and whistle. The safety valve had not come into general use 
although the engine 'Baltic,' which exploded its boiler on the 
Rockville branch at about that period, was provided with one. 
instead of running oil into the cylinders through a tube from the 
cab ~sat present, oil cups were attached to the· cylinders and were 
filled four times during the trip from Hartford to Providence by 
the fireman. It was a spectacular feat when the firemen on trains 
coming into Manchester from Hartford climbed out of the cab 
window, ran along therunning board, oiled a cylinder, crossed the 
cow catcher, oiled the other cylinder and passed alongtl1e running 
board back into the cab. 

''Railroad s\v:itches were of imperfect mechanistn and trains 
ran through them frequently. It was considered heroic on such 
occasions for the engineer to stick to his post and go to death with 
his engine. Years ago a resident of the west end of this town wh9 
was tarred and feathered by the rum element for his antagonism 



The History of Manchester 163 

to the liquor trade, met his death in this ma1111er. Later on 
engineers learned the sensible trick of plugging their engines and 
jumping for their lives. The locomotives had brass bands arow1d 
the boiler, the drivers were painted red and the cylinders, steam 
chest and other brass work were kept bright. Gilt paint was used 
in profusion in the ornamentation of the engine, .cab and tender, 
and they were objects of beauty. Section men on the main line 
received $45 or $47 per month with a day off with pay and a pass 
allowing them to take their families to Hartford once a month." 

The present investment in road and equipment, as shown by 
the annual report for 1923, is $99,5.82. The capital stock is 
$40,000, the amount of the original issue. The gross operating 
revenue iri 1923 was $50,630 and the net operating revenue was 
$17,629. After deduction of taxes the net income was $6,765. 
During the year, 136,789 passengers were carried and 83,397 tons 
of freight. The railroad's equipment consists of two locomotives 
and five passenger cars. 

William Hyde, who has been on the line for fifty-two years, 
probably has the distinction of combining more offices than any 
other railroad employee in this country. His chief duties are 
those of yardmaster and conductor. 

Public Utilities in South Manchester. The Water Sitpply. 

One of the first experiments in supplying from a central source 
water for domestic consumption in Manchester was made by 
Benjamin Lyman about 1830 at Manchester Green. The source 
of supply was the spring now known as Lyman Spring, from 
which the water was conveyed to a number of houses by wooden 
pipes. A few years later Enoch Burt, a mechanical genius who 
was pastor of the First Congregational Church from 1824 to 1828, 

· rigged up pumping machinery at Center Springs which raised the 
spring water to the houses on the brow of the hill. 

After 1860 a number of small storage reservoirs were con­
structed in various parts of 'town for the supply of groups of 
families. The first large reservoir in town was_ the so-called 
Taylor Reservoir which was constructed by Cheney Brothers in 
1872. Its capacity, 9,000,000 gallons, was t hen adequate to pro­
vide water for manufacturing purposes in the Cheney mills, and 
for fire protection, as well as for domestic use in the in1mediate 
vicinity of the factory. 

By 1889 the demand for "city water" in South Mancheste1· 
had increased to such an extent that Cheney Brothers organized 
the South Manchester Water Company, and in the following year 
it constructed the Porter Reservoir with a capacity of 35,000,000 
gallons. The Howard Reservoir, 124,000,000 gallons, was com­
plet~d in 1905. 

The plant of the company now includes two reservoirs, 
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thirty-two and one-half miles of main pipe, and nineteen and 
three-fourths miles of pipe less than four inches in diameter. 
The average consumption is 7 ,000,000 gallons weekly. The 
reservoirs supply 300 fire hydrants. The present sources of water 
supply are now proving inadequate and a new development will 
soon be completed which will bring water from Roaring Brook 
in East Glastonbury.l 

The Highland Park Water Company is a close corporation 
owned and controlled by members of the Case family and intended 
primarily for their private advantage. The service, however, 
has been extended for the use of others in the Highland Park 
section. 

This tompany, which was organized in 1910, is capitalized at 
$10,000. The source of supply is springs from which the water is 
pumped. Forty-two families are supplied and five fire hydrants. 
The water pressure is fifty pounds at the hydrant. The mains 
are six inches in diameter and there are two and one-half miles 
of four inches and less. 

In 1889 The South Manchester Sanitary and Sewer District 
was incorporated by ten members of the Cheney family. I t was 
given authority to construct a sewer system through the streets 
of the village of South Manchester and to empty sewage· into 
Hop Brook and the Hockanum River. The construction of the 
drainage system was undertaken. at once. In 1905 a series of 
filter beds was constructed in the Bunce district for the purifica­
tion of the sewage before emptying into the river. The operation 
of the filter beds has not been successful and the problem of sew­
age purification remains to be solved. 

Electric LighJ and Power. 

E lectricity became available for lighting purposes in Man~ 
chester in the late eighties. Like gas, the supply was originally 
derived from a plant operated by Cheney Brothers. The original 
franchise to supply electricity north of the center was held by the 
Manchester Light and Power Company, incorporated in 1883. 
This was absorbed by the South Manchester Light and Power 
Company, also organized in 1893. A part of the capital of each 
of these concerns was supplied by members of the Cheney 
family. The present holder of the franchise is the Manchester 
Electric Company, organized in 1917, ' which is a merger of the 
companies above mentioned with the South Manchester Light, 
Power and Tramway Company. 

For a time electric current was supplied to Manchester con­
sumers from the Glastonbury Light and Power Company. 

1 In 1906-7 Cheney Brothers constructed the Globe Hollow Reservoir, 
170,000,000 gallons, to supply their manufacturiug needs. 
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Later the power plant of the Connecticut Company at Edgewood 
was the source. At present the current comes over a high-tension 
line from the Hartford Electric Light Company. The new trans­
former station on New Street, which was built in 192.3, embodies 
the most recent developments in equipment for safe and economi­
cal distribution of electric current. 

The Manchester Gas Company. 

Un:til 191.8 the only gas available for domestic purposes 
in Manchester was that furnished from the plant of Cheney 
Brothers. They had installed a gas oven for the lighting of their 
mills and for use in manufacturing operations. A smafI surplus 
was available for domestic use which for many years was supplied 
onJy to homes south of Center Street. The extension of the 
service to the North End in 1916 was followed by such a rapid 
increase in consumption that Cheney Brothers, realizing that 
their plant was not adequate, decided to relinquish the charter 
rights1 to the Hartford City Gas Company. The Manchester 
Gas Company is a subsidiary of the Hartford concern . 

At the time of the surrender of the franchise, in January, 1918, 
there were about 500 consumers of gas supplied by 35,000 feet of 
main pipe. The total annual consumption was 18,000,000 feet. 
In the past four years 94,000 additional feet of mains have been 
laid. The consumers now nttmber 2,300 and in 1923 they used 
65,000,000 cubic feet of gas. 

Public Utilities in the Eighth District. 

"City Water" in the Eighth District for fire protection and 
for domestic use is provided by the Manchester Water Company, 
incorporated in 1889. The franchise of this company and the 
terms of its agreements with the District have been the subject 
of bitter and protracted controversy. The disastrous fire of 1889 
which destroyed the Post Office building in the business centre 
at the North End called attention to the lack of hydrant service 
for fire protection. Under the leadership of W. H. Childs, now 
of New York, who was then beginning his business career in 
Manchester as a dealer in grain and feed, the owners of water 
rights on White's Brook were organized as The Manchester 
Water Company. A charter was secured from the State Legis­
lature, notwithstanding the opposition of tbe local representative, 
which gave exclusive water supply rights in the Eighth School 
DistTict. 

The next step, - an agreement with the voters of the Eighth 
School District regarding the price to be paid for :fire protection, 
w~ hotly contested. The stockholders of the Water Company 

1 field by the South Manchester Light, Power and Tramway Company. 
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offered to construct a reservoir at the head of White's Brook and 
to furnish the District with adequate water supply for fire pro-

• tection and domestic use, reserving for themselves whatever 
surplus remained for power and other manufacturing uses. The 
District was asked to agree to pay $625 yearly for twenty years 
for the use of twenl-y-five hydrants. 

T he proposal met with bitter opposition on the part of the 
older and more conservative leaders in the community who were 
supported by many of the small tax payers. On the side of the 
Water Company were a number of progressive and able business 
men. Before the meeting of the District at which the proposal 
was to be acted upon, every voter in the district was canvassed. 
After an exciting meeting the agreement was adopted by a small 
majority. 

Echoes of this conflict were aroused in 1907 when the ap­
proaching expiration of the t\venty year contract caused a renewal 
of interest in the subject. The renewal of the charter was opposed 
by a group which believed that the District should buy and 
operate the water system. I n anticipation of such action a 
charter was secured in 1907 from the State legislahtre incorporat­
ing the Manchester Water District and authorizing it to acquire 
by purchase or by condemnation the charter and rights of the 
Manchester Water Company. 

T he Water Company then offered to sell its property to the 
District for $100,000. After extended debate the District decided 
not to purchase nor did it institute condemnation proceedings. 
Unsatisfactory mains and the fact that the Water Company did 
not own the watershed of- its reservoir were determining con­
siderations in this decision. 

A new contract for fire protection was made ''rith the company 
in 1909 in whic11 the hydrant rate was reduced. At present the 
Manchester Water Company supplies 3,500 homes at the north 
end of the town. It has a single reservoir of 38,000,000 gallons 
capacity, supplemented by a reserve tank furnishing an additional 
supply of 3,000,000 gallons. William Foulds, Sr., is president of 
the company. Dividends are usually paid at the rate of five per 
cent. on the capital stock of $50,000. 

For ten years after the installation of the water system the 
Eighth District was without modern methods of sewage disposal. 
The only sewer in the district was that built and maintained by 
Clinton W. Cowles. With it were connected the Cowles Hotel, 
the Eighth District School house and a few houses on North 
School Street. The Town Health Officer, in the Annual Report 
of the Selectmen for 19-00 (p. 35) described conditions in the 
Eighth District as follows : "Nearly every house has a cesspool. 
A large part of them are poorly constructed and rarely cleaned 
out. T he manufacturers using large amounts of water find it 
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impossible to make even a series of cesspools anything but a 
nuisance. The smaller cesspools are constantly becoming objec­
tio141ble. It would seem that the time has certainly arrived when 
the Eighth School District should put in a sewer system. Nothing 
is as badly needed at the North End." 

In order to rernedy this situation, the Manchester Sanitary 
and Sewer District was incorporated with power to construct a 
sewer system a(ld to issue sanfrary regulations. In 1904 the 
laying of sewer mains was begun a11d several extensions lla:ve 
since been made. A septic tank was constructed in order t(J avoid 
pollution of the Hockanum River. 

Maro S. Chapman Horace J. Wickham 

The Tramway 'Company. 

The connection by electric railway of Manchester with Hart­
ford, in 1895, was an event of as great significance as the opening 
of the steam railroad forty-five years earlier. It was Maro S. 
Chapman, oi1e of the leading fig-utes in Manchester's business and 
political life in lll.e past generation, who was largely responsible 
for the buiJcling and successful developmea.t of t11e "trnlley line." 
Tn 1894 he organized The Hartford, Manchester and Rockvi!Je 
iramway Company, associating with himself as directors in the 
company, Richard 0. Cheney, and Horace J. Wickham of Man­
chester1 and Hartford and Springfield capitalists. Construction 
of the line from Burnside (the eastern terminus of the Hartford 
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lines) to Manchester Center was begun without delay and com­
pleted in May, 1895. 

Soon afterwards the crosstown line from South Manchester 
to the North End was opened. In J uJy, 1896, the northern branch 
of the line from Love Lane to Talcottville was completed, and 
eighteen months later the line reached Rockville. The company 
then had seventeen miles of single track line. The total construc­
tion cost of the line was $369,950, or $21,762 per mile. The 
equipment cost was $65,824, making the total investment 
$435,774. The undertakingwas financed by the issue of $200,000 
in bonds and the sale of $300,000 of stock. 

In 1896 the number of passengers carried was 631,836; in 
1900 this number had increased to 1,237,846. The net earnings 
in that year, after the payment of $24,399 to the general officers, 
were $24,480. The number of employees had increased from 
forty-five to seventy-five. 

In 1906 the road came into the possession of the Consolidated 
Railway Company, by whom it was later transferred to The 
Connecticut Company. The price paid by tbe Consolidated 
Railway was $895,603, a sum equal to more than double the 
original investment. The extension, in 1908, of a branch line to 
Manchester Green ~was the occasion for a great public rejoicing 
in that community. Since its acquisition by the Connect icut 
Company the business of the local Lines has shown a significant 
increase. Notwithstanding severe competition from jitneys in 
the years 1919-1920 and incrnase of use of automobiles, the service 
on the Manchester lines has bei;n steadily improved. Better 
cars have been provided and more frequent service is given. 

Fire Protection. 

The organization in 1897 of the South Manchester Fire 
Department began the development at the south end of town of 
a remarkably effective volunteer fire protection service. At first 
the equipment was primitive - horse-reels drawn by the running 
firemen. They were replaced after a few years by horse-drawn 
hose and ladder trucks, and finally the entire equipment was 
motorized . At present the district o·wns five pieces of motorized 
apparatus and three buildings. An ltp-to-date fire alarm system 
has been installed and is maintained at a high pitch of efficiency 
by Superintendent Louis N. Heebner. 

Hook and Ladder Company No. 1, whose territory includes 
the Cheney mills and the residences of the Cheney family, has 
been equipped and is maintained at the expense of Cheney 
Brothers. Company No. 1, nevertheless, is under the command 
bf the Fire Chief and is subject to t he control of the Fire Com­
missioners of the District. 
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H . & L. Co. No. 1, So. Manchester F ire Dept. 

Hose Co. No. 2, So. Manchester Fire Dept. 
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Hose Co. No. 3, So. Manchester Fire Dept. 

H. & L. Co. No. 4, So. Manchester Fire Dept. 
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The personnel of the South Manchester Fire Districl includes 
153 volunteer firemen and three commissioners. 

Following is the list of fire commissioners with their terms of 
office: 

Frank Cheney, Jr., 1897-
Justus W. Hale 1897-1913 
F. Ernest Watkins 1897-1918 
E. L. G. Hohenthal 1913-
0liver F. Toop 1918-1923 
William J. Crockett 1923-

Fire Dept. Building, 8th School District 

The District in 1921 contracted for the insurance of its entire 
personnel against accident or death incurred while engaged in 
tire fighting. This action was taken in consequence of the fatal 
injury received by Edward W. Post, foreman of Hose Company 
No. 3, who was struck by an automobile while responding to an 
alarm. The District has levied taxes varying from 011e to two and 
one-half mills on seven occasions in the past twenty-six years. 
Its property is now valued at 8130,000 and its indebtedness is 
836,000. 



CHAPTER XII. 

SOCIAL ORGANIZATION - CHURCHES, LODGES AND 
OTHER ASSOCIATIONS 

Manchester, in 1920, had a population of 18,370, or about 
four and one-half times the popu1ation reported in 1870. The 
growth has been steady from one census period to the next but 
was particularly rapid jn the last decade. Of equal significance 
with the change in total numbers has been the decrease in the 
proportion of native stock (i.e., native wrute of native parentage). 
The following t(!lble shows that tills element, which made up 
three-fourths of the tot~l inhabitants in 1870, was only one­
fourth of the total in 1920. 

TABLE VII 

POPULATION OF MANCHESTER BY COLOR AND 
NATIVITY 

Year Total 

1870 to 1920 

Native 
White­
Native 

Parentage 

Native 
White­
Foreign 
or Mixed 
Parentage 

Native Foreign 
born born 

1870 4,223 3,021 1,202 
1880 6,462 4,395 2,067 

Foreign­
born 

White Colored 

1890 8,222 2,573 2,490 3,128 31 
1900 10,601 2,789 3,998 3,765 49 
1910 13,641 3,242 5,367 5,006 26 
1920 18,370 4,830 7,608 5,915 17 

The growth of the foreign element in Manchester's population 
is reflected in the rapid development of new church organizations. 
There are now thirteen religious bodies in the town with a total 
membership of over 5,000. In the last half-century thlrteen new 
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church builclings have been erected and two are now in process 
of construction. 

Chiwch Histories - The Roman Catholic Churches. 

In a previous chapter we have outlined the beginnings of 
Roman Catholic worship in St. Bridget's Parish at the north end 
of the town. In 1869 Reverend James Campbell became the 
first resident pastor of St. Bridget's and under his able and in­
spiring leadership the church made rapid progress. For twenty 
years the Catholics in the southern part of town journeyed 
regularly every Sunday, most of them on foot, winter and sum­
mer, to St. Bridget's, a good two miles. Finally, in 1874, the 
building of a Catholic church in South Manchester was made 
possible by the gift by Cheney Brothers of an acre of ground on 
Main Street for a church site. Thus a generous precedent was 
established, which has been followed by similar gifts from the 
same source to a number of other denominations of widely differ­
ing creeds. A new parish was set aside, with Reverend James 
Campbell as its first pastor and St. James as its patron. In the 
summer of 1875 the male members of the parish assembled with 
axes and shovels and other tools, and with the aid of many of 
their townsmen cleared away the trees and brush and made the 
site ready for building. The corner stone was laid in August 
with impressive ceremonies. A full attendance of all Catholic 
residents was made possible by the closing of the silk factory. 
When the new church was nearing completion there occurred an 
act of vandalism, which was evidence of hostility toward Roman 
Catholics, notwithstanding the liberal attitude of leading citizens. 
During the night of May 4-5, 1876, the church was broken into, 
thirty-five stained glass windows were smashed, altar ornaments 
were stolen and an attempt was made to set fire to the structure. 
The town authorities immediately offered a reward of $200 for 
the apprehension of the offenders, and an additional offer of 
$300 was made by members of the congregation. The church 
was completed at a total cost of $40,000 and was dedicated 
August 20, 187 6. 

Father Campbell, assisted by curates, continued to minister 
to both parishes until his death in 1890. In his pastorate of 
twenty-one years he had become respected and beloved by all 
who knew him, of whatever faith, and he was sincerely mourned 
by the entire community. The parishes were divided after 
Father Campbell 's death and Father Haggarty, who had been an 
assistant, became pastor of St. James, continuing in that position 
until his death in 1898. 

Under Father McGurk (1898-1923) the parish grew rapidly 
and extensive developments were made. The rectory, which 
had been built in 1892, was renovated. A tract of twenty-five 
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St. James Roman Catholic Church, So. Manchester 

Rev. James F. Campbell 
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St. Bridgets Rom:;n Catholic Church 
Manchester 
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acres was purchased at Edgewood and laid out as a cemetery, 
and extensive alterations and improvements were made in the 
church itself. The most striking accomplishment of Father 
McGurk's pastorate was the founding- of the convent and parish 
school, which was opened in September, 1922. The school, 
which has accommodations for 300 children, will eventually 
provide instruction in eight grades. Both the convent and the 
school are brick structures. Their combined cost was about 
$150,000. 

The parochial census of 1921 showed a total of 3,938 souls in 
the parish distributed by nationalities as follows: 

Families Souls 
English speaking 510 2 . 068 
Italian 196 896 
Polish 63 287 
French 44 193 
German 40 182 
Canadian 37 172 
Lithuanian 21 ll2 
Slavic 8 36 
Bohemian S 19 

Upon the appointment of Father McGurk to a church in 
Waterbury he was succeeded by Reverend W. J. Reidy, who is 
the present pastor. Assistant pastors of St. James Church have 
been as follows: 

Rev. Ignatius Kost 1903- 1905 
Rev. A. J. Plunkett 1905-1907 
Rev. James O'Meara 1907-1910 
Rev. James Healy 1910-1916 
Rev. James Timmins 1916-

The pastors of St. Bridget's Church since 1890 have been: 
Rev. W. J. Doolan 1890-1894 
Rev. Richard Gragan 1894- 1897 
ReV'. F. J. Murphy 1897- 1913 
Rev. C. T. McCann 1913-

This church now bas 1,000 communicants including 600 Irish, 
200 Polish, 125 Lithuanians, 40 Italians, and 30 of French ex­
traction. 

St. Mary's Episcopal Church. 

St. Mary's Parish has now had a continuous history of forty­
five years. In 1839 and, with heroic efforts at regularity, until 
1847 services were held in North Manchester by the following 
men: Rev. Mr. Burgess, afterwards Bishop of Maine; Rev. 
Arthur C. Coxe, aftenvards Bishop of Buffalo, a giant in the 
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St. Mary's Episcopal Church. So. Manchester 

Swedish Evangelical Lutheran Church. So. Manchester 
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life of the Episcopal Church in his day and at that time Rector of 
St. John's Church, Hartford; Rev. Professor Totl:en, President 
of Trinity College. 

In 1844 Rev. William C. Corbyn was elected rector. It was 
thought expedient to move to Manchester Green. In 1846 
Cheney Brothers built a church at the Center; this building, 
afterwards moved to North Manchester, still stands, used as a 
tenement house, opposite the North Congregational Church. 

From 1851 to 1855 services were intermittent; then Rev. 
Professor Jackson, President of Trinjty College, took charge. 
After a lapse of several years Rev. Enoch Huntington, a retired 
clergyman, started work again. The church had been sold. 
Title was re-secure9 but the church did not prosper, although 
Rev. Mr. Huntington continued ills faithful services. 

In his reminiscences Mr. Huntington tells of a meeting on 
March 26, 1874, at the Central Academy Hall. "In a room 
hired and fitted up lJy the 'Protestant Foreigners' about 60 were 
present, mostly young men in the silk factory. It was voted to 
commence public worship on Easter, April 5. At this service 
100 were present. . . . 'were not seats enough.' 'On May 
3, voted to purchase chairs to put in the aisles. In the fall $100 
was spent for shutters, painting and papering. The Academy 
building was then about twenty years old . Speculators would 
like to buy it (the hall) but it is doubtful whether they can. It is 
a time of great speculation and growth in the neighborhood and 
town. This room is in the right place equi-distant from each 
village and easy of access to each village. Congregationalists 
have sent to beg their rights in the upper room. A Mr. Hunni­
ford offered to buy and pay for the whole building, intending 
probably to let the lower room to the church and the upper room 
~o the Protestant Lodge (March 9, 1875)." 

In 1875 he tells of the .great commercial panic, how it begins 
to affect South Manchester. Silk mills reduce wages twenty­
five per cent.; building will probably stop for the present. Mr. 
Barrett and family have left and gone to New Britain, a large 
family. Mr. Huggard has gone to California, a communicant 
and exemplary man. For ten years there has been much moving 
out and moving in. April 18, put up in hall the old Chancel 
Railing which used to be in the old St. Mary's at North Man­
chester. The old marble altar slab was enclosed by it. 

At the New Year 1876 we read, "Commenced plan of taking 
up penny collections for the rent of the church hall in the Acad­
emy. It is $40.00 a year, that is about 80 ceuts a Sunday. 
Collection amounted to $2.90. Went into hands of W. Hunni­
ford treasurer." 1 

1 The foregoing paragraphs are taken, with some modification, from an 
historical sermon preached by Rev. James S. Neill, published in The Evening 
Herald of October 6, 1923. 
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In 1878 Rev. Beverly ·warner was appointed rector at Man­
chester. The number of communicants was then only thirteen . 
Today the parish contains 2,600 persons, of whom 1,000 are 
communicants. A new church was built in 1883, to which a 
parish house was added fiiteen years later. The growth of the 
parish has made the present church accommodations inadequate 
and a new building of stone is now in process of erection which 
will cost approximately $100,000. 

Tl1e St. Mary's Young Men's Club, an athletic and social 
organization, was founded i.g. 1890 during the pastorate of 
Reverend Edward H. Coley. It built a dub.lmuse in 1895 on 
land donated by Cheney Brothers at the eorner of Linden and 
Myrtle Streets. -

The pastors of St. Mary's Church since its permanent or-
ganization have been as follows : 

Rev. Beverly ·warner 
Rev. James H. LaRoche 
Rev. Edward H . Coley 
Rev. Jacob A. Biddle 
Rev. Manning B. Bennett 
Rev. James S. M cNeil 

Swedish Lutheran Church. 

1878- 1884 
1884-1889 
1889-1893 
1893- 1903 
1903-1917 
1918-, 

The new Gothic brick edifice erected in 1923 by this church 
is a monument to the diligence and devotion of the Swedish 
element in Manchester's population. Forty-three years ago, in 
1881, a group of fifty-seven residents of Swedish birth founded 
a church society and requested admission to the Augustana 
Synod. The request was granted and a pastor, Reverend J. 
MeUander, was assigned to hold services here once a month. 
Lacking a church building, the members of the new society met 
in private homes and in the Masonic Hall. After five years it was 
decided to build a church upon the tract of land at the corner of 
Church and Chestnut Streets which Cheney Brothers had given. 
The building fund of $5,000, subscribed principally by Swedish 
people in Manchester and surrounding towns, included also 
contributions from many residents not of Swedish nationality 
nor of the Lutheran faith. The building, a frame structure 
60 x 3.6 x 16 feet, was completed in 1887 at a cost of $6,500. 

After a number of short pastorates, Reverend W. P . Anderson 
was installed in 1895. Under his leadership for a period of six­
teen years the church showed vigorous growth. His resignation 
in 1911 marked the close of the first thirty years of the society's 
history. T he membership was then 839 of whom 524 were 
com.municants. 

The construction of the new building in which the Swedish 
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Swedish Congregational Church 

So. Manchester 
Ev. Lutheran C'cticordia Church 

So. Manchester 

Evangelical Lutheran Zion Church 
So. Manchester 
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Lutherans now worship was a ta!?k undertaken by the present 
pastor, Reverend P. J. 0. Cornell, soon after his installation. 
Work was begun in May, 1914, and the corner stone was laid in 
July, 1916. Owing to the disturbance which the war occasioned, 
and the high cost of materials and labor, the progress of the 
building was suspended for several years and it was not finally 
completed until March, 1923. In the construction of the new 
church, which is of gray manganese brick, 106 feet long, 44 feet 
wide and 34 feet high, with a tower 122 feet in height, a large 
amount of the work was done by the church members themselves. 
Reverend Mr. Cornell drew the plans with the assistance of his 
daughter, Miss Hildur Cornell. The latter designed the interior 
decorations. The excavation for the foundations was done by 
men of the congregation working Saturday afternoons through'an 
entire summer. It is estimated that the equivalent of 1,000 man­
days was thus contributed. The contractor for the wood work, 
S. Emil Johnson, is a member of the congregation, as are also 
the painters. The total cash e..xpenditures amounted to $61,000. 

The congregation now numbers 889, of whom 646 are com­
municants and 243 are children. 

A list of the pastors of the church follows: 
Rev. J. Melland er 
Rev. C. 0 . Landell 
Ludwig Holmes 
J. Wickberg 
G. E. Youngdahl 
F. Jacobson 
Rev. A. Olson 
Rev. vV. P. Anderson 
Rev. P. J. 0. Cornell 

Swed:is}i Congregational Church. 

1881- 1882 
1882- 1883 
1883-1884 
1885-1886 
1886-1887 
1887- 1889 
1889-1895 
1895- 1911 
1911-

The Swedish Evangelical Congregational Church was or­
ganized in 1892, largely through the efforts of Reverend L. W. 
Bjorkman o( Hartford. I t had no regular meeting place until 
about a year later, wben a building was erected on Spruce Street 
on a 1ot donated by William H. Childs. For a number of years 
the church was supplied with temporary pastors, some of them 
home missionaries. For a time services were suspended alto­
gether. The church was revived in 1900, when Reverend Ernest 
Ander was installed as pastor. Under the pastorate of Reverend 
A. L. Anderson, the present incumbent, the chUTch has ·shown 
promising growth. The mortgage indebtedness has, been paid 
off and in addition substantial improvements have been made. 
T he present membership is sbcty-four. 
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The German Lutheran Churches. 

The first German Lutheran Church in Manchester (Zion 
Church) was organized in 1890. For several years before that 
date monthly services had been held in Cheney HaU, and in the 
Swedish Lutheran Church, under the leadership of Rev. 0. 
Hanser pastor of Trinity Church of Rockville. Rev. John Horst 
became the first settled pastor. In 1892-3 a church was built on 
a site donated by Cheney Brothers on Cooper Street and a 
parsonage in 1910. 

In March, 1893, only four months before the dedication of the 
new church, a serious division took place in the congregation on 
the question of fraternal organizations. The pastor, upholding 
the attitude of the Evangelical Lutheran Synod of Missouri, 
Ohio, and other States, condemned all secret oath-bound socie­
ties, lodges, and fraternal organizations having religious tenden­
cies and refused church membership as a voting member to such 
as were also members of secret organizations. 

As a result of the action a number of families withdrew from 
Zion Church and founded the Concordia congregation. The new 
group being few in number, and lacking funds for building, 
worshipped for a number of years in private houses. Later they 
held their services on Sunday in St. Mary's Church. Courtesies 
of this kind are not infrequent in the history of Manchester's 
churches, testifying to the kindly spirit which has characterized 
interdenominational relations. 

In l896 a church was built by the Concordia congregation on 
land given by Cheney Brothers at the corner of Garden and 
\~Tinter streets. In 1910 a parsonage was erected. 

Zion Church now has 190 members, including persons of 
American, Austrian, Hungarian and Russian as well as of German 
birth and parentage. The Concordia Church has 250 communi­
cants. 

The pastors of Zion Church have been as follows: 
Rev. J ohn Horst 1891- 1894 
Rev. F. Ottman 1894-1900 
Rev. H. C. Boeckmann 190~1914 
Rev. W. C. Sclunidt 1914-1920 
Rev. H. F. R. Stechholz 192~ 

The following have been pastors of the Concordia Churcl1: 

Rev. Hugo Erdmann 1'893-1896 
Rev. Paul Lemke 1896-1898 
Rev. Lothar Brunke 1898-1906 
Rev. G. A. von Nicelli 1906-1908 
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Rev. Gustav Gille 
Rev. Otto Rapport 
Rev. Herman Stippich 
Rev. Weber 

The Salvation Army. 

1908-1909 
1909-1914 
1914-1924 
1924-
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From very small beginnings the Salvation Army has become 
in the course of less than forty years one of our strongest and 
best-known religious organizations. The local corps was founded 

Salvation Army Citadel. So. Manchester 

in 1886 by the two Salvationists recently arrived from Scotland, 
John Thompson and James Benson. To begin with cottage 
meetings were held, often a t the home of Thomas Rogers. They 
proved so successful that permanent quarters were sought. 
Lumber was purchased and a barracks was constructed on 
Spruce Street. Much of the work was done by the new recruits. 
The building was of the crudest sort, sheathed with rough boards 
and with plank benches for seats. 

Captain Miss Estess was the first officer to be put in charge 
of the local corps. Af tcr two months she was succeeded by 
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Captain Libby McAbee. In the early years of its work in Man­
chester the Salvation Army suffered bitter persecution. At­
temps were made by hoodlum gangs to break u p the meetings 
both on the streets and in the barracks. Fist fights and small 
riots sometimes resulted. All kinds of missiles were thrown at 
the marchers, so that some of them were seriously injured. 

It was not many years, however, before there was a marked 
change in the attitude of the public. The Salvation Army now 
has the respect and good wishes of the entire community. In 
1906 the corps had 135 members and a band of twenty players. 
In 1908 the citadel on Main Street was erected. lt is of brick 
40 x 72 feet, with an auditorium seating 400 as well as quarters 
for the commanding officers. The local corps, which now has 
201 members, is regarded as one of the strongest Salvation Army 
units in this country. 

Church of the Nazarene. 

On November 18, 1897, ten persons organized in the Town 
Hall the J ohn Wesley Pentecostal Society. About a year later 

Church of the Nazarene 

they erected a church 
buiJding on land do­
nated by Cheney, 
Brothers on Main 
Street. The church, 
which is now known 
as the Church of the 
Nazarene, hasamem· 
bership of eighty-five, 
jucluding representa­
tives of the following 
racial groups: English 
Irish, Scotch, Danes, 
Swedes, Germans and 
Austrians. The fol -
low:ing have been its 
pastors: Reverend A. 
H. Howland, F. W . 
Weed, A. E. Fitkin, 

P. 0. Ramsdall, L. A. Harriman, A. C. Goldberg, Charles 
Wash burn arid C. F. Austin. 

Adventists. 

Adventist services have been held at irregular intervals since 
1884, when a small congregation was gathered by Elder J. N. 
-Pile. No church has been organized, however, and local Ad­
ventists have worshipped in nearby cities. 
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Clrn'l'ER CONGREGA'fTONAL CRURCB 



186 The History of Manchester 

SECOND (NORTH) CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 
MANCHESTER 
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Progress of the Older Churches, 1870~1923. 

The older church bodies have made rapid progress with the 
growth of the town. The First Church (Center Congregat ional) 
now has 560 members. It occupies its fifth church building, 
which was dedicated in 1904. Among the racial groups repre­
sented in its membership are English, Scotch, Irish, Swedes, 
Danes, Poles, Germans and Armenians. The present pastor is 
Rev. Watson Woodniff. His predecessors since 1870 were: 

Rev. Charles E. Hesselgrave 
Rev. George W. Reynolds 
Rev. Thomas Simms 
Rev. Silas W. Robbins 

1915-1920 
1901-1914 
1891-1900 
1°871-1891 

The Second Congregational Church now has a membership 
of 398, almost entirely of native birth and parentage. It oc­
cupies its second building, which was erected in 1888. The list 
of pastors follows: 

Rev. Geo. E. Hill 
Rev. Francis F. \7\TjJliams 
Rev. Hiram Day 
Rev. Wm. E. Bassett 
Rev. Henry Loomis 
Rev. Edwin A. Adams 
Rev. Norman J. Squires 
Rev. Howard W. Pope 
Rev. Clarence H. Barber 
Rev. Charles N . Lovell 
Rev. Charles M. Caldenvood 
Rev. Richard Peteri; 
Rev. Raymond A. Beards1ee 

1851-1853 
1853-1856 
1857- 1859 
1861- 1863 
1864-1867 
1868-1872 
1873-1880 
1881-18.86 
18$6- 1905 
1905- 1910 
1911-1917 
1918-1921 
1922-

The South Methodist Church has had the following pastors 
since 1860: 

Rev. S. M. Benton 
Rev. J. M. Worcester 
Rev . E. S. Stanley 
Rev. E. B. Bradford 
Rev. A. W. Kingsley 
Rev. H. H. Martin 
Rev. John Gray 
Rev. Walter Ela 
Rev. H. D. Robinson 
Rev. J. C. Gowan 
Rev. Eben· Tirrell 

1860-1861 
1862-
1863-1864 
1865-1867 
1868- 1870 
1871- 1872 
1873-
1874-1876 
1877-1879 
1880-1882 
1883- 1885 
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Rev. D. P. Leavitt 1886-1890 
Rev. James M. Taber 1891- 1893 
Rev. Julian S. Wadsworth 1894-1898 
Rev. J. S. Bartholomew 1899-1900 
Rev. T. J. Everett 1901-1902 
Rev. Wm. F. Davis 1903-1910 
Rev. S. E. Ellis 1911- 1914 
Rev . W. H. Bath 1914- 1919 
Rev. G. S. Scrivener 1919-1922 
Rev. Joseph Cooper 1922-

New South Methodist Episcopal Church 

The present membership is 700, of whom about two-thirds 
are Ulster Protestants and the remainder native New England 
stock. 

Preparations are no\v under way for a new church building, 
which will contain in addition to an auditorium seating 600, 
Sunday school rooms and social and recreational facilities. 
The building fund, originally estimated at $100,000, has been 
generously oversubscribed. By raising this sum the church 
secured the gift of $30,000 offered by one of its members, Mr. A. 
Williard Case. There were in all about 700 contributors to the 
fund. 
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LODGES, SOCIETIES, CLUBS AND OTHER 
ORGANIZATIONS 

Lodges, Societies, Clubs and Other Organizations. 

189 

The organization within the past half-century of forty-five 
or fifty societies, clubs and associations with a wide variety of 
interests and purposes is one of the most striking characteristics 
of the social development of our community. It illustrates per­
haps better than any other fact the wide difference between the 
simple life of a rural town and the complexity of interests in a 
modern civic unit. · 

Here follows the table: 

TABLE VIII 

LODGES, CLUBS AND OTHER ASSOCIATIONS 

Date of No. of Present 
Name Organi- Charter Mem-

zation Members bership 

Manchester Lodge, A. F. and A. M. 1826 7 574 
So. Manchester Division, Sons of Temperance 1184.8 38 30 
Washlngton, Loyal Orange Lodge, No. 117 1875 6 l.65 
Manc~ester Division, Ancient Order of Hiber-

1877 13 200 n1ans 
Women's Christian Temperance Union 1880 17 55 
Manchester Grange, Patrons of Husbandry 1885 27 187 
Manchester Tent, The Maccabees 1888 17 95 
Society Seger 1889 18 155 
King David Lodge, I. 0. 0. F. 1890 10 578 
Frosbinn Lodge, Sons of Hermann 1891 35 57 
Woman's Bene.fit Association of the Maccabees 1893 17 216 
Sunset Rebekah Lodge 1894 24 320 
Court Manchester, Foresters of America 1896 34; 250 
Scandia Lodge, Order of Vasa 1900 98 400 
Campbell Council, Knights of Columbus 1901 51 350 
Memorial Lodge, Knights of Pythif!.S 1901 29 89 
So. Manchester Camp, Modern Woodmen of 

America 1901 35 240 
Manchester Chamber of Commerce 21901 100 310 
Temple Chapter, Order of Eastern Star 1902 31 318 
Daughters of Liberty, L. 0. L. 1903 27 90 
Cosmopolitan Club 1904 17 40 
American Insurance Union 31904 35 300 
Camp 2640, Royal Neighbors 1906 20 
Linne Lodge, Knights of Pythias 1907 18 152 
Educational Club 1909 150 
Manchester Loyal Orange Lodge, No. 99 1911 42 
Miantonomah Tribe, Red Men 1912 45 150 
1 Reorganized 18.55 and 1888. 
2 Originally Manchester Business Men's Association. 
3 Originally known as Fraternal Benefit League. 
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)fame 

Sub-Alpine Athletic Club 
So. Manchester Lodge, Loyal Order of .Moose 
Franco American Club 
Sons of St. George 
Polish American Club 
Manchester Country Club 
Mothers' Club 
Daughters of Scotia 
Clan McLean, Order of Scotish Clans 
Zipser Club 
Court 8843, Royal Neighbors 
League of Women Voters 

Date of 
Organi­
zation 
1912 
1914 
1914 
1915 
1916 
1917 
1920 
1920 
1921 
1921 
1921 
1921 

No. of 
Charter 

Members 
7 

20 
25 
20 

200 
29 
29 
18 
30 so 

200 
Lady Roberts Lodge, Order of Daughters of St. 

George 1921 45 

Present 
Mem­

bership 
100 
265 

40 
56 
38 

467 
110 
56 
40 
60 

150 

49 
Women ofMooseheart Legion 1922 25 
Chapman Comt, Order of A111arant\l 1922 80 88 

In Table VIII the more important local associations have been 
listed in order according to the dates of organization. Only one 
society, the Masons, can boast of a continuous existence going 
back before 1870. Manchester Lodge No. 73 was chartered in 
1826, only three years after the incorporation of the town. 
Like the town, it was an offshoot of East Hartford, its seven 
charter members having been members of Orient Lodge of that 
town. The Sons of Temperance, although first organized in 1848, 
was not permanently established until 1886. The Orangemen, 
organized in 1875, and the Hibernians, organized in 1877, both 
came into existence during the industrial depression which fol­
lowed the business crisis of 1873. During the seventies, also, the 
Irish immigration was particularly strong. The local Grange 
came into existence in 1885, at a time when the Patrons of Hus­
bandry were at the height of their power. 

Orford Parish Chapter - Daughters of the American Revolution. 

"Home and Country" 

Orford Parish Chapter, a patriotic society, 
was organized in May, 1895 by Mrs. Marietta 
Stanley Case and in August, 1895, on receipt 
of the charter from the National Society 
Daughters of the American Revolution, Mrs. 
Case was chosen its first Regent. 

There were twelve charter members and 
from this small beginning the chapter has 
slowly but stead ily grown to a membership 
of eighty-two whose object it is "To perpet­

uate the memory and spirit of the men and women who achieved 
American Independence, to cherish, maintain and extend thjs in­
stitutions of American freedom, to foster true patriotism and love 
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of country, and to aid in securing for mankind all the blessings of 
liberty." 

D. A. R. Fountain, Manchester Center 

Ttie years 1888-1893 marked the beginnings of non.sectarian 
fraternal benefit organization in Manchester, with the establish­
ment of the Maccabees, the Odd Fellows, the Swedish Society 
Seger and the Sons of Hermann. It is notable that two of these 
earliest benefit societies were organized along racial lines, an 
indication of the wave of German and Swedish immigration which 
was contributing to Manchester's population in the eighties. 

The "hard times" of 1893-1896 temporarily interrupted the 
growth of all kinds of associations and no new lodges were 
founded. A similar period of interruption is observable after 
the Crisis of 1907. The World War absorbed all the energies of 
Manchester's people and diverted to war work much of the funds 
which otherwise might have flowed into miscellaneous social 
organizations. Consequently but few lodges or other associations 
were formed in the years 1915-1919. A new wave of organization 
came in 1920, resulting in the founding within three years of no 
less than eight new societies. 

Referring again to Table VIII we find that twelve of the 
organizations there listed are racial groups having as a primary 
purpose the union of persons of common birth and descent. 
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Some of the racial groups are p1u-ely social organizations, others 
have benefit and insurance features. while still others, such as 
Clan McLean and the Zipser Club, combine with these pur­
poses the aim to assist i11 the Americanization of their trtember·s. 

Tlte Chamber of Commerce and Civic Improvement. 

The past quarter-century has witnessed the formation of a. 
number of organizations whose interests reach out beyond their 
own membershjp and embrace the welfare of the entire com­
munity. In the new work of civic betterment the Manchester 
Chamber of Commerce takes a prominent place. Organized in 
1901 as the Manchester Business Men's Association, under the 
leadershjp of the late Clarence G. Watkins, its interests were at 
first confined to the improvement and standardization of busi­
ness conditions. But in the past ten or twelve years there have 
been many indications of a widening of its field. In 1923 a sala­
ried executive, Mr. George Rix, was installed as secretary of the 
Chamber. With its large membership and abundant financial 
resources we may expect the Chamber of Commerce to become 
one of the most powerful influences for social and economic 
betterment in t he community. 

Women's Clubs. 

Tbe Cosmopolitan Club, organized in 1904 i,V'ith seventeen 
members, was a pioneer in the field of won:ien's clubs. It is purely 
a literary and 13ocial club. Since 1907 it has been affiliated with 
tlie Connecticut Federation of Women's Clubs. 

One of th·e most progressive and valuable organizations in 
Manchester is the Educational Club, whkh was established in 
1909 with eighty-four charter members. Its chief purpose is to 
promote co-operation between the home and the school, and it 
has f urtbered many projects for Lhe mental and physical welfare 
of the school children. Its most important work has been the 
establishment aud maintenance of the Open Afr School in tht! 
Ninth District and it has assisted the recently formed open air 
school in the Eighth District. Among its other activities have 
been supper clubs, lectures, lecture courses, picture exbjbits and 
social gatherings. The club also lends financial aid in serving 
milk in the schools to under-nourished children, and last year it 
contributed $200 to be used in physical corrective work amoilg 
children. The club has a membersh.ip of 150 women. It takes 
the place of the Parent-Teachers' orga11ization a11d is much 
broader in: scope. It handles the Red Cross seals for Manchester. 

Good work along somewhat similar lines is being accomplished 
by the Mothers' Club of Manchester, with an active membership 
of 110. It is a generous suppm·ter of the Memorial Hospital, of 
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the Vjsiting Nurse Association, and of similar welfare organiza­
tions. 

The most recent of the women's dubs is the League of Women 
Voters, organized in 1921. I t has been active in the political 
education of new voters and has already made itself felt as a force 
in local politics. 

The Manchester Country Club is an institution whose history 
belongs to post-wa r days, although it was incorporated in 1917. 
During the war a nine-hole golf course and tennis courts were 
laid out, but Ma nchester young people were too busy with war 
interests and the club showed little growth until within the past 
year or two. A new clubhouse was forma lly opened in M ay, 1924, 
and a second nine holes will soon be ready for use. From an 
original membership of 200, the club has now grown to 467. 

Dr. 0. B. Taylor Rev. Silas W, Robbins 
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CHAPTER ~III. 

' · 
EDUCATIONAL PROGRESS IN MANCHESTER 

Of all the achievements which have marked the history of 
Manchester in the last fifty years, the most outstanding in per­
manent value is the development of its schools. The schools of 
Manchester as they stand today, thoroughly modern in system 
and in equipment, are the product not only of a wisely generous 
policy on the part of the town fathers, aided by private subsidies 
from Cheney Brothers; they are a1so the fruit of self-sacrificing 
endeavor on the part of many public spirited men and women. 
Some of them, as school visitors and trustees, without compensa­
tion devoted much time and high intelligence to their task, others 
as teachers gave the best years of their lives to the instruction of 
the growing generation, setting forth in their own lives an example 
for better living. 

Progress in tlie Ninth District. 

The leading district in the educational development of Man­
chester since 1870 has been the Ninth. Although not organized 
until 1859, a full century later than many of the other districts, 
the concentration of population in the south-central part of the 
town around the flourishing silk factory of Cheney Brothers soon 
gave the newcomer an importance greater than any of the older 
districts. In t_he year 1871 the district was enlar.ged by the in­
clusion of parts of the Fourth and Fifth districts. In the same 
year a new schoolhouse was provided by Cheney Brothers, who 
thus inaugurated a policy of assistance to our educational insti­
tutions which has been in great part responsible for their present 
advanced condition. 

An excerpt from the report of Doctor 0. B. Taylor for 1872 
reads as follows: "In the 9th District, including Cheneyville, 
the number of children has been increasing frotn year to year, 
until more ample accommodations for the school became an abso­
lute necessity. To meet this want, and to accommodate the 
greatest number, in October of last year the district lines were 
altered so as to include portions of the 4th and 5th Districts, ~nd 
preparations were made for building a new schoolhouse nearer 
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the center of population. During the discussion in reference to 
the location, plan, and cost of the structure, it seemed to be 
generally conceded that the interests of society demanded that 
we have good and efficient schools, and that every child in the 
community receive his or her due proportion of the advantages 
to be derived therefrom. Consequently, to build and furnish a 
house sufficiently large and commodious for the growing wants 
of the· village, would involve the dist rict in an expense of several 
thousands of dollars. After acting upon several plans and propo­
sitions, none of which seemed satisfactory, Messrs. Cheney 
Brothers, regarding the universal education of the people as vital 
to the best interests of our commonwealth, in the generous and 

Schoolhouse and Library, Ninth District. Burned Oct. 2~. 1913 

liberal spirit which characterizes them, offered to build and fur­
nish a schoolhouse at an estimated expense of not less thq.n fifteen 
thousand dollars, and· give the free use of it, to be under the con­
trol of and occupied by the district for a public school, which 
offer was readily accepted by t11e district, and the house is now 
nearly completed .'' 

In 1881 this building was raised and four rooms were con­
structed under it, making an eight-room building. In 1887 
another addition of four rooms was constructed, which was 
followed in 1893 by a third of still larger proportions. For twenty 
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years, until its destruction by the fire of October 23, 1913, the 
building thus enlarged, housed a much wider variety of educa­
tional activities than are usually found under one roof. Besides 
the usual eight grades there was a kindergarten, a training school 
for the undergraduates of the New Britain State Normal School, 
rooms for manual training, including woodwork, cooking and 
sewing, and also a gymnasium and baths. The South Man­
chester High School was also housed in the Ninth District School 
Building until the construction of the new high school in 1904. 

Decentratization of School FaciUties, 1915-1923. 
The need for a decentralization of school facilities in the 

Ninth District was apparent as early as 1899, when a primary 
school was opened in the Cooper Hill Schoolhoase in the western 
part of the district. In 1915 a modern building, the Washington 
School, was constructed to care for the needs of this section. 
Meanwhile, in 1906, a primary school had been opened at the 
Center in Orange Hall, which was succeeded in 1911 by the 
Lincoln Sdiool. T he Barnard School on School Street wa..<J first 
occupied in 1915, the East Side Recreation Building in 1917, 
the Nathan Hale School on Spruce Street in 1921, and in the same 
year the West Side Recreation Building was completed. At the 
end of the half century we find, therefore, nine buildings with 
accommodation for 3,500 pupils, in the district where in 1871 was 
one schoolhouse with four rooms. 

The Normal Training School. 
For twenty-three years, 1.891-1914, the instructi.on in the 

kindergarten, and in Grades I to VI inclusive, was given under 
competent supervisors by undergraduates of the New Britain 
State Normal School. The young women, 1,400 in all, who 
thus received their training as teacher.s have in many instances 
had successful careers in the public schools of neighboring states, 
such as Massachusetts and New Jersey, as well as in Connecticut. 

The South Manchester High School. 
The South Manchester High Sch.col furnishes tuition free of 

charge to young men and wo;men of all parts of town but has 
always been under the directH.gn and control of the committee 
of the Ninth School District. After the closing of the Center 
and the EastAcademies about the year 1870, tll~re was no private 
institution in town which provided instruction in high school 
subjects. In the Ninth District, Dwight Bidwell, who was 
principal of the Grammar School in the years 1871-1882, gave 
instruction to small groups of pupils in such subjects as Latin and 
Algebra, which are now recognized as belonging to the high 
school curriculum. 
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For a number of years Manchester students attended tbe 
Hartford High School under an arrangement by which a fee of 
$100 per year per pupil was paid by the town. In 188'7 the es­
tablishment of a local high school was debated in town meetings 
and a committee was appointed to report on the subject. The 
committee's report was unfavorable and the subject was dropped. 
In 1893 the Committee of the Ninth District authorized the 
teaching of high school subjects. F. A. Verplanck was the first 
principal. A year later A. E. Peterson was appointed principal 
with one assistant. There were two courses of study, the classical, 
or college preparatory, and the general c9urse. Tl1e first class, 
graduated in 1894, had six members: They were, Gertrude L. 
Albiston, Mary H. Gray, Mary J. Johnson , Alice lVI. Belcher, 
Agnes S. Henderson and Reuben F. Gray. The class of 1924 has 
ninety-two members. Today the school offers two college pre­
paratory courses, a normal course, a general course, two com­
mercial courses and a trade school course. In the latter are in­
cluded shop work in textiles, machinery, electricity, carpentry 
and mechanical drawing. 

The graduates of the South Manchester High School now 
number 945. i\mong them are alumni of almost every college 
and university in the East. The principals of the high school 
with their years of servic.e are listed below: 

F. 1:\. Verplanck 
Arthur E . Peterson 
Harry C. Folsom 
Austin Savage 
John Backus 
Leland P. Knapp 
Clarence P . Quimby 

The State Trade School. 

189~1894 
1894- 1900 
1900- 1907 
1907- 1915 
1915-1917 
1917-1923 
1923-

The State Trade Education Shop, established in South Man­
chester in 1915, was an outgrowth from a textile apprentice 
school which had been set up a few years previously in Cheney 
Brothers Mills. The trade school combines practical shop work 
with instruction in fundamentals of theory. It affords opportun­
ity for grammar school and high school students to learn a trade 
while carrying on their regular studies. Courses are given in 
machine work, including tool making; mechanical and architec· 
ural drafting; carpentry and cabinet making; electrical work; 
and textile manufacturing. In the Textile Course, which is open 
to girls as well as boys, students who show proficiency spend one­
half day each week in the silk factory receiving an hourly wage 
for all productive time. Their wages are graduated according to 
the length of their training and the marks received on school 
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work. During the twenty-eight months of the textile course an 
average student may earn about $850 from his factory ,;..·ork. 

The enrollment at the Trade School in 1923 was 351. Its 
equipment is thoroughly modern and compares favorably with 
that of any of the nine other trade shops under the direction of 
the Connecticut State Board of Education. The faculty of the 
school, including Mr. Alexander A. Warren, the director, now 
numbers thirteen men and women. 

Trade School graduates have had no difficulty in securing 
good positions and a recent survey shows that nfoety-five per 
cent. of them are now working at their trades. 

The following chronological table indicates how consistently 
the authorities of the Ninth School District have kept abreast of 
new ideas in education. 

OPEN AIR SCHOOL, DISTRICT NO. g 

1890 - Kindergarten opened 
1890 - Full-time instructor in music employed 
1891 - Instruction provided in woodwork, cooking and sewing 
1893 - Gymnasium opened and regular training in physical 

culture begun 
1893 - Examination of eyes and ears of pupils begun 
1899 - Full-time teacher of drawing employed 
1902 - Evening schools opened 
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Manchester Free Library, North School St. 

Dr. F. H. Whiton 
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1905 - Free text books provided 
1906 - Medical inspection with daily visits of school physician 
1907 - School nurse employed 
1907 - Educationally exceptional children segregated 
1911- Open air school opened with instruction in household arts 
1912 - Textile school established 
1915 - Textile school merged in State Trade School 
1916 - Dental hygienist employed 
1918 - Director of Americaruzation and of Evening Schools em­

. p.loye<l 
1919 - Management of Teachers' Hall placed under direction of 

the District School Committee 
1923 - South Manchester Free Public Library placed under the 

management of the District School Committee 

State Trade School, School Street 
(Buildin~ belongs to Town of Manchester) 

Th.e Eighth District. 

Because of the early development of manufacturing at "the 
north vill(lge," the Eighth District in the years 1850 to 1870 was 
the largest and best equipped in the town. In 1860 it had a three­
room schoolhouse and three teachers were employed. In 1874 
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the growth of the school population made it necessary to pro­
vide more room, and after prolonged discussion and several school 
meetings it was voted to erect a new two-room building "on the 
present site, 1 north of it and disconnected from the present 
schoolhouse." In May, 1880, both of these schoolhouses, which 
were of wood, were burned, probably by an incendiary. 

For two years following the fire the school children were 
housed in makeshift fashion, for the provision of new quarters 
was long delayed by the inability of the voters of the district to 
agree upon a site. Finally the Board of School Visitors of the 

Manchester Community Club 

Town of Vernon was summoned to act with the Manchester 
Board and the joint body chose the site on North School .Street 
now occupied by the main building of the Eighth District. The 
new school was completed in the spring of 1882 at a cost of 
$13,500. 

After an interval of eight years the school building question 
again agitated the north village. In J une, 1891, a school meeting 
voted to add a four-room addition to the building then in use. 
This vote was rescinded and other votes were passed only to be 
rescinded in their turn. The eventual decision was not reached 

I I.e., on the site later occupied by the residence of Clinton Cowles on 
North School Street. 
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until January 11, 1894. After two and a half years of wrangling 
and delay, the site selected was that chosen in the original meet~ 
ing of June 18, 1891. 

The modern plant of the Eighth District consists of a six­
room building, constructed in 1913 on the North School Street 
campus at a cost of $39,000, and a nine-room building on Hollister 
Street, completed in 1924, which has cost about $100,000. Each 
of these buildings has a large assembly hall. 

A kindergarten was opened in the Eighth District in 1912. 
Courses in manual training and domestic science were offered in 
1914. A room for subnormal children was organized in 1916, 
and in 1920 an open-air school was added. A ~chool nurse and 
a dent:al hygienist have offices in the Eighth District but devote 
part of their time to the outlying schools. AU of the town schools 
are now given regular medical inspection. 

The only origi­
nal school house 
in Manchester still 
standing. It was 
the original Keeney 
St. school moved. 
It was built nearly 
where the present 
Keeney St. build­
ing stands and was 
moved to its pre­
sent location on 
the farm of Mr. 
Henry McConville, 
Keeney St. in 1848. 

The Outlying Districts. 

Old Keeney Street School 

The growth of population in Manchester in the years 1830 
to 1900 was concentrated almost entirely in and around the 
factory villages of North and South Manchester. Consequently, 
while their school population grew and was supplied with more 
and better equipment, the schoo1s of the outlying districts re­
mained in 1900 about as they had been when the town was 
incorporated. Many of the readers of this book can remember 
the one-room wooden schoolhouse which they attended, painted 
white, standing bleak and bare at the crest of a hill. No attempt 
was made to soften its outlines by trees or shrubbery, and even 
the grass had but little chance of survival under the promiscuous 
tra!}1pling of the pupils' feet. These one-room schools were un­
graded; children of all ages from four to twenty were not inf re-
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quently sheltered in the same room, receiving instruction in 
alternate classes from the single teacher. Sanitary conveniences 
were abominable and medical inspection was unknown. 

When the village's began to spread out wi.th the introduction 
of bicycles, trolley cars and cheap automobiles, the school at­
tendance in outlying districts increased and better facilities were 
demanded. Between 1890 and 1900 additions were made to the 
buildings in the Bunce District (No. 6), the Keeney Street Dis-

Keeney Street School, District No. 5 

trict (No. 5), and Porter Street District (No. 3). Beginning in 
1919 a campaign for the provision of adequate and modern school 
buildings in the outlyi11g districts was begun. The results are 
given below: 
1919 -Third room added to Porter Street School 
1920-Enlargement at Bunce School 
1921 - Modem brick building with foul" rooms and assembly 

hall replaced wooden building at Manchester Green 
1922 - Four-room building with basement and auditorium built 

at Buckland 
1922 - Modern building with three rooms and assembly hall at 

South School 
1923-Additional room (third) with new heating equipment 

for southwest district 
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At present there exists in Manchester only a single survivor 
of the old fashioned one-room schoolhouse, that at Oakland. 
The schopls at Manchester Green and Buckland now give in­
struction in all grades, including the eighth, in their own build­
ings. Other districts carry instruction only up to the sixth grade 
but their pupils are permitted to attend the Eighth or Ninth 
District Schools for work in the higher grades. 

School Ho~se, 4th School Disrrict 

Teachers and Officals Who Have Served Manchester's Schools. 

"School progress is not in large measure a matter of growth 
of population, nor of expanding courses of study. The vital 
element in school progress is the life of the teacher built into the 
lives of the boys and girls that are placed in his charge." 1 It is 
obviously impossible here to record the names of all the faithful 
teachers and officers in the schools of Manchester whose in­
fluence has been marked in the development of the community, 
but in the following paragraphs will be mentioned a few of those 
who are best remembered. 

At Manchester Green, Eliza Merrill taught not only the three 
R's, but also Latin and French to those who were prepared. Mabel 
Cook, Dwight Bidwell, Frank Holland and Lavinia Albiston each 
1 Quoted from l'vlr. Howes' manuscript. 
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Oakland School, District No. I 

Porter Street School, District No. 3 
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taught there for a number of years. Katharine Wolcott, Emma 
Williams and Belle Goodrich were skillful teachers who are well 
remembered by former pupils of the Buckland School. N atlrnniel 
Keeney, known at one time as "the richest man east of the Great 
River," was one of the earliest schoolmasters in the Southwest 
District. Others who followed him were: Henry Bunc;e, Jane 
Bunce, Mrs. C. E. Watkins, Theodore Bidwell, Annie House, 
Jane Coville, Clara Keeney, and Mary (Mrs. Ethan) Strong. 
Mrs. Strong afterward taught in the South School continuously 
for twenty -five years, dying in the service December 2, 1916. 
Mrs. Ida Griswold Bissell taught for many years in the Porter 
Street School. 

Dwight Bidwell Jane Cheney 

Prominent in the long list of Eighth District teachers were 
Jasper A. Fitch, Elizabeth Golway, Robert P. Bissell, Clara 
Sweet and Electa Smith. Four principals of this school are well 
remembered, Messrs. Strong, Andrews, Lillie and Bushnell. 

Ashbel Wesley Case, born in Manchester in 1806, was well 
known in his day both as a farmer and as a teacher. In the sum­
mer he tilled the so'il, and in the winter he taught school. As a 
temperance advocate he attained a considerable reputation. 
Jane Cheney, a member of the first dassgraduated from the Ne)V 
Britain State Normal School, taught in private schools in Man­
chester and elsewhere for twenty years, 1850-1870. 

Among the many effective teachers who have served in the 
Ninth District Schools there are a few who stand out promi-
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nently. We have already mentioned the work of Dwight Bidwell 
as principal of the Grammar School, 1871-1882. A skillful teacher 
and a strong personality, he made a lasting impression upon the 
youth of his generation. S. Annie Starkweather in 1918 com­
pleted a career of thirty-five years of successful teaching in the 
public schools of Manchester, of which five years were spent in 
the Eighth District, and thirty years in the Ninth District. She 
holds the affection and respect of the hundreds of children who 
in those years came under her instruction. In the High School, the 
first principal, A. E. Peterson, and his successor, Harry C. Folsom, 
are cordially remembered. Their services in the formative period 

Jasper A. Fitch Robert P. Bissell 

. 
in tl1e school's history in establishing high standards of scholar­
ship and traditions o( clean sportsmanship can hardly be over­
estimated. 

The services of the school visitors, the members of school 
committees and other officials, although of a character different 
from those of the teachers, were ha1'dly of less importance. Fore­
most among those who were responsible for shaping the develop­
ment of the school system of Manchester should stand Dr. 
Oliver B. Taylor, who was many years a member of the Board of 
School Visitors. Although a physician in active practice, he 
found time to study school affairs in detail and was thoroughly 
progressive in the policies he advocated. Reverend S. W. Rob­
bins) a pastor of the First Congregational Church, was an active 
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member of the Board in the years 1873-1891. Robert P. Bissell, 
an outspoken and forceful personality, made his influence felt on 
the Board in the years during which he served. 

The limitations of space prevent the mention by name of the 
many officials of the outlying districts who in their narrower 
fields have rendered faithful service. 

The Ninth School District was incorporated by an Act of the 
General Assembly approved June 11, 1895. Its first committee 
was composed as follows: John S. Cheney, Reverend Thomas 
Simms, Reverend D. A. Haggarty, Charles S. Cheney and Anna 

Bunce School, District No. 6 

Biddle. The following persons have since served on tl1is com­
mittee: Howell Cheney, Reverend James Bartholomew, Rev­
erend George W. Reynolds, R. LaMotte Russell, Reverend 
Williaril J. McGurk, Mary Cheney, Charles R. Hathaway, 
Reverend P. J. 0. Cornell, Robert J. Smith and John Hyde. 

John S. Cheney was active in school affairs for twenty-seven 
years. Upon the deatl1 of Charles S. Cheney, who for many 
years was secretary of the Committee of the Ninth District,,a 
tablet was erected in the vestibule of the high school by contri­
butions from the school .children. It carries the following in­
s.cription: 
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"In Memory of Charles S. Cheney 

1836-1907 

Erected by t11e children of the Ninth School 
District in grateful recognition of his thirty­
five years of fruitful and devoted service in 
the advancement of their education." 
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To three men, each active in a separ.ate field of educational 
work, belongs pre-eminently the credit for the splendid progress 
oI Manchester's schools in the present generation. Howell 
Cheney during his nineteen years of office as chairman of the 
Ninth District Committee has given the community the ad­
vantage of keen study of educational problems. Judge Herbert 
0 . Bowers, Secretary of the Board of School Visitors since 1898, 
has aided in the intelligent direction of schoul affairs. Frederick 
A. Verplanck has now completed thirty years as teacher and . 
superintendent of the Ninth District Schools. He assisted in the 
organization of the High School, and has signed the diplomas of 
nearly a thousand graduates. Combining clear vision with execu­
tive ability of a high order, he has been largely respons~ble for 
the position of leadership in newer educational activities which 
is now held by the Ninth Disttict Schools. In daily contact with 
pupil's, as well as with teachers, he has afforded inspiration to 
hundi·eds of children who have passed through the schools under 
his charge. 

The South Manchester Free Pitblic Library. 

In an earlier chapter,1 we have told how a group of young 
women, employees of Cheney Brothers, gave.the initiative about 
the year 1850 for the founding of a circulating library. Their 
work being of a monotonous variety, involving no machinery, 
it was found that by having one of their number read aloud while 
the others worked, more was accomplished, an\) the tedium of the 
labor was forgotten. Their petition for the establisbment of a 
library was favorably received and a set of Harper's Family 
Library, in 225 volumes was purchased for a beginning. The 
books were housed at first iu the office of Cheney Brothers and 
then in the basement of Cheney Hall. From 1880 until the fire 
of 1913, the library was situated in comfortable and attractive 
quarters in a converted dwelling house on Wells Street. During 
these years a reading room with periodicals was added and the 
books were made available generally to the townspeople. After 
the fire, the books, which fortunately were saved by prompt 
action , were installed in the Eldridge homestead on Main Street 
In this more central location the use of tbe library has greatly 
lChapter VII page 101. 
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increased. Tbecirculationjsnow about 70,000volumes annually. 
The total number of books is 13,347. 

A fee system was established in 1871 with a nominal charge 
of $1 for lhe privileges of the library. From thjs source and from 
liberal donations from Cheney Brothers, the library has received 
for its uses in the past half-century approximately $135,000. 

So. Manchcsler Library 

The registration or the library is now 1,100 adults and 1,:wo 
children. In 1921 , a branch library was opened in the West 
Side R ecreation Building. 

The Manchester Free Public Library. 
The nucleus of the public library at t11e north end of town 

was supplied by the books collected by a library association 
organized in 1866. In 1895 the mngs Daughters or the North 
Congregational Church revived this institution, which had be­
come practically defunct, and installed it in a private house on 
North Main Street. Twenty years later the books were trans­
ferred to the main school building of the Eighth District where, 
under the energetic direction of Miss S. Annie Starkweather, 
its usefulness was much broadened. At presen t this library bas 
over 6,000 volumes. 

Dr. Francis H. Whiton was greatly interested in this library 
and did much to make it a success. 



CHAPTER XIV. 

TOWN GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS 

Early Problems and Their Solution. 

Before describing the nature of the changes which recently 
have taken place.in town government in Manchester, it may be 
worth while to review earlier phases of its history. The problem 
of town government in the first half-century of our corporate 
existence was relatively simple. There were roads and bridges 
to be kept in repair, schools.I to be maintained, and the poor to be 
cared for. Practically all of the ta.xes were spent for these pur­
poses. 

Three selectmen and a clerk, elected annually at the town 
meeting, were the principal executive officers. They were 
assisted by a multitude of minor officials, the duties of some of 
which, such as tithingmen and haywards, have now become 
obscure. All officials (thirty-one were chosen at the first town 
meeting) were elected by viva voce vote in a mass meeting of all 
"freemen" - i.e., qualified voters. lt must have been a kmg­
clrawn-out session, but time was not so valuable in those clays 
and town meeting was a sort of holiday. Farmers, scattered as 
they were over the township, welcomed an opportunity to get 
together and they weren't in a hurry to leave early. 

Following is a list of the officials chosen at the first town meet­
ing: 

Dudley Woodbridge, clerk, and George Cheney, Martin 
Keeney and Joseph Noyes, selectmen. 

Norman Buckland and Wells Cheney, constables. 
Eleazur S. Pitkin and Joseph Case, grand jurors. 
Ichabod Perry, Daniel Marsh, Eli Bissell, Russell Cone and 

Elisha Andrus, tithingmen. 
Alexander McLean and Calvin Cheney, fence viewers. 
Ephraim WyUys, \Vatson Keeney, Matthew C. Cadwell, 

James Brown and Deodatus Woodbridge, surveyors of highways. 
Simeon Birge. Ralph R. Phelps, Russell Cone, William Cooley, 

John Couch, Ashna Simonds, Elijah McKee, George W. Gris­
wold, haywards. 

1 The history of the schools has been told in Chapters VIII and XIII. 

223 



CENTER PARK LOOKING NORTH TOWARD HALL OF RECORDS AND 
CENTER CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 



The History of Manchester 225 

Calvin Cheney, Amos Buckland, Sidney Olcott, pound 
keepers. 

Eli Porter was ta,x collector. He received $8.50 for collecting 
the town tax, and an equal amount for the state tax. The first 
tax levy, four cents on the doJJar, seems extraordinarily high, 
but the assessment was probably proportionately- low. On the 
original grand list of $19,000.00 the tax, if collected in full, would 
have yielded $760.00. 

The Town Poor. 

A curious insight into the methods of social reform of the time 
is given by a vote of the annual meet ing in 1824, which provided 
for the building of a workhouse, or house of correction, including 
in its equipment, shackles and a dungeon. The selectmen were 
given authority to use prisoners to work on the roads. 

For some w1known reason the building voted in 1824 was not 
erected. Probably the town fathers repented their rash action, 
for in 1827 we find that they voted to hire some suitable building 
for a workhouse. In 1829, the town meeting again took up the 
problem, but reaching no decision it shifted the responsibility to 
the selectmen, directing them to provide for the support of the 
poor "as they deem expedient." The idea of a workhouse as the 
best method of caring for paupers still persistecl1 however, for in 
1833 a proposal was made to join with East Hartford in support­
ing such an institution. Evidently an agreement between the 
towns was impossible, for in 1835 the workhouse scheme was 
abandoned, the town meeting voting to "hire out" the paupers. 
Under the "hiring out" system, which was in general use in New 
England towns until about 1830, the poor \Vere auctioned off 
periodically, each year or every few years, to the lowest bidder. 
The contractor got what labor he could out of his unfortunate 
charges and made what he could from his bargain. The system 
was open to obvious abuses. But few of the towns, however, 
had enough paupers to justify the ~tablishment of a workhouse 
and local jealousies prevented co-operation for this purpose 
among groups of towns. 

For a full generation, fro1u 1835 to 1870, the town pursued a 
zig-zag policy of poor relief. For a while the paupers were hired 
out. Then conditions under t his obnoxious system evidently 
became so intolerable that the hiring or building of a townhouse 
was proposed as a remedy. But the simple inachinery of town 
government did not prove adequate to undertake such a complex 
function as institutional poor relief. We suspect, also, that the 
hiring-out system was strongly advocated by persons who hoped 
to make money for themselves out of the necessities of others. 
The record of town votes regarding the poor from 1847 to 1870 
is as follows: 
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1847 - Selectmen directed to hire a poorhouse 

1851 - Selectmen authorized "to dispose of the poor as they may 
think best" 

1854 - Committee appointed to purchase a Town Farm, not to 
exceed fifty acres, with good buildings. Suitable 
strong rooms to be erected in which to confine the 
vicious and rebellious 

1854- Special town meeting called to see if selectmen shall sell 
t he Town Farm. No action taken 

1856 - Committee appointed to investigate condition of Town 
Farm 

1856- Town meeting voted to dispose of Town Farm 

1859-Special town meeting voted to authorize selectmen to 
purchase a suitable farm for the town poor. This 
vote was rescinded at a later meeting in the same year 

1861 - Hiring-out system readopted. Special town meeting 
voted: "That the Selectmen be authorized to con­
tract with some judicious competent person for the 
keeping of the poor of this town for the term of five 
years so that they shall have a good comfortable 
support" 

1866 - Hiring-out system continued for three years 

At the expiration of the three-year contract of 1866, the ad­
vocates of the Town Farm regained the ascendancy and suc­
ceeded in carrying through the purchase of a farm and building of 
a Town House at a total cost of $8, 725. The Town House, erected 
in 1870, was replaced in 1912 by the present building on Middle 
Turnpike. 

Institutional care for a part at least of the town poor was per­
manently established over fifty years ago. But the action then 
taken did not solve the problem of poor relief in Manchester. 
Persons without families and without any means of support could 
be taken to the Poor House, but how about those who were 
partially self-supporting? The administration of outside alms 
became a vexing problem. How Manchester has worked toward 
the solution of this problem is a subject beyond the scope of this 
book. It is evident from an examination of the appended table, 
however, that the expense of outside alms has increased much 
faster than the cost of operating the Almshouse. 
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TABLE IX. 

COST OF CHARITIES IN MANCHESTER 

1863-1923 

Total Outside 
Year Charities Almsl Almshouse 
1863 $2,048 
1870 2,393 
1875 4,828 $2,708 $2,120 
1880 4,246 2,790 1,456 
1885 5,349 4,051 1,298 
1890 8,131 6,016 2,115 
1895 11,383 8,262 3,121 
1900 11 ,096 8,543 2,553 
1905 18,551 15,183 3,368 
1910 13 ,220 10,534 2,686 
1915 12 ,282 8,419 3,763 
1920 14,242 10,590 3,652 
1923 20,917 14,819 6,098 

The provision of proper medical attentionHor the poor at the 
town's expense, avoiding improper eharges to.the town's account 
is a subject which has recently been under discussion in Man­
chester. It is interesting to J.ind a town vote over forty years ago 
which indicates that even then, certain abuses had to be checked. 
In 1881 the town meeting voted: "That the physicians of the 
Town of Manchester be allowed to pay for one visit to a town 
pauper and no more, unless the matter be investigated and 
ordered by the Selectmen and in no case shall two physicians be 
called in the same case.'' 

Working Out The Road Tax. 

The roads figure frequently in the early town meetings. In 
1826 two-thirds of the entire tax levy of three cents on the dollar 
was expended on highways. The wasteful method of allowing 
taxpayers to "work out" their road taxes probably explains 
much of this seeming liberality in highway improvements. A 
certain amount was allowed per hour for men and teams to those 
who wished to work out their taxes. (In 1829 the rates were 
eight cents for men, and ten cents for teams.) A day was ap­
pointed when all gathered, a motley collection of boys and old 
men, with implements as varied and ineffective as the labor force. 
The occasion was treated as a sort of holiday and no one did 
enough work to hurt himself. A practice which did not increase 

l After 1900 the cost of maintaining town poor in state institutions is 
included in Outside Alms. ·, 
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efficiency was the custom (abolished in 1829) of supplying 
spirituous liquors at the town's expense to workers on the roads. 

In 1847 a new and rather elaborate method of caring for the 
highways was instituted. For purposes of road repairs the town 
was divided into fifty sections. The repairs of the highways in 
each section were to be let out on contract. A road agent was 
appointed to supervise the Letting of the co11tracts but the in­
spection o{ the repairs was to be entrusted to a non-resident. 
The analogy of this system to the hiring-out of the poor is ob­
vious. The new and rather feeble town government did not feel 
competent at the beginning to undertake on its own account 

New Town Administration Building 

either poor relief or highway repairs. But as the comn11,U1ity 
grew in wealth and in experience, the road contract system was 
gradually revised and finally abolished. Between 1847 and 1862 
the road contract syste'm was modified and simplified. The vote 
of 1865, however, marks a new departure. Dissatisfied evidently 
with the condition of the highways, the town voted to buy a road 
scraper, and two yoke of oxen and to hire men to do the work. 
The language of the vote indicates that the citizens had had 
enough of half-way measures. It reads: "Voted that the 
Selectmen be and hereby are directed to put the roads in this 
town in good repair and keep them so regardless of expense, and 
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the tqwn hereby holds said Selectmen responsible for the faithful 
performance of the foregoing direction." 

This action seems to have marked the end of the contract 
system. Numerous changes were later made in the methods of 
supervising road work. At times a road commission or the 
selectmen, or a road surveyor was put in charge, but the town 
never went back to the system of private contractors. Table X 
on this page shows the growth of the expenditures for roads 
(including bridges, sidewalks, etc.) s ince 1-863. If we except the 
years in which, on account of new construction, the expenses 
were extraordinarily large, it appears that fifty years ago from 
one-fourth to one-third of the total tax receipts were expended 
on roads and bridges. In 1920 the proportion was about ooe­
seventh, and in 1923, if the Main Street improvement is deducted, 
about one-tenth. 

T ABLE X. 

TAX RECEIPTS AND PRINCIPAL ITEMS OF EXPENSE 

1863-1923 

Total Expenditures 
Tax Roads and Street 

Year Receipts! Bridges2 SchooisS Charities Police Lighting 
1863 $16,485 $ 476 $2,045 $2,048 
1870 25,240 17,270 4,721 4 2,393 
1875 21,942 7,051 5,889 4,828 
1880 24,293 6,074 8,393 4,246 
1885 22,085 8,149 11, 778 5,349 
1890 38,437 6,664 15 ,350 8,131 
1895 45,545 8,966 29,121 11,383 
1900 63,421 11,539 31,924 11,096 $2,720 $5,914 
1905 85,309 22,550 42,140 18,551 3,695 6,695 
1910 123,757 17,833 57,433 13,220 3,797 7,149 
1915 193,913 77,019 81, 713 12,282 6,363 11,016 
1920 358,657 49,563 210,908 14,242 13,410 13,141 
1923 504,687 e57 ,555 5 280,185 20,917 21 ,022 13,746 

1 Receipts on list of preceding year. Includes county and state as well as 
town taxes but not taxes levied by school districts nor by fire or sanitary 
districts. 
2 Including expenditures for curbs and sidewal,s. 
3 Net ~t to Town of Manchester, not including sums expended from 
distrkt taxel\. 
•Not including $8, 725 paid for Town Farm. 
s Not including expenditures for ne1v byildiugs. 
6 Not including $59,000 expended on improvement of Main Street. 

Civil War Stiniul-Oted Effectiveness. 

T he storm and stress of the Civil War seems to have infused a 
new spirit into our town government. I t then became necessary 
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for an institution which had been doing very little to do a great 
many things, and to do them promptly. There were volunteers 
to be fitted out, bounties to be offered, and bonds to be issued. 1 

The results of the war-time activjty are to be seen in the years 
immediately afterward. The war-time expenditures had called 
attention to the need for re-assessment of real estate. This was 
undertaken in 1863. The erection of a high school was discussed 
in 1865 but without action. A town jail or "lockup" was erected 
in 1867, and the voters considered building a town hall, but as 
the Center Congregational Church was then discussing a new 
building, the town authorities decided to wait, and in 1879 pur­
chased t he old church for $700. 

Increasing Urbanization 

The increasing urbanization of the community is evident 
from a series of votes take-p between 1875 and 1890. Ordinances 
were adopted Telating to the use of side\\ralks; provision was 
made for coroners' juries, petitions were made for the protection 
of grade crossings, a committee was appointed to name streets 
and to pJace signs at street corners, and the first appropriation 
($800/ was made for street lighting. 

Re,form of Af.ac~inery of Town Government. 

With the ·widening of the field of the activities of the town 
government, and the increasing complexity of the problems with 
which it had to' deal, the need became pressing for more effective 
governmental m.achinery. At firs.t the tendency had been to care 
for new functions by increasing the number of elected officers. 
In 1855, forty-three officials were elected and a few years later 
the number had increased to almost sixty. A very moderate 
reform proposed in 1860, viz., to reduce the number of elected 
officials to fifty-three met with much opposition and was adopted 
only after prolonged debate. 

A renewed interest in the better management of town affairs 
is evident from the records of the meetings of 1876-1882. The 
Board of Selectmen was increased in numbers from two to three, 
' in 1876, and representation of the minority party was provided. 
A year later the town meeting instructed the selectmen to hold 
monthly meetings and to keep records of the same. The pay­
ment of town officials had always been a disputed matter. The 
fee system was in general us.e and many officers such as justices 
of the peace, pound keepers, etc., were thus compensated. Others 
received a per diem and many served without pay. The tax col­

_ ]ector usually received a percentage of the tax receipts. The 

1 See Chapter IX for acts of town meeting 1861-1865. 
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first recorded instance of the payment of a yearly salary was that 
of $100 voted to the town treasurer in 1877. A few years later 
(1881) selectmen were put on a salary basis with yearly com~ 
pensations of $500 for the .first selectman, $200 for the second, 
and $75 for the third. A year later this plan was abandoned and 
it was voted to pay the selectmen by the day for their services. 
Salaries were reestablished in 1897. 

Hall of Records, Center Park 

Care of The Town Records. 

The movement for better care of the town records and the 
introduction of more systematic methods in town affairs began 
in 1830, when it was ordered that all reports and accounts should 
be filed with the town clerk. The printing of the annual reports 
of the selectmen and the school visitors was authorized in 1861. 
The desirability of housing the town records in a place where 
they would be protected from fire and at the same fone be readily 
accessible was pointed out as early as 1889, when a committee was 
appointed to draw up plans for a town office building. Discussion 
ensued regarding the proper location of such a building and the 
matter was indefinitely postponed. A second committee, ap'." 
poillted in 1893, had better success, for its report was adopted and 
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the result was the construction, in 1895, of the present Hall of 
Records at the Center. The site was the gift of Frank Cheney. 
The new quarters made possible more orderly man,agement of 
town business, and the indexing of the town records was under­
taken. in 1896. 

Charter Revision of 1907. 

In 1905 the movement for a better system of local govern­
ment crystalized in the appointment of a Charter Revision Com­
mittee of fifteen members to study the subject and report to the 
town meeting. The committee included leading citizens from all 
sections of the town. Its members were R. G. Campbell, John 
S. Risley, A. Willard Case, F . Ernest Watkins, Richard Manning, 
C. E. Bunce, E. C. Hilliard, H. 0. Bowe.rs,]. J. Strickland.John 
T. Robertson, M. S. Chapman, Frank Cheney, Harry M. Burke, 
J. W. Hale and Charles 0. Treat. After the death of Mr. Chap­
man, Horace B. Cheney was appointed to the committee. 

The new charter which was framed by the Committee of Fif­
teen, and was adopted by a popular referendum, October 28, 1907, 
introduced important modifications in the old style of town gov­
ernment. For the former board of three selectmen, which had 
functioned chiefly through the "first selectman," it substituted a 
board of seven which were to be nominated by a direct primary. 
Representation of a minority party on the board 'Vas assured by 
the provision that no elector should vote for more than five 
selectmen. This provision was later repealed. 

The selectmen are elected on a general ticket and not by dis­
tricts. Their term of office is one year and their annual compen­
sation is $100. The chairman and the secretary of the board 
receive $200 each. The meetings of the board are open to the 
public and are often largely attended. 

The administration of town business was radically improved 
by the new charter. The new board of selectmen do not attempt 
to interfere in the technical details of such matters as highway 
engineeri9,g or poor relief. The charter provided for the appoint­
ment by the board pf salaried officials, a superintendent of roads 
and bridges; a superintendent of charities and a superintendent 
of parks. The police were originally to be under thedirectsuperin­
tendence of the selectmen, but by a later amendment, a police 
commission was created. The parks are now also under a park 
commission. The state legislature has amended the charter, 
enlarging the powers of the selectmen, and granting them the 
powers and responsibHities usually vested in wardens and bur­
gesses in boroughs, and in mayors and common councils in cities. 
Important among the new powers were the rights to establish 
building lines and to assess for betterments and damages. 

Perhaps the most important duty of the board of selectmen, 
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aside from the appointment of administrative officers, is the 
preparation of the budget which forms the basis for tbe appro­
priations voted in the annual town meeting. 

The town meeting, which all qualified voters are privileged 
to attend, was not abolished. Manchester still has a legislative 
assembly which, in theory at least, includes all qualified electors. 
Tbfa vestigial remnant of direct democracy, however, retains 
only the shadow of its former importance and attracts but a 
small attendance. In the interim between town meetings, the 
selectmen are the town government. They are limited in e:x­
pendjtures, no outlay of over $1,000 being legal without authori­
zation in town meeting. 

Results of Charter Revision. 
In the seventeen years of its operation the new charter has not 

brought about ideal conditions in town government , but it has 
proved, nevertheless, an important forward step. The first 
election, in 1907, resulted in the choice of seven men of recog­
nized ability and of considerable experience in town affairs. 
They were Horace B. Cheney, WiUiam E. Alvord, Arthur B. 
Keeney, Clarence G. Watkins, John M. Williams, Clinton W. 
Cowles and George H. Allen. The monthly public meetings of 
the Board are an educational influence, and they tend to make 
the town government more responsive than before to public opin­
ion. The most significant improvements are to be found in the 
work of the administrative departments .. 

As regai:ds the usefulness of direct primaries, there is much 
difference of opinion. Inasmuch as the town is solidly Republican 
in politics, the sole contest in the election of town officers is in 
the primary. On this Q.ccount there seems to be good reason for 
affording in the primaries the widest possible 'Opportunity for the 
selection by the party members of their nominees. If, as seems 
true, the direct _primaries have not resulted in the selection of as 
high a type of public official as the old style nominating caucus, 
nevertheless they have chosen the men whom the active members 
of the party want as their selectmen. 

Town Finances. 

The financial policy of the town has always been conservative. 
Although favored with a constantly mounting grand list, it has 
paid for permanent improvements largely out of current revenues 
and so has avoided the accumulation of a large funded debt. It 
may be that the pay-as-you-go policy has been pushed to an un­
wise extreme, burdening present-day taxpayers with the entire 
cost of improvements whose benefits will extend to future genera­
tions. The absence of a considerable funded debt is to be ex-
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plained in part, also, by the generosity of Cheney Brothers in 
paying for the construction of a number of public utilities in 
South Manchester. In order to arrive at the total public in­
debtedness of the community, the amounts o{ bonds issued by the 
school, fire and sanitary districts should be added to the debt of 
the town. 

The following table shows the grand list, the tax rate, total 
expenditures and indebtedness at five-year intervals since 1860. 

TABLE XI. 

GRAND LIST, TAX RECEIPTS AND INDEBTEDNESS 
1860-1923 

Grand Tax 
Year List1 Receipts Indebtedness 
1860 $1,463,808 ...... . . .. . ... 
1865 1,687,683 $16,4852 

$26:177 1870 1,941,700 25,240 
1875 2,407,055 21,942 a 
1880 2,563,626 24,293 1,913 
1885 2,765,440 22,085 3' 132 
1890 3,644,675 38,437 31 ,025 
1895 6,377,759 45,545 66,446 
1900 7 '221,605 63,421 97,966 
1905 11 , 252, 191 85,309 131,402 
1910 16;255,302 123,757 115' 180 
1915 21,472' 134 193 ,913 123, 164 
1920 32,542,739 358,657 100,892 
1923 35 '099 '011 504,687 216,575 

Manchester's Public Servants. 
It would be impracticable to attempt to estimate here the 

value of the services rende.red to the Town of Manchester by its 
many public officers. As in all communities, they were not all 
high-minded nor disinterested, but on the whole the lists which 
follow contain in large majority, men who, in the faithful conduct 
of the public business, showed that they deserved the confidence 
of the community. Two instances are found in the town records 
of formal appreciation of the services of town offidals. The first 
relates to Columbus Parker, selectman in the years 1859-1868. 
It reads: ''\V'hereas Columbus Parker Esq., our first selectman 
has filled the office for the last eight years to the acceptance of all 
concerned and while his services to the town in the rebellion be­
tween the north and south were invaluable and although he did 
not with arms march to the battle field 1 yet his services at home 
! Reassessments were made in 1863, 1870, 1900 and every fifth year thereafter. 
2 Receipts for 1863. 
:! Surplus of $4,000 in town treasur}' 
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Charles D. Parsons Rufus R. Di,mock 

Daniel Wadsworth E. A. Bliss 
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in fi lling out quota, caring for the families, etc., of those who 
were ready to sacrifice their lives in defence of our Country and 
often times at his own expense. Now therefore in view of the 
correctness in which his accounts with the town have been pre­
sented and the services rendered by him for which we feel that 
he has been poorly paid, Resolved: That the Town of Man­
chester through the chairman of th.is meetiIJ:g for the valuable 
services of Capt. Parker as first selectman of said town tender to 
him our sincere thanks and that the town appropriate the surn 
of three hundred dollars to be presented to Capt. Parker as an 
appreciation of the services rendered the town by Capt. Parker 
for whidh he has not been well paid." 

Upon the death of Charles D. Parsons, selectman in the years 
1879-1885 and 1887-1890, the following vote was passed: "Re­
solved: That in the death of Charles D. Parsons, this town has 
lost an able, efficient and upright official, and the community a 
kind and generous neighbour, a sincere friend, and willing helper 
in every good caus.e. 

"Called by his fellow citizens to fill the position of first select­
man, for many years, he brought to the discharge of the duties of 
that office, a sense of personal responsibility, with a conscientious, 
careful attention, and prudent management won the confidence 
of his fellow townsmen. 

"We desire hereby to place upon record, our appreciation aJ1d 
gratitude for the long and faithful service which he rendered this 
town. 

"Resolved: That this resolution be entered upon the town 
records and a copy of the same be sent to his family.'' 

The repeated re-election of certain individuals testifies to the 
satisfaction which the voters felt in their work. In the list of 
eighty-seven selectmen who held office in the one hundred years 
1823-1923, there are twenty-six who served for five years or more. 

The complete list of selectmen with their terms of office 
follows: 
George Cheney, 1823 
Martin Keeney, 1823, 25, 29, 

30, 34-38, 47~49 
Joseph Noyes, 1823-24, 26, 31-

32 
William Wilson, 1824, 27-28 
Norman Buckland, 1827-28, 

39-43 
Norman Hills, 1827-28 
Miner White, 1829-30, 34-38, 

41-44, 53 
Ephraim Wyllys, 1831-32 

Ralph Cheney, 1833-35 
Wolcott Dart, 1833 
Russell Eldridge, 1839 
Edward Gdswold, 1840 
Frary Bidwell, 1844-46 
Martin H . Keeney, 1846 
Salmon Millard, 1845 
Lewis Bunce, 184 7 
G. G. Griswold, 1848-49 
Ashbel W. Case, 1850-51 
Elisha Andrews, 1850-51 
Eleazure H. Hollister, 1854 
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George W. Bidwell Arthur B. Keeney 

Clinton W. Cowles 
' ' 
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Artemus Strong, 1853 
William White, 1853, 65 
Hart Porter, 1854-56, 60, 70, 

72-74 
Aaron Cook, 1854-69 
William McNalJ, 1855-58, 70-

72 
Chester Knox, 1857-58 
Columbus Parker, 1859-68, 71 
Francis Cowles, 1861 
Melancthon Hudson, 1863-64 
William G. Bidwell, 1866-69 
Henry A. Griswold, 1871, 78 
Lewis Bissell, 1873, 75-77 
Horace White, 1875 
George Bidwell, 1876-77, 97 
William H. Cheney, 1878 
E. Perry, 1879 
C. W. Cowles, 1876-78, 82-85, 

87,99-00,1909-12 
C. D. Parsons, 1879-85, 87-90 
Giles M. Hills, 1881 
Joseph B. Latham, 1880 
Elisha Williams, 1879-85, 87-88 
Charles 0. Treat, 1884-85 
John S. Cheney, 1885 
John S. Risley, 1888-89, 93-95, 

1901-03 
George H. Hall, 1888-92 
John Johnson, 1890-91 
Richard Pitkin, 1891-93, 96 
Rollin M. Reed, 1892 · 
G. H. Allen, 1893, 1909 
C.G. Watkins, 1894-1902, 1909 
J. M. Williams, 1894-95, 1909-

1910 
James Lyon, 1896 
Charles Rattenberg, 1897-98 
Henry W. Barrows, 1898-1902, 

1905 

Thomas H. Weldon, 1903-04, 
11, 18-23 

J. Arthur Corbin, 1903 
James Trotter, 1904-05 
Robert P. Bissell, 1904 
Arthur B. Keeney, 1905-08, 10, 

12, 16-17 
William E. Alvord, 1905-12 
James Bums, 1906-07 
Horace B. Cheney, 1908-12 
Austin Cheney, 1913 
Samuel Dart, 1910-11 
Thomas F. Harrington, 1910 
Robert M. Reid, 1911 
George H. Howe, 1912 
William H. Schieldge, 1912-13, 

15 
Arthur Cook, 1912 
Gilbert E. Willis, 1913-14 
W. B. Rogers, 1913-16, 18-21 
H. I. Taylor, 1913-19 
L. W. Case, 1913 
J. F . Sheridan, 1913 
A. E. Bowers, 1914, 16-22 
James Aitken, 1920-22 
J. Cairns, 1914-15 
J. Davenport Cheney, 1914-18 
William C. Cheney, 1918-23 
Clerence M. Ely, 1916 
Elwood S. Ela, 1917 
E. L. G. Hohenthal, 1913-14 
Patrick O'Leary, 1915 
Aaron Johnson, 1917-22 
James H. Johnson, 1917-19 
Earl G. Seaman, 1920 
William J. Crockett, 1921 
John W. Hyde, 1922-23 
Robert V. Treat, 1922 

The list of town clerks follows: 
Dudley Woodbridge, 1823-25 Ralph Cheney, 1847-55 
George Cheney, 1825-40 Ruf us R . Dimock (temporary) 
William Jones, 1840-44 Daniel Wadsworth , 1855-98 
Ralph R. Phelps, 1846 Sanford M. Benton, 1898-
The terms of office of Mr. Wadsworth and Mr. Benton, forty­
tQ.ree and twenty-five years respec6vely, are noteworthy. 
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The officers of the town court, established 1895, have beenr as 
follows: -

Judges Prosecuting Attorneys 
Herbert 0. Bowers, 1895-1909 Charles R. Hathaway, 1895-
Alexander Amott, 1909-21 1909; 1915-
Raymond Johnson, 1921- Harry M. Burke, 1909-12 

Deputy Judges 
Fred W. Mills, 1895-1912 
Edward J. Holl, 1912-15 
Robert E. Carney, 1915-23 
Thomas Ferguson, 1923-

Manchester Probate Court. 

Wmiam S. Hyde, 1912-15 
Assistant 

Prosecuting Attorneys 
John M. Shewry, 1895-1903; 

1909-1919 
Alexander Arnott, 1903-09 
George H. Waddell, 1921-

The Manchester Probate District was established in 1850. 
Ralph Cheney was the first judge. His successors have been 
David S. Calhoun, Rufus R. Dimock, John S. Cheney, Olin R. 
Wood and William S. Hyde. Judge Wood, who held the office 
for thirty years, retired in 1918, when attaining the age limit of 
seventy years. He now serves as Clerk of the Court. 



CHAPTER XV. 

WAR WITH SPAIN 

The United States and Spain engaged in a War brought on 
by Spain's oppression of Cuba. The cruel treatment of the peo­
ple of the little island off our southern shores was long condemned 
by the United States. For three years our Presidents had sought 
to get relief for the Cubans. 

On February 15, 1898, one of our battleships, the "Maine" 
was blown up by mines in the harbour of Havana, Cuba, sinking 
instantly; 266 men were killed, and many more wounded. 

War began with Spain on April 21, 1898. President McKinley 
called for 125,000 voJunteers, eighty-four men of Manchester 
who were members of the famous Co. G Co.nnecticut National 
Guard which had been formed soon after the Civil War, answered 
their country's call and volunteered. On May 4, 1898, they left 
their comfortable homes to do duty where duty called them. 

All business was at a stand still, stores decorated with flags, 
bands playing, and as the Co. G. boys marched by the High 
School, 1,100 of the Ninth District school children sang patriotic 
songs, cheers were given for the two high school boys in the ranks, 
William Madden and Jam es Veitch. The Company was mustered 
into the United States service with 1st Regiment Connecticut 
Volunteer Infantry, at Camp Haven, Niantic, May 17, A month 
later, the Company was recruited to war strength and twenty 
more of our men of Manchester enlisted to join Co. G at Niantic. 

Following are the names of the men in service from Man­
chester from April 21, 1898 to July 4, 1904, during Spanish­
American War, Philippine Insurrection and China Relief Ex­
pedition. 
Roster of Co. G 1st Connecticut Volunteer Infantry in War with 

Spain. 
Roster oJ Co. G, 1st Connecticut Volunteer Infantry in War 

With Spain. 
Major, 1st Regiment, Connecticut Volunteer Infantry: 

John Hickey; Captain: Joel M. Nichols; First Lieutenant: J. 
Davenport Cheney; Second Lieutenant: Lewis J. Doolittle; 
First Sergeant: Charles 0. Lord; Quartermaster: Alfred C. 
House. 
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Sergeants: Philip Fraher, Edmqnd M. Ogden, Gustave H. 
Leidholt, Charles B. \Varren. 

Corporals: James E. Sherman, Thomas J. Scott, Hany Nel­
son, Seth L. Cheney, John Connelly, Jr., William F. Madden, 
Patrick Conners, Charles H. Grabowski, George Johnson, William 
]. Nichols, Peter L. Norquist, Harry E. Olcot.i:. 

Musicians: William Crawford, Jr., Michael Spillane. Arti­
ficer; Gordon W. Dunn. Wagoner: John J. O'Neill. 

Privates: James C. Aitken, AlbertAnderso11, Alfred Aveson, 
Michael F. Barry, Joseph J . . Behrend, Alexander Berggren, 
Gustave Birath, Charles]. Carlson, John F. Carney, Austin H. 
Chamberlain, Ward Cheney, touis E. Clark, Archie W. Colton, 
Charles A. Cranick, Edward C. Cuff, Patrick F. Donahue, Frank 
P. Donnellan, John J. Doolan, Robert B. Dougan, Charles C. 
Dougherty, Fred Dux, John B. Ethridge, Clark T. Falknor, 
John Finley, Fred C. Flint, William A. Flory, Andrew J. Fox, 
Daniel Fraher, Daniel L. Garland, Conrad H . Grabbe, Edward 
Grogan, William J. Hall, Thomas Harrison, Edward Holmquist, 
Charles J. Hultman, Arthur E. Keating, Newton C. Keeney, 
John ]. Kerrigan, John V. Lahey, Samuel F. Lee, Uno Lindell, 
George Lombard, Richard L. Malkin, William J. Mallon, Frank 
E . Y. Maxwell, John J. McCann, Mark C. McCrea, John E. 
McDonald, Patrick F. McVeigh, Charles M . Mienk, Cornelius 
Moynihan, John Mulligan, Julius Mullinette, Carl F. Nelson, 
Henry C. Newbury, William Park, Fritz Pohl, Thomas W. 
Popple, William ]. Prentice, Leon Raineault, David Ritchie, 
William Robinson, Ernest Seastrand, Frederick W. Scherwitzsky, 
David Shields, Hugh Shields, Samuel Shields, Walfrid Silow, 
Edward Sinnamon, George J. Smith, Richard Smith, Daniel J. 
Sullivan, Timothy Sullivan, Frank Sweeney, Fred B. Taylor, 
Joseph Thompson, Adelbert Tripp, Richard Twarz, John Waddle, 
Alfred Westland, Thomas Wolski: 

Co. F, 1st Regiment, Edward L. and Thomas H . Montgomery. 
Co. B 3rd Regiment, Andrew W. Doran; 1st Regiment 

Artillery, Austin Cheney, Battery A. 
Although the Company did not see active service, they were 

located at the following Camps: Camp Haven, Conn., May 
4 to June 9; Fort Knox, Maine, June 10 to July 13; Camp 
Haven, Conn., July 14 to July 18; Camp Alger, Virginia, July 19 
to September 7; Camp Haven, Conn., September 8 to September 
22. 

Regiment left Camp, officers on leave, and men~ on furlough 
to report at Hartford, Conn., October 21, to muster out of Regi­
ment October 31, 1898. 

Our boys returned home, but their ranks were broken, death 
had taken one, Frank P. Donnellan, who died at the Hartford 
Hospital with typhoid fever contracted at Camp Alger, Virginia, 
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October 20, 1898. Twenty-three others of the Company were 
brought home from Virginia with the same disease but survived 
after months of suffering. 

Many of the Co. G men had enlisted in the Regular Army 
and gone to Cuba and the Philippines, where the Insurrection was 
at its worst, eveh though a peace protocal bad been signed and 
fighting kept up until April 11, 1899 when peace was declared 
with Spain. 

One member of Co. G, Thomas Popple, who had joined the 
United States Army, and in service in Cuba, died there May 17, 
1899, was brought home later. 

Ward Cheney who went out with Co. G, was commissioned a 
lieutenant in the United States Army. He was killed while on 
active duty near Imus, Cavite, Province Philippine Island, Jan­
uary 7, 1900, and his body was brought home and laid to rest 
February 16, 1900. 

In May, 1908, a camp of united Spanish War Veterans was 
organized here and named in memory of their comrade Ward 
Cheney, who lost his life in the service of his Country in the war 
with Spain. 

As a consequence of the outcome of this war, the strife of 
1861-1865 was forgotten and no North, no S~mth, we are a united 
people. 

The people of Cuba were free by this "War for Humanity." 
The following men served in the United States Am1y: Sher­

wood A. Cheney, First Lieutenant, Corps of Engineers, June 15, 
1893; John Hickey, commissioned Captain, 26th United States 
Volunteer Infantry, stationed at Philippines, July 5, 1899; 
Ward Cheney, commissioned July 9, 1898, First Lieutenant 4th 
Infantry, United States Army, died of wounds received in action 
January 7, 1900, at Imus, Philippine Islands; Frank L. Pinney, 
commissioned April 4, 1900, Ensign, United States Navy; Charles 
C. Doughtery, enlisted in Regular Army, November 8, 18981 Co. 
D, 9tb Infantry, stationed at Philippines and China until Novem­
ber 13, 1901(Volunteer with Co. G.); William M. Nichols, 3rd 
Ca 11alry, United States Army, June 13, 1899, Second Lieutenant 
(Volunteer with Co.G.) 



CHAPTER XVI. 

MANCHESTER'S PART IN THE WORLD WAR 

The Military Census. 

Manchester's participation as a community in the \Vorld War 
may be said to date from a special meeting of the board of select­
men held early in February of 1917. In accordance with an act 
of General Assembly approved February 7, 1917, 100 citizens 
were then appointed to take a military census of the town. This 
action did not mark, of course, the beginning of the interest and 
acti'.v'i;ty of our people in war affairs. In Manchester's population 
there were about 6,000 persons of foreign birth and over 7 ,500 of 
foreign or mixed parentage, many of them owing allegiance either 
to the Allied Governments or to the Central Empires. More than 
fifty Manchester men enlisted in foreign service before we entered 
the war. The census, however, was the first opportunity for the 
people of the town to act as a group in war work, and in this first 
task they set a standard for energetic and whole-hearted co­
operation which was maintained throughout the war and which 
still persists as a stimulating tradition. 

Th.e purpose of the census was to make an inventory of the 
man-power of the State. All males over sixteen were to be 
enumerated and information obtained from each regarding his 
vocational and military experience, physical condition, etc. The 
work in Manchester 'was thoroughly planned; the town was di­
vided into fifty districts with two workers assigned to each. At 
the Hall of Records a card index system was built up, where the 
records were £led as they were returned. The enumeration began 
February 17, and in ten days the task was practicaliy completed, 
with 5,000 blanks filled. The final results, which were available 
about March 15, showed that there were 6,000 adult males in 
town, of whom 1,600 were not American citizens. 

A m1mber of incidents connected with the census show the 
temper of Manchester people on the eve of the war. 

"A clergyman objected to the canvassers working on 
Sunday. He was told that the selectmen had nothing 
to do whh this. It was explained to him that one hun­
clred men had volunteered to do this work, and since 
Sunday was the best day in the week to find the residents 
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of Manchester at home, they worked on the Sabbath. 
After this explanation the clergyman withdrew his ob­
jection. The canvassers found only two men who would 
not answer the questions and they were not normal men­
tally. The canvassers found several women who were 
anxious to be included in the census. They were experi­
enced in hospital work or were teJegraph operators who 
would be valuable in case of an emergency. One man 
greeted the canvasser with: 'I will fight against any 
nation but Germany, so you need not come in here to get 
me in the army.' Another old man who had fought in 
two wars thought, also, that it was an enlistment, and he 
was very pleased to again fight for his country. Still 
another, a man who had been a paralytic for years, 
smiled when the canvasser asked him if he cou Id swim or 
drive a team. The man•could not 1ift a hand. One Ger­
man woman told the census taker rather roughly that he 
would have to step over her dead body before he could 
drag her husband off to war .. " 1 

The IiomeGuard. 

As relations with Germany became more and more critical 
it was anticipated that the Connecticut National Guard would 
be mobilized, and in order to provide a uniformed and armed 
constabulary the legislature authorized the recruiting of a Home 
Guard under the direction of a Military Emergency Board. W. 
C. Cheney, J. D. Cheney, J. P. Cheney, Philip Cheney and 
Richard Rich were appointed recruiting officers for Manchester. 
A station was opened March 19, where enlistments were re­
ceived of all men between the ages of seventeen and sixty who 
were not physically fit, or who for other reasons were not liable 
for service in the National Guard or in the United States Army. 
Physically fit unmarried rne.n between the ages of eighteen and 
forty-five were not eligible for the. Home Guard. In the first 
week forty recruits were obtained, and by the end of the month 
the new organization had seventy members. Ward Cheney 
Campo{ SpaniiSh War Veterans, twenty-three in all, enlisted in a 
body. When mustered into state service April 29, the Man­
chester unit of the Home Guard had 134 members. 

Wa.r Gardens. 

As the spring advanced Manchester's attention was turned 
to a less warlike but equally important activity, the increase in 

1 The above quotation, as well as all others in this chapter, i·s from a 
co.llection of newspaper clippings from The Evening Heral.d compiled by Fred 
H. Wall. 
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the food supply by the cultivation of war gardens. Stimulated 
by a series of articles prepared by the United States Department 
of Agriculture and printed in The Evening He1'ald, men, women 
and childre11 began to utilize spare time and spare land in growing 
vegetables. 

"The first indication of what hundreds of Man­
chester residents were contemplating, came when the 
real estate agents began to receive applications for spring 
rents. Nine out of ten persons seeking new quarters this 
spring stipulate that there should be a place for a garden 
near the house." 

"Next came the stores on Main Street where seeds 
are sold. The Blish Hardware Company reported that 
more orders were received this month than the whole of 
last season. The lumber dealers say that cold frames 
are being sold out as fast as they can have them made. 
Farmers and teamsters in the neighborhood say that 
they have enough orders already to keep their teams 
busy m;1til way into the summer. 

"Business has been unusually brisk so far this 
season for garden tools and seeds. In years past people 
were satisfied to buy tomato, lettuce, celery, pepper and 
cabbage plants ready for transplanting. This year they 
are buying the seed and raising the plants in hot houses 
and cold frames. Rakes, spades and other garden im­
plements are selling fast in every hardware store in town. 
Fertilizers also are being ordered by hundreds." 

The Chamber of Commerce gave active assistance to the 
war-gardeners. It appointed a committee to aid all persons who 
wished to raise vegetables to secure as much land as they couJd 
cultivate. At a meeting early in May of nearly 300 amateur 
gardeners of all nationalities, 200 garden plots were assigned. 
The Chamber's committee supplied fertilizer and seeds at cost, 
and also arranged for plowing and harrowing. The good fruits 
of the gardening enterprise were duly harvested. Late in October 
prizes were awarded for home gardens cultivated by school 
children. Seventy-one children participated in the competition. 
Awards were made on the basis of inspections, written reports 
and exhibition of samples of products. The winner of the first 
prize was Edward Bergeron, of Buckland, who cultivated without 
help a plot of miscellaneous vegetables measuring 640 square feet, 
and in addition raised thirteen bushels o( potatoes. 

Mobilization of Company G. 

·while this peaceful activity was flourishing, war with Ger­
many had been declared (April 17, 1917), Company G, the local 
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National Guard unit, had been mobilized and had left for training, 
and the great machinery of the Selective Setvice Act had been 
set in motion. The mobilization of the state militia_ was ordered 
March 25. All Manchester was aroused when the news arrived. 

"Main Street was almost deserted last evening 
around eight o'clock when twelve blasts from Cheney 
Brothers' siren alarmed the town. At once pande­
monium reigned. In the three moving picture theatres 
capacity houses was the rule. The first intimation of the 
trouble was given when the girl at the Central Tele­
phone Exchange called the three theatres and asked that 
it be announced from the stage that all of the operators 
of the local exchange be asked to report at once to the 
local exchange. It appears that as soon as the twelve 
whistles were sounded every person owning a telephone 
in Manchester immediately asked Central what was the 
trouble. As a result the few girls that were on duty at 
the local exchange found hundreds of lights flashing 
that they could not answer. About the same time, the 
managers of the different theatres were asked to an­
nounce that Company G had been called out. As soon 
as this announcement had been made from the stage the 
audience left, almost in a body. In one of the theatres 
three~quarters of the audience left." 

"Wells Street was soon the scene of a struggling mass 
of humanity. From homes and churches and from the 
theatres, hundreds started for the arm.ory. It was not 
known what it was all about, but the mere mention that 
Company G had been called out, directed everybody 
to the armory. At the armory, hundreds crowded into 
the hall. Within a few minutes the boys of the com­
pany began to arrive. The most of them rushed to the 
armory dressed just as they were when the whistle 
sounded, but here and there a man had waited until he 
had donned his unifonn. Captain Bissell was o~e of the 
first to arrive. He started to look up th.e roll and as the 
men arrived, he checked them off. Before nine o'clock 
all of those who were in town had reported. All hands 
were told to report at the armory at seven o'clock in the 
morning. 

"Promptly at seven o'clock next morning all of the 
members of Company G, with the exception of the two 
members who were out of the state, reported to Cap­
tain Bissell. All were in uniform. Not alone were the 
members present, but there were hundreds of women 
and children, the wives, parents and children of mem­
bers of the guard. The excitement t hat marked the 
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call to the Mexican border last year was conspicuous by 
its absence this year. The guardsmen took it more as a 
regular order. There was little excitement. The mem­
bers reported to Captain Bissell and were told to station 
themselves within calling distance of the armory until 
he received word from headquarters in Hartford." 
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When mobilized, Company G numbered ninety-one officers 
and men. Recruiting began immediately t<J bring it t1o war time 
strength. Eighteen new recruits were added the first day the 
lists were open, and many more would have been added if orders 
had not arrived to cease recruiting. At this time the local com­
pany was the largest in the state. A week of tense expectancy 
ensued. The air was full of rumors. New uniforms and equip­
ment arrived. New quarters in the Barnard School were opened, 
whi~h provided opportunity for games. Daily drills at Mt. 
Nebo and hikes in the neighborhood helped to ease the strain. 
On March 30, the company was mustered into the Federal ser­
vice. 

Finally, on April 4, the call came. This time there was no 
shrieking siren, nor terror nor confusion. 

"Today when the call came, although the guardsmen 
were scattered several miles around the armory, swift 
messengers summoned them hastily. While they formed 
in line, auto trucks were loaded with the equipment, 
special cars came rolling along on time, farewells were 
said with smiling faces, and the boys swung from Wells 
Street into Main as if on parade. At the Center they 
boarded cars and between 2 :30 and 3 :00 o'clock they 
started for Hartford. Where they will go from there is 
not known." 

"Just the immediate friends and relative$ of the 
guardsmen were present when they left the armory. 
The alarm whistle was not sounded. The majority of 
the residents of the town did not know that the com­
pany had been called. Among those who bid the 
guardsmen farewell was the wife of Private Frank 
Gardner, a bride of a week." 

"During the noon hour the wives, sjsters and sweet­
hearts of the boys rushed from the mill to the armory 
and said goodbye. There was none of the confusion 
which marked the parting last June when the boys 
started for Niantic. The soldiers smiled and joked as 
they said their farewells." 

For three months the Company was with the First Regiment 
m Hartford. While there its members were increased to 150 
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through a recruiting campaign in Manchester, in which the 
Home Guard was active. In the June evenings the town gave 
the impression of being under martial law. Uniformed pickets, 
stationed on the principal street comers, buttonholed every 
young man who passed. They greeted every prospect good­
naturedly and tried to interest him in the army or in the national 
Guard. As a result of the campaign sixty-seven young men 
volunteered. 

Activities of Non-Combatants. 

Early in May organized efforts began to make available to 
the government the services and money of non-combatants. 
The Fir.st Liberty Loan made no great stir to begin with: Sub­
~criptions were received at the Trust Company, b1:1t for several 
months no concerted effort was made to sell bonds. On May 8 
a branch of the Hartford Chapter of the Red Cross was organized, 
under the leadership of C. Elmore Watkins. One hundred mem­
bers were secured at the first meeting. Headquarters were opened 
in the Recreation Building and work began on hospital needs. An 
active canvass for members was set in motion at the end of the 
month, resulting in the addition within a week of 2,800 new 
members. In June began the task of soliciting $35,000, the 
quota assigned to Manchester of the $100,000,000 national 
fund. Encouraged by subscriptions of over $30,000 on the first 
day of the .drive, the executive committee voluntarily raised the 
quota to $50,000. The energy and systematic direction which 
had characterized Manchester's military census, was again in 
evidence. Speakers were engaged and mass meetings arranged 
in order to stimulate and educate the people to the importance 
of the Red Cross work. Then the field \Vas divided among teams 
of voluntary canvassers who went to work with a will. Money 
poured in so rapidly that within a few days the goal was ad­
vanced again to $70,000. 

The Draft. 

During the summer of 1917 the work of the Red Cross went 
ahead, with training of first aid classes and making of hospital 
supplies. The War Gardens were cultivated, and under the 
leadership of the Educational Club, food conservation was 
preached and practiced. But the great event which held the 
foreground of the community's attention was the draft. Regis­
tration Day was a unique event. By the quiet earnestness of 
those who participated, the occasion inspired the whole com­
munity. 

"Never within the recollection of anyone, except 
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th.ose who remember the days of the Civil War, has 
there been any such exhibition of military spirit as _has 
stirred the town today. The activity focussed at the 
Center where tents and soldiers in uniform occupied the 
lawn in front of the Town Hall and where a constant 
stream of young men has been pouring thro:ugh the old 
building and emerging with little blue tickets showing 
that they had registered for the draft into army service. 
Up at the belfry of the Center Church, the Red Cross 
clock registered the new recruits to the home army of 
relief. Conspicuous posters told of the Liberty Loan 
meeting at High School hall tonight. 

"For the first hour the men arrived faster than they 
c-0uld be handled, but this caused no confusion. They 
.:;tood patiently in line. outside of the hall until those 
ahead had registered. No one had to wait long, and 
after the rush the registrars were able to keep the line in 
motion. Still there was little spare time and few of the 

t registrars had even time to glance at their morning 
papers. 

"Before noon 1,100 names had been recorded. There 
was a lull during the noon hour but in the afternoon 
the crowd began to form and a steady stream of men 
going in and out of the town hall kept up until the last 
man had registered at .nine o'clock. There was no con­
fusion and no objections. Few claims for exemption 
were made. One man said he objected to war on general 
principles, and one man belonged to a religious sect that 
was against war. Men employed in mw1itions factories 
wrote that they were doing work for the Government. 
Austrians, Hungarains and Russians were in the ma­
jority of those who had not taken out citizenship papers 
and the Italians, on the other hand, were in the majority 
of those foreign born who had taken out first papers. 

"The interior of the Town Hall resembled a school 
room all day yesterday. The settees had been removed 
from the floor, and the long tables around the room made 
a hollow square. Behind the tables sat the registrars, 
and opposite each registrar sat a candidate for registra­
tion. The two had their heads together consulting 
earnestly but quietly. One of the late comers was a 
husky looking young fellow who was anxious to be regis­
tered but had not reached his twenty-first birthday. 
As the law made no provision for him, the registrars were 
obliged to refuse bis fervent appeal that he be admitted 
to the draft. He was advised to go down stairs and en­
list in Company G. Then it came out that he had been 
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rejected from the National Guard. With tears in his 
voice, he declared that he had tried to enlist in almost 
every branch of the service, but had been turned down 
everywhere because, forsooth, he was minus one toe! 
He went away sorrowing to seek another interview with 
Captain Bissell." 

The local exemption boatd then became the center of interest. 
For draft purposes Manchester was in a djstrict which included 
East Hartford, Marlborough and South Windsor. The exemption 
board was composed of E. L. G. Hohenthal, a well-know local 
resident, chairman; Clayton W . Wells and Dr. F. H. Mayberry. 
The total number of registrants in the district was4,274 of whom 
1.954 were Manchester men.1 

For a month or more after registration the center of interest 
was shifted to Washington, where the serial numbers of the 
first men to be called were selected by lot. A list of 500 numbers 
was published in Manchester about August 1, and on August 9 
the first examinations were held. Fifty-eight men appeared 
before the physicians at the Barnard School. Of these, ten were 
accepted and filed no claims for exemption. The first man 
accepted was Paolo Toscano, twenty-seven years old, a spinner 
employed by Cheney Brothers. He. waived the exemption which, 
as an Italian alien, he might have claimed. 

"The Barnard School building was a busy place 
this morning. In half a dozen of the school rooms 
doctors in their shirt sleeves were putting draft candi­
dates through their paces, the candidates themselves 
being stripped to the skin. The doctors examined 
eyes, ears and throat, lungs, heart and muscles, and 
carefuJJy inspected all symptoms of disease. The work 
began at eight o'clock and from that time on, Vine 
Street was filled with automobiles and the corridors 
of the big school building were thronged with young 
men awaiting their tum with the examiners. Practically 
every doctor in town was engaged in the work of exami­
nation. Two or three of them together worked in oue 
room, and each group had a clerk to fiJJ out the blanks. 

"It took about an hour to get things organized and 
to make the different officials familiar with their duties, 
but by nine o'clock the mill was running smoothly and 
was grinding out its product at a steady pace. The 
candidates were, of course, greatly interested in the 
proceedings. They did not say much, but they realized 

l These figures refer to the registration of June 5, 1917. Altogether 
10,264 men were registered by Local Board No. 1 of whom 4,294 were .Man­
chester men. 
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that upon the result of their examinations depended 
the whole future course of their lives. Those individuals 
who were found to have disqualifying infirmities, ~mch 
as defective eyesight or hearing, brightened up per­
ceptibly when they were assured that they would be 
exempt." 
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The draft had now begun to assume a much more serious 
aspect. Selection was no longer a matter of chance. Within a 
few hours the whole course of a man's career might be changed 
by the decision of the examining board. At intervals of a few 
days the examinations continued all through the stiffing heat 
of August. Physical fatigue and the burden of responsibility 
bore heavily on the examining physicians and on the members 
of t he board. 

"The men on the exemption board are not to be 
envied. Their task is hard and trying. It entails 
infinite attention to detail through long hours. Exact 
justice to every man in the draft requires that no process 
be overlooked. When it comes to passing upon ex· 
emption claims, they are compelled to break up many 
happy homes and divorce many a man from a good job. 
It goes without saying that they don't like to do this. 
Some of those upon whom they pass sentence are their 
personal friends, perhaps their relatives; but they 
must put out of their minds all personal sentiments 
and act solely upon cold judgment. Even then they 
will be critidsed and perhaps make life-long enemjes. 
The work is telling upon the men. They all say it is 
the hardest job they ever tackled." 

On August 24 the Exemption Board completed its work on 
the first group of 494 candidates. Seventeen of the group failed 
to appear when called, and these included a number of transient 
workers in the tobacco field, and aliens. Of the remaining 477, 
150 were certified. Clajms for exemption were denied in 6.fty­
four cases, and ninety-six claimed no exemption. At once plans 
were undertaken to dispatch the drafted men to Camp Devens, 
at Ayer, Mass. A few picked men went first in small groups at 
intervals of a few days, but the large delegation, 100 men, left 
on September 19. In honor of this event, and as a mark of re­
spect and encouragement to all the men called from Manchester 
to the National Army, it was planned to hold a great celebration. 
Meanwhile, thm1e who were to depart early were not forgotten. 
A farewell reception and dinner was given to them, at which 
many words of good cheer were spoken, and each was given a 
Red Cross comfort kit, a safety razor and a plentiful supply of 
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tobacco. The Red Cross kit contained a pack of cards, two 
handkerchiefs, scissors, 'v1:iting materials, a "housewife," candles, 
shoestrings, soap, shaving powder, combination tooth paste and 
tooth brush, absorbent cotton and gauze bandage. 

Departure of First Quota of Drafted Men. 

Saturday, the fifteenth, was a great day in Manchester. For 
a whole week committees composed of the town's most promi­
nent men and women had been working to arrange the celebra­
tion to the most minute detail. The contemporary account 
reads: 

"The tang of patriotism permeates the very atmos­
phere of the town this afternoon. The blare of brass, 
the shrill of fifes, the reverberations of the drums, the 
swirl of the pipes. The marching men in khaki. The 
veterans of the Civil War and the young men soon to 
bear their share of the burden that will make the world 
safe for democracy. The streets packed five deep with 
men, women and children. Residences and stores 
covered with bunting ot the national colors, and Old 
Glory and the flags of the Allied nations everywhere. 
Cheers for the marchers and especially for the boys 
who are to leave next Thursday. Every band and nearly 
every civil organization in line. Such are the scenes 
this afternoon in what will go down in history as Man­
chester's greatest patriotic demonstration. 

"As the men chosen fot the National Army arrived, 
they were each given a small flag, which was their mark 
of distinction in the parade. As they formed into line 
their fair friends of the gentler sex crowded near them 
and hardly a man but had a woman with him, a sister, 
mother or sweetheart. This part of the parade naturally 
was the center of attraction, for it was because of these 
men that the town arranged this monster demonstra­
tion. There was more or less confusion as the various 
contingents arrived, but soon everything was in readi­
ness and the word was given promptly at the hour 
scheduled. 

"Then came the selected men for the National 
Army. These were the cynosure of all eyes and as 
they marched up Main Street a steady hum of hurrahs 
marked their progress. The boys for the first time 
realized that they were Manchester men and that Man­
chester was behind them. Before, to many of them, 
it was somewhat like a dream but now they came to 
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a full realization of the fact that they were about to 
take up the nation's burden, the state's burden and 
the town's burden; the job of making the world safe 
for democracy. Unconsciously their shoulders were 
thrown back and they looked more like soldiers than 
they did any other time in their lives. As they passed 
the crowds cheered and remarks were heard on all sides 
what a splendid body of men Manchester would have 
in the National Army. All young, stalwa.rt men. There 
is something in the sound of fife and drum that always 
reminds one of the Revolutionary War, possibly that 
famous picture, 'The Spirit of '76,' and as the fifes 
sounded, and the spectators realized that these young 
men were soon to go to war, a patriotic thrill swept 
over the throngs. Scientists call this thrill mob psy­
chology and if ever thousands of hearts beat in unison 
with patriotism as the theme, this afternoon's demon­
stration was an example." 
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In the evening a dinner was given to the drafted men in the 
parish hall of the Center Church, where they were served boun­
tifully and cheered with many hearty words of Godspeed. In 
particular, they were assured that the community would care 
for those whom they had left behind. 

The real parting came early in the morning several days 
later, when sixty-£ve young men said good-bye to several hun­
dred relatives and friends who had gathered at the South Man­
chester Post Office to see them off. 

"There was little ceremony . . . . . . . 
But it was a genuine farewell, the crowd being made up 
largely of relat ives, sweethearts and intimate friends 
of the departing men. While the men left with smiling 
faces, showing their determination to be brave and do 
their best, there were tear-stained faces among them, 
as well as among those who were left behind. One of 
the most touching scenes as the men were leaving was 
tJ1e embracing and kissing of two brothers. Both were 
big husky fellows, but no one thought the less of them 
for this demonstration of brotherly love." 

Company Gin Camp at New Haven. 

While all these affairs were happenin_g in Manchester, Com­
pany G had been spending the summer in camp at Pratt Field, 
New Haven. A letter of July 31, reads: 

"The camp itself is rapidly improving. Sanitary 
conditions are of the best, with the exception of showers, 
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which are on the way. Just now we are taking advan­
tage of the Second Regiment shower. The New Haven 
Y. M. C. A. has the welcome sign all renovated, and 
at times a dip is enjoyed by the boys. Eats? Oh, yes! 
We are faring well. No cake, no pie and the like, but 
good wholesome food prepared by an efficient corps of 
old timers. 

"About the work·in the field. There's plenty of it 
and when a man finishes his day's drill he realizes that 
the main army offers no joy course. The men are stand­
ing up under it fine, especially the fellows who went 
down to Arizona last summer. Their training has 
stood them in good stead and their names are seldom 
seen on the daily sick report. 

"The discipline is of the best. This may be attrib­
uted to the painstaking efforts of our officers and the 
responsibility each man takes upon himself to uphold 
the name of 'G' and while a man may fall down on some 
minor infraction, the regiment's quota of prisoners is not 
made up of a single 'G' man. 

"To see the prisoners marching under an armed 
guard doing the disagreeable jobs around camp such 
as chopping wood, digging trenches and other jobs too 
numerous to mention, makes a lasting impression on 
the observer." 

In September the orders to sail came, and Company G, now a 
part of the Second Battalion, 102nd Infantry, embarked on the 
transport Lenape. When only three days out from New York 
the ship sprang a leak and was forced to return to port. On 
October 27, the battalion again embarked on the S. S. Adriat,ic. 
Early in November the Manchester boys landed in France, and 
the first winter was spent in training around the town of Rouvres­
la-Chetive in the Vosges Mountains. It was at this place that 
Corporal James Strange died. 

Liberty Loans and Other Drives. 

The Second Liberty Loan Campaign began early in October, 
1917. The First Loan had made but little stir, although $460,000 
of the bonds were sold in Manchester. For the Second Loan a 
quota of $677,000 was set for Manchester. This meant a more 
intensive campaign and a more direct appeal to small savers. 
A stirring two weeks' campaign ensued. The Chamber of 
Commerce subscribed for $1,000, the Foresters, the Masons 
and the Knights of Columbus for $5,000 each. Boy Scouts and 
newsboys bought baby bonds. At a monster rally held in High 
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School Hall over $25,000 was subscribed. One man bought ten 
$50 bonds, one for each of his ten children. High School students 
bought bonds on the installment plan. In the Cheney mills 
1,941 employees purchased $130,000 of bonds. A great parade 
with over 3,500 marchers aroused great enthusiasm during the 
last days of the drive. When the books were finally closed it was 
found that the loan had been handsomely oversubscribed. 
Over 3,500 individual subscriptions had been received, totaling 
$1,130,000. 

After that drives came thick and fast. The Knights of 
Columbus and the Y. M. C. A. co-operated in lending assistance 
in their respective efforts; the Salvation Army was successful 
in its modest appeal. Then came a Third and Fourth Liberty 
Loan1 campaign, a second Red Cross appeal, and finally a 
United War Work Fund. · 

One of the memorable war activities in which the town dis­
tinguished itself was in the organization and development of 
the War Savings Campaign. This was entrusted to Mr. C. E. 
House, as .chairman of the committee, and he was indefatigable 
in its development. As a result $351,794.88 face value, or about 
$425,000.00 maturity value, was subscribed to in War Savings 
securities by citizens of the Town of Manchester. Through 
various and interesting devices that diverted the small rather 
than large savings in goods and services away from non-essentials, 
this purchasing power was converted into producing war essen­
tials. 

Mrs. A. L. Crowell of Highland Park was also very successful 
in the organization of a Taft War Savings Club, through which 
nearly $100,000 was included in the above by those who sub­
scribed to $1,000 or over. 

One of the interesting activities was.a Universal Registration 
Day upon which all of the inhabitants of Connecticut were 
summoned by a proclamation of the Governor to assemble in 
their several school houses and pledge themselves both by sacri­
fices and by contributions to the making of economies effective 
in order that war production might be pushed. 

T he State Campaign was under the leadersh ip of Mr. Howell 
Cheney, federal director of War Savings. The Manchester 
activities were illustrative of a type of war campaign that en­
listed the interest of every community in Connecticut, and 
through which the value of something over $17 ,000,000 was 
drawn from non-essentials to war supplies, besides putting the 
government in immediate possession of this money to be loaned 
to our Allies or used for other war purposes. 

1 To the Third Liberty Loan there were t,929 subscriptions amounting 
in all to $973,250. Subsc1·iptlons to the Fourth Joan totalled $1,204,600 and 
the number of subscriptions was 2,180. 
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Other Forms of War Work. 

Although the "drives" held the center of the stage, other 
vital, if less spectacular, forms of war work were not neglected. 
The Food Conservadon Campaign was pushed until over 2,300 
housewives had signed Hoover pledge cards. A welfare com­
mittee of the Chamber of Commerce undertook the care of 
dependents of soldiers. The War Bureau was organized in 
December, 1917, to co-ordjnate and assist in all war activities 
and to censor all subscription lists and methods of raising money 
for war work. From this time the Bureau became the central 
agency and focus of Manchester's war-time activities. Among 
these varied undertakings, there were two wruch held promise of 
becoming permanent sources of benefit to the community. One 
was the work of Americanization, and the other the Child Wel­
fare Movement. Under the leadersrup of Mrs. C. W. Cheney 
and Mrs. H. 0. Bowers, Cradle Roll parties were held in many 
of the local churches, at which over 1,000 babies were weighed 
an.cl measured. A health center was opened during the summer 
at the open air school, which gave instruction to mothers in the 
care of children. 

The Red Cross at Work. 

The Red Cross was working at high speed. A contemporary 
description of the daily scene at the Recreation Building follows: 

"Today at the Recreation Building offered a good 
example of the local Red Cross ladies at their regular 
work. Three large rooms were filled with women, all 
seated at large tables, busily occupjed before various 
piles of fabrics, each worker with fingers fairly flying 
over her appointed task. Let no one make the mistake 
of thinking that these ladies rod not mean business. The 
determined manner with which they went at their 
work, their diligent application, the absence of more 
than occasional courteous conversation, and their 
prompt and agreeable acquiesence in complying with 
such directions as were given them, proved positively 
that they were there for serious work and for no other 
purp,ose. 

'For the past nine months the local Red Cross has 
been constantly engaged upon its work for the soldiers. 
A complete report of the work of the local chapter for 
this period would astonish the townspeople. Space 
will not permit such a report here, but a few facts will 
be set forth as an example of what the chapter is doing. 
For instance, during the past six weeks eighty-six sets 
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of knitted articles were completed. There were fifty­
nine comfort kits sent to individual soldiers who are al­
ready away, and to enlisted and drafted men. In the 
meantime, there were shipped to the Atlant-ic Division 
headquarters, New York, forty sweaters, ten helmets, 
sixty pajrs of wristlets, fifty pairs of socks, forty-five 
surgical shirts, .fifteen pajamas, eighty wash cloths, 
nine eye bandages~ four pair bed socks and ten towels. 
In addition to the above, during the last six weeks the 
local chapter of the R ed Cross has sent to the head­
quarters in New York no less than 4, 700 surgical dress­
ings in two shipments." 
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A membership campaign in December succeeded in enrolling 
10,282 persons oI all ages from eight hours to ninety-Jive years. 
fo a population of 16,800 there were, on an average, three mem­
bership::; for each family in town. In the two years June 1917-
J une 1919, the Manchester chapter raised funds amounting 
to $197 ,000. The bulk oi this was used for soldiers and sailors 
and their families. 

The Red Cross proved its value as a local institution during 
the influenza epidemic of Octobet-, 1918. Cheney Hall was 
promptly converted into an emergency hospital and a com­
munity kitchen was set up in the Barnard School. High School 
girls, working under the direction of Miss Burbank, the in­
structor in domestic science, prepared hot noon-day meals which 
they sent out to families in which there was sickness. Over SOO 
families were thus supplied. 

"One of the most important and far reaching phases 
of local Red Cross work the last two years was the wo1·k 
of the home service section. Over 1,200 Manchester 
men were in the service and over 1,000 of them were 
discharged during the past year. Practically every one 
of the thousand discharged men registered in the roll of 
the home service section of Manchester chapter of the 
Reil Cross at the War l3ureau . And perhaps ninety 
percent. of the thousand had matters which required 
expert attention and much letter writing. Overdue 
allottments, checks, war risk insurance complications, 
vocational training matters and dozens of other sub­
jects perplexed the soldier, and he would have had to 
take recourse in legal aid in countless cases unless the 
home service section had stepped in and acted for 
him." 1 

Manchester Eve11.ing 'flerald, November 1, 1920. 
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Dr. Hesselgraves' Work in France. 

Communication with the boys in France was unsatisfactory. 
It was not until August, 1918, that a few of the G men, who came 
back to assist in training the drafted men, visited friends in town 
and brought news and messages from Manchester boys. Letters 
not infrequently were long delayed in transit and were, of course, 
strictly censored. It was on this account that the townspeople 
took a keen interest in the decision of Dr. C. E. Hesselgrave, 
the pastor of the Center Church, to go to France as a Y. M-lC. 
A. worker. Although he still retained his connection with the 
Center Church, be soon came to be recognized as in a special 
sense an emissary from the entire community to its men in the 
trenches. In the following May, Dr. Hesselgrave wrote back 
to friends .in Manchester of his work at the front: 

"I have been at . . . for five or six weeks. It 
is on the western front and we are stationed in the 
midst of a wild, desolate district where for miles there 
stretches a great belt of hills and valleys, where the 
orchards have all been cut down, the trees almost en­
tirely destroyed, by shell fire or by bombing, or some­
times by wanton destruction. The soil is very pro­
ductive when it is productive, but after its siege of war 
great stretches of it are almost seas of mud. Our so­
called hut is in a deserted building in a deserted village 
some five miles from any human habitation, although 
there are many other similar villages all around us, and 
is some few miles from the firing line. Our American 
soldiers are scattered in dug-outs and in caves which 
hold anywhere from 50 to 5,000 men, some of them a 
dozen, some of them 500: some of them 750. They 
are dug into this chalk-like stone, which is very easily 
chipped out, and held up with great props, beams, etc., 
sometimes high, sometimes low; sometimes having 
several entrances, now and then not more than one. 
The fields all about are full of shell-holes and scarred 
with trenches and wire entanglements and all the 
debris and destitute remnants of civilization and 
industry. There are factories torn to pieces, sometimes 
only the foundations left. Hardly a house within miles 
that has even half a roof. Most of the buildings have 
been of stone. I, myself, live in a dug-out which is an 
excavation in the earth, and which is approached by a 
series of steps, covered with corrugated steel, and 
covered over with dirt, sand-bags and all sorts of 
debris, including parts of stone buildings. 

"Our Y. M. C. A. hut is of stone, with a fireplace 
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badly shot to pieces on one side, which we have mended 
with corrugated iron, and in which during the cold, 
stormy and rainy weather we kept a fine fire burning. 
Around the walls our boys have made tables from the 
boards and we have covered them with such material as 
we could get and supplied them all with writing ma­
terials for carrying messages to friends in the homeland. 
Here on one side, also, we have our canteen, in which 
chocolate, candy, oranges, toilet articles and such things 
are sold in such quantities as we can secure through 
the Supply Department via the Supply Depots. A 
part of my duty is to carry materials from this post up 
to boys in the front line trenches, where from time to 
time we were treated to showers of shells from the Ger­
man guns. It is only comparatively safe in the day­
time to pass through the long trenches with great care 
and with proper attention to facilities for dodging under 
cover when the whirring shells give warning of their 
approach . 

"\'f\7e have a splendid group of boys to work with -
from Hartford, Manchester and surrounding towns -
and our life has been one of sympathy and mutual 
understanding, as well as happy friendships. 

"Every Sunday morning in our cave we hold church 
worship, sometimes by the dim light of candles, and 
sometimes practically no light at all. Part of the time 
we have hymn books to assist in our worship and part 
of the time only such hymns and Scripture as the boys 
could recall, under the leadership of the Y. M. C. A. 
Secretary (Dr. Hesselgrave) were used." 

"Catholics and Protestants alike have attended 
these services, which are of a religious rather than a 
sectarian character. I have taken special pains to help 
the Catholic boys by securing the Priest to come and 
hear confessions in my dug-outs, securing rosaries for 
those who bad lost their prayer chains, and attending 
to such other matters as especially concerned the 
Catholic boys." i 
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Returning soldiers were enthusiastic in their praise of Dr. 
Hesselgrave. Said one of them : 

" 'Pop,' 'Father' and any name which shows appre­
ciation of his work is called out to Dr. Charles E . Hes­
selgrave when he comes to the G boys in the trenches. 

1 Rev. Father McGurk of St. James' Church spoke appreciatively of this 
phase of Dr. H.esselgrave's work at a dinner held in the interest of the United 
War Work Fund. 
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The local fellows think the world of Dr. Hesselgrave. 
He is the only Y. M. C. A. man who dared to go into 
the first line trenches where G was to serve them. He 
goes to the G men and all the Manc)lester fellows as 
often as he possibly can. Whenever they cannot pay 
for their chocolate and other good things, Dr. Hessel­
grave manages to get them the money or gives it to 
them free, paying for it himself. Every G man looks up 
to Dr. Hesselgrave as a wonderful man, and they are 
looking forward to the time when be will come back 
home witb them and enjoy a real reunion in town." 

Another link between home and "over there" was furnished 
by the Salvation Army girls. Early in the war seven Manchester 
young women from the local Corps volunteered for foreign ser­
vice. Two of them, the Misses Martha and Esther Turkington, 
were sent over and were found by the boys of Company G serving 
coffee and doughnuts at a canteen station ~under fire. 

The Summer of 1918. 

The summer of 1918 was an anxious time. The American 
troops had gone into action on the battlefields of France and one 
by one the reports of casualties brought sorrow to Manchester 
families. It was at Chemin de Dames that Company G was 
first engaged, and there Corporal Walter Balch and Pr.ivate 
Thomas Morrison were wounded. 1 Not long afterward Private 
Ernest G. Anderson died of gas poisoning. Sergeant Adolph 
Cornell, the son of Rev. P. J. 0. Cornell, the )Yastor of the Swedish 
.Lutheran Church, was killed in an .engagement near Chateau 
Thierry. His brother died of pneumonia a few months later in a 
camp on this side. 

The work of the draft boa.rd continued and all through the 
su1mner groups of Manchester boys were sent off to the training 
camps with a dinner and cordial farewells. 

Toward the end of the summer news of long-awaited Allied 
vietories began to ar.rive. On November 5 the announcement 
of a great Italian victory and Austria's surrender aroused great 
enthusiasm among Manchester's residents of Italian birth. 

"Out of the fogginess of Oak Street into the glare of 
Manchester's White Way, with a fanfare of martial 
music, came a throng of Italian patriots, braving the 
rain to give to Manchester a demonstration of their 

l The first Manchester man to be lcilled in the war was Sergeant Robert 
Glenny, who was wounded at Ypres, dying September 23, 1917. He was a 
graduate of the South Manchester Higl1 School, who had later settled in 
South Africa, and had there enlisted in the British Army. 
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joy and thankfulness. Preceded by the Italian band 
and marching to the tune of 'We'll Rally Round the 
Flag, Boys,' 'the marchers swept up Main Street and 
many of the townspeople, catching the spirit, soon 
joined in, and there were about three hundred in the 
line of march when the procession reached the Center. 
Even the 'billy cop' gave the paraders the right of way 
as the marchers swept around the circle back down 
Main Street again. All along the line of march the resi­
dents cheered the I talians and the windows of the 
buildings along Main Street were fil led with people who 
wondered what on earth was happening. Many 
thought it was a political turnout.'1 
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A few days later, seizing upon an unconfirmed rumor that 
peace had been declared, the pent-up Jongi.ng of the community 
burst all bounds. The silk mills were closed, the school children 
dismissed, and soon the -streets were thronged with happy-faced 
men, women and children. Flags blossomed out everywhere. 
Automobiles rushed through the streets carrying flags and 
sounding horns. Impromptu parades were held, some with 
drums and some with boys beating tin pans. The more the 
newspapers denied the rumors, the more the people insisted the 
news was true. Parade followed parade. Staid citizens, catching 
the infection, seized instruments from the bandsmen and re­
leased their spirits in an orgy of sound. 

Armistice Day. 

At last, at three o'clock in the morning of November 11, the 
real glad news was received. According to pre-arrangement the 
signal was g:ive·n by factory whistles and church bells. People 
poured into the streets, awaking the echoes and their neighbors 
with whatever noise-making device was handiest. In the fore­
noon a monster parade was set in motion. 

"Manchester has had many parades during the last 
year but none which equalled that of this forenoon. 
There have been more elaborate and more spectacular 
parades but never one in which enthusiasm and rejoic­
ing appi:oached the level of today's. There was nothing 
forced or mechanical about it. It was the natural out­
burst of long-pent emotions. J oy was on every (ace 
and in every heart. The crisp November air was 
electrified with it. There was only the roughest pre­
tense of order in the formation. 1t looked as if every­
body had seized a flag or some noise-making device, 
donned whatever fantastic or decorative garb was handy 
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and sailed in to celebrate. Fathers and mothers, 
brothers and sisters, wives and sweethearts of men in 
the service showed their joy in different ways, but all 
shared in the feeling of relief that the specter of death, 
which had haunted their loved ones had been banished 
for all time." 

T he dramatic moment of the celebration, and perhaps of the 
whole war-time, crune at daybreak, when thousands of Man­
chester's people stood in Center Park as the sun rising over the 
Bolton hills ushered in a new day, and with bared heads sang 
"The Star Spangled Banner" and "America." 

Manchester's Honor RoU. 

On Manchester's honor roll fot service in the World War 
there are 1,242 names,1 distributed among various branches of 
service as follows: 

United States Army . . . . 932 
United States Navy and Marines 182 
I n Allied Armies . . . . . . 58 
Y .M. C.A., Salvation Army and Red Cross Work 17 
Nurses in Allied Armies . 1 
Y eomanettes . . . . 12 
Miscellaneous Activities; . 40 

Total;. 1,242 

Heroes of the World War. 

Three Manchester men received Distinguished Service 
Crosses. A posthumous award was made to Private Joseph 
D ilworth, Company A, 39th Infantry, 4th Division - "for 
extraordinary heroism in action near Montfaucon Hill, France, 
September 26, 1918. After his squad leader had become a 
casualty, he assumed command and led his men against a machine 
gun nest, materially assisting in the capture of two guns and 
prisoners. He was killed in the performance of duty." 

Sergeant Ratenburg of the sanitary detachment, lOlst Ma­
chine Gun Battalion, received his award "for extraordinary 
heroism in action north of Chateau Thierry, F rance, July 22, 
1918. Although wou nded in three places by machine gun bullets, 
he followed the attack and continued his duty, thereby inspiring 
his comrades." 

Sergeant James H. Roberts, Company K, 39th Infantry, 4th 
Division, a regimental fellow of Dilworth, received his award in 

1 A full list, a duplicate of that on the tablets at the Memorial Hospital, 
will be found in Appendix B., page 292-W6. 
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the same action "for extraordinary heroism in action near Mont­
faucon, France, September 26 to 28, 1918. Sergeant Roberts 
displayed marked courage and sell-sacrifice, when, after being 
wounded in the arm, be refused to leave the battlefield and con­
tinued to perform his duties as platoon sergeant until he was 
wounded in the knees two days later and had to be carried from 
the field. 

Captain Thomas Ward, who was a student at Yale College 
when the war broke out, received a Croix de Guerre for his dating 
services as an aviator. He was a member of a squadron which 
defended Paris from aerial attacks. 

Forty-three Manchester men lost their lives from wounds and 
disease. T heir names follow: 

Name Date of Death Cause 

Priv. Orazio Alesci Aug. 7, 1918 Killed in action 
Corp. Ernest G. Anderson Mar. 20, 1918 Killed in trench raid 
Priv. Prescott F. Bigelow 
Corp. Llewellyn Bissell June 25, 1917 Died of spinal meningitis 
Priv. Edward J. Brown June 11, 1918 Drowned while doing guard 

duty 
Priv. James A. Campbell Oct. 4, 1918 Died of p11eu111onia 
Priv. Edward Cavagnaro Sept. 27, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Priv. Joseph W. Chambedain 
Serg. Adolph Cornell June 19, 1918 Killed in action 
Priv. John Cornell Sept. 23, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Priv. Joseph F. Dilsworth Oct. 1918 Killed in action 
Seaman Moses Dougan Feb. 18, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
M.M. 1st Thomas S. Finnegan Sept. 2, 1918 Died of severe burnis 
Priv. William Finnegan Oct. 21, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Serg. Harry Frost Oct. 14, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Priv. Giovanni Gillardi Sept.30, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Serg. Robert Glenney Sept. 23, 1917 Died of wounds received in 

action 
Priv. John Glode Mar. 25, 1918 Died as result of motorcycle 

accident 
Jr. Lieut. James F. O'Gorman Dec. 28, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Priv. William J. Hamp.ton Sept. 11, 1918 Died of disease 
Serg. Thomas Hickey, Jr. Oct. 26, 1918 Died of wounds received in 

action 
Machinist Harold Irish Sept. 26,1918 Lost when Tampa was sunk 
Priv. David Johnson Oct. 4, 1918 Kil led in action 
Chemist H. Ethan Johnson Oct. 6, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Priv. John T . Kennedy Died of wounds received in 

action 
Pri'\'. Stanislaw Kucbewski Nov. 1918 Killed in action 
Priv. Henry Landry Oct. 10, 1918 Killed in action 
Priv. Joseph Lutkus Sept. 26, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Private Fred Machie Oct. 27, 1918 Killed in action 
Wagoner Johrt J. McCann Dec. 11, 1918 Died of bronchial pneltmon a 
Priv. Thomas J. l'vlcCann Sept.27, 1918 Killed in action 
Priv. William B. McGuire Sept. 30, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Corp. Henry B. Meisterling Oct. 13, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
-Priv. Charles Merkel Sept. 25, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Serg. Michael Moynihan July 29, 1918 Died of disease 
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:\fame Date of Death Cause 

May 5, 1918 Died of disease 
July 21, 1918 Died in action 
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Priv. Clair T. Newell 
Serg Henry T. Newman 
Priv. William Preston Sept. 14, 1918 Died of wounds received in 

Priv. Alfred D. Reymander 
Cook Emanuel J. Reymander 
Seaman Paul E. Segerdahl 
Priv. William L. Shea 
Corp. James F. Strange 
Serg. George N. Thompson 
Priv. Walter T hompson 

action 
Sept. 26, 1918 Died of pneumonia 
Nov. 22, 19'18 Died of wounds 
Feb. 5, 1918 Died of meningitis 
Oct. 23, 1918 Killed in action 
Feb. 7, 1918 Died of disease 
J uly 23, 1918 Killed in action 
Aug. 2, 1918 Killed in air ra id 

T he town turned out en masse on May 17, 1919, to welcome 
home its veterans. A great parade was held, in which over 600 
returned soldiers and sailors took part. As a concrete expression 
of thankfulness and appreciation, a Soldiers and Sailors' Club­
ho~se was opened and formally presented to t he ex.-service men. 

1llfanchester Memorial Hospital. 1 

Soon after the armistice a memorable meeting was held at the 
Hebron Club to discuss the erection of a suitable memorial to the 
men and women of Manchester who served their cow1try during 
the World War. Among those who attended were, the entire 
\i\Tar Bureau, the Board of Selectmen, and other prominent citi­
zens. When after prolonged discussion, one of t he group sug­
gested a hospital, the idea was seized upon at once. A committee 
was appoin ted consisting of C. Elmore Watkins, the director of 
the local Red Cross, chairman; Horace Cheney, Miss Mary 
Cheney, Mrs. M. C. Crowell and Dr. D . C. Y . Moore. 

After inspecting a number of hospitals the committee recom­
mended that a hospital be erected and that a fund of $150,000 
be rais~d for the pmpose. 

When it was announced in May, 1919, that this would be 
Manchester's final tribute to her heroic sons and daughters, there 
was a veritable put pouring of money. In the short space of one 
week $195,000 was contributed by over 5,000 of the people of 
Manchester in sums of from fifty cents to several thousand dollars. 
The hospital was formally opened on Armistice Day, November 
11, 1920. F rom 2 :00 o'clock in the afternoon until 11 :00 in the 
evening, the new building, which had been dedicated by appro­
priate exercises, was thronged with visitors. An impressive 
feature of the ceremonies was the planting of fo rty-three trees, 
each in memory of a man who had lost his life in the service. 
The crowds who attended and their expressions of appreciation 

1-T he following paragraphs are adapted from an art icle written by C. El­
more Watkins for The Modern Hospital. ' 
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made it apparent that Manchester's new hospital was to hold an 
affectionate place in the minds of its citizens from the first. 

In the vestibule of the building on either side are two great 
tablets containing a roster of Manchester's soldiers and sailors 
of the great war. The dedication inscription reads as follows: 
"The hospital is dedicated to the men and women of Manchester 
who served the town, state and country in the great war of 1914-
1918." 

Manchester Memorial Hospital 

The hospital is in the Georgian style of architecture, of brick 
and limestone construction with white trimmings, and has a 
c.1.pacity of fifty-five patients. The plan is the result of careful 
study on the part of experts, assisted by the local physicians. 
Dr. Alexander Lambert, and Dr. Walter Gray Crump, of New 
York, very kindly offered valuable suggestions. Amo~g the dis­
tinctive features of the building are its unusual furnishings. A 
reception room and consulting room on the left of the entrance 
are furnished with old-fashioned colonial pieces or reproductions 
of the Colonial period. Each of the private rooms is distinctively 
furnished in a different color scheme. 

The public wards accommodate twenty-four to thirty-six 
people, the maternity ward, six to twelve, the enclosed sun­
porches making it possible to use the maximum number of beds. 
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The operating room, delivery room, X-Ray and plaster cast 
room are on t.he top floor, where a1so the Superintendent and 
House Officer have their quarters. On this floor are also several 
rooms which are used as semi-private wards. 

The charge for services in the wards is \\ery much lower than 
that made in most of the other hospitals in this locality. Patients 
accepting the ward service are cared for by the local physicians 
who form the attending staff. These men give their services in 
rotating order in three months' periods. At their discretion they 
may call upon the consult'ing staff, which is composed o( the best 
surgeons and specialists in Hartford. Ward patients are cared for 
by graduate men and consultants of the highest type, and also 
have the services of graduate nurses exclusively. There are no 
pupil nurses in the hospital. The food in the wards is the sam~ as 
that furnished tJ1e private patients and the wards, being com­
paratively small, give one almost the seclusion of a private room. 

The hospital is very fortunate in its Superintendent, Miss 
Hannah Malmgren, who is a graduate of the New York Hospital 
for Women and Children, and for a number of years had charge 
of Fordham Hospital in New York dty. The newe8t addition 
to the personnel of the hospitru is Dr. Joseph Imbleau, tb.e House 
Officer, graduate of McGill University, who is on hand at all 
times for emergency cases. The trustees of the hospital are: C. 
Elmore Watkins, Horace B. Cheney, Elwood S. Ela, Miss Mary 
Cheney, Philip Cheney, Mrs. Walter S. Coburn, Rev. Dr.]. P. 
0 . Cornell, Mrs. M. C. Crowell, William S. Hyde, Rev. William 
P. Reidy, W.W. Robertson , Fred A. Verplanck. 

In the calendar year 1922, the hospital treated l ,010 cases, 
having an average daily census of thirty-six. The total number 
of days of care was 13,412. One hundred and thirty-seven major 
operations were performed in the hospital, and 318 nrinor opera­
tions. 
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CHAPTER XVII. 

THE CENTENNIAL CELEBRATIOi -

During the week of October 1-7, 1923, the citizens of Man­
chester devoted themselves wholeheartedly to the celebration of 
the centennial anniversary of the incorporation of the town. The 
occasion \.vill be Long remembered. As a result of months of care­
ful planning, a varied program of elaborate features had been 
worked out,' including athletic events, school and lodge reunions, 
industrial and historical exhibits, concerts, a historical parade, 
and a pageant. With the enthusiastic co-operation of the whole 
community the plans were effectively carried through and the 
centennial proved a huge success. 

The idea of a centennial was in the minds of a few far-sighted 
citizens as early as the summer of 1921. It was the Manchester 
Chamber of Commerce that brought the more or less desultory 
discussion of the subject to a focus by requesting the selectmen 
to have the matter brought before the annual town meeting in 
September, 1922. 

Organization for the Centennial. 

The town meeting voted in favor of holding a centennial cele­
bration and appointed William C. Cheney, a member of the 
Board of Selectmen, as a committee of one on organization. At 
a mass meeting in High School Hall, the project was formally 
launched and a general committee of twenty-five members was 
named. The community responded enthusiastically to the ap­
peals for funds and for workers, and the habits of group action 
which had been developed during the war greatly facilitated the 
work. The members of the general committee were: 

Frank Cheney, Jr., Chairman L. N . Heebner 
G. H. Waddell, Secretary A . F. Howes 
Mrs. R. K. Anderson W. A. Knofla 
F. H. Anderson G. H. Miller 
Mrs. F. T. Blish Rev. C. T. McCann 
F. J. Bendall Dr. D. C. Y. Moore 
Charles I. Balch Mrs. M. J. Moriarty 
H. 0. Bowers Rev. J. S. Neill 
Angelo Bosco Mrs. Emma L. Nettleton 
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Miss Mary Cheney 
Miss Emily Cheney 
W. C. Cheney 
Austin Cheney 
H.B. Cheney 
L. W. Case 
E. S. Ela 
W. E. Hill 
C. E. House 
P. J. Hutchinson 

P. J. O'Leary 
Walter Olson 
N. B. Richards 
R. LaMotte Russell 
W. \T'·l . Robertson 
Mathias Spiess 
R. V. Treat 
C. E. Watkins 
F. H. Wall 
G. E. Willis 
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The plans for the celebration which were at first relatively 
modest grew with the enthusiasm of the committee members. 
Eventually the original organization was found unwieldy and a 
small executive composed of four members, F. H. Anderson, F. 
J. Bendall, Austin Cheney and F. R . Wall, was given entire 
authority to see the centennial plans carried through. 

The Historical Pageant. 

The most impressive feature of the centennial was the Pag­
eant which was presented Friday evening, October 5, on the old 
golf links between East Center Street and Middle Turnpike. 
Staged in a natural ampitheatre, the historical spectacle thrilled 
and delighted more than fifteen thousand spectators. In a series 
of dramatic episodes the pageant epitomized the progress of the 
community from its rude beginnings among the Indians to the 
present day. Under the effective direction of Miss Leila Church, 
who also wrote the text, over one tl1ousand of the townspeople, 
men, women and children, rarticipated as a:ctors. 

The prologue of the pageant pictured a scene in Manchester, 
England, about the year 1550. The Earl of Manchester is told 
by a begga'.r boy of his dreams of a new city of Manchester across 
the sea. 

In the first episode the Podunk Indians, the aboriginal inhabi­
tants, are shown. They are depicted as a friendly tribe, desiring 
to win the good will of the white men and their protection against 
the Mohawks and Pequods. The white men enter the story in the 
last scene in the second episode, which shows John Gilbert, the 
fi'rst settler, receiving in · 1672 his grant of 200 acres. There 
f6Uows the arrival of the first settlers, (1673) a scene marked by 
religious solemnity. Prefacing the arrival of tile settlers on the 
stage, the Dance of the Guiding Spirits was given in classical 
style by 110 girls. 

I The part taken by Orford Parish in the Revolutionary War is 
the subject of Episode lII. The colonists ar~ shown protesting 
against the Stamp Duties and receiving the news of the Battle 
of Lexington, brought by horsemen from East Hartford. In 
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Episode IV was shown the beginrµngs of the silk indusb-y. The 
Dance of the Butterflies and the Skeins was a colorful background 
for this episode. 

The war wedding illustrating the Civil War was fuJJ of beauty 
and roses and pathos. HardJy was the ceremony finished when a 
detachme.ot of recruits passed, bound for the front . The groom 
said good bye, and joined them. The dancing of the Virginia 
Reel by the wedding guests brought hearty applause from the 
spectators. 

In a final episode Manchester's part in the World \i\Tar was 
symbolized in a dialogue between the Spirit of Manchester, 
Justice and Hi~tory . Six groups of men and women dxessed in 
national costumes signified the contribution of various racial 
groups to the progress of the community. At the conclusion of 
this scene the entire cast gathered on the stage wfrh the horsemen 
in array at the top of the hillside and the other actors in various 
colorful groups scattered down the slope. ·while the cast held 
this picture, flowers were presented to Miss Church ir.1 recognition 
of her unus·ual services. 1 

The Historical Parade of Friday afternoon, the first big 
event of the celebration, was a fitting prelude to the Pageant. 
The fol.lowing contemporary account is reprinted from the 
columns of the Manchester Evening Herald. 

"Manchester - past and present- passed in review yeste1·­
day afternoon before an estimated crowd of 42,000 persons that 
came from all sections of the country to help celebrate t he 100th 
birthday of the Silk city. The weather was perfect. The details 
of the parade had been worked out with amazing accuracy. Not 
a single accident marred the afternoou's festivities and the police 
details, under Chief of Police Gordon did not experience a single 
difficulty in handling the monster crowd. Police from Hartford 
and Willimantic handled the crowd, parade a nd automobile 
traffic admirably. 

"An estimate of the crowd was placed at 42,000. The re­
viewing stand and grandstand were packed. Promptly at 1 :55 
the salutes at the Center Park were fired and Marshall Clifford 
Cheney followed by his aides swurtg out of Forest street to Main 
street taking tbeiJ· places at the head of the column. At 1 :57 the 
command 'Fonvard' was given and Manchester's biggest parade 
was under way. The military aspect of the parade, set off by 
the mounted troops, representing the cavalry unit of the Con­
necticut National Guard , Troop C, was soon lost in the historical 
splendor of the scene that slowly unfolded itself to the spectators 
that lined Main street from Charter Oak street to the Center, 
three and four deep. 

1 The text of -the pageant with the names of the p(incipal acto.l's appears 
in an appendj.x, 
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"The historical features of the parade were more vividly 
presented than was anticipated. Two tribes of fu}J blooded 
Indians, the Mohegans and the Passamoquoddies walked yester­
day over asphalt and concrete, instead of over the trnils of their 
ancestors. 

"Directly after came the Civil vVru: and Spanish War veterans. 
The G. A. R. ranks are thinning, and the veterans were warmly 
wrapped in blankets. The veterans of '98 marched along with 
vigor. 

"The YD and \iVorld vVar veterans made an impressive show­
ing with a float that 1·epresented a war scene. The old days in 
front and the recent veterans in the rear, soldiers, sailors and 
marines, made good and drew much applause along the line of 
march. 

The IIistory of Middle Turnpike. 

"Middle Turnpike in its old days, thos.e days when this road 
was the main highway from Boston to New York, was portrayed 
in entirety by Manchester fraternal organizations and clubs. 
The vicissitudes of the road, its rise as a highway and post road 
and its fall into near oblivion., were shown with wonderful ac­
curacy. 

"On the first float, the YD affair, were a number of children, 
each in a different compartment of a great rookery represent ing 
a liberty bell and each bearing the name of one of the forty-eight 
states. B~hind this float came the members of the YD wearing 
blue Qaper vests, yellow belts and white caps, the division colors. 

"Two bands of Indians, real ones, and still another band of 
Indians not so real, 'red men,' in fact, made up the next stage of 
the history. This was called 'The Last of the Mohegans' and 
the last of the tribe looked every bit as ferocious as they were 
reputed to be. An Indian village was next shown, wigwam and 
all, and a little Indian boy rode on a primitive conveyance, two 
poles behind a horse. Major Treat and his men, looking for 
skulking redskins seemed to have found them in this picture. 
The majo1· and his men were dressed in the colonial fashion and 
rode gallant steeds. 

Emigrant Train . 

"Emigrants passed through the Turnpike from Rhode Island 
in a prairie schooner with guards on each side, armed with rifles. 
In tbe nex.t episode the pillion, one of the early means of convey­
ance, was shown. This was just the expedient of putting a 
pillow on a horse and the women rode behind the men who were 
in the saddle. It was rather .rough going, however. 



280 The History of Manchester 

Centennial Parade. Ox Wagon 

Centennial Parade. lndian3 



\ 

The History of Manchester 281 

"The old school house of 1745 was next shown and it was seen 
that the teacher of that day was having a hard time to get her 
pupils into the buildjng, meaning, oi course, that the pupils of 
that day were just the same as they are now. The building was 
constructed of logs. 

"Houses along the Turnpike, with gardens and everything 
necessary to a Colonial homestead were next shown by the 
Swedish lodges. An old fashioned garden with the blossoms 
that were popular in bygone days, was shown. 

Washington Passes Through. 

"General W;;tshington, his staff and a troop of Colonial 
soldiers then passed along the Turnpike. Benjamin Ch.eney's 
clock and the workshop in which it was made, was seen on the 
next float. The workmen in the picture we.re busily engaged in 
doing something all the way along the route. 

The Stage Coach. 

"William Lewin, who drove the Manchester to South Man­
chester stage coach fifty years ago, was on the box of the Cen­
tennial coach which was filled with occupants dressed in colonial 
costumes. Mr. Lewin showed that he has not yet lost the knack 
of handling four horses, for he went up and down Main street as 
in the days of yore. Another coach followed labeled Newgate, 
then another, and the fourth was the Boston Mail Coach, part 
of the Foresters' float. 

''The original press on which the Hartford Courant was 
printed came along on a float, with some specimens of its work 
along the .sides of the truck. Children made up the red, white 
and bJue flag in the next demonstration and following them came 
soldiers dressed in the uniforms of the Uruted States Army at the 
time of the Mexican war. A mammoth stocking came riding 
along on a coach. This display was to emphasize the fact that 
silk seamless hosiery was made in Manchester first in 1861. 
The same year, the mothers and sweethearts were seen bidding 
goodbye to the boys who went out to fight for the Union. An 
old-fashioned blacksmith shop, with everything danging merrily, 
passed at this point. The smith and l1is helper, one an old amn 
and the other a younger gentleman, were evidently real smiths 
from the way they slammed the iron on the anvil. 

Early Transportation. 

"The whole family out in a four wheeled wagon was shown 
next and following this came two old fashioned conveyances, aU 
crowded to capacity. A group of nurses and soldiers and a war 
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scene, with a pyramid of colonial soldiers surmounted by a nurse, 
followed. 

"A group of children made up a flag and another group of 
boys dressed in blue and gray, canied a .mammoth banner. 

Education Portrayed. 

"Educatio1J was depicted in the High school float. Girls and 
boys wore old fashioned costumes. The Eighth District schools 
came next an\'.l these were followed by the children of the Ninth 
District. The High school pupils, with the male faculty and the 
principals of both the High and Trade schools passed in review 
behind the Ninth District. 

"The exhibit of the Trade School showed a complete machine 
and carpenter shop, with all the machinery going at full blast, 
manned by Trade school pupils. A miniature power plant 
supplied current for the lathes, shapers and various other ma­
chines which were operated." 

The Silk.Industry Illustrated. 

After the demonstration of Educational progress there followed 
a section in which the industries of the town were vividly sym­
bolized. Paper and lumber and soap all had their floats. 

As their contribution to the Industrial section, Cheney 
Brothers depicted the manufacturing progress of silk from the 
cocoon to the finished dress, decorative and upholstery goods. 
The first float showed a large papier mache moth and cocoon 240 
times life size. It was mounted on a bed of mulbeny leaves. 
From the cocoon were strands bf silk to indicate the progre·ss of 
extracting the fibre from the cocoon for spinning. Girls from the 
Spinning and Thwwing departments attractively dressed in 
silken costumes were scattered about the float and eighteen 
bu tterfl.y girls danced along the line of march following the moth 
and cocoon. The onlookers were reminded of prehistoric crea­
tures when they saw approaching a wriggling, squirming silk 
worm fifty-one feet long and six feet high moving forward by its 
own volition and it was not hard for them to think that the anti­
deluvian days were here once more. As the monster worm 
wriggled along tl1rough the streets of the town with great jaws 
dropping open and clapping shut, coolie attendants in native 
Chinese garb fed mulberry leaves into t he cavernous mouth. 
The worm was true to life in coloring and movement. Following 
the silkworm was a silk moth and cocoon, two huJ1dred a nd forty 
times the nonnal size drawn bv horses. It was mounted on a bed 
of _mulberry leaves. · 

A silk reeling machine occupied the next float and on it were 
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worker o f the Ya rn depa rtment clres eel to represen t the I ta lian , 
Chin ese a nd J a pa ne e ilk reelers. 

Then followed a n automobile bearing the Cheney fifty year 
service employees. Those men who have served Cheney Brothers 
fifty y a rs a re, vVilli am Ba rrett, George ,V. Ferri , 'i\la lter 

a un ders, Frank a und crs, J ohn G. Trotter, a nd vVillia m R. 
Du nn . 

n exact reproduction of the first mill to house the man u­
facturin g of the first ilk " ·as the next float. This mill was a t \1·0 
story a nd a ha lf a ffa ir with a water wh eel in op rat ion at its sid . 

IIistorical and Other Exhibits. 

Although the Pagean t and the His torical Parade cl id not take 
place until Friday, severa l no table features of the celebration 
occurred earli er in the week. On Monday th e historical, inclu -
tria l, ed ucationa l, a nd agri cul tura l exhibits were fo rmall y opened 
at th e Recrea tion Building. Horace B. Cheney, t he chai rman 
of the Committee on Inclu tries, made a n address in whi ch he 
sketched briefly the industria l progress of the community . 

The industri a l exhibits di played the work of twenty factories 
and hops in Manchester . They gave the visitors a n unusual 
opportunity to become acqua inted with what Manches ter ma ke 
and how. In the agricultural exhibit were show n fresh a nd 
canned vegetables a nd fruit , tobacco , nur ery a nd greenhouse 
prod ucts, bees, poultry, pigeons, clog and cats . 

Athletic events including tennis and golf matche , bicycle 
race a nd a baseball game furni heel diversion on Saturday. A 
midway was in full blast with 100 attractions from noon until 
midnigh t every day. One of its chief attractions was a n Indian 
village where a group of the Pa samaq uoclcly tribe from Point 
Pleasant, Maine, were encamp cl. The Moh ega ns, a band of 
twcn ty-two persons, qu a rtered at Oakland. 

Th e IIigh School Alumni R eunion. 

The return o f M a nche ter' ons a nd daughters from th e 
four corn er of the ea rth for the celebration of the Centennia l, 
ga,·e an opportunity for ma ny formal a nd informa l reunions. 
That which attracted most attention wa the reunion o f the 
alumni of the South Manche ter High School. Out of a total 
graduate body of 965 a lmost one-third (285 to be exact) ca me 
together Thursday evenin g for a turkey dinn er. Later in t he 
evening invited guests a rrived for a n old fashioned Boethia, 
songs and speeches . 

It is of course impossible in th e space of a single chapte r to 
do justice to a ll the e\·ent of th e week. Many a re th e ma ll boys 
who will never forge t the Mammoth Band of 600 pieces, which 
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under the leadership of the veteran bandmaster, Charles P . 
Hatch, gave vent to a sou l-satisfying orgy of sound. There were 
bands everywhere, twenty-five or thirty of them, and their 
aggregation was but the climax of a week of martial music. The 
Mardi Gras on Saturday night gave fuU opportunity for those 
whose high spirits had become uncontrollable to "let off stea·m." 
There was another parade, of course, with many antique and 

Centennial Parade 

horrible fe-ature;;, includjng a hearse and jazz band. Portions of 
Main Street were roped off where bands furnished dance music 
until midnight. Young a.nd old were infected with the carnival 
spirit. I t was as if the last hundred years bad been a terrific 
bore and the I.id had blown off at last. 

On Sunday morning the town awoke to its normal sobriety 
with streets marvellously cleaned over night. P eople went to 
church where historical sermons were delivered. In t he evening 
a wonderful concert at High School Hall brought the week of 
festimty to a fitting close. The concert showed that in Man­
chester's material progress the cult of the· fine arts has not been 
neglected. The singing of the Manchester Community Chorus 
of 200 voices under the leadership of Mrs. R. K. Anderson, was 
inspiring. Among the home folks who participated as soloists 
were _Fred Patton, baritone; Robert Doellner, violinist; Mrs. 
M. C. Crowell, organist; and Dr. George Dwyer, tenor. 
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Tht Spirit anit Significance of the Centennial. 

The following editorial from The Rockville Leader summarizes 
the spirit and the significance of Manchester's Centennial Cele­
bration: 

"Congratulations to Maqchester which recently celebrated 
its lOOth anniversary of its incorporation as a town. The con­
gratulations are not on the fact that it reached the century mark, 
but upon the splendid Centennial celebration that was held to 
commemorate the dose of the first century of that splendid 
community as an incorporated town. 

"Manchester did herself proud in the entire celebration. The 
affair was advertised for months as going to be one of the best 
ever given in this section of the country and Manchester lived 
up to its promises by giving a program that was worthy of the 
occasion. 

"There was nothing cheap, loud or .sensational in the whole 
proceeding for every event was marked with the same earnest, 
sincere and dignified manner that marked the founding of the 
community or the incorporation of the town. 

"The parade was a mighty pageant, delightful to the eye, 
pleasing to the ear, and rich in history and instruction. The 
floats and sketches that showed the progress of the community 
from the days when the Rhode Island Immigrants passed through 
the town and the other incidents since, ending with floats of the 
Manchester of today were mighty lessons in history to the 
school children; the carriages that showed the progress of the 
city in transportation and manufacturing methods, the change 
in the school system and fire departments and many other re­
markable changes were a splendid inspiration to the young men 
just entering the battle of life; and t he other floats that showed 
things done, battles fought, victories won and things recently 
accomplished and now history were like a pat on the back to the 
older people who helped make those things a reality. The parade 
gave inspiration to the youth and comfort to the aged . Man­
chester is moving on. 

"The pageant was a living picture of Manchester. The 
pageant book could only be written by one whose heart was full 
of the glories of her past. It could be enacted on.ly by those who 
loved her now and who hoped for better things ahead, and the 
pageant could only be understood by those who were in sympa­
thy with the thought portrayed. And those who were in sympa­
thy were swept off their feet as episode after episode was unfolded 
before their eyes. It was a mighty, gripping, living presentation 
of history that called upon the best young manhood and woman­
hood of the present Manchester to make the future Manchester 
a better place to live in." 



APPENDIX A. 

COMMON LANDS 

(P. W. Bidwell) 

For about fifty years after its purchase the Five Miles was 
held as a Commons. During this period the land was not dis­
tributed to individuals and divided into farms but was held in 
common and, under certain restrictions, was open to the use of 
a ll its owners, the inhabitants of Hartford. 

The "Commons" in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, 
were an important feature of the New England land system. 
The land policy of the early New England settlements was 
democratic and far-sighted. Its guiding motive was not financial 
profit for a small group of speculative investors, but ra.ther it 
was planned to get the land quickly into the hands of actual 
settlers and to develop the resources of the new country for the 
benefit of the whole community. It also aimed to prevent wide 
dispersion of the settlers. When they laicl out a new town they 
alloted to each original settler, or proprietor, a small tract of 
only one or two acres for his house and garden near the center of 
tl1e township. These home lots, as they were called, were Q.sually 
grouped about the village green and the meeting house. The 
community settlement thus formed not only afforded protection 
from Indian attacks, but it also made easier attendance at 
church meetings, town meetings and schools, and facilitated all 
kinds of social intercourse. 

In addition to his home lot each settler in Hartford had a 
share in several large fields of arable and meadow land which were 
laid out convenient to the settlement. Not all the land was 
allotted at tl1e first distribution, however. Land was cheap and 
each settler received all that he could use to advantage. But 
with canny foresight the original settlers, or proprietors, as they 
were often called, made provision for the future growth of the 
community. The more inaccessible portions of their purchase, 
or grant, they held as undivided commons, for the joint use of 
all the inhabitants until the increase of population should make a 
new distribution advisable. Meanwhile cattle were pastured on 
the Commons, and earth and stone, fuel and timber might be 
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taken therefrom. In the management of the common land the 
forefathers showed sagacity and a comm~ndable desire to pro­
tect ·from abuse and deterioration the heritage of future genera­
tions. In many ways they foreshadowed in the seventeenth 
century the conservation policies of the twentieth century. 
For example, we find in the Hartford town records a vote of 
1,720 which provided that in the contemplated division of land 
in the Five Miles, the place where copper mines were supposed to 
be should remain undivided "to be for the general benefit of the 
proprietors." 

In the first division a vacant lot, known as the mine lot, was 
reserved between lots 101 and 102 in the second tier. Another 
vote, or 1731, provided that in cutting certain timber on the 
Commons only trees above eighteen inches in diameter should 
be cut. 1 

Not all the inhabitants, however, were willing to abide by 
the restrictions on the use of the Commons. In every settlement 
there were always a few venturesome or discontented persons 
who in defiance of the town ordinances moved out into the 
wilderness, cleared land for farms and built houses. The to~n 
authorities made periodic efforts to oust the squatters from the 
Commons; as often as not, however, their efforts were unsuccess­
ful. In course of time the rights of the intruders were· formally 
recognized. 

Some of the first residents of Manchester were squatters. 
In the early records of Hartford we find that it was voted in 1707 
that a committee be chosen to eject by law such persons as had 
illegally entered the Five Miles. The action of the committee, 
if it acted at all, was evidently not effective, for in 1713 we find 
another committee appointed for the same object. 

The distribution of common lands of a New England town­
ship was something like the declaration by a modern business 
corporation of a stock dividend. It was what we should call 
"cutting a melon" and of course it became of great importance 
to determine what persons in the community were entitled to a 
share, and how large shquld be the share of each. In general, 
in New England townships there was a group known as "the 
original proprietors" who occupied the position of stockholders, 
preferred stockholders, we might say. It was they who had 
conttibuted the funds for the original survey and purchase of the 
land and other expenses of the settlement. A certain amount of 
Jand they distributed. among themselves; they voted tracts to 
other approved persons who wished to settle, and retained for 
themselves the ownership of the Commons. 

But in the case of the Five Miles the situation seems to have 
been different and was more democratic. Our land was pur-

1 Goodwin, History of East Hartj1YTd, page 149. 
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chased, not by the select group of original proprietors, but by 
the ''inhabitants." "The money to pay for this tract was raised 
by a rate assessed on the town's grand list of that year. The 
grantees were not the ancient proprietoi-s but the selectmen of 
the town. Hence it was divided among the 'Inhabitants of the 
Town' according to what each paid for the purchase, and the 
rate of 1,682 was recorded as the rule of division." 1 

TJ1ere was evidently an attempt on the part of the original 
p roprietors to disregard the rights of the remainder of the in­
habitants and to keep the land for themselves. They voted that 
the Undivided Five Miles should be divided "to the Original 
Proprietors of their Heirs." 2 

Their scheme met with instant and vigorous opposition. 
Thirty of the inhabitants (not proprietors) met and drew up a 
protest in which they threatened to hinder to the utmost the 
contemplated unjust distribution . The protest was evidently 
effective, for we find in the list of grantees of 1731 a number of 
names of those who were not among H artford's original pro­
prietors. 

The apportionment was according to the rate of 1682, that 
is, the land was distributed among those who had paid taxes in 
1682, or their heirs, and the shares were proportionate to the 
taxes paid. The four tiers were divided into parallel strips, each 
240 rods deep1 and varying in width according to the share of 
each grantee. The largest lot was three-eighths of a mile wide, 
containing 180 acres. The smallest was only 4 rods wide, con­
taining 6 acres. It would have been ridiculous to think of farm­
ing a tract 4 rods wide and 240 rods deep. A glance at t he dia­
gram will show the artificial character of the division. And so 
there be.gan immediately a great buying, selling and exchanging 
of lots in order to get areas of workable dimensions and with 
proper proportions of meadow and upland. Relat-ively few of 
the grantees actually went ou t into the Five Miles to settle.3 

However, the following are names which, from other evidence, 
are recognizable as among the earliest settlers in our community: 

William Williams Richard Risley 
Samuel Olcott Thomas Wadsworth 
Serg't Buckland John Bidwell 
Thomas Bunce Thomas Olcott 
William Pitkin 

The remainder of the Five Miles was divided in 1754, but no 
records are extant to show the names of the grantees or the 
amounts received. 
1 Love, Colonial History of Hartford, page 128. 
2 Vol. V, Hartford L1Md R'!-cor1Js, quoted in Mainwaring, Early Connecticut 
Probate Records, I page 70. 

3 A complete list of grantees will be found in Mainwaring, Early Con­
ncctiwt Probate Records, 1, 70 et seq. 



APPENDIX B 

MANCHESTER HONOR ROLL IN WORLD WAR 

Orazio Alesci 
Ernest G. Anderson 
Llewellyn J. Bissell 
Edward J. Brown 
James A. Campbell 
Edward Cavagnaro 
Adolph Cornell 
John A. Cornell 
Joseph F. Dilworth 
Moses E. Dougan 
James M. Finley 
William Finnegan 
Thomas S. Finnegan 
Giovanni Gillardi 
Robert Glenney 
John Glode 
James F. O' Gorman 
William J. Hampton 
Thomas Hickey, Jr. 
Harold B. Irish 
David H. Johnson 
H. Ethan Johnson 
Stanislaw Kechewski 

Albino Accornero 
Dominico Aceto 
Jack W. Adamy 
Michael Adamy 
David Addy 
Harold Agard 
Paul A. Agard 

GOLD STAR LIST 

Henry E. Landry 
Joseph Lutkus 
Fred Machie 
John J. McCann 
Thomas J. McCann 
William B. McGuire 
Henry J . Meisterling 
Charles Merkel 
Michael Moynihan 
Claur T. N ewe II 
Henry T. Newman 
Theodore Pappas 
William H. Preston 
Alfred D. Reymander 
Emanuel J. Reymander 
Paul E. Segerdahl 
William L. Shea 
Henry Shields 
James F. Strange 
George N. Thompson 
Walter G. Thompson 
Joshua Woods 

A 

Elis A. Anderson 
Elmer C. Anderson 
Ernest P. Anderson 
Frank J. Anderson 
Howard A. Anderson 
James Anderson 
Paul J. Anderson 

292 



The History of Manchester 

Albert Agostinelli 
William Agnostinelli 
Herbert Ahlgrim 
Arthur D. Aitken 
Ralph Akunowicz 
John Yti,7. Aliansky 
Edward B. Allen 
Jam es Allen 
William A. Allen 
Harold C. Alvord 
Albin N. Anderson 

· Bessie E. Anderson 
Carl A. Anderson 
Carl H. Anderson 
Cad 0. Anderson 
Clarence A. Anderson 
Clarence 0. Anderson 
Edgar H. Anderson 

Allen I. Balch 
Arthur S. Balch 
Walter F. Balch 
Earl M. Ballsieper 
Alfred V. Barbeau 
Munroe 0. Barlow 
John E. Barnsbee 
Charles P. Barrett 
Fred S. Barrett 
Raymond Barrett 
William A. Barron 
John F. Barry 
Edward F. Ballsieper, Jr. 
Adolph Barissa 
Arthur W. Bartley 
William J. Bartley 
Jacob Bartz 
John Battaglia 
Louis J. Bertotti 
Alphonse E . Beruby 
Joel H. Best 
Guiseppi Bianconi 
Ernest A. Bickford 
Herbert A. Bidwell 
Raymond L. Bidwell 
Carl G. Birath 
Baroid E. Birge 

Theodore C. Ander$on 
Verner S. Andenson 
Camillo Andisio 
Emil A. Andren 
William Andrew 
George H. Andrews 
Nelson F . Andrews 
Giulio Annulli 
Primo Ansaldi 
Everett R. Anthony 
William F . Apel 
Alfred Armstrong 
Ernest J. Armstrong 
Richard Armstrong 
Ward J . Atwood 
Oscar G. Anderson 
Domenico Andree 

B 
Arnold Baumberger 
John F. Bausola 
Alfred Bean 
Charles Bean 
T homas Beattie 
Clifford M. Beebe 
Harold C. Belcher 
Raymond R. Belnap 
Franklin B. Bendeson 
Frank Benes 
Max A. Bengs 
J oho A. Benson 
Joseph Benson 
Paul L. Benson 
Stanislaw Berg 
Antonio Bertotti 
Dav.id W. Bertotti 
Joseph Bertotti 
James H. Brehant 
Thomas Brennan 
John E. Brooke 
Reuben W. Bronke 
Victor W. Bronke 
Raymond H. Brookman 
Barton I. Brown 
Edmund G. Brown 
Elwood A. Brown 
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Clarence E. Bissell 
Clinton T. Bissell 
Harry B. Bissell 
Herbert H. Bissell 
William D. Black 
Frank J. Blanchard 
Nicholas F. Blanchard 
Peter Boninio 
Herman. L. Borowski 
William C. Bose 
Sherwood G. Bowers 
John Boyle 
Michael Boyle 
Norman N. Brace 
William H. Brainard 
Albert F. Bray 
Francis E. Bray 
John H. Breen 
Louis T. Breen 

Hubert A. Cadle 
Charles M. Calderwood 
Alexander ] . Callins 
Aloysius R. Campbell 
John F. Campbell 
Joseph S. Campbell 
Robert ]. Campbell, Jr. 
William A. Campbell 
Wilson Campbell 
Oscar Cappucio 
William R. Cargo 
C. A. Edwin Carlson 
Frank 0. Carlson 
F. Howard Carrier 
Raymond C. Carrier 
Earl B. Carter 
George E. Carter 
George H. Carter 
John C. Carter 
Paul G. Carter 
Paul J. Carter 
Walter A. Ca1"ter 
Conrad S. Casperson 
John L. Cavagnaro 
Frank Cervini 
Robert A. Chace 

Ernest F. Brown 
Estey V. Brown 
Ralph C. Brown 
Robert Brown 
Thomas Brown 
Oliver E. Brusie 
George M. Buck 
Nelson R. Buck 
John H. Buckley 
Louis C. Bunce 
William T. Burgess 
Allie C. Burke 
George W. Burke 
Clarence C. Burlingame 
Ralph P. Burns 
Edward W. Burrell 
Hibbard S. Busby 
Arthur Butler 
George C. Butler 

c 
John T. Clarey 
Thomas K. Clarke 
Leo J. Cleary 
Paul D. Cleary 
Harry Clegg 
Robert L. Cleveland 
James H. Clifford 
Harry A. Clintsman 
Paul E. Clune 
Edward G. Cobo 
Antonio Colella 
Edward J. Coleman 
Henry T. Coleman 
David Collins 
Raymond H. Cone 
John Conlon 
Patrick H. Conlon 
Thomas F. Conran 
Harold A. Coogan 
Edward Copeland 
John Copeland 
Frederick H. Corbett 
Martin Corcoran 
William J. Cordner 
William P. Cotter 
James F. Coughlin 
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William Chadwick, Jr. 
Frank Chamberlain 
Joseph Chamberlain 
Robert W. Chambers 
Thomas H. Chambers 
William E. Chambers 
Jaconde Champretavy 
Carroll J. Chartier 
G. W. Sylvester Chartier 
Austin Cheney 
Clifford D. Cheney 
Dorothy Cheney 
Emily G. Cheney 
George W. Cheney 
H. Bushnell Cheney, Jr. 
Lilian B. Cheney 
Marjory Cheney 
Philip Cheney 
Shenvood A. Cheney 
Ward Cheney 
Daniel Civiello 

Frank Dakillo 
Frank D'Ami.co 
Richard D'Amico 
John H. Darling 
Noah L. Dauplaise 
Clyde H. Davis 
George I. Dawson 
Charles I. Dean 
Henry V. DeBacker 
Bert Deere 
Peter Degorio 
Henry J. Demeusey 
Louis J. Denys 
Edward F. Devlin 
Felix J. Devlin 
Albert T. Dewey 
Robert J. Dewey 
Allan L. Dexter 
William Diana 
Thomas Dickson 
Frederick Diekow 
Paul Diekow 
John F. Dietz 
John V. Dilworth 

Ephraim H. Cowles 
Ernest C. Cowles 
George W. Coles 
Harry H. Cowles 
James B. Cowles, Jr. 
Lyman S. Cowles 
Walter W. Cowles 
William L. Cramer 
Robert H. Crawford 
Frank B. Crocker 
George D. Crockett 
John H. Crockett 
Thomas W. Crockett 
Lincoln L. Crosby 
James A. Curran 
Robert S. Curran 
Thomas J. Curran 
Eric E. Curtis 
Edward S. Custer 
Otto E. Custer 

D 
Andy Domenico 
Kenneth T. Donahue 
Armand J. Donze 
Marcel J. Donze 
Paul F. Donze 
Suart L. Dorsey 
Harold J. Dougan 
Robert Douglas 
John J. Dowd 
Robert J. Dowd 
Al.bert Downing 
John W. Downing 
William J. Downing 
James W. Drake 
William Drysdake 
Ward E. Duffy 
Victor E. Duke 
William J. Dumas 
Samuel J. Dunlop 
Gordon W. Dunn 
John W. Dunn · 
Arthur S. Dwyer 
George L. Dwyer 
John E. Dwyer 
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Paul Dilworth 
Angelo Dipont 

Ralph E. Earle 
Francois J. Edgar 
Robert W. Edgar 
Jesse C. Edwards 
Leo M. Egan 
Thomas Egan 
Walter J. Egan 
Gordon B. Elliot 
John R. Ellison 
Walter J. Ellison 
Gad Elman 
Cecil R. Emley 
Hans N. Engel 
Charles T. Evans 
James W. Fahey 
James W. Farr 
Joseph J. Farr 
John J. Fay 
Leo J. Fay 
Ronald H. Ferguson 
John W. Ferrell 
Louis G. Filiere 
James Findlay 
Stuart W. Finlay 
Harvey L. Finlay 

Clarence C. Galinat 
Fred W. Galinat 
William H. Galinat 
Frank A. Gardner 
John Gardner 
Raymond A. Gardner 
Edward F. Gaskell 
Harold E. Gates 
Leverett F. Gates 
James J. Geehan 
Lari Genovese 
Henry K. Gerrish 
Felix H. Gieser 
Harold E. Gilbert 
Samuel Gilkinson 

Adam Dysko 

F 
Herbert B. Finnegan 
William Finnegan 
Oswald Fisher 
Francis Fitzgerald 
John Fitzgerald 
Louis Fitzgerald 
Paul Fitzgerald 
William Fitzgerald 
William J. Flavell 
John R. Fogarty 
John S. Fogarty 
Edward J. Foley 
Stephen P. Foley 
Sam\l.el Ford 
Leon R. Foster 
Walter E. Fox 
Lee Foy 
Herbert Fraser 
Edward G. Frazier 
William Freeborn 
Arthur Freeburg 
Peter Frey 
Edward H. Frink 
David 0. Fuller 

G 
A. Clifford Gorman 
Frederick Gorman 
Michael G. Gorman 
Walter P. Gorman 
William B. Gorman 
Sherwood Goslee 
Eric C. Gotberg 
Charles H. Grabowski 
George F. Graham 
Thomas W. Graham 
Howard L. Grant 
Richard G. Grant 
Louis Grasso 
Christopher Gray 
William D. Gray 
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Ernest J. Gillis 
Howard S. Gilman 
Joseph A. Ginsberg 
John L. Gleason 
Thomas Gleason 
John G. Glenney 
W. George Glenney 
Joseph C. Glode 
Charles Goldo 
Robert J. Gordon 

Joseph P. Hackett 
Archie Hadden 
David J. Hadden 
Samuel Hadden 
Joseph Haefs 
] ohn M. Haggart 
George A. Hahn 
Charlie J. Hall 
] ames W. Hall 
Leonard R. Hall 
Walter R. Hall 
William P. Hall 
Robert M. Hamilton 
Robert W. Hampton 
Francis Handley 
Clarence E. Hanna 
Carl L. W. Hansen 
Arthur J. Hanson 
Lance H. Harding 
Edward Harrington 
Benjamin Harrison 
Henry W. Harrison 
James A. Harrison 
Clarence M . Harvey 
Thomas Harvey 
William C. Hascall 
Howard R. Hastings 
Robert E. Hathaway 
Russell B. Hathaway 
Ronatus C. Haun 
Rudolph Haupt 
John J. Hayden 
Frederick A. Hayes 
William J. Heffron 
Frederick H. Heine 

Patrick Griffin 
Stanley Grigas 
James Grimason 
Richard J. Grimley 
Celia Fryer Grimm 
Charles Gubbels 
G. Hilding Gustafson 
Gustaf S. Gustafson 
Paul Gustafson 
Richard W. Gutzmer 

H 
Thomas J. Hewitt 
Edward J. Hickey 
Joseph A. Higgins 
John T. Hildebrand 
Herman C. Hill 
William E. Hill 
Joseph Hille 
Frank M . Hillery 
Paul A. Hillery 
Charles A. Hoffner 
Louis L. Hohenthal 
David Holland 
Almeron L. Hollister 
Charles W. Hollister 
Jam es W. Holloran 
William D. Holman 
C. Emfred Holmberg 
Arthur E. Holmes 
Harry Holmes 
John J . Holmes 
LeVerne Holmes 
Mark Holmes 
Mark N. Holmes 
Frank Hood 
Fred Hope 
Harold Hoffner 
Williard J. Horton 
Harold J. House 
Harold S. House 
Harold G. Howe 
Robert C. Howes 
Frederick E. Hughes 
John F . Hughes 
Joseph E. Hughes 
Robert P. Hughes 
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Otto Heller 
William J. Helm 
Donald Hemingway 
Samuel J. Herron 
Edward Hess 
Charles E. Hesselgraves 
James Hewitt ·· 
Richard D. Hewitt 

Joseph W. Irons 
Frank Irwin 

Alexander Jacobson 
Ong Hung Jaiii.g 
Clarence J. Jeffers 
Frank Jeffers 
John C. Jeffers 
John L. Jenney 
Felix J. Jesanis 
Arthur H. Jobert 
Maurice J. J obert 
A. Amandus Joqnson 
Arthur W. Johnson 
Charles Johnson 
Charles H. Johnson 
Elof J. Johnson 
Ernest R. Johnson 
Fred A. Johnson 

Frank Kaczmarczyk 
John Kaczmarczyk 
Joseph Kardus 
Michael R. Kastner 
Lawrence J. Kearns 
James J. Keating 
Thomas F. Keating 
William M. Keating 
William Keefe 
Arthur H. Keeney 
Edward H. Keeney 
Eugene W. Keeney 
Jesse M. Keeney 

David Hultgren 
Patrick Humphrey 
Edith Hunter 
Wallace M. Hutchinson 
Margaret Hyde 
Robert Hyde 
Samuel Hynds 

I 

Herbert J. Invin 

J 
Fred Z. Johnson 
Helen A. Johnson 
James A. Johnson 
J arle E . Johnson 
John V. Johnson 
Karl E. R. Johnson 
N. Arthur W. Johnson 
Rudolph Johnson 
Sven O. Johnson 
Joseph H. Johnston 
William A. Johnston 
Samuel J. Jones 
W. Wallace Jones 
Raymond W. Joyner 
Clara M. Juul 

K 
Ralph F. King 
Frank 0. Kingbaum 
Antoni Kinta 
Konstantia Kirenie 
Herman J. Kissman 
Cecil E. Kittle 
Ernest L. Kjellson 
Michael Kleinschmidt 
William A. Knofla 
Charles H. Knoll 
William G. Knoll 
Hugo H. Kohls 
Otto A. Koh Is . 
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Warren B. Keeney 
Harry C. Keish 
Warren I. Keith 
Rudolph Kempf 
Everett R. Kennedy 
Francis A. Kennedy 
George W. Kennedy 
William R. Kennedy 
John Kerr 
Albert E. King 

Oscar C. Ladd 
Clarence H. Laking 
Paul G. Lambert 
Ralph W. Lamenzo 
Reinhart A. Lamprecht 
William Lamprecht 
Arnold A. Lang 
Arthur H. Larder 
Alton Lathrop 
Hugo Lautenbach 
John Lawless 
William J. Leahy 
James H. Leggett 
William Leggett 
Ernest C. Linders 
J ohn M. Linnell 
Ben Lis 
Charles P. Logan 

Matthew MacDonald 
Joseph A. Mack 
Joseph T. Madden 
Caio. L. Mahoney, Jr. 
Paul J. Mahoney 
Raymond D. Mahoney 
Walter T. Mahoney 
Harry Maidmont 
Frank Mallon 
John D. Mallon 
William J. Mallon 
John Mamocos 
Arthm Manning, Jr. 
Frederick D. Manning 

Stephen Kosakowski 
Emil A. Kottke 
Walenty Krasnowski 
Fred R. Krause 
Paul Kristoff 
Charles Krob 
Joseph Krob 
Harry Kroupen 
Charles Kupchunas 
Edward Kuszynski 

L 
William G. Leggett 
Charles E. Leister 
Henry Leister, Jr. 
John Lennon 
Robert Lennon 
James E. Leslie 
Clement T. Lewis 
Ferdinand D. Lewis 
Alesondro Licchiello 
Michael Liebiedz 
Clarence S. Linde 
John Linde 
Harry G. Lindell 
John Loney 
Fred C. Lorch 
Frederick L. Loucks 
Jeremiah Lovett 

M 
Patrick J. McGuire 
Fred Mcintosh 
Lester H. Mcintosh 
Robert ]. McKay 
Edward J. McKinney 
Robert J. McKinney 
Robert J. McKinney 
Allan R. McLean 
Walter A. McLean 
Robert L. McLeary 
Edward H. McMenellly 
Ernest ]. McNally 
J am es McSherry 
John McStay 
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John Mannise 
Harry Marsden 
Clarence R. Martin 
John W. Martin 
Sherwood K. Martin 
Linwood A. Massey 
Robert Massey 
Samuel J. Massey 
William J. Massey 
Michael J . Massola 
David W. Matchett 
Howard Matchett 
Harry Mathiason 
William J. Mathiason 
John Maxwell 
William H. May 
Eldred McCabe 
John McCabe, Jr. 
Walter McCabe 
Arthur E. McCann 
David McCann 
R. David McCann 
Edward McCann 
Edwin F. McCann 
Frederick McCann 
Henry E. McCann 
Herbert McCann 
John J. McCann 
John P. McCann 
Reuben McCann 
Charles F. McCarthy 
Daniel J. McCarthy 
John J. McCarthy 
Thomas McCarthy 
William J. McCarthy 
William P . McCarthy 
Frank Mccaughey 
Joseph Mc Caughey, Jr. 
William F. McClelland 
David McCollum 
George S. McCoUum 
William T. McCollum 
David W. McConkey 
Richard McConville 
Ernest W. McCormick 
Frederick J. McCormick 
Herbert McCormick 

William J. McSweeney 
James H. McVeigh 
James J. McVeigh 
Joseph F. McVeigh 
Patrick McVeigh 
William J . McVeigb 
Jasper A. Meekins 
Frank A. Merkel 
Joseph H. Metcalf 
Robert J. Metcalf 
Charles F. Meyres 
Donald U. M111er 
Fred H. Miller 
Hen,ry H. Miller 
Kenneth N. Mills 
Earl F. Miner 
Francis E. Miner 
George B'. Miner 
Roman Miranowisz 
Julius Modean 
Paul W.R. Modean 
W. Edgar Mohr 
Daniel P . Moonan 
Lawrence F. Moonan 
Richard P. Moonan 
John Mooney 
William H. Moore 
William M. Moore 
Clinton G. Morgan 
Edgar T. Morgan 
James Moriarty 
John F. Moriarty 
Joseph J. Moriarty 
Louis Moriarty 
Mortimer E. Moriarty 
Albert V. Morley 
Michael Morris 
Thomas Morrison 
Ernest L. Morse 
Jacob P. Maski 
Arthur E. Moule 
M. Clifford Moynihan 
Antoni Mozdzer 
Thotant Mozzer 
Joseph Muldoon 
Th'Omas Muldoon 
William Mullen 
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William J. McCourt 
William E . McCullagh 
Joseph R. McDiarmid 
Alexander A. McDonald 
Paul J. McDonald 
Alexander A. McDonaJd 
James H. McDowell 
Felix J. McEvitt 
James L. McGonigal 
Joseph W. McGonigaJ 
Thomas McGonigal 

Frank N ackowski 
Wladyslaw Nackowski 
Fiorino Negro 
Luigi Negro 
Samuel Newbury 
John F. Newman 
William E. Newman 
Harold W. Nichols 
John Noble 

John Obremsky 
James S. O'Brien 
William O'Brien 
Louis O'Connor 
George E. Oefonger 
Cecil E. Ogden 
Collie O'Gorman 
Victor E. Ogren 
Harold S. Olds 
C. Henry Olson 

Aldo Pagani 
Francis Pagani 
Frank Pagani 
Charles E. Paisley 
Louis Palmer 
Jam es C. Pappas 
George F. Pappaspyropiolis 
Grace E. Pascoe 
Guiseppe S. Patelli 

James V. Munsie 
William M. Munsie 
Aloysius J. Murphy 
Dennis S. Murphy 
Fred J. Murphy 
Howard Murphy 
Patrick J. Murphy 
Eugene E . Murray 
George A. Murray 
James H. Murray 
Henry A. Mutrie 

N 
William H. Noonan 
Carl W. Noren 
Edward J. Noren 
M. Fritz Noren 
John L. North, Jr. 
Ruth G. Norton 
Carl J. E. Nygren 
Evan W. Nyquist 
Oscar E. N ymen 

0 
Charles A. O'Connell 
Joseph J . O'Connell 
Mae O'Connell 
John E. Olson 
John L. Olson 
Walter Olson 
Jacob Orenstein 
George H. Ouwelant 
Joseph J. Ouwelant 

p 

Guerino Pierro 
Vinconza Pifferi 
A. Raymond Pinney 
Frank L. Pinney 
Chesterfield Pirie 
Wells W. Pitkin 
William C. Pitkin 
Clarence A. Porterfield 
John Porterfield 
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Margaret D. Patterson 
Robert D. Patterson 
Francois X. Peltier 
Augustus Pennery 
John Pentland 
James B. Peperitis 
Joseph Perett 
John A. Person 
Clarence R. Peterson 
Ernest R. Peterson 
Alphonse Petitjean 
Anthony Petrick 
Albin Pietrowski 
Boleslaw Pietrowski 
Robert D. Phillips, Jr. 
Robert I. Phillips 
William Phillips 
Eva M. Pickup 

Edward P. Quisb 
Frank J. Quish 

John H. Rady 
Charles Rajowski 
Emilio Rampone 
Herbert Ratenburg 
Walter H. Rau 
Gottlieb Reimer 
John L. Reinartz 
Joseph J . Reinartz 
Jam es Rennie 
John F. Rennie 
Jessie M. Reynolds 
Charles R. Richardson 
George Richardson 
Robert E. Richardson 
Wilson Richardson 
Harold T. Richmond 
Wim~low T. Richmond 
Onello Ridolfi 
Clarence M. Riley 
John S. Risley, Jr. 
Joseph Ritchie 
William J. Ritchie 

Page Potter 
Ernest J. Powers 
Jam es Powers 
Robert D. Powers 
Silas H. Powers 
Samuel Pratt 
James M. Prentice 
James M. MacG. Prentice 
Thomas Prentice 
Thomas N. Prentice 
William J. Price 
Carl W. Preiss 
Herman Preiss 
William Preiss, Jr. 
Richard J. Pritchard 
Walter Pritchard 
William L. Purtill 

Q 
William P. Quish 

R 

Lemuel Robbins 
Herbert W. Robb 
William R. Robert 
Leroy M. Roberts 
Ernest Robinson 
Frank C. Robinson 
Fred Robinson 
John G. Robinson 
Percy Robinson 
William Robinson 
Marcel Roche 
James Rock 
C. Ely Rogers 
George E. Rogers 
George W. Rogers 
Thomas J . Rogers 
Leslie H. Rood 
Rollin T. Rood 
Frank E . Rosenberger 
Guiseppe Rota 
Leonard J. Rowland 
Clarence F. Rowsell 
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E vasio Ri vosa 
James Robb 
Joseph J. Robb 
Samuel J. Robb 
Wallace D. Robb 
Charles A. Robbins 

William C. Sadrozinske 
Clarence A. Sadrozinski 
John H. Sanderson 
Dominick Sardella 
Jerry F. Sardella 
William H. Sargent 
Clifford F. SauJt 
Harry F. Sault 
Harry M. Saunders 
Banz Sawadski 
Raymond T. Schaller 
James H. Schaub 
George W. Schiller 
John W . Schlund 
Joseph P. Schoen 
Arthur Schoolcraft 
Edward J. Schreiber 
Fred C. Schrieber 
George G. Schrieber 
Albert C. Schuetz 
Fred G. Schuetz 
.Martin G. Schuetz 
Paul A. Schuetz 
Richard E. Schuetz 
Frederick Schultz 
Holger M. Schwartz 
Gunnar Scott 
Thomas Scott 
Walter M. Scott 
William G. Scott 
Clifford E. Scranton 
John Scranton 
P. Frederick Seastrand 
Oscar A. Segerdahl 
Carl C. Senkbeil 
William Senkbeil 
Alfred P . Shaw 
Daniel J. Shea · 

Clarence A. Ruddell 
Otto A. Rueggeberg 
Herbert G. Runde 
Alec Rusieczky 
Harry E. Russell 
Elmore J. Ryan 

s 
William J. Sinoamon 
James Sipples 
Raymond F. Skinner 
Ernest L. Skoglund 
John P. Skoglund 
Clarence G. Smith 
Robert J. Smith 
Thomas F. Smith 
Walter C. Smith 
Wladyslaw B. Smoluk 
William Sobesky 
Joseph Socket ts 
Frederick C. Soderberg 
Otto F. Sonnikson 
Bradford J. Spencer 
William W. Spencer 
Howard E. Stafford 
Louis ]. Stager 
Arthur J. Starkweather 
Andrew Stavinsky 
William F. Steele 
Albert J. Stevenson 
Harry Stevenson 
Leslie A. Stevenson 
William J. Stevenson 
William St. Martin 
Charles S. Stone 
Henry A. Strange 
Paul J. Strange 
Charles W. Strant 
Joseph Stratton 
Walter Stratton 
Harry C. Straw 
Merton H. Strickland 
Myron ]. Strickland 
Russell C. Strickland 
Sydney W. Strickland 
George F. Struff 

303 



304 The History of Manchester 

Francis J. Shea 
Francis J. Shea 
John F. Shea 
Paul A. Shea 
William F. Shea 
Michael J. Sheehan 
James Sheekey, Jr. 
William D. Sheekey 
Walter F. Sheridan 
Wesley R. Shields 
William J. Shields 
Samuel L. Shipman 
Abraham D. Siegel 
William Sinnamon 
William H. Sinnamon 

Samuel J. Taggart 
Stewart S. Taggart 
William F. Taggart 
Grace M. Tanner 
Louis E. Tarr 
Antonio Tartaglio 
James Taylor 
J. Ward Taylor 
George Tedford 
Thomas Tedford 
Walter Tedford 
Walter Tedford 
William J. Tedford 
Charles E. Teichert 
Edward Thier 
Otto A. Thier 
Arthur Thompson 
Gordon M. Thornton 
Howard W. Thornton 
J. Henry Thornton 
Samuel D. Thornton 
William J. Thornton 
Ralph J. Thrall 
Robert J. Tiffany 

Alexander P. Uncles 

Leon K. Styler 
John Suhey 
Arthur F. Surnvan 
Daniel Sullivan 
Daniel J. Sullivan 
Frank M. Sullivan 
James F. Sullivan 
John A. Sullivan 
Thomas Sullivan 
John P . Sutton 
John Swanson 
John Edwin Swanson 
Tore Swanteson 
James E. Symington 

T 

Edwin F. Titus, Jr. 
Albert J. Todd 
Walter E. Todd 
Thomas Tomlinson 
Albert Tony 
Andrew L. Torrance 
George Y. Torrance 
Hugh Y. Torrance 
James G. Torrance 
Paolo Toscano 
James F. Touhey 
Ale.x:is Tournaud 
Anthony J. Tournaud 
Peter D. Traggis 
Charles F. Trebbe, Jr. 
Leon E. Trebbe 
Steve Truzinsky 
Henry R. Tryon 
Maude E. Tryon 
Ernest E. Turkington 
Florence Turkington 
Myrtle L. Turkington 
Robert Turkington 

u 
Alyce M. Untervinger 
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Czamille E. VaJder 
Auguste Vennson 
Thomas Veitch 
James Yennard 
James E. Yennard 
Robert H. Vennart 
Stewart Vennart 

John D.Waddell 
Mike A. 1Waicebowski 
Herbert E. Waldo 
Daniel W. Walker 
James Walker 
Robert D. Walker 
Joseph F. Wallett 
Thomas J. Wallett 
Harold W. Walsh 
Walter H. Walsh 
Thomas H. Ward 
Charles C. Warren 
Samuel P. Warren 
Albert Warrington 
Arthur J. W artley 
Robert ·wathen 
Clinton M. Webb 
T homas Webb 
Max F. Wegner 
Walter R. Wehr 
Leonard A. Weiman 
Walter M. Weir 
William H . Wei.r 
Vincent C. Welch 
Frederick G. Westgate 
Clarence R. Wetherell 
William Wetherell 
Sidney L. Wheaton 
Earl P . Wheeler 
Arthur Whitehouse 
Elmer A. Wilcox 
James 0 . Wilcox 
William F. Wilcox 

NickYakush 

v 
William Vennart, Jr. 
Hermon E. Vennen 
Philip B. Verplanck 
Van N. Verplanck 
J ames Virginia 
Harry W. Von Deck 
Robert H. Von D eck 

w 
Antoni Wilga 
Arthur R. Wilkie 
Ernest L. Wilkie 
Frank V. Willia1ns 
Lawrence L. Williams 
Louise M. Williams 
Alvin C. Willis 
Harlowe W. Willis 
Albert C. Wilson 
David Wilson 
Edward Wilson 
Frederick H. Wilson 
Harrison Wilson 
Joseph C. Wilson 
Robert Wilson 
Thomas Wilson 
William J. Wilson 
William M. Wilson 
Peter Wind 
Rudolph H. Wirtalla 
John Wood 
Leland T. Wood 
Bred W. Woodhouse 
Robert M. Weodhouse 
John F. Woodman 
Loftus W. Woods 
Fred L. Worswick 
Earl R. Wright 
Francis J. Wright 
W. Beverly Wright 
Carrie E. Wyllie 
Herbert A. Wyllie 

y 

Irving Yattaw 
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z 
Nicoline Zaccaro 
Adam Zikar 
Frank M. Zimmerman 

Joseph J. Zitto 
Harry Zoubibes 








